
 
 

 

 

 
 

Local Government Act 1972 
 
I Hereby Give You Notice that an Ordinary Meeting of the Durham 
County Council will be held in the The Main Hall at Spennymoor 
Leisure Centre on Wednesday 26 January 2022 at 10.00 am to transact 
the following business:- 
 
 

1. Presentation to Honorary Aldermen and Honorary 
Alderwomen   

 

2. To confirm the minutes of the meetings held on 8 
December 2021  (Pages 5 - 18) 

 

3. To receive any declarations of interest from Members   
 

4. Chair's Announcements   
 

5. Leader's Report   
 

6. Questions from the Public   
 

7. Petitions   
 

  Improve Bus Services to Support Work, Health Services 
and Education 

 

8. Report from the Cabinet  (Pages 19 - 26) 
 

9. Review of the Council's Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy - Report of Corporate Director of 
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change  (Pages 27 - 390) 

 

10. Draft Revised Local Code of Corporate Governance - 
Report of Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 391 - 
430) 

 



 

 

11. Members' Allowances Scheme 2022-2023 - Report of 
Independent Remuneration Panel  (Pages 431 - 482) 

 

12. Request for Dispensation Under Section 85 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 - Report of Corporate Director of 
Resources  (Pages 483 - 486) 

 

13. Overview and Scrutiny Six Monthly Report - Report of Chair 
of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board  
(Pages 487 - 498) 

 

14. Motions on Notice   
 

 Councillor R Crute to Move 
 
During 2022 a number of factors combined will present a 
significant additional financial burden to the people of County 
Durham. 
 
This council recognises that the people of County Durham are 
heading towards a ‘cost of living’ crisis and calls on the 
government to take immediately any measures necessary to 
mitigate the impact. 
 
 
Councillor O Gunn to Move 
 
This Council asserts that the Government must do much more to 
prevent widespread disruption in County Durham schools and 
colleges. Furthermore, children, parents, support staff, teachers 
and school leaders must be equipped with everything they need 
to protect face to face education as Omicron virus continues to 
impact on pupil and staff absence rates. 
 
Only 7,000 air filtration devices have been made available for 
the 300,000 classrooms in the whole of England. Based on 
those figures if County Durham schools were to receive a fair 
share only 6.2 units would be available for our 266 schools.  
 
This Council agrees to write to the Secretary of State for 
Education to request that, as a matter of urgency: 
 

a) all classrooms in our schools and colleges are equipped 
with air filtration devices free of charge; and  

b)  higher grade medical masks are made available free of 
charge to at risk staff and pupils previously identified as 
clinically vulnerable.  

 



 

 

15. Questions from Members   
 

 
 
And pursuant to the provisions of the above-named act, I Hereby 
Summon You to attend the said meeting 
 
Dated this 18th day of January 2022 
 
 

 
Helen Lynch 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 
 
To: All Members of the County Council 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At an Ordinary Meeting of the County Council held in the The Main Hall - 
Spennymoor Leisure Centre on Wednesday 8 December 2021 at 10.00 
am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor W Stelling in the Chair 
 

Councillors M Abley, E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, 
P Atkinson, B Bainbridge (Vice-Chair), A Batey, K Batey, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, 
G Binney, J Blakey, D Boyes, D Brown, L Brown, J Cairns, J Charlton, J Cosslett, 
B Coult, R Crute, M Currah, S Deinali, T Duffy, J Elmer, L Fenwick, C Fletcher, 
D Freeman, J Griffiths, O Gunn, D Haney, P Heaviside, T Henderson, S Henig, 
L A Holmes, A Hopgood, L Hovvels, J Howey, C Hunt, A Jackson, M Johnson, 
P Jopling, C Kay, B Kellett, C Lines, L Maddison, R Manchester, C Martin, 
E Mavin, L Mavin, M McGaun, D McKenna, M McKeon, I McLean, J Miller, 
P Molloy, D Mulholland, D Nicholls, J Nicholson, D Oliver, R Ormerod, E Peeke, 
R Potts, P Pringle, J Purvis, J Quinn, S Quinn, A Reed, G Richardson, I Roberts, 
K Robson, K Rooney, J Rowlandson, E Scott, P Sexton, K Shaw, A Shield, 
J Shuttleworth, M Simmons, A Simpson, T Smith, M Stead, A Sterling, D Stoker, 
T Stubbs, A Surtees, D Sutton-Lloyd, P Taylor, F Tinsley, S Townsend, C Varty, 
E Waldock, M Walton, A Watson, M Wilkes, M Wilson, D Wood, R Yorke and 
S Zair 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Chaplow, R Charlton-
Lainé, I Cochrane, C Hampson, A Hanson, K Hawley, J Higgins, D Howarth, 
G Hutchinson, B McAloon, S McMahon, M-Idwal Roberts, S Robinson, A Savory 
and S Wilson 
 

 
The Chair announced that this was the first Council meeting since the 
passing of serving Councillor Brian Avery.  Brian represented the Ferryhill 
Electoral Division on the County Council from 1 May 2008 and had also been 
a former District Councillor having been one of the Councillors for the Chilton 
Ward on Sedgefield Borough Council from 1991-2008.  Brian had also 
served as a Ferryhill Town Councillor and had previously been Mayor of the 
Town Council. 
 
Brian’s sudden passing came as a shock to all.  Brian was devoted to 
everyone - his family, his friends, the wellbeing of others and the people he 
passionately represented.  He did everything within his power for his 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



community and that warmness, kindness and humility shone through in the 
time of reflection following Brian’s sad passing.  
 
Brian’s character, his charm and wit, his sheer dedication would be a huge 
miss to all those that knew him and worked with him. 
 
All Group Leaders or their representatives, and Councillor J Charlton as 
Chair of the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee paid tribute to Councillor Avery’s long and valued service and 
expressed condolences to his family. 
 
The Council stood for a moments silence as a mark of respect to Councillor 
Avery. 
 
 

1 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 20 October 2021 were confirmed by the 
Council as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

2 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

3 Chair's Announcements  
 
The Chair reported that he had continued to enjoy attending events over the 
last month including the Council’s own Christmas Carol Service held at 
County Hall last week. 
 
The Chair was pleased to announce that Durham County Council Children's 
Services were winners of the ‘Supporting Solution Service’ award at the 
Local Government Chronicle Awards, which celebrated excellence in local 
government.  The Chair invited the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services to collect the award and to say a few words about the 
award. 
 

4 Leader's Report  
 
The Council noted a report from the Leader of the Council as follows: 
 
The last weekend of November saw gale force winds, torrential rain and 
heavy snowfall as Storm Arwen struck the region. 
 

Page 6



Since then, the Council had been working extremely closely with its partners 
in County Durham and Darlington Local Resilience Forum to provide help 
and support to residents, including supporting National Powergrid and 
helping people affected by power outages. 
 
Work was still ongoing, and council staff and all of the Council’s partners had 
been working extremely hard to help local communities in the aftermath of 
the storm.  The Leader thanked everyone who had gone above and beyond 
to support local communities in County Durham.  
 
The Leader also thanked local communities themselves who had rallied 
round to support each other, and also the military for their support and 
assistance during what had been an extremely challenging time.  
 
The Leader invited John Hewitt, the Council’s Chief Executive and Chair of 
the LRF Strategic Coordinating Group and Stuart Errington, Chief Fire Officer 
and Chair of the Local Resilience Forum to give the Council the latest 
update. 
 
The Leader informed Council that it was not intended to enter debate on this 
item as officers and Members had been dealing with many queries and were 
still responding to the incident.  However, the Council would look at how a 
review was undertaken when the national position on any review that may be 
undertaken was understood.   
 
The Chair invited John Hewitt and Stuart Errington to provide Council with an 
update and requested that any Members who wished to ask questions or to 
discuss matters with them to do so outside of the meeting. 
 
John Hewitt, Chief Executive and Chair of the LRF Strategic Coordinating 
Group placed on record his thanks to all staff from the Council and partner 
agencies who had worked tirelessly to clean up and keep communities safe 
since the storm hit, which had been an absolutely fantastic effort.  John then 
provided the following points of information: 

 Storm Arwen hit large parts of the north-east and Cumbria on the night 
of Friday 26 November 2021; 

 There had been significant impact caused by power outages in County 
Durham and Northumberland.  In County Durham the responsible 
organisation for resolving the power outage was Northern Powergrid; 

 Meetings of LRF partners took place over the weekend of 27 
November; 

 Through the Strategic Coordination Group, the Council, with 
agreement of LRF partners, declared a major incident on 1 December; 

 At the same time a request for military assistance on behalf of the LRF 
was initiated, with military assistance arriving in County Durham on 
Friday 3 December; 

Page 7



 Durham was the first LRF in the north east to declare a major incident. 
 
Stuart Errington, Chair of the LRF for County Durham and Darlington outlined 
the initial actions that the LRF took and the timeline of events as follows: 

 The LRF put in place a Tactical Coordinating Group (TCG) at 11 a.m. 
on Saturday 27 November in line with normal protocols; 

 The TCG was chaired by Durham Constabulary and had 
representatives from Durham County Council, the Civil Contingencies 
Unit, County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service, North 
East Ambulance Service and Darlington Borough Council as well as a 
military liaison officer; 

 The initial focus of the TCG was to deal with the immediate aftermaths 
of the storm; 

 TCGs continued throughout Saturday and Sunday with generally most 
agencies seeing a return to normal levels of activity; 

 Power outages were a concern but the scale of the issue and timelines 
for reconnection were not clear; 

 On Sunday night a Strategic Call took place to refocus the TCG, 
specifically around power outages to understand what additional 
support might be required; 

 The TCGs during Monday highlighted concerns that the scale of the 
problem and the duration of the power outages warranted a Strategic 
Coordination Group (SCG) to be established and the SCG first met on 
Tuesday 30 November; 

 As LRF Chair and with the information available at the time Stuart was 
content that the LRF’s Multi Agency Incident Procedures were 
followed; 

 This was the first LRF in the country to declare a major incident; 

 The LRF would be carrying out a full debrief and identifying any 
lessons learned; 

 The LRF was keen that its response was examined independently and 
would fully support any reviews put in place. 

 
The Leader thanked John and Stuart for their updates. 
 
Last month saw the successful return of Lumiere to Durham, with the 
festival’s footprint extending far beyond the city.  Six fabulous installations in 
locations including Raby Castle, Finchale Priory and the Pasmore Pavilion at 
Peterlee, meant even more people were able to experience the magic of this 
amazing event, which also placed a national spotlight on County Durham, 
which was an undeniable boost to the bid to be named UK City of Culture 
2025. 
 

Page 8



November also saw the council scoop the Children’s Services award at the 
Local Government Chronicle Awards, and the Leader offered congratulations 
to all those involved. 
 
Twelve parks across County Durham had been handed Green Flag Awards, 
which recognised excellence and good practice in the management and 
development of parks and open spaces.  The awards reflected the high 
standards of maintenance needed to keep the sites looking good and also 
the involvement of local communities. 
 
The Leader congratulated Paul Darby on his appointment to the role of 
Corporate Director of Resources on a permanent basis.  Paul had been a 
real asset to the Council since joining in 2009 and had done an exceptional 
job during the past year as Interim Corporate Director of Resources, guiding 
the Council’s finances through what had been a busy and challenging period.  
He had already proven to be a valuable addition to the Corporate 
Management Team. 
 
The Council had recently submitted proposals to the government to consider 
the reopening of Ferryhill railway station, after the government allocated 
£500 million to restore railways and reconnect communities in 2020.  A 
Strategic Outline Business Case was now with the Department for Transport, 
which would decide on next steps.  Working with the Auckland Project, the 
Council had also been successful in applying for the grant from the 
Department for Transport’s Restoring Your Railway fund to develop an early-
stage proposal for plans to join the Bishop Auckland and Weardale railway 
lines. 
 
A joint bid with Durham Constabulary and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for County Durham and Darlington to the government’s Safety 
of Women at Night Fund has secured more than £100,000 to ensure people 
in Durham City were as safe as they could be.  The money would be used to 
offer training and education in how to be aware of vulnerability and to 
develop nighttime safety. 
 
The council was among a number of organisations in the County to sign a 
new pledge, announcing their commitment to work together to protect the 
environment.  The County Durham Climate Change Agreement was a new 
initiative designed to create a strong and active partnership of organisations 
which would work together to make real environmental progress.  The 
Council’s local response to climate change was also the theme of the County 
Durham Partnership’s first in-person meeting since October 2019.  A wide 
range of partners, including the Council, came together to discuss how to 
strengthen the County’s response to climate change. 
 

Page 9



The Council was urging more people to consider becoming foster carers with 
the launch of an appeal to recruit more carers for children with additional 
needs and disabilities.  The Council currently had over 250 families caring for 
children and young people, with carers able to continue supporting young 
people into adulthood, but more were needed, particularly to support children 
who required additional support. 
 
Finally, the Leader wished all Members a very Merry Christmas. 
 
Councillor Crute, while not wishing to pre-empt the outcome of any 
independent inquiry into the Council’s response to Storm Arwen, asked the 
following questions: 

 Would the Leader accede to the call for a fully independent inquiry 
regarding the response following Storm Arwen? 

 Did the Leader think she did everything possible to mitigate the impact 
of Storm Arwen? 

 Would the Leader do the same things in the same way in the event of 
a similar incident? 

 Did the Leader feel that the response to the impact of Storm Arwen 
had let the people of County Durham down? 

 
The Leader of the Council thanked Councillor Crute for his questions.  
Without wanting to pre-empt the independent review, she had already 
informed Councillor Crute that she was prepared to meet with both himself 
and Councillor Marshall next week when Councillor Marshall returned from 
leave to consider what to do regarding an independent review. 
 
Councillor Boyes asked whether the Leader thought the Council had done 
enough following Storm Arwen.  The Chair reminded Council that he had 
stated questions about Storm Arwen would be answered outside of the 
meeting. 
 
Councillor P Taylor raised a point of clarification.  Councillor Taylor asked 
whether the Chair was denying Members the opportunity to ask a question of 
the Leader’s report which included the Coalition’s response to Storm Arwen. 
 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services advised that under Procedure 
Rules Members were entitled to ask the Leader questions on items in the 
Leaders report.  The Leader and the Chair had already indicated that this 
was not an item of debate.  If Members wished to ask the Leader a question 
in respect of Storm Arwen they could do so but this was not an opportunity to 
make statements. 
 
Councillor P Atkinson referred to mention of the reopening of Ferryhill railway 
station and asked the Leader of an indication of timescales for this.  The 
Leader replied she would provide Councillor Atkinson with this information 

Page 10



outside of the meeting.  Councillor McKeon asked when the Council would 
be informed of the outcome of proposals to reopen the Leamside line and 
any plans for a railway line to Consett.  Councillor McKeon also asked how 
any reopening of Ferryhill station would be impacted by the proposed 
reduction of services on the east coast main line to Darlington and Durham.  
The Leader replied that she would provide Councillor McKeon with this 
information outside of the meeting, 
 
Councillor Fletcher referred to the County Durham Climate Change 
Agreement and expressed concern that the City of Durham Parish Council 
had recently withdrawn its support for the COP 26 event in Durham City.  
Councillor Fletcher asked whether the current administration would provide 
support for this work to continue.  The Leader replied that she would provide 
Councillor Fletcher with this information outside of the meeting. 
 

5 Questions from the Public  
 
There were no questions from the public. 
 

6 Petitions  
 
There were no petitions for consideration. 
 

7 Report from the Cabinet  
 
The Leader of the Council provided the Council with an update of business 
discussed by Cabinet at meetings held on 13 October and 17 November 
2021 (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 

8 Appointment of Vice-Chair of the Safer and Stronger Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
Moved by Councillor J Shuttleworth, Seconded by Councillor A Shield that 
Councillor P Heaviside be appointed Vice-Chair of the Safer and Stronger 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor R Crute, Seconded by Councillor S Deinali that 
Councillor J Miller be appointed Vice-Chair of the Safer and Stronger 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Upon a vote being taken it was 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor P Heaviside be appointed Vice-Chair of the Safer and 
Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

Page 11



9 Review of the Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles  
 
The Council considered a report of the Corporate Director of 
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change which sought approval and adoption of 
a revised Statement of Principles (Gambling Policy) for 2022 to 2025 in 
accordance with the Gambling Act 2005.  Once adopted, the revised policy 
would enable the Council to continue to make decisions when exercising its 
responsibilities as the Licensing Authority under the Gambling Act 2005 for 
the next three years (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Moved by Councillor Shuttleworth, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Rural 
Communities and Highways, Seconded by Councillor D Stoker and 
 
Resolved: 
That the revised Statement of Principles be approved. 
 

10 Review of the Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy  
 
The Chair informed Council that this item was to be deferred and considered 
at the meeting of Council in January 2022. 
 

11 Mid-Year Review Report on Treasury Management for the period 
to 30 September 2021  
 
The Council noted a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided information on the treasury management mid-year position for 
2021/22 and provided a summary of the Council’s treasury position, 
borrowing activity, investment activity, treasury management and prudential 
indicators as at 30 September 2021 (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 

12 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2021  
 
The Council received the 2021 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 
for County Durham (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006, one of the statutory 
requirements of the Director of Public Health was to produce an annual 
report about the health of the local population.  The local authority had a duty 
to publish the report.  The government had not specified what the annual 
report might contain and had made it clear that this was a decision for 
individual Directors of Public Health to determine. 
 
The Director of Public Health annual report for 2021 focused on the following: 

 Health and wellbeing across County Durham 

 Approach to wellbeing 

Page 12



 County Durham – our health roadmap 

 COVID-19 – response and recovery 

 Update on strategic priorities 

 Specific focus on 3 remaining strategic priorities: 

 Promoting positive behaviours 

 High quality drug and alcohol services 

 Better quality of life through integrated health and care services 

 Revisiting the Taylors with a focus on real life case studies 

 Update on recommendations from 2020 

 A set of recommendations for 2021 based on the three priority areas of 
focus. 

 
Councillor P Sexton, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health Services 
thanked the Director of Public Health for the presentation of the Annual 
Report and placed on record his thanks to the Director and her team for their 
work over the last 20 months which had been a very challenging time. 
 

13 Motions on Notice  
 
Councillor P Molloy informed Council that the Cabinet Member for Adult and 
Health Services and the Council’s Armed Forces Champion had discussed 
the Motion and the Cabinet supported the idea of extending the discounted 
rates of gym and swim membership at Council leisure centres to veterans of 
all ages.  These would be introduced under Officer Delegated Powers from 1 
April 2022 and as such Councillor Molloy withdrew his Motion. 
 
Moved by Councillor R Crute, Seconded by Councillor K Shaw: 
 
The current Council Tax system is outdated, unfair and no longer fit for 
purpose.  Therefore, this council agrees to pursue every available 
opportunity – including the involvement of appropriate government 
departments and other agencies as necessary – to consider the benefits and 
feasibility of adopting a fairer system in the form of a Proportional Property 
Tax. 
 
An Amendment was Moved by Councillor R Bell, Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for Finance, Seconded by Councillor A Shield, Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder for Equality and Inclusion: 
 
The current Council Tax system is outdated, unfair and no longer fit for 
purpose.  Therefore, this council agrees to pursue every available 
opportunity – including the involvement of appropriate government 
departments and other agencies as necessary – to consider the benefits and 
feasibility of adopting a fairer system in the form of a Proportional Property 
Tax. 
 

Page 13



A named vote on the Amendment was requested. 
 
For the Amendment 
Councillors M Abley, B Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, J Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, J Cairns, J Charlton, M Cosslett, B Coult, M Currah, T Duffy, J 
Elmer, D Freeman, P Heaviside, T Henderson, L A Holmes, A Hopgood, J 
Howey, C Hunt, A Jackson, M Johnson, P Jopling, C Lines, L Maddison, C 
Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, M McGaun, P Molloy, J Nicholson, D Oliver, R 
Ormerod, E Peeke, R Potts, J Quinn, A Reed, G Richardson, K Robson, K 
Rooney, J Rowlandson, E Scott, P Sexton, A Shield, J Shuttleworth, M 
Simmons, A Simpson, M Stead, W Stelling, A Sterling, D Stoker, T Stubbs, D 
Sutton-Lloyd, M Walton, A Watson, M Wilkes and S Zair. 
 
Against the Amendment 
Councillors E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, 
A Batey, K Batey, G Binney, D Boyes, R Crute, S Deinali, L Fenwick, C 
Fletcher, J Griffiths, O Gunn, S Henig, L Hovvels, C Kay, B Kellett, R 
Manchester, D McKenna, M McKeon, I McLean, J Miller, D Nicholls, P 
Pringle, J Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, K Shaw, T Smith, A Surtees, P Taylor, 
F Tinsley, S Townsend, C Varty, E Waldock, M Wilson, D Wood and R 
Yorke. 
 
The Amendment was carried and therefore became the Substantive Motion. 
 
A named vote on the Substantive Motion was requested. 
 
For the Motion 
Councillors E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, 
A Batey, K Batey, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, G Binney, J Blakey, D Boyes, D 
Brown, L Brown, J Charlton, M Cosslett, B Coult, R Crute, M Currah, S 
Deinali, T Duffy, J Elmer, L Fenwick, C Fletcher, D Freeman, J Griffiths, P 
Heaviside, T Henderson, S Henig, L A Holmes, A Hopgood, L Hovvels, J 
Howey, C Hunt, A Jackson, M Johnson, C Kay, C Lines, L Maddison, R 
Manchester, C Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, M McGaun, D McKenna, M 
McKeon, I McLean, J Miller, P Molloy, D Nicholls, J Nicholson, R Ormerod, E 
Peeke, R Potts, P Pringle, J Purvis, J Quinn, S Quinn, A Reed, G 
Richardson, I Roberts, K Robson, K Rooney, J Rowlandson, E Scott, P 
Sexton, K Shaw, A Shield, J Shuttleworth, M Simmons, A Simpson, T Smith, 
M Stead, W Stelling, A Sterling, D Stoker, T Stubbs, A Surtees, D Sutton-
Lloyd, P Taylor, S Townsend, E Waldock, M Walton, A Watson, M Wilkes, M 
Wilson, D Wood, R Yorke and S Zair. 
 
Against the Motion 
Councillors M Abley, B Bainbridge, J Cairns, O Gunn, P Jopling, B Kellett 
and C Varty. 
 

Page 14



Abstain 
Councillors D Oliver and F Tinsley. 
 
The Substantive Motion was carried. 
 

14 Questions from Members  
 
Councillor R Yorke asked the following question 
 
Since the last full council, a petition signed by nearly 1000 residents from 
West Auckland has called upon Durham County Council to rethink its 
position regarding the Toft Hill bypass.  
 
Can the Leader explain why West Auckland wasn’t included within the 
Levelling Up application and also why no public consultation was carried out? 
 
Councillor A Hopgood, Leader of the Council, thanked Councillor Yorke for 
his question and provided the following response: 
 
I take it as a compliment to this Cabinet and Joint Administration that you 
have the confidence in our ability that we could not only develop, consult and 
produce the Bishop Auckland levelling up bid but also make a decision to 
submit it in under 10 working days of taking office. 
 
Therefore, credit where credit is due, the bid that was submitted for Bishop 
Auckland constituency was drawn up under the previous administration and 
presumably in conjunction with the Cabinet at that time.  The particular 
element that your question refers to is one that I would have expected you to 
be fully aware of given that at the time you were the Cabinet Support 
Member for the Portfolio holder responsible for highways. 
 
As Members are aware the remaining five bids have already involved 
Member engagement, a first for many Members in this hall but I can assure 
you it won’t be the last, so Councillor Yorke in conclusion this was your 
administration bid and therefore you may be better placed to ask Councillor 
Marshall these questions 
 
Councillor Yorke responded that he was aware of the application adding that 
the previous administration agreed to consult with residents.  There had been 
no consultation with residents about the bid.  Councillor Yorke asked if a 
bypass was good enough for the people of Toft Hill why was it not good 
enough for the residents of West Auckland. 
 
Councillor Hopgood thanked Councillor Yorke for his supplementary 
question.  There would be a consultation in the new year with the Members 
of Bishop Auckland Constituency to consider actions going forward.  

Page 15



Councillor Hopgood reminded Councillor Yorke that the previous 
administration drew up and proposed the 2020 County Durham Plan which 
did not contain a bypass for West Auckland which had never been in 
discussion and did not form part of any joint transport work for the last 20 
years. 
 

Page 16



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At an Extraordinary Meeting of the County Council held in the The Main Hall - 
Spennymoor Leisure Centre on Wednesday 8 December 2021 at 12.15 
pm 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor W Stelling in the Chair 
 

Councillors M Abley, E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, 
P Atkinson, B Bainbridge (Vice-Chair), A Batey, K Batey, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, 
G Binney, J Blakey, D Boyes, D Brown, L Brown, J Cairns, J Charlton, J Cosslett, 
B Coult, R Crute, T Duffy, J Elmer, L Fenwick, C Fletcher, D Freeman, J Griffiths, 
O Gunn, P Heaviside, T Henderson, S Henig, L A Holmes, A Hopgood, L Hovvels, 
J Howey, C Hunt, A Jackson, M Johnson, P Jopling, C Kay, B Kellett, C Lines, 
L Maddison, R Manchester, C Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, M McGaun, D McKenna, 
M McKeon, I McLean, J Miller, P Molloy, D Nicholls, J Nicholson, D Oliver, 
R Ormerod, E Peeke, R Potts, P Pringle, J Purvis, J Quinn, S Quinn, A Reed, 
G Richardson, I Roberts, K Robson, K Rooney, J Rowlandson, E Scott, P Sexton, 
K Shaw, A Shield, J Shuttleworth, M Simmons, A Simpson, T Smith, M Stead, 
A Sterling, D Stoker, T Stubbs, A Surtees, D Sutton-Lloyd, P Taylor, F Tinsley, 
E Waldock, A Watson, M Wilkes, M Wilson, D Wood, R Yorke and S Zair 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Chaplow, R Charlton-
Lainé, I Cochrane, S Deinali, C Hampson, A Hanson, J Higgins, D Howarth, 
G Hutchinson, B McAloon, S McMahon, M-Idwal Roberts, S Robinson, A Savory 
and S Wilson 
 

 

1 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

2 Conferment of the Title of Honorary Aldermen / Honorary 
Alderwomen  
 
The Council considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
which sought confirmation of the conferment of the title of Honorary 
Alderman/Alderwoman upon retiring Members who qualified for the same in 
accordance with previously agreed criteria (for copy see file of Minutes). 
  

Page 17



Moved by Councillor Hopgood, seconded by Councillor Crute. 
 
Councillor Miller referred to the late Councillor Morris Nicholls and asked 
whether the honour could be awarded posthumously.  The Head of Legal 
and Democratic Services replied that there was a legal debate whether this 
was possible and suggested that if he wanted to take it forward the matter 
could be considered by the Constitution Working Group. 
 
Resolved: 
That the Council confer the title of Honorary Alderman/ Alderwoman on the 
following former Councillors once they had indicated they would be prepared 
to accept the honorary title: 
 

(a) Edward Bell 
(b) Geraldine Bleasdale 
(c) Derek Hicks 
(d) Eunice Huntington 
(e) Garry Huntington 
(f)  Sarah Jane Iveson 
(g) Oswald Johnson 
(h) Audrey Laing 
(i)  John Lethbridge 
(j)  Joyce Maitland 
(k) Alan Napier 
(l)  John Robinson 
(m) Owen Temple 
(n) John Turnbull 
(o) Audrey Willis 

 

Page 18



 

County Council 

26 January 2022 

Report from the Cabinet 

 

 

Report of Cabinet 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

All 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide information to the Council on issues considered by the 
Cabinet at the meeting held on 15 December 2021 to enable Members 
to ask related questions by no later than midday 3 working days before 
the day of the meeting 

 

Contents 

15 December 2021 

 
Item 1 - Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2022/23 
 
Item 2 - Council Homes Programme Update 
 
Item 3 - County Durham Inclusive Economic Strategy 
 
Item 4 - Bishop Auckland Economic Growth Asset Strategy 

Key Decision No. REG/06/21 
 
 

1. Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2022/23 
Cabinet Portfolio Holders – Councillor Richard Bell and 
Councillor Ted Henderson 
Contact: David Shirer 03000 268 554 

 
We considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services and the Corporate Director of Resources which provided an 
overview of the forecast Dedicated Schools Grant School Block and proposed 

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



local formula for 2022/23, with the proposal that the Council continued to align 
the mainstream primary and secondary formula funding in 2022/23 with the 
National Funding Formula (NFF). 
 
The Schools Block is part of the Dedicated Schools Grant and is the main 
source of funding for the mainstream primary and secondary funding formula. 
This provides the bulk of funding for these schools.  Mainstream primary and 
secondary funding formulas are set locally by each local authority. A single 
formula applies for both primary and secondary schools.  Funding regulations 
limit the discretion of local authorities when setting local formulas and requires 
the majority of funding to be distributed through pupil-led factors.  
 
Nationally, core school funding, which includes the Schools Block is to 
increase in 2022/23 by £2.3 billion. The increase represented a 3.2% increase 
on funding available for the current year. Most of the funding had been used to 
increase factor values in the NFF by between 2% and 4%, with the minimum 
per pupil funding guaranteed through the formula increasing to £4,265 per 
primary pupil and £5,525 per secondary pupil. Whilst the increase is 
welcomed it was recognised that schools would face future pressures linked to 
inflation and the lifting of the public sector pay pause, which had already 
affected schools. 
 
Funding in the NFF for small primary schools in sparsely populated areas, 
(known as sparsity funding), had been substantially increased nationally and 
the eligibility criteria had changed. This would benefit more schools and 
allocate more funding through this factor. The changes would result in 
additional funding for the Schools Block. 
 
It was forecasted that the number of schools benefitting from sparsity funding 
in County Durham would increase from 13 to 30 schools. The funding 
available under this formula factor had increased from £0.5 million per annum 
to £1.2 million per annum. 
 
The local formula in Durham in 2021/22 was aligned to the National Funding 
Formula (NFF). It is expected that the NFF will replace local formulas in the 
future and the DfE was consulting on how to progress this issue. For 2022/23 
it was recommended that the council continued to set a local formula aligned 
to the NFF.  The council was planning to use growth funding to support one 
school experiencing basic need growth in pupil numbers.  The local formula 
factor values would be finalised upon receipt of the DSG settlement in January 
2022 and the full local formula would be included in the MTFP(12) and 
2022/23 budget report in February 2022. 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



Decision 
 

(a) We agreed to the continued alignment of the local formula to the 
NFF in 2022/23, including the changes to sparsity funding; 
 

(b) We also agreed the adjustment for basic need growth funding for 
Framwellgate Primary School; and  
 

(c) noted that the formula factors would be finalised upon receipt of the 
finance settlement, with the detailed formula included in the 
MTFP(12) and 2022/23 budget report presented to Cabinet in 
February 2022. 

 

2. Council Homes Programme Update 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder: Councillor James Rowlandson 
Contacts: Laura Martin 03000 261 260 and  
Ian Conway 07551 301 513 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth which set out the strategic rationale behind the Council Homes 
programme and an update on current progress.  The report sought approval to 
commence work on phase two of the programme and set out the Council’s 
strategy for the development of new council homes within the rural west of the 
County. 
 
The Government had established ambitious targets to deliver 300,000 
affordable homes each year within the Government White Paper “Fixing Our 
Broken Housing Market” 2017.  The White Paper included proposals to build 
the right homes in the right place, building homes faster, diversifying the 
housing market and helping people now. 
 
Within County Durham, even with the best efforts of the Council working with 
Registered Provider partners, the Council had failed to deliver on Affordable 
Homes Targets.  The Strategic Housing Market Assessment SHMA identified 
a net shortfall of 836 affordable dwellings per year (2016 – 35).  Taking 
account of delivery of all types by all developers, the Council had struggled to 
meet 50% of this need on an annual basis.  The White Paper signalled a new 
active role for local authorities to become involved in the direct development of 
affordable homes.  The main hurdle that prevented councils from delivering to 
capacity had seen the removal of the debt cap which provided the opportunity 
for councils to make significant contributions to the national effort and locally 
helping to close the gap in affordable housing delivery for local people.  
Proactive councils were stepping forward to play their part in meeting the 
acute housing need that existed. 
 

Page 21



Since the approval of the Council Homes programme by Cabinet in October 
2020, officers had been working hard on a comprehensive strategy to deliver 
500 new council homes between now and 2026.  This work had centred 
around five strategic themes covering governance, development, finance, 
housing management and regulatory standards. 
 
Work had progressed on preparations for the development of seven sites 
already included in phase one of the programme.  Approval was sought for 
sites to be included in phase two which would see the commencement of 
onsite investigation work, viability assessments, site layout and designs to 
ensure delivery of the programme in conjunction with the set timetable. 
The Council had specific challenges in delivering essential affordable housing 
within the rural west of the county where a small number of new affordable 
homes would make a significant difference in local communities.  The 
Council’s approach needed to be different as it did not have its own land 
holdings for the development of new homes.  The report detailed the Council’s 
strategy for developing new affordable homes in rural communities. 
 
The Council was setting out to deliver high quality energy efficient homes with 
a focus on the provision of around 65% of the homes developed as bungalow 
accommodation for the County’s aging population. 
 
New homes for rent would be let under Secure Tenancies.  As a 
consequence, they would be subject to the Right to Buy (RTB) scheme with 
tenant discounts in line with legislation. The RTB scheme incorporates a cost 
floor rule that reduces the tenant discount to zero in the event that the cost 
floor (i.e. the cost of building the property) is higher than the RTB value with 
discount.  These cost floor provisions applied for 15 years in the case of new 
homes being built by the Council.  The cost floor rules would effectively 
prevent purchases with any discount for 15 years and after that period RTB 
purchases with discounts would apply.  The Council could apply further 
restrictions with regard to the Right to Buy in designated rural areas which 
were covered in the proposed Rural Affordable Homes Plan. 
 
The overall financial arrangements modelled in support of the strategic 
business case demonstrated the ability of the Housing Revenue Account to be 
self-financing after the initial pump priming necessary to execute the 
programme.  Importantly, the development of 500 new homes programme 
would result in a total capital spend of approximately £70 million with over £18 
million in Government funding support through the Homes England Affordable 
Homes Programme.  This comes at a crucial time to contribute to the 
economic recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic within the local construction 
industry and supply chain.  Emerging work with procurement on a Local 
Wealth Building programme would ensure that local communities and 
businesses had the opportunity to benefit. 
 

Page 22



Decision 
 
We:- 
 

(i) noted the progress to date and agreed Phase 2 of the Council House 
Building Programme subject to an assessment of the viability of each 
individual scheme;  
 

(ii) delegated authority to the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Economic Growth and the Corporate Director of Resources, in 
consultation with the Portfolio holders of Investments, Resources 
and Assets and Finance to consider detailed reports on scheme 
viability and to sign off schemes for full development; 
 

(iii) would agree any substitute sites to replace sites that do not pass the 
appropriate viability tests; 
 

(iv) agreed the Rural Housing Plan outlined within the report. 
 
 

3. County Durham Inclusive Economic Strategy 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor Elizabeth Scott 
Contacts - Amy Harhoff, Geoff Paul and Glenn Martin 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth which set out proposals to develop a county wide inclusive 
economic strategy for County Durham. 
 
This report included the findings of an economic review undertaken in 2021 
and sought agreement for an economic statement to be used as a basis for 
conversations with stakeholders until the new strategy was agreed in Autumn 
2022. 
 
In March 2021, Cabinet had considered a report entitled ‘Economic Recovery 
and Prosperity: Levelling up and Investment for County Durham’ and noted 
the intention to produce an economic statement. At that time, an overview of 
the impact of Covid 19 on the county’s economy outlined the emerging 
findings of an economic review. It identified national and regional funding 
opportunities and provided a detailed thematic pipeline of potential projects 
and interventions to support future inclusive economic growth. 
 
Following discussions with elected members and external partners, the 
Council had agreed to take the following three-stage approach to developing a 
new, Inclusive Economic Strategy for the County. 
 

Page 23



Stage one comprised an assessment of the economy in the County and the 
production of an Economic Review. This had been concluded in March and 
summarised the main drivers and structure of the current economy including 
the impacts of Covid 19, the future challenges and opportunities. The 
Economic Review detailed a series of policy focused areas for consideration. 
 
Stage two, and the main emphasis of the report, was the short economic 
statement, based on the Economic Review. This provided the strategic 
context in advance of the production of a full Economic Strategy. The 
Economic Statement had been produced and was linked to the County 
Durham Vision 2035, and the key findings of the Economic Review. The 
statement proposed a ‘5P framework’ for the development of the new strategy, 
based on: 
 

• People: Supporting people into education, training, jobs, and to excel in 
business and their careers; 

 
• Prosperity: Supporting innovation, inclusive opportunities, economic 

growth, and higher levels of productivity; 
 

• Places: Developing, evolving, and protecting places and infrastructure 
so people and businesses can thrive; 

 
• Promotion: Promotion and celebration of the County and our assets to 

our communities, visitors, investors, and developers; 
 

• Partnerships: Working in a range of partnerships to develop an 
inclusive, greener economy. 

 
The Economic Statement provided an overview of economic performance and 
suggested areas of the economy that the Council needed to collectively 
support.  It firmly positioned the County in regional and national conversations 
relating to economic growth and levelling up. The report also provided 
discussion points to facilitate key conversations with stakeholders and 
partners and frame the development of the new strategy by Summer 2022. 
 
The Inclusive Economic Strategy supported other plans such as the County 
Durham Plan. The strategy would potentially drive the need for detailed 
proposals such as a Transport Strategy and an updated Housing Strategy. It 
would also set the ambition and practical steps to identify, articulate and 
deliver what ‘levelling up’ meant for County Durham and set out priorities to 
achieve this. 
 
Stage 3 would comprise the production of the County Durham Inclusive 
Economic Strategy, in partnership with key stakeholders and following 
consultation. 

Page 24



The emphasis was very much on the role of inclusivity in the county strategy, 
with communities, businesses and residents being the focus of the objectives 
and being included throughout the development process. The County Council 
would act as the enabler. It would be a strategy for the County and should 
therefore represent the many and diverse businesses, anchor institutions and 
communities. 
 

Decision 
 
We noted the content of the Economic Review and agreed the Economic 
Statement to be used to inform the conversations with the identified 
stakeholders and partners. 
 
We agreed the timetable and outline structure for the co-production of an 
inclusive Economic Strategy. 
 
 

4. Bishop Auckland Economic Growth Asset Strategy – Key 
Decision No. REG/06/21 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor James Rowlandson 
Contacts - Dave Wafer 03000 263 577 and  
Susan Robinson 03000 367 332 

 
In accordance with paragraph 19(a) of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules, the following key decision was exempt from the call-in procedure due 
to the urgent nature of the decision being made. 
 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth which set out a strategy for economic growth and the wider 
regeneration of Bishop Auckland. 
 

Decision 
 
We approved the recommendations in the report. 
 
 

Councillor A Hopgood 
Leader of the Council 

 
18 January 2022 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 Council 

26 January 2022 

 Review of the Council’s Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

Policy 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods 
and Climate Change 

Councillor John Shuttleworth, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Rural 
Communities and Highways 

Electoral division(s) affected:  

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To request Council’s adoption of a revised version of Durham County 
Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy, more 
commonly referred to as the “taxi policy”.  The revised taxi policy is 
attached as Appendix 2.  This policy has been produced following a 12-
week public consultation that took place between June and September 
2020. 

2 The revised policy is an updated version of a draft policy that was 
consulted on last year and includes additional changes and proposals 
that resulted from the consultation process.  The current policy is shown 
in Appendix 3.  The draft version containing preliminary proposals that 
was consulted on is shown in Appendix 4. 

 Executive summary 

3 The current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy was 
initially adopted by the Council in April 2016.  (The policy was further 
amended in April 2018 because of changes to immigration legislation.)  
The Taxi Policy provides that the Council will review it every five years 
and will also make such revisions to the policy, as it considers 
appropriate and publish it accordingly. 

4 Consultation on the existing policy and proposed changes is integral to 
the overall policy review process, leading to the adoption of a revised 

Page 27

Agenda Item 9



policy by Council.  Full public consultation took place and following the 
consultation, the responses were collated, assessed, and considered by 
officers from Licensing Services and by Legal Services. 

5 Post-consultation, several additional changes to the initial proposals 
were incorporated into an amended, post consultation policy considered 
by Members sitting as the General Licensing and Registration 
Committee (GLRC) on 13 September 2021.  In addition to the less 
significant and less contentious amendments and proposed changes, 
several matters were identified for highlighting and more detailed 
consideration. 

6 The GLRC has approved the proposed policy and recommend it to 
Council for adoption.  The Licensing Chair and Vice Chairs have also 
recommended a further revision involving projecting the dates for 
complience with certain vehicle emission requirements, that takes into 
consideration the Covid-19 related delays associated with reporting this 
revised policy to Committee and Council. 

Recommendation(s) 

7 Council is recommended to: 

(a) consider this report together with the proposed revised policy; 

(b) consider arrangements for dealing with serious matters that may 
require the immediate revocation of hackney carriage and private 
hire driver’s licences; 

(c) agree to the proposed change in the Officer Scheme of 
Delegation within the Constitution to delegate authority to the 
Head of Community Protection to immediately revoke licences; 
and to sanction the introduction of a Fast-Track re-application 
process for licence reinstatement following an officer revocation 
in cases where such reinstatement is appropriate; 

(d) adopt the proposed revised taxi policy that will replace the 
existing policy.  The revised policy to come into operation from 1st 
March 2022. 

  

  

Page 28



Background 

8 The Policy Review - The existing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy was adopted by the Council in April 2016.  The Policy 
provides that the Council will review it at least every five years and will 
also make such revisions to the policy, as it considers appropriate and 
publish it accordingly. It was amended in 2018 because of changes to 
immigration legislation. 

9 Following its last revision, several matters in the policy had been 
identified that needed to be considered as part of a revision.  The initial 
proposed revision included several significant and potentially 
contentious matters associated with both licensed vehicles and their 
drivers including: 

(a) the possible introduction of new vehicle age restrictions and 
updated engine emission standards; 

(b) changes to the policy on the determination of suitability of 
applicant and licence holders for vehicle, driver and operator 
licences associated with the adoption of standards developed and 
promoted by the Institute of Licensing (IOL); 

(c) introduction of disability awareness training and subsequent 
refresher training for this subject and for the existing safeguarding 
awareness training including child sexual exploitation (CSE) 
awareness; 

(d) changes to officer delegations to enable immediate revocation of 
hackney carriage and private hire driver licences by senior 
officers subject to specific criteria and control measures; 

(e) The incorporation of newly published statutory taxi and private 
hire vehicle standards; 

(f) intelligence led and random drug and alcohol testing; 

(g) the introduction of driver improvement schemes. 

10 The pre- and post-consultation proposed changes to the policy are 
listed in the Table of Changes in Appendix 2. 

11 As a result of the Covid-19 epidemic and the initial countrywide 
lockdown, the original planned date for the start of public consultation 
on the taxi policy proposals was postponed from June to September 
2020.  This delayed consultation period ended on Sunday 29 November 
2020. 

  

Page 29



Consultation 

12 Licensing Services had proposed to consult on the existing Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy for a period of not less than 
12-weeks beginning in June 2020.  As a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic and a national lockdown, this consultation period was 
postponed and began in September ending at the end of November 
2020. 

13 The current policy together with the initially proposed changes was 
subject to a broad consultation involving the taxi trade, trade 
representatives, taxi service users and all relevant authorities and 
organisations. 

14 The consultation was widely advertised and promoted and was made 
available to everyone on the Council’s website. 

15 At the end of the consultation period, responses were collated and 
appraised leading to the production of a revised draft policy for 
presentation and reporting to the GLRC, following SMT and CMT 
approval. 

16 Proposed amendments to the policy resulting from the consultation and 
review/reporting process are presented in this report.  Following 
consideration, decision making and its agreement, the GLRC agreed 
with policy proposals and made several decisions based on available 
options. GLRC made a recommendation for the adoption of the revised 
(amended) policy to Full Council. 

17 The delay in consultation coupled with on-going Covid-related work 
delayed the receipt, collation, assessment and reporting of the findings 
of the consultation to senior and corporate management prior to the 
Christmas period.  This meant that original target dates for reporting this 
matter to the General Licensing and Registration Committee and then 
Full Council for adoption could not be met. 

18 It was anticipated that the revised policy would be adopted by Council 
by the end of April 2021, however, with the permission and acceptance 
of CMT, the operation of this non-statutory policy was extended to allow 
for later/delayed reporting to senior and corporate management, GLRC 
and Council on dates to be rescheduled during 2021. 

19 The consultation responses were received via an on-line, web-based 
survey and by emails sent to the Licensing Services general inbox.  The 
Taxi Licensing Survey/Consultation Questionnaire is shown in Appendix 
5 along with the background consultation information provided to the 
public and specified consultees.  A list of all consultees is also shown in 
Appendix 5. 

Page 30



20 The results of the consultation including statistical data and information, 
survey responses, associated officer commentary, detailed responses 
and discussion is provided in Appendix 6. 

21 A summary of survey information taken from the on-line survey hosted 
by the Council’s website is as follows: 

 The Taxi Licensing Survey 2020 yielded 65 on-line responses, of 
which 48 (74%) had some background in employment or 
ownership within the taxi industry; 

 Just over a third of respondents found the draft policy difficult to 
understand, two thirds did not; 

 Nine in ten thought the draft policy provided enough protection for 
children and vulnerable adults; 

 Just over a third thought the draft policy included everything they 
thought should be in such a policy, whilst just over a quarter 
disagreed; 

 Around half thought one or more of the requirements of the new 
national standards for taxi and private hire licensing should be left 
out of the new policy; 

 Over half strongly disagreed with the proposals on vehicle 
emissions and the age of licensed vehicles.  However, this was 
the overriding opinion of the taxi industry; the public agreed with 
the proposal; 

 Over half agreed with the proposals in respect of previous 
convictions and offences as developed by the Institute of 
Licensing; 

 Nearly two thirds agreed with the proposed intelligence led and 
random drug and alcohol testing; 

 Over half agreed with the proposal for drivers to do refresher 
training on the prevention of child sexual exploitation every three 
years.  However, the taxi industry was equally for and against the 
proposal; 

 Nearly two thirds agreed with that all drivers should be trained in 
disability awareness; 

 Over half agreed that all taxis and private hire vehicles should 
have internal CCTV fitted as standard; 

Page 31



 Over half disagreed that applicants with 6 points on their DVLA 
driving licences should be required to undertake a driver 
improvement scheme.  However, this was the overriding opinion 
of the taxi industry, the public agreed with the proposal. 

22 Following the consultation, the responses were considered by officers 
from Licensing Services and by Legal Services.  Of the relevant, policy-
related responses received, some were discounted as being erroneous 
in some respect.  For example, some proposals could not be 
considered for legal reasons.  Some responses related to non-policy 
matters such as procedural, legal, administrative or enforcement issues. 

23 Matters that were not of a policy nature or which concerned subjects 
outside the remit of Council policy also could not be taken forward for 
further consideration.  However, where such administrative proposals 
had merit, changes to current procedures, systems and processes were 
considered and some administrative changes have resulted.  
Responses that could not be taken forward for consideration in terms of 
future policy development are recorded in Appendix 6. 

24 Relevant responses which sat within the remit of taxi licensing policy 
that were compelling, persuasive, or convincing and which offered a 
reasonable alternative or addition to that which had been initially 
proposed lead to further changes to the draft policy.  See post-
consultation revised draft policy in Appendix 2 and Assessment of Taxi 
Policy Survey Responses in Appendix 6. 

25 In the ‘Assessment of Taxi Survey Responses’ (Appendix 6), some text 
is shown in purple.  The purple text represents changes to policy 
proposed following the consultation resulting from officer appraisal of 
the consultation responses.  Some of the text is in red.  This red text 
includes matters that were put forward for more specific, in-depth 
consideration by Members at GLRC. 

15 For example, over half of all respondents strongly disagreed with the 
proposals on vehicle emissions and the age of licensed vehicles.  
However, this was the overriding opinion of the taxi industry with 74% of 
all responses coming from the licensed trade.  This subject elicited 
many comments and several alternative proposals.  Further 
assessment of this matter has taken place and alternative options were 
put forward for GLRC consideration.  See 4.0 Vehicle Emissions and 
Manufacture Criteria Pages 7 and 8 of the draft policy and Vehicle Age 
and Emissions Policy Options in Appendix 7. 

16 Implications for decision-making – (See 7.0 Delegations and 
Committee Referrals and Officer Revocations pages the revised policy).  
In connection with licensing enforcement matters, currently DCC 

Page 32



operates a process whereby full separation between investigator and 
decision-maker is achieved via the committee referral process.  
Licensing Officers currently do not have the delegated authority to 
revoke licences although, officers can issue suspension notices.  The 
Council operates a system where only committees may revoke, so that 
if officers consider that a driver poses an imminent risk to public safety, 
they can only suspend the licence and then refer the suspended 
individual to Members for further consideration.  This process inevitably 
takes time to progress and does not readily or effectively cater for the 
immediate revocation of a licence. 

17 The new DfT National Guidance advises that before any decision is 
made, the licensing authority must consider the available evidence and 
the driver should be given the opportunity to state his or her case.  Of 
significant importance in relation to current DCC systems and 
processes is that if a period of suspension is imposed, it cannot be 
extended or changed to revocation later. 

18 Although this existing system does achieve separation of roles and 
having a sub-committee panel dealing with referrals and operating due 
process avoids allegations of malice on appeal, there are problems 
associated with such a process: 

 Legal opinion from recent case law indicates that decisions taken 
should be final, in that a referral process to a committee for 
further decision making (to revoke or not) may be unlawful. Again, 
the new national standards make it clear that if a period of 
suspension is imposed, it cannot be extended or changed to 
revocation later; 

 During busy periods and with increasing workloads for members 
and officers, feeding work through to sub-committees can lead to 
lengthy, undue delays thereby failing to provide for the immediate 
revocation of licences. 

19 The new Department of Transport Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards July 2020 which Councils must have regard to, require that 
all licensing authorities must consider arrangements for dealing with 
serious matters that may require the immediate revocation of a licence.  
The Standards recommend that this is delegated to a senior officer with 
responsibility for the licensing service. 

20 The standards also recommend: 

 Member referral for contentious matters; 

 Officers make decisions for “less contentious matters” via a 
“transparent scheme of delegation”. 

Page 33



Regardless of which approach is adopted, all authorities should plan for 
dealing with serious matters that may require the immediate revocation 
of a licence.  Similarly, regardless of the approach objective should 
remain the same – to separate the investigation of licensing concerns 
and the management of the licence process. 

21 There is no legal harm in having revocations, decided by officers. But 
having a senior, independent officer dealing with it, and operating due 
process, would avoid allegations of malice on appeal.  Many councils 
already operate such a decision-making process which is supported by 
relevant case law.  See Table 1. Arrangements for immediate licence 
revocations by Councils in the Northeast Region in Appendix 8. 

22 A change to the Council’s constitutional arrangements and delegations 
of authority is needed to enable the revocation of taxi driver licences by 
officers. 

23 A decision to revoke a licence does not however prevent the issuing of 
a new licence should further information be received that alters the 
balance of probability of a decision previously made.  A decision to 
suspend or revoke is based on the evidence available at the time the 
determination was made.  New evidence may, of course, become 
available later. 

24 If, for example, the allegations against a licence holder were, on the 
balance of probability, considered to be unfounded, or their fitness to 
drive was proven satisfactory, a suspension could be lifted or, if the 
licence was revoked, an expedited re-licensing process will be used.  
We would implement and operate a Fast-Track re-application process 
for licence reinstatement following an officer revocation in such cases. 

25 A fast-track application process has been developed and agreed by 
senior management which is ready for use following the adoption of the 
revised policy. 

26 Appendix 9 ‘Comparison of Assessment of Previous Convictions in the 
National Standards with Policy Proposals’ compares matters contained 
in National Standards with the revised Policy Proposals (see Taxi and 
PH Vehicle Standards; Annex, ‘Assessment of Previous Convictions’). 

27 Appendix 10 - shows the recommendations set out by the Department 
for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards (July 
2020) and where these are referenced within the proposed Durham 
County Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy. 

  

Page 34



Highlighted proposals that were considered by Members of GLRC 

28 In addition to the more general and arguably, less contentious 
proposals contained within the pre- and post-consultation revised 
policies, several matters of importance were identified during and after 
the consultation process. 

29 The following matters were specifically highlighted and drawn to the 
attention of Members.  The GLRC was asked to make decisions on their 
appropriateness for inclusion in the final draft that, following GLRC 
acceptance, will be recommended to and put before Council. 

(a) Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria – whether to accept 
and recommend the original proposals which included an age 
policy or to extend and update our existing policy based purely on 
manufactures emission standards.  An alternative proposal for 
consideration is offered in the revised post consultation policy and 
in Appendix 6.  The original proposal did not receive strong 
support from the taxi trade during the consultation process.  
Regionally, despite differences in Council policies, there is a drive 
for authorities to include this form of policy to reduce emissions 
and improve air quality. GLRC recommend a revised policy based 
solely on Euro vehicle emission standards in line with current 
policy; 

(b) Locality tests – whether to keep locality (topographical) testing 
and a requirement for both hackney carriage and private hire 
drivers; or to discontinue its application for both or either type of 
licenced driver.  GLRC recommends removal of the requirement 
for prospective private hire drivers to undergo 
topographical/locality testing; 

(c) Removal of the policy requirements to carry fire extinguishers and 
first aid kits in licensed vehicles– whether licensed vehicles 
should have to carry these items. GLRC recommend maintaining 
these requirements for licensed vehicles; 
 

(d) Zero or reduced fee charges for electric vehicles, balanced out 
with higher fees for more polluting vehicles or by subsidy – 
whether changes to licence fees would be appropriate taking into 
consideration funding arrangements for taxi licensing and 
Licensing Services.  GLRC recommends maintaining current fee 
setting arrangements in-line with existing financial management 
processes; 

 

(e) Adoption of a new policy on offences – whether to adopt the IOL 
policy standards in full or in part.  We have simplified and clarified 

Page 35



the current policy in relation to convictions etc. and consider that 
the proposed level of detail will provide enough detail for all policy 
users including Members, officers, and the public.  We have 
considered the alternatives suggested by respondents and have 
concluded that no compelling reasons for departure from our 
proposed policy has been put forward.  Our proposals do not 
mirror the IOL standards in all respects, but the proposed policy is 
in line with the new Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards.  We are however proposing to highlight the complete 
set of IOL standards as an additional source of reference.  We 
have proposed to incorporate the IOL standards in part but not in 
relation to the section on minor motoring offences or motoring 
offences involving disqualification.  GLRC recommends the 
proposals as incorporated in the revised policy; 

 

(f) Safeguarding including child sexual exploitation (CSE) and 
disability awareness and refresher training to be included in the 
proposed policy and if so, at what frequency – currently disability 
awareness training is not part of the application process.  It is 
proposed that for new applications, all prospective drivers to have 
undergone disability awareness training and for existing licensed 
drivers, e.g. From 31st March 2022, all licensed drivers must 
undergo disability awareness refresher training before their 
licence is renewed, if they have not already received disability 
awareness training (or disability awareness refresher training) 
within the previous 3 years.  GLRC recommends the proposals as 
incorporated in the revised policy for Safeguarding (CSE) and DA 
training and periodic refresher training; 

 

(g) CCTV in taxis - Taking into consideration all responses and 
arguments relating to the question about whether all taxis and 
private hire vehicles should have internal CCTV fitted as 
standard, we propose to keep the existing policy in relation to the 
fitting of CCTV in licensed vehicles as it is and not to mandate its 
installation as standard in all licensed vehicles – GLRC 
recommends no change to existing policy requirements and do 
not propose its inclusion as a mandatory feature of taxi licensing; 

 

(h) Contract exemption for displaying decals etc. – although we 
propose no change to policy, Members may wish to consider 
reducing the number of days required to be considered for an 
exemption.  GLRC recommends relaxation of the current rules 
with arrangements to be made at application on a case by case 
basis in conjunction with the Chair and Vice Chairs of GLRC. 

  

Page 36



Main implications 

30 A failure to review, revise and update the Council’s taxi licensing policy 
would result in the expiry of the existing policy with no replacement.  
Without any extension, this would result in the Council’s inability to 
properly administer, manage, and regulate the taxi licensing process.  
This would lead to unacceptable deficiencies in safeguarding and would 
expose the public to serious risks.  Public safety would be 
compromised.  The Council would be open to charges of 
maladministration and to legal challenges. 

Conclusion 

31 GLRC has made recommendations in relation to future taxi policy that 
will, if agreed and adopted by Council, enable the updated, revised 
policy to come into operation at the start of March 2022, in accordance 
with the previously adopted five-yearly, revision plan and agreed 
extension period. 

Background papers 

 Durham County Council’s existing Hackney Carriage and Private 

Hire Licensing Policy 

 

 Post-consultation Taxi Policy Briefing Note 

Other useful documents 

 Durham University Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy Review: Preparatory Report - May 2020 
 

 DCC Taxi trade consultation letter 
 

 Department of Transport Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: 
Best Practice Guidance (2010) 
 

 Department of Transport Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards July 2020 
 

 Durham Taxi Emissions Assessment AECOM Limited 2019 
 

Authors 

Joanne Waller Tel: 03000 260923 

Owen Cleugh Tel: 03000 260925 

Craig Rudman Tel: 03000 260090 

  

Page 37



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal 

Possible challenges to any legal actions taken under taxi legislation resulting 
from actions taken in accordance with the policy; and possible legal action that 
could be taken against the policy itself, such as a judicial review of the new 
policy. 

Finance 

None. 

Consultation 

A full public consultation process has been undertaken in respect of the 
review of this policy. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The existing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy has gone 
through a full Equality and Diversity Impact Assessment. The draft (revised) 
policy has also been subject to a screening assessment prior to reporting to 
Committee which is included as Appendix 11. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

A failure to review, revise and update the Council’s taxi licensing policy would 
result in the expiry of the existing policy with no replacement.  This would 
result in the Council’s inability to properly administer, manage and regulate the 
taxi licensing process.  This would result in unacceptable deficiencies in 
safeguarding and would expose the public to serious risks.  Public safety 

Page 38



would be compromised.  The Council would be open to charges of 
maladministration and to legal challenges. 

The final revised policy once adopted may be subject to challenge and 

complaint. 

Procurement 

None. 

 

  

Page 39



Appendix 2:  Post-Consultation, Revised Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy 

 

Attached as separate documents. 

 

  

Page 40



Appendix 3:  Current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy (revised April 2016/18) 

 

Attached as separate document. 

 

 

  

Page 41



Appendix 4:  Pre-Consultation Draft Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing Policy 

 

Attached as separate document. 

 

 

  

Page 42



Appendix 5:  Public Consultation Information: The Taxi Licensing 

Survey/Consultation Questionnaire; background consultation information 
provided to the public and specified consultees; and a list of all consultees. 

 

Attached as separate documents. 

 

 

  

Page 43



Appendix 6:  The Results of the Consultation: including statistical 
data and information, survey responses, assessment and 
associated and discussion 

 

Attached as separate documents. 

 

 

 

  

Page 44



Appendix 7:  Vehicle Age and Emissions Policy Options Appraisal 

 

Attached as separate document. 

 

 

  

Page 45



Appendix 8:  Arrangements for Immediate Licence Revocations 
by Councils in the Northeast Region 

 

Attached as separate document. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 46



Appendix 9:  Comparison of Assessment of Previous Convictions 
in National Standards with Policy  

 

Attached as separate document. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 47



Appendix 10:  DFT Statutory Taxi and PH Vehicle Standards with 
Proposed/Revised DCC Test  

 

Attached as separate document. 

 

  

Page 48



Appendix 11:  Equality and Diversity Impact Screening Assessment 

 

Attached as separate document. 

 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Appendix 2a – Post Consultation, Revised Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing Policy 

 

 

 

 

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 

Community Protection Services 

Hackney Carriage and 

Private Hire Licensing 

Policy  

2022 to 2027 

Page 51



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 2 

 

Version control 
 

Amendments to the policy are noted below. 
 

 

Version 
Date 

Version 
ref 

Revision 
History 

Reviser Approved 
by 

Review 
Date 

12 May 
2011 

V1 Final Version Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Neighbourhood 
Services 

County 
Council 

April 
2016 

13 April 
2016 

V2 Final Version  Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Neighbourhood 
Services 

County 
Council 

April 
2021 

25 
January 
2017 

V3 Final Version  Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Adult and Health 
Services 

County 
Council 

April 
2021 

18 April 
2018 

 
V4 

Amended Final 
Version 

Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Adult and Health 
Services  

County 
Council 

April 
2021 

 
December 
2021 
 

 
V5 

Recommended 
Final Version 

Joanne Waller head 
of Community 
Protection; 
Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change 
 

County 
Council 

January 
2022 
Pending 

Page 52



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 3 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction .........................................................................................................................5 

2. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing .................................................................6 

3.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers .....................................................................6 

4.0 Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria ..................................................................7 

5.0 Taxi Licensing Aims and Objectives ................................................................................8 

6.0 Promotion of taxi licensing objectives .............................................................................8 

7.0 Delegations .........................................................................................................................9 

8.0 Partnership Working ....................................................................................................... 10 

9.0 Duties and Obligations under the Equality Act 2010 ................................................... 11 

10.0 Conditions ........................................................................................................................ 12 

11.0 Enforcement ..................................................................................................................... 12 

12.0 Other Regulatory Regimes ............................................................................................. 13 

13.0 Decision Making .............................................................................................................. 13 

14.0 Complaints Procedure .................................................................................................... 13 

15.0 Vehicle Licence Holders ................................................................................................. 14 

16.0 Vehicle Insurance ............................................................................................................ 18 

17.0 Transfer of Interest .......................................................................................................... 18 

18.0 Changes to ‘Person Concerned’ with the Keeping, Employing and Letting of 

Vehicles ........................................................................................................................................ 19 

19.0 Drivers............................................................................................................................... 19 

20.0 Private Hire Operators..................................................................................................... 20 

21.0 Licence Fees .................................................................................................................. 200 

22.0 Hackney Carriage Fares Policy ...................................................................................... 21 

23.0 Review............................................................................................................................... 21 

24.0 Contact Us .......................................................................................................................... 212 

Page 53



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 4 

Appendix 1: Drivers ................................................................................................................... 233 

Eligibility................................................................................................................................... 233 
Continuing Suitability / Renewal Process................................................................................ 277 
Voluntary return of licence (surrender of licence) ................................................................... 288 
Standard Conditions of a Private Hire Driver Licence ............................................................... 29 

Appendix 2: Determination of Suitability of Applicant and Licence Holders for Vehicle, 

Driver and Operator Licences .................................................................................................. 311 

Guidelines on the relevance of arrest, conviction, caution or any other relevant information 
including complaints and intelligence ...................................................................................... 311 
Applications for Vehicle, Driver and Operator Licences following a conviction / caution and the 
ongoing suitability of Licence Holders ..................................................................................... 323 
Motoring offences .................................................................................................................... 333 
Other Relevant Factors ........................................................................................................... 363 

Appendix 3: Vehicle Licences .................................................................................................. 378 

Standard Conditions ................................................................................................................ 378 
Hackney Carriage Vehicles ..................................................................................................... 423 
Private Hire Vehicles ............................................................................................................... 434 
Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles ............................................................................................. 444 

Appendix 4: Special Vehicle Licence Conditions .................................................................. 466 

Standard Conditions for Special Vehicles ............................................................................... 466 
Conditions for Stretch Vehicles ............................................................................................... 466 
Licence Conditions for Horse-Drawn Vehicles ........................................................................ 477 
Other Vehicles ......................................................................................................................... 477 

Appendix 5: Private Hire Operator ............................................................................................. 48 

Standard Conditions .............................................................................................................. 4848 

Appendix 6: Glossary ................................................................................................................ 522 

Appendix 7: Enforcement Procedures and Escalation ............................................................ 57 

Committee Referrals / Officer Revocations ........................................................................ 5757 

Appendix 8: C.C.T.V Installed in any Licenced Vehicle ......................................................... 600 

 

 

 

Page 54



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 5 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. Durham County Council is responsible for the licensing and regulation of 
the hackney carriage and private hire activities within the area 
administered by the Council. This policy sets out and explains how the 
Council undertakes its functions relating to the licensing and regulation of 
hackney carriages, private hire vehicles, drivers, and private hire 
operators.  
 

1.2. In adopting the licensing policy, the Council recognises the needs of all 
persons for safe and convenient taxi transportation and the importance of 
this for the local economy and to the vibrancy of the County. This policy, 
which replaces all previous taxi policies, shall apply throughout the 
administrative area of Durham County Council from the date of adoption. 
 

1.3. This policy has been produced in accordance with the powers conferred 
by the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the Transport Act 1985, as 
amended, which places on the Council the duty to carry out its licensing 
functions in respect of hackney carriage and private hire licensing. When 
developing this policy, the following have been taken into consideration: 
 

 The aims and objectives of this policy (see below) 

 Current legislation 

 The Department for Transport “Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Licensing: Best Practice Guidance” March 2010 

 Regulators Code 2014 

 Departmental Enforcement Policy 

 Local Government Association Template Criminal Convictions 
Policy 2015 

 The Department for Transport ‘Statutory Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Standards’ 2020 

 The Equality Act 2010 
 

1.4. The Council has considered the views of key partners, stakeholders and 
any other person who has responded to the consultation when preparing 
this policy. A full list of those consulted in preparing this Policy is available 
from Licensing Services. 
 

1.5. The development, review, application, and implementation of this policy 
will be the responsibility of the Council’s Licensing Service and Elected 
Members sitting as the Licensing Committee.  
 

1.6. The General Licensing and Registration Committee may make decisions 
that change the content of this policy.  The changes may have immediate 
effect or may come into effect on a given date.  

Page 55



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 6 

 
 

2. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
 

2.1 Durham County Council is responsible for the licensing of hackney 
carriage and private hire vehicles, drivers, and operators. This policy sets 
out application requirements and ongoing standards that must be met by 
the hackney carriage and private hire trade licenced by Durham County 
Council. When carrying out its regulatory functions, the Council will have 
regard to this policy. Each application or enforcement measure will be 
considered on its own merits however where it is necessary to depart 
substantially from the policy, clear and compelling reasons will be given. 
 

2.2 A hackney carriage vehicle is a public transport vehicle with no more than 
8 passenger seats, which is licenced to ‘ply for hire’. This means they can 
stand at public ranks or be hailed / flagged down in the street by members 
of the public, when operating within their licensing authority’s own 
geographical area (the controlled area). Outside their controlled areas, the 
law prevents hackney carriages from being hailed / flagged down in the 
street or from standing at public ranks. 
 

2.3 A private hire vehicle must also have no more than 8 passenger seats 
however, they must be ‘pre-booked’ through a licenced private hire 
operator and may not ply for hire nor use public ranks either inside or 
outside their controlled areas. 
 

2.4 The principal aims of licensing the hackney carriage and private hire 
vehicle trades are to protect and safeguard the public and to ensure that 
the public have reasonable access to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
services. 
 

2.5 The Council recognises it is important that hackney carriage and private 
hire licensing powers are used appropriately to ensure that licenced 
vehicles of the Council are safe, comfortable, properly insured, and 
available where and when required. 
 

2.6 The Council will not grant a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
licence for any vehicle already licenced by another Local Authority. 

 
 

3.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 
 

3.1 An applicant must satisfy the Council that they are a fit and proper person 
to become licenced. Once licenced, the driver must remain a fit and proper 
person throughout the duration of the licence.  

 

Page 56



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 7 

3.2 Whilst there is no definition of a fit and proper person, the Department for 
Transport Guidance suggests that the Council is effectively asking the 
following question:   

 
Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would 
you allow a person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to 
travel alone in a vehicle driven by this person at any time of day or night? 

  
3.3 During the application process, the Council will undertake several checks 

to gather the information necessary to assess the suitability of the 
applicant.  

 
3.4 Factors that will be considered when reaching a decision include:  
  

 Criminality (whether the applicant has any criminal convictions or 
cautions) 

 Driving licence – length held, and penalty points endorsed 

 Right to work in the UK 

 Medical Fitness 

 General conduct/standards of behaviour 

 Conduct of the applicant during the application process 

 Previous licensing history 

 Knowledge of County Durham and other matters such as the Highway 
Code, this policy and taxi legislation 

 Ability to communicate and understand English  

 Completion of all necessary requirements of the application process 

 Whether the applicant has had a licence revoked or refused by another 
authority 

  
This is not an exhaustive list of matters that will be considered, and further 
information may be sought from other agencies such as the Police, 
Safeguarding Boards, other licensing authorities etc. 

 

4.0 Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria 
 

Tackling air pollution is one of several public health priorities aimed at 
safeguarding the public. To combat poor air quality, innovative and bold 
measures are being taken across the country to ensure the health and 
wellbeing in communities as well as road users. Adoption of the following 
proposed policy requirements will enable Durham licenced vehicles to help 
to reduce traffic pollution and improve local air quality in our region: 

 
4.1 New Applications (Newly Licensed Vehicles) - New applications for 

vehicle licences will only be accepted for vehicles manufactured to the 
emissions standard “EURO 6” or higher. 

 

Page 57



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 8 

4.2 Renewal Applications (Existing Vehicles / Continued Licensing) 
 

- After the 1st January 2023, we will not accept renewal applications for 
licensed vehicles meeting Euro 4 or lower 

 
- After the 1st January 2024, we will not accept renewal applications for 

licensed vehicles meeting Euro 5 or lower   
 

4.3 Zero emission vehicles - fully electric and zero emission (at source) 
vehicles are welcomed by the Council. 

 

 

5.0 Taxi Licensing Aims and Objectives 
 

5.1 The principal purpose of hackney carriage and private hire licensing is to 
protect the public and promote public safety. The Council’s aim is to 
facilitate well run and responsible businesses which display sensitivity to 
the wishes and needs of the public. The Council will carry out its hackney 
carriage and private hire licensing functions with a view to protecting the 
public by promoting the following objectives: 
 
a) The protection of the public, safeguarding children and the vulnerable 

and the prevention of crime and disorder - To ensure that all licenced 
drivers, vehicle licence holders and private hire operators are fit and 
proper persons 

b) The safety and health of the public and drivers - to ensure that safe, 
comfortable, reliable, and accessible hackney carriage and private hire 
vehicles are available for all who require them 

c) Encouraging environmental sustainability 
d) To provide clarity for licensees with respect to the Council’s 

requirements and the decision-making process 
e) To promote a professional and respected hackney carriage and private 

hire trade 
 
5.2 The Council aims to ensure that the hackney carriage and private hire 

services offered within the County are of a good standard. The application 
and compliance procedures are designed to ensure these standards are 
maintained, monitored for compliance, and appropriately enforced. These 
objectives will be considered by the Council when making decisions. 
 
 

6.0 Promotion of taxi licensing objectives  
 

6.1 Methods used by this Council to promote the licensing objectives of this 
policy will include: 
 

Page 58



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 9 

a) Setting the standards for the licensing of drivers, vehicles, proprietors, 
and operators 

b) The licensing and routine inspections of vehicles, with appropriate 
follow-up action 

c) Routine inspection of insurance policies, with appropriate follow-up 
action 

d) The assessment of applicants to ensure they are ‘fit and proper’ 
persons and thereby entitled to hold a licence 

e) Investigation of complaints with appropriate follow-up action 
f) Liaison with the Police, other local authorities, and other relevant 

agencies regarding issues of mutual concern in relation to offences or 
the conduct of licence holders/applicants 

g) Taking enforcement and / or disciplinary action including legal 
proceedings, verbal and written warnings, written cautions, notices, 
suspension, or revocation of licences for breaches of legislation or 
conditions or any other reasonable cause  

h) Intelligence led drug testing (see Appendix 2) 
i) The imposition of driver improvement schemes’ (see Appendix 2) 
 

6.2 When considering applications and taking enforcement action against 
existing licence holders, the Council as the Licensing Authority will have 
regard to the current Community Protection Enforcement Policy. 

 
 

7.0 Delegations  
 

7.1 Under the Council’s Constitution, the General Licensing and Registration 
Sub-Committee has the authority to discharge non-executive regulatory 
functions with respect to hackney carriage and private hire licensing. The 
Sub-Committee will determine contested and non-conforming applications, 
misconduct, contraventions, and suspensions and revocations. 

 
7.2 All licensing authorities must consider arrangements for dealing with 

serious matters that may require the immediate revocation of a licence. 
Under DCC constitutional arrangements, in cases involving serious 
misconduct and where public safety is in imminent jeopardy, this role has 
been delegated to senior officers and managers with responsibility for the 
licensing service. 

  
7.3 Officers in Licensing Services have delegated powers to grant licences 

where there are no criminal or other concerns that give rise to doubts over 
the suitability of the applicant to hold a licence. 

 
7.4 The Licensing Manager, the Licensing Enforcement Team Leader and 

Licensing Enforcement Officers may issue warning letters on behalf of the 
Council  

  

Page 59



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 10 

7.5 Hackney carriage/private vehicles licenced by the council (and vehicles 
licenced by participating authorities in accordance with adopted cross-
border authorisation arrangements) may be suspended by the Licensing 
Manager, the Licensing Enforcement Team Leader and Licensing 
Enforcement Officers 

 
7.6 The Council has the option to suspend or revoke a licence should 

information be received that causes concern over whether a driver is a fit 
and proper person. A decision to revoke a licence does not however 
prevent the reissuing of a licence should further information be received that 
alters the balance of probability of a decision previously made. A decision to 
suspend or revoke is based on the evidence available at the time the 
determination was made. New evidence may, of course, become available 
later. If, for example, the allegations against a licence holder were, on the 
balance of probability, considered to be unfounded, or their fitness to drive 
was proven satisfactory, a suspension could be lifted or, if the licence was 
revoked, an expedited re-licensing process will be used. We will operate a 
Fast-Track application process for licence reinstatement following an officer 
revocation in such cases. 

 
7.7 A suspension may still be appropriate if it is believed that a minor issue can 

be addressed though additional training. In this instance the licence would 
be returned to the driver once the training has been completed without 
further consideration. This approach is clearly not appropriate where the 
licensing authority believes that, based on the information available at that 
time, on the balance of probability it is considered that the driver presents a 
risk to public safety. 

 
7.8 All licensing authorities must consider arrangements for dealing with serious 

matters that may require the immediate revocation of a licence. At Durham 
County Council, this role has been delegated to senior officers and 
managers with responsibility for the licensing service. 

 
 

8.0 Partnership Working 
 

8.1 The Council will actively engage and seek to work in partnership with the 
following agencies, groups, and individuals to promote the licensing 
objectives: 

 
a) Members of the local hackney carriage and private hire trade 
b) Taxi working groups 
c) Durham Constabulary 
d) Other Council departments 
e) Disability groups 
f) Regional licensing groups  

Page 60



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 11 

g) Any other appropriate formation which may contribute to the promotion 
of the objectives 

 

9.0 Duties and Obligations under the Equality Act 2010 
 

9.1 To achieve the above standard the Council will endeavour to comply with 
the duties and obligations under the following legislation: 

 
a) The Equality Act 2010 
b) Human Rights Act 1998 

 
9.2 Providers of transport services by way of hackney carriage and private 

hire vehicles are now deemed to be providers of services to the public for 
the purposes of Part 3 of the Equality Act 2010. 
 

9.3 A Statutory Code of Practice - Service, Public Functions and Associations 
- has been issued and provides guidance on specific issues associated 
with the Act. Licence holders should read this code and ensure they 
operate in accordance with it. As it is a statutory code, approved by 
Parliament it is admissible under the Act and Courts must take them into 
account where relevant. 
 

9.4 Following the information provided in the Code may help transport 
providers avoid adverse court judgements – it includes examples of good 
practice – but it is not a complete or authoritative statement of the law and 
is not a substitute for taking appropriate advice. Ultimately, the Courts will 
provide authoritative interpretation of the Code. 
 

9.5 Where a disabled person believes they have been discriminated against 
the main remedies available are damages including compensation for 
injuries to feelings, an injunction, and a declaration, however the claimant 
should seek independent legal advice before commencing any claim.  
 

9.6 It is a condition of a vehicle licence that wheelchair accessible vehicles 
always have the appropriate equipment to be able to transport passengers 
in wheelchairs. (The licence for a vehicle may be suspended until such 
time as the Council considers the vehicle is fit for purpose).  
 

9.7 Licenced drivers are under a duty to carry a passenger’s guide/assistance, 
hearing, and other prescribed assistance dog in their vehicles without 
additional charge. Drivers who have a medical condition that is aggravated 
by exposure to dogs may apply to the Council for an exemption from the 
duty on medical grounds. 
 

9.8 A medical certificate must be provided at the driver’s expense, from the 
drivers own GP which demonstrates the driver has a genuine medical 
condition that is aggravated by exposure to dogs. This evidence should be 

Page 61



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 12 

in the form of a blood test, a skin prick test or clinical history. If granted, 
the Council will issue a tactile notice of exemption which must be 
displayed in any licenced vehicle driven by the driver and must be made 
available for inspection upon request and a register will be kept of exempt 
drivers. 
 

9.9 Under the Equality Act 2010, the council will make and hold a list of 

wheelchair accessible vehicles (designated vehicles). The Act requires the 

drivers of those vehicles to carry passengers in wheelchairs, aid those 

passengers and prohibits them from charging extra. The relevant 

requirements of the Act do not apply to drivers who have a valid 

exemption certificate, which must be displayed in the vehicle. The 

Department for Transport has published statutory guidance, Access for 

Wheelchair Users to Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles. This guidance has 

been issued to assist councils in the implementation of legal provisions 

intended to assist passengers in wheelchairs in their use of designated 

taxi and private hire vehicle services.  

 
9.10 The Equality Act 2010 makes clear that if carrying a passenger in a     

wheelchair, there cannot be any extra charge for doing so. This means 

that a taxi meter should not be started or left running whilst the driver 

performs duties required by the Act or as the passenger enters, leaves, or 

secures their wheelchair within the passenger compartment. 

 
9.11 Persons who breach duties imposed by the Equality Act may be guilty of a 
 criminal offence. 

 
9.12 Further information is available from the Equality and Human Rights 
 Commission.  
 

10.0 Conditions 
 

10.1 The Council can impose such conditions as it deems necessary in relation 
to the grant or a renewal of any licence except a hackney carriage driver’s 
licence. 
   

10.2 Standard conditions relating to licences are included in the appendices.  In 
addition, the Council may impose additional conditions, where considered 
necessary or appropriate in the circumstances. 
 

11.0 Enforcement 
 

11.1 Licensing Enforcement Officers will undertake enforcement activities on 
behalf of the Council in accordance with the departmental enforcement 
policy. This policy can be accessed via the Council’s website. 

 

Page 62



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 13 

 

12.0 Other Regulatory Regimes 
 

12.1 Other statutory requirements may apply to the provision of any regulated 
activities provided by a licenced vehicle or at premises, and the 
responsibility for compliance rests with the licence holder and / or 
proprietor. 

 
 

13.0 Decision Making 
 

13.1 The powers of the Council will be exercised in accordance with this policy 
and as delegated through the Council’s Constitution.   
 

13.2 The Council will make all decisions in relation to licensing matters on their 
own merits.  

 
13.3 The Council will provide reasons for all decisions that it makes. 

 
 

14.0 Complaints Procedure 
 

14.1 Durham County Council expects high standards of conduct and behaviour 
from the hackney carriage and private hire trade and all licence holders 
should always maintain these standards.  
 

14.2 It is recognised that there may be occasions when members of the public 
or the trade may make complaints about licenced drivers, operators, and 
vehicles. Complaints will be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s 
Complaints procedures. Information about how to make a complaint will be 
displayed within the licenced vehicle and on the Council’s website. 
 

14.3 Durham County Council recognises that some complaints can be frivolous, 
vexatious, and repetitious. Such complaints will not normally be pursued. 
Under these circumstances, reasons why the complaint has not been 
investigated, followed-up or acted upon will usually be provided. 
 

14.4 Members of the licenced trade will be expected to provide reasonable 
levels of assistance and cooperation to officers when carrying out their 
investigations. A failure to assist or cooperate may result in actions being 
taken against individuals and organisations where it is appropriate and 
possible to do so.  
 

14.5 Following completion of the investigation all parties will normally receive 
confirmation of any action taken. 
 

Page 63



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 14 

14.6 If any party is not satisfied with the outcome of the investigation the 
Council has a Corporate Complaints Procedure.  
 

15.0 Vehicle Licence Holders 
 

15.1 The Council has discretion over the types of vehicle that it can licence as 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles.  In setting the standard 
vehicle conditions the Council has taken account of passenger needs. Any 
application for a new vehicle licence will only be considered if it complies 
with the policy and conditions set out by the Council in Appendix 3 and 
Appendix 4 of this policy. 
 

15.2 Category A and B “write offs” will not be licenced as Hackney Carriage or 
Private Hire Vehicles. 

 
15.3 All vehicles shall have an appropriate ‘type approval’ which is either: 

 

 European Whole Vehicle Type approval 

 British National Type approval; or 

 British Single Vehicle Approval (SVA) 
 

This paragraph will specifically apply to special vehicles as identified in 
Appendix 4. 

 
15.4 From the adoption of this policy all licenced vehicles will be subject to the 

requirements of paragraph 4.0 of this policy. 
 

15.5 Any material displayed on the vehicle other than self-promotional 
information must be approved by the Licensing Manager or a Licensing 
Team Leader. Examples of the material and its proposed placement must 
be forwarded to the Licensing Manager and Licensing Team Leader for 
their consideration and approval prior to being displayed on the vehicle.  
 

15.6 Self-promotional or other material requiring approval must not be 
displayed on the front doors or in such a manner which may obscure or 
detract from the Council signage or vehicle top sign. NOTE – such 
material may be applied to the lower door or sill if it does not obscure or 
detract from the Council livery. 
 

15.7 Any approved advertising should not conflict with the Licensing Objectives 
and should comply with the requirements of the Advertising Standards 
Agency.  Advertising in this context does not include such information as 
the name and contact details that relate to the private hire or hackney 
carriage company or proprietor that owns or operates the vehicle. Such 
details are to be regarded as self-promotional information. Self-
promotional information in this context does not lend itself to any other 

Page 64



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 15 

interests outside the owner or operator’s private hire or hackney carriage 
company.  
 

15.8 Testing - Prior to being licenced all vehicles must have been successfully 
tested with the preceding six months. All new vehicles must be presented 
for an inspection at one of the Council’s appointed testing stations prior to 
being licenced, subject to meeting all the requirements of the test a 
Certificate of Compliance, which lasts for one year, will be issued if the 
vehicle is to be used on a public highway.  

 
NB the Certificate of Compliance exempts a licenced vehicle from 
requiring a MOT test certificate. However, proprietors must be aware if the 
vehicle licence is surrendered, suspended, revoked, or not renewed the 
vehicle must have a MOT certificate in place. There may also be other 
circumstances when the lack of an MOT test certificate may render the 
use of the vehicle on the highway unlawful.  The onus of responsibility in 
this matter rests with the vehicle’s owner and or driver, not Durham 
County Council.  
 

15.9 A licenced vehicle will be required to be tested twice annually. However, if 
the vehicle is over 10 years old at the time of renewal it will be required to 
be tested three times annually. 
 

15.10 Post- accident inspection and testing - In cases where a licenced vehicle 
has been in an accident and is suspended, a post-accident inspection test 
will be required.  
 

15.11 Where a post-accident inspection and test is required, in cases when there 
is less than 6-weeks before the next scheduled test is due, the vehicle 
proprietor will be offered the option of carrying out the post-accident 
inspection and test in place of the next scheduled test.  
 

15.12 Licence holders will normally be sent correspondence from Licensing 
Services in advance of the expiry of their licence. They should apply to 
renew the licence using the online form via the Council’s website where 
they can also specify a preferred date and time for the vehicle fitness test.  
Licensing Services on receipt of the application will arrange and confirm 
with the applicant the vehicle fitness test. Upon meeting all the 
requirements of the test, a Certificate of Compliance, which lasts for one 
year will be issued. Even in the absence of a reminder, the onus of 
responsibility for renewals rests with the licence holder. 
 

15.13 All tests (and retests where applicable) must be paid for prior to the 
vehicle being presented. A failure to attend an appointed test date will 
normally result in a charge being imposed. 
 

Page 65



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 16 

15.14 Serious or repeated test failures may indicate poor vehicle maintenance. 
In such cases it may be necessary to refer the vehicle proprietor and / or 
driver to the Council’s Licensing Committee to determine matters 
associated with ongoing suitability.  
 

15.15 Vehicle licence holders who fail to present their vehicles for test or who re-
schedule their test for a date which is later than has been scheduled, will 
have their vehicle licence suspended. Where appointments have been re-
scheduled for an earlier date and time, no action will be taken.  
 

15.16 Window Tints - Window tints shall comply with the following 
 
a) The front windscreen shall allow 75% of light to be transmitted 

through 

b) The front side windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be 
transmitted through them 

c) Other windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be transmitted 
through them. Rear windows must be of manufacturers standard for 
the vehicle, aftermarket tints or films will not be accepted 

 
15.17. The Council recognises that vehicles may be manufactured with glass that 

is darker than that specified in the standard vehicle conditions prescribed 
in this policy. Because of the large costs and inconvenience associated 
with changing glass the Council will exercise discretion in the case of 
vehicles manufactured with window tints outside that standard.  

 
15.18. Temporary Replacement Vehicles - The Council will allow the temporary 

licensing of vehicles in cases where an existing licenced vehicle suffers 
mechanical failure or accident damage which results in it having to be 
taken off the road for a period. Temporary replacement vehicles, which will 
not be subject to colour conditions, may be licenced for a period not 
exceeding two months. 

 
15.19. If a Licenced vehicle is damaged in an accident or by any other means, 

the licence holder must report the damage to Licensing Services as soon 
as reasonably practicable and in any case within 72 hours.  An 
examination will determine whether the vehicle is roadworthy or in need of 
repair and an accident damage form will be completed.  If the vehicle has 
sustained major damage, then the location of the vehicle must be given so 
that it may be inspected by an Authorised Officer. 

 
15.20. If the vehicle has sustained minor damage the vehicle licence holder will 

be given 14 days to repair the vehicle and to present it for inspection.   
 

15.21. Special Vehicles - The Council may licence a motorised ‘special’ vehicle 
as a private hire for the carriage of up to eight passengers provided that 
such a vehicle has been issued with at least a Single Vehicle Approval 

Page 66



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 17 

(SVA) certificate and that the requirements in these specifications can be 
satisfied.  Only an original SVA certificate will be accepted by the Council 
as proof of the vehicle satisfying the requirements to obtain that approval.  

 
15.22. Prior to any licence being issued a vehicle compliance certificate must be 

issued by the Council. Where the vehicle is unable to be tested at a 
Council test centre, alternative testing arrangement must be made by the 
applicant.  All costs associated with obtaining the relevant approvals or 
tests must be met by the vehicle proprietor. 

 
15.23. When imported into this country the importer must produce a declaration 

from the testing authority (DVSA) that the vehicle will never carry more 
than eight passengers. 

 
15.24. Exemptions - Section 75(3) Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976 allows local authorities to grant exemptions to private 
hire vehicles from displaying licence plates and other prescribed livery. 

 
15.25. The Council has decided that for the purpose of this policy, they consider 

the use of a higher standard and more luxurious vehicle used exclusively 
for the purposes of carrying passengers under a written contract to be the 
minimum standard for an application not to display a licence plate and 
other identification livery to be considered.   

 
15.26. The Council will not exercise its discretion in granting this exemption for 

any vehicle which is to be used for any other purpose than as described 
above.  

 
15.27. The booking of a vehicle regardless of its “standard” for the purposes of 

carrying passengers to special events, airport services, celebrations, or 
nights out not under a written contract is routine private hire work and will 
not satisfy the criteria for consideration of the exemption. For the 
avoidance of doubt, transportation contracts issued by e.g. the NHS, 
Durham County Council passenger transport team etc will not satisfy the 
criteria for exemption. 
 

15.28. Applicants for an exemption from displaying licence plates and other livery 
may also apply to be exempt from the Councils colour policy. 
 

15.29. If the owner of a vehicle wishes to ask the Council to exercise its 
discretion to exempt the vehicle from displaying a licence plate and other 
identification livery they must apply to the Council (Licensing Services) in 
writing, providing evidence to support the application. Applications will be 
considered and determined on an individual basis by senior 
officers/managers in conjunction with the with the Chairman or Vice 
Chairman of the Licensing Committee. 

 

Page 67



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 18 

15.30. An exemption from displaying a plate and other identification livery is a 
privilege rather than a right and the benefit of the exemption will be 
granted at the Councils discretion.   

 
15.31. The Council has the power to withdraw the exemption if the related 

conditions are not complied. Council Officers will periodically check 
booking records to ensure compliance with the policy.  

 
15.32. Stretched Limousines - Imported Stretched Limousines are normally 

checked for compliance with British regulations under the Single Vehicle 
Approval (SVA) inspection regime before they are registered. The 
Authority will request sight of the SVA certificate to ensure that the vehicle 
was tested by DVSA before being registered and licenced (taxed) by 
DVLA. The DVLA test verifies that the converted vehicle is built to certain 
safety and environmental standards. Stretched Limousines that clearly 
have more than eight passenger seats will not be licenced as PHV’s 
because they are outside the licensing regime for PHV’s. 

 
 

16.0   Vehicle Insurance 
 

16.1 Proprietors of licenced vehicles must ensure that a valid insurance policy, 
providing the relevant level of cover, is in place throughout the period a 
vehicle is licenced. This insurance policy must be in place before a licence 
can be granted. Where the policy covers several licenced vehicles, 
proprietors must also produce the schedule showing the list of insured 
vehicles.  
 

16.2 Hackney carriages must be insured for public hire purposes. Private hire 
vehicles must be insured for private hire purposes. 
 

16.3 Proof of continuous vehicle insurance must be provided, in a clearly 
legible form, to Licensing Services by the vehicle proprietor.  Proof of 
continuous insurance should also be produced upon request by an 
authorised officer of the Council.  Where valid insurance is not provided or 
produced upon request vehicle licences will be suspended.  

 

 

17.0 Transfer of Interest  
 

17.1 The proprietor shall notify the Council on the appropriate form within 14 
days from change of ownership, giving the name and address of the new 
proprietor, if the interest or part interest in the vehicle is transferred to 
another person not currently named on the licence.  

 
17.2 If the interest is transferred to a person currently named on the licence, the 

Council should be advised to remove the outgoing proprietor.  

Page 68



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 19 

 
17.3 The new proprietor shall complete the appropriate application form and will 

be requested to provide the following documents to the Council:  
 

a) Vehicle registration document (V5C) in new proprietor’s name. If this 
has not yet been received then, once the application has been 
submitted, 28 days will be given to produce the appropriate V5C 
document.  

b) Valid certificate of motor insurance.  
c) Details of the operator of the vehicle (private hire only)  

 
 

18.0 Changes to ‘Person Concerned’ with the Keeping, 
Employing and Letting of Vehicles  

 

18.1 Vehicle proprietors shall notify the Council, using the appropriate form 
within 72 hours, if there is a change to the person who is named on the 
licence as being concerned with the keeping, employing, and letting of the 
vehicle. 

 

19.0 Drivers 
 

19.1 Only on receipt of a complete application, can the Council issue a hackney 
carriage or private hire driver’s licence to an applicant, provided they meet 
the criteria for new drivers as outlined in this policy and are fit and proper 
persons.  
 

19.2 In determining whether a driver is fit and proper, the Council will consider 
various criteria, which will include such things as: the applicant’s relevant 
skills, knowledge, experience, qualifications, medical fitness, criminal 
record, and any previous history as a licence holder in accordance with 
Appendix 1 and Appendix 2. 

 
19.3 Drivers who are intending to operate wheelchair accessible vehicles 

should complete a course which should provide instruction to drivers on 
the correct procedures for clamping and restraining a wheelchair and other 
relevant aspects of carrying passengers with a disability. The cost of the 
training will be met by the applicant.  
 

19.4 The Council expects all drivers to behave in a civil and professional 
manner. They should be polite, helpful, and respectful to members of the 
public, the Police, Council employees, other public officials and other 
licenced drivers, this includes on social media platforms. Failure to do so 
may result in a referral to the Council’s Licensing Committee. 
 

Page 69



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 20 

19.5 Whilst using any licenced vehicle drivers must not engage in any sexual 
activity with or without their passengers, make inappropriate physical 
contact or make inappropriate comments of a sexual nature. 
 

19.6 The Council will not normally determine a new driver application where 
there are any outstanding legal proceedings until such proceedings are 
disposed of. This includes ongoing investigations, pending cases and 
appeals. The Council will endeavour to refer any application where there 
are any outstanding legal proceedings to the next available licensing 
committee.  
 

19.7 Following an appearance at committee, a direction will be made in any 
notice of decision as to any future referral to the licensing committee 
following the outcome of any legal hearing this is to include occasions 
where an individual is completely exonerated or charges being 
unsubstantiated. 
 

19.8 Because of the number of drivers with cautions and/or convictions for drug 
related offences, the Council may require drug tests on drivers on an 
intelligence led basis. (See Appendix 2) 
 

19.9 If a driver wants to carry out home to school contract work on behalf of the 
Council, they should contact the Council’s Sustainable Transport 
Department via email at IPTMonitoring@durham.gov.uk 
 

20.0 Private Hire Operators 
 

20.1 Only on receipt of a complete application, can the Council issue a private 
hire operator’s licence to an applicant, provided they meet the criteria 
outlined in this policy. 
 

20.2 In determining whether an applicant is a fit and proper person, the Council 
will consider the applicant’s criminal record and any previous history as a 
licence holder in accordance with Appendix 2 and Appendix 5. 

 
20.3 A private hire operator licence will only be granted to an address within the 

area administered by Durham County Council. 
 
 

21.0 Licence Fees 
 

21.1 The Council will set fees for licences at a level that will recover the costs 
recoverable under statute, incurred by the Council for issue, 
administration, control, and supervision of that type of licence. 
 

Page 70

mailto:IPTMonitoring@durham.gov.uk


Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 21 

21.2 Where refunds are due to any licence holder or applicant, they will 
normally be calculated on a pro-rata basis and an administration charge 
deducted. 
 
 

22.0 Hackney Carriage Fares Policy 
 

22.1 When setting hackney carriage fares the Council will have regard to: 
 
a) The needs of the travelling public and what it is reasonable to expect 

people to pay 
b) The need to give the trade enough incentive to provide a service at the 

times when it is demanded 
 

22.2 Once a table of fares has been approved by the Council, any request for a 
review of that table of fares would not normally be considered for a period 
of at least 12 months. 
 

22.3 The Council supports the practice of drivers of licenced vehicles 
requesting advance payment of fares; this does not remove any 
requirement for the taximeter to be used on such occasions.  
 

23.0 Review 
 

23.1 This policy will be reviewed at least every five years. However, the Council 
may also make such revisions as it considers appropriate and publish it 
accordingly. 
 

23.2 The Council from time to time will prepare and review procedures covering 
aspects of hackney carriage and private hire licensing including both 
enforcement and administration processes. 
 

24.0 Contact Us 
 

24.1    Licensing Services can be contacted via e-mail at the following  
  e-mail addresses:   

 For Licensing Administration please use Licensing@durham.gov.uk 

 For Licensing Enforcement please use 
Licensingenforcement@durham.gov.uk  

 
 
 

Page 71

mailto:Licensing@durham.gov.uk
mailto:Licensingenforcement@durham.gov.uk


Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 22 

 
 

Page Intentionally Blank 

Page 72



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 23 

 

Appendix 1: Drivers 
 

An application for a driver licence must be made on the specified form. 
 
Drivers’ licences will only be granted subject to proof of eligibility and all other 
application criteria being met. 
 
Drivers’ licences will only be renewed subject to all application criteria being met 
and consideration of the applicants continuing suitability. 
 
A licence, when granted, will be valid for a period up to three years, (or less as 
the Council may decide is necessary in certain circumstances).   
 
When a driver license is granted the license holder will be issued with two 
identification cards (badges). These must both be displayed when the driver is 
available for hire or carrying passengers. One “badge” must be worn on the body 
of the driver the other being displayed in a prominent place in the vehicle where it 
can be easily seen by any passenger.  
 

Eligibility 
 

The Council will, in considering whether an applicant is a fit and proper person to 
hold a driver license require the applicant to meet the criteria set out below. 
 
a) Qualification - The applicant will be required to provide proof that they have 

held a full UK drivers licence, or equivalent, for a period of not less than 12 
months prior to the application being submitted. A full DVLA driving licence 
showing the applicants current address must be produced. 

  
b) Driving Assessment - The applicant will be required to provide evidence 

that they have passed a suitable and satisfactory driver assessment test 
designed to assess the driving competency of hackney carriage and private 
hire drivers. The Council holds a list of approved driving assessment 
providers which have been subject to Council vetting and approval.  
 

c) Driver Knowledge and Locality Tests -Applicants for hackney carriage 
driver licences will be required to undertake both the Council’s knowledge 
and locality tests. Applicants for private hire driver licences will be required 
to undertake the Council’s knowledge test. Applicants will be required to 
demonstrate basic oral and written English language skills to pass these 
tests. The knowledge test will also include a section on basic numeracy. 
Testing will be carried out in accordance with guidance issued by the council 
and may be reviewed from time to time. All applicants claiming dyslexia, or 
any form of learning difficulty will be required to provide medical proof of the 
condition e.g. screening results, to enable extra forms of help or assistance 
to be afforded.  

Page 73



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 24 

 
d) Medical Fitness - Under Section 57 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 the Council may require an applicant 
for a driver’s licence to produce a certificate signed by a registered medical 
practitioner to the effect that they are physically and mentally fit to be the 
driver of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle.  
 
The Council requires a medical certificate upon an initial application for a 
driver’s licence. In addition, or in place of such a certificate the Council may 
require an applicant to submit to examination by a registered medical 
practitioner selected by the Council as to their fitness to be a driver of a 
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle.  
 
In line with Department of Transport guidelines, the Council applies the 
DVLA Group 2 driver standards for the medical fitness of hackney carriage 
and private hire drivers. This is a higher medical standard than that required 
of drivers of other motor vehicles and is required due to the length of time 
the driver may spend at the wheel and the responsibility they have for the 
safety of their passengers and the public.  
 
Upon an initial application for a driver’s licence the applicant shall produce a 
completed medical examination report provided by the Council. This report 
must be completed by the applicant’s own G.P. or a medical practitioner with 
access to the applicant’s full medical history. The applicant is responsible for 
paying the fee for the examination. If the Council requires any further 
information in respect of any matter identified in the medical report the 
Council may either contact the G.P. direct or request the applicant to obtain 
the information.  
 
During the initial application process the medical examination report will be 
deemed valid for a period of 6 months after which, if the application process 
is still ongoing, either a new medical form or a letter from the G.P. who 
carried out the original medical assessment, confirming that there has been 
no change in the medical fitness of the applicant, will be required.  
 
The medical practitioner must confirm that:  

 They have examined the applicant 

 The applicant is registered with the practice and/or they have full 
access to the applicant’s full medical records 

 The medical examination was carried out to the DVLA’s Group 2 
standard  

 They consider the applicant meets Group 2 standard and to be fit to act 
as the driver of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 

  
Existing licensees aged 45 years and over must provide a medical 
examination report as evidence of their medical fitness to hold a licence 
every five years and from the age of 65 years, annually.  

Page 74



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 25 

 
If a driver has any change in their medical condition or a medical condition 
that requires notification to the DVLA e.g. sleep apnea, heart attack, stroke 
etc. they shall also be required to notify the Council as soon as possible and 
confirm in writing within 7 days.  
 
In addition to the above requirements, where a driver suffers from a 
condition that requires monitoring, but which would not prevent them from 
driving, they are required to provide written confirmation from their G.P. or 
consultant at intervals, as recommended by the DVLA standards, that they 
continue to meet Group 2 standards and remain fit to carry out the duties of 
a licensed driver.  
 
Applicants with insulin treated diabetes may be licensed but will be required 
to meet the criteria contained in the medical fitness to drive guidelines and if 
a license is granted will then be subject to the submission of an annual 
medical report from a consultant specialising in treating diabetes.  
 
If the Council is not satisfied as to the medical fitness of a new applicant, a 
hackney carriage or private hire driver’s license will not be granted.  
 
If the Council is not satisfied as to the medical fitness of an existing licenced 
hackney carriage or private hire driver, there may be reasonable cause to 
suspend, revoke or refuse to renew the licence under Section 61 of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 

e) Safeguarding including CSE Awareness - Applicants will be required to 
attend a Safeguarding and Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) awareness 
training course.    
 
All drivers must undergo Safeguarding awareness training (including Child 
Sexual Exploitation awareness) before being licenced. We consider that this 
training is so important that all drivers should undergo refresher training 
periodically, at least every 3 years. From 1st January 2023, all existing 
licensed drivers must undergo CSE awareness refresher training before 
their licence is renewed, if they have not already received CSE awareness 
training (or CSE awareness refresher training) within the previous 3 years. 
 
These programmes have been developed to help drivers to:  

 provide a safe and suitable service to vulnerable passengers of all ages 

 recognise what makes a person vulnerable; and 

 understand how to respond, including how to report safeguarding 
concerns and where to get advice. 
 

f) Disability Awareness Training - Applicants will be required to attend a 
disability awareness training course.   
 

Page 75



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 26 

All drivers must undergo disability awareness training before being licenced. 
We consider that this training is so important that all drivers should undergo 
refresher training periodically, at least every 3 years. From 1st January 2023, 
all existing licensed drivers must undergo disability awareness refresher 
training before their licence is renewed, if they have not already received 
disability awareness training within the previous 3 years. 
 

g) Suitability - The Council must be satisfied that an applicant is a fit and 
proper person to hold a driver licence. Applicants must undergo a Driver 
Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA) check and an enhanced Disclosure & 
Barring Service (DBS) check which will check both adult and child barred 
lists. Applicants will also be required to subscribe to the DBS update service 
and ensure continuity.   
 
Applicants from outside the United Kingdom must obtain a certificate of good 
conduct/character from the relevant Embassy or Consulate.   
 
The Council requires all applicants who have resided in the country for less 
than five years to obtain a DBS or equivalent and a Certificate of Good 
Conduct / Character from their relevant Embassy or Consulate which must 
be authenticated, translated, and sealed by the Embassy or Consulate. Any 
expenses incurred must be met by the applicant.  
 
Additional information will be considered as appropriate. For example, all 
applications will be subject to a right-to-work check under the Immigration 
Act 2016. 

 
g)    National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3) -  

The Licensing Authority provides information to the National Register of Taxi 
Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3), a mechanism for Licensing 
Authorities to share details of individuals who have had a hackney carriage 
or private hire driver licence revoked, or an application for one refused. This 
is a requirement for assessing whether an individual is a fit and proper 
person to hold a hackney carriage or private hire driver licence. Therefore:  
 

 Where a hackney carriage/ PHV Driver licence is revoked, or an 
application for one refused, the authority will automatically record this 
decision on NR3.  

 

 All applications for a new driver licence or licence renewal will 
automatically be checked on NR3. If a search of NR3 indicates a 
match with an applicant, the authority will seek further information 
about the entry on the register from the authority which recorded it. 
Any information received because of an NR3 search will only be used 
in respect of the specific licence application and will not be retained 
beyond the determination of that application. 

 

Page 76



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 27 

Continuing Suitability and Renewal Process 
 

The ongoing suitability of a licence holder will be monitored.  In addition, the 
following specific checks will be carried out upon renewal, or at any other time 
deemed necessary by the Council: 
 
a) DVLA check 
b) DBS update service (if a driver is no longer subscribed to the DBS update 

service at the time of making an application for renewal, they will be required 
to apply for a new DBS certificate and subscribe to the update service prior 
to a renewal application being processed and a licence granted) 

c) Notification of Convictions/Cautions/Arrest/Ongoing or Pending prosecutions 
or investigations etc. This is to include motoring fixed penalties and 
antisocial behaviour notices and attendance of any speed awareness 
courses  

d) Private hire licence holders must notify the Licensing Authority within 48 
hours of their arrest and release, charge or conviction for any sexual 
offence, any offence involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring 
offence. (We strongly recommend and encourage hackney carriage licence 
holders to do the same). An arrest for any of the offences within this scope 
will result in a review by the Licensing Authority as to whether the licence 
holder is fit to continue to do so.  

e) Checks carried out because of information or intelligence received by 
Licensing Services. 

f) Periodic medical examination 
g) Periodic safeguarding including CSE awareness training  
h) Periodic disability awareness training 
i) Right-to-work / immigration checks  
j) Check of the National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations 

(NR3) 
k) Requirement to undertake a driver improvement scheme 

 
NB Under no circumstances will a licence be issued until such time as all 
required checks are completed and supporting paperwork produced to licensing 
staff. All costs associated with medical checks and certification to be met by the 
applicant or licence holder. 
 
At each renewal the DVLA driving licence photographic card must be produced, 
this must be valid and must bear the correct address for the applicant; failure to 
produce this will result in the application not being processed. 
 
Licence holders will normally receive notification in advance of the expiry of their 
licence and can apply using the online form via the Council’s website. 
Note: Although, a reminder may be sent as a matter of courtesy, it is the 
licence holder’s sole responsibility to ensure their renewal application is 
received prior to the expiry date of the licence. To avoid any delays, 

Page 77



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 28 

Applicants are encouraged to apply to renew their licence at least 10-
working days prior to the expiry.  
 
Late renewal applications - This policy clearly outlines what is required for a 
renewal application for each type of licence, and at what point the application will 
be accepted. This includes specific information, e.g. DBS certificates, medicals, 
immigration documents etc. This aims to reduce any possibility of disputes over 
whether a valid renewal application has been made. 
 
This policy covers the question of late renewal applications. In R (on the 
application of Exeter City Council) v Sandle [2011] LLR 480 Admin Crt.  It was 
accepted that an application to renew a vehicle licence could still be made after 
the licence had expired, provided two criteria were met. We will apply the same 
reasoning and principles to driver and operator licences. 
 
Firstly, the application had to be made within a short time of expiry (the judge 
mentioned two or three days before it should not be accepted); and secondly, 
there must also be a good reason for the delay in applying before expiry. The 
judge also made the point that any condition on the licence (which should derive 
from the council’s policy) would be significant. Collins J stated: 
 

“But I must make it clear that if it is apparent from the conditions that the 
application has to be made within the period the licence is in force, it will 
take very strong case and very exceptional circumstances for an applicant 
who fails to make his application for renewal in time to be able to justify a 
claim that the council ought in the circumstances to have granted his 
licence. Such exceptional circumstances can exist and as I say it would be 
sensible for a council to give two or three days at least before taking the 
step of deciding to grant it [in this case a hackney carriage proprietor’s 
licence] to someone else”. 

 
It is the policy of Durham County Council that we will accept a late renewal 
application made within 3-working days of the expiry date. Any application 
received after that period will not be processed unless the applicant can provide 
exceptional circumstances and good reasons for the delay. These will be 
considered by officers with management responsibility for the Licensing Service. 
 
Important – when a driver licence has expired, until or unless a new licence 
has been granted, you must not drive a licensed vehicle.  
 

Voluntary return of licence (surrender of licence) 
 
The introduction of the National Register (NR3) has brought into sharp focus the 
need to resolve any outstanding issues prior to the acceptance of any 
surrendered licence.  If there are any matters which bring into question whether a 
driver is fit and proper to hold a licence, then the Council may exercise its 
discretion in refusing to accept a surrender of the licence. Such matters could 

Page 78



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 29 

include for example, alleged misconduct, ongoing criminal investigations, and 
complaints etc. This list is not exhaustive. 
 

Standard Conditions of a Private Hire Driver Licence 
 

The licensed driver shall: 
 

a) Notify the Council as soon as possible, and confirm in writing within seven 
days, of any alteration to their circumstances or material including but not 
limited to: 
 

(i) Change of address 
(ii) Change of name 
(iii) Change of private hire operator  
(iv) Accepting a fixed penalty notice or caution, or receiving a 

Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO), attendance at any speed 
awareness course 

(v) Injury sustained or illness including mental health illness that may 
alter their medical status in line with DVLA Group II standards or 
affect their driving ability 

(vi) Details of any motoring fixed penalty endorsements received 
 

b) Notify the Council within 48 hours of being arrested/bailed/charged 
with/convicted of, reported for an offence, or otherwise investigated in 
connection with any criminal or motoring offence 

c) Notify the Council as soon as possible, and confirm in writing within 48 
hours, of any traffic accident they are involved in whilst driving a licenced 
vehicle. 

d) Apply for and provide a DBS disclosure upon request. 
e) Provide a copy of their DVLA driving licence or equivalent upon reasonable 

request. 
f) Produce a valid medical certificate, upon request (Failure to do so will result 

in the licence being suspended) 
g) When requested attend a medical practitioner and/or submit to any drug 

test deemed appropriate 
h) Always behave in a professional manner when working. 
i) Keep their vehicles always clean and suitable for use by members of the 

public. 
j) Where appropriate, assist passengers into and out of vehicles. 
k) Offer passengers reasonable assistance with luggage. 
l) Bring to the attention of passengers any dangers associated with egress 

from the vehicle 
m) Ensure that the way they carry out their business is such that no 

unreasonable disturbance is caused to other road users, businesses and 
residents.   

n) To behave in a civil and professional manner. They should be polite, helpful 
and respectful to members of the public, the Police, Council employees, 

Page 79



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 30 

other public officials and other licenced drivers, this includes on social 
media platforms. Failure to do so may result in a referral to the Council’s 
Licensing Committee. 

o) Not tamper with, or permit any person to tamper with, any taximeter or its 
fittings. 

p) Display the identification badges issued to them in the manner prescribed 
within this policy.   

q) Report the loss of their private hire driver identification badge to the Council 
immediately. 

r) Ensure that they charge passengers only the fare previously agreed 
between the operator and passenger, if a taximeter is used only the fare 
displayed on the taxi meter at the end of the journey can be charged, unless 
a lower fare is previously agreed with the passenger. 

s) Provide a receipt to a passenger upon request, the receipt shall as a 
minimum include: 
 

(i) The fare 
(ii) Pick up location 
(iii) Destination 
(iv) Operator Name 
(v) Driver/Vehicle number 
(vi) Date 
(vii) Time 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 80



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 31 

Appendix 2: Determination of Suitability of Applicant and 
Licence Holders for Vehicle, Driver and Operator Licences  
 

Guidelines on the relevance of arrest, conviction, caution, or any 
other relevant information including complaints and intelligence 
 

Licence holders and applicants for driver, vehicle and operator licences are 
required to disclose all convictions, fixed penalty notices and cautions, including 
those that would in other circumstances be regarded as spent under the 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, subject to Schedule 2 of the Rehabilitation 
of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 as amended. This order creates 
categories of ‘protected cautions’ and ‘protected convictions’, which applicants 
and licensees must be treated as not having committed, or been charged with, or 
prosecuted for, or convicted of, or sentenced for, even though ‘spent’ cautions 
and convictions may be taken into account. 
 
Licence holders and applicants must also disclose details of any ongoing 
investigations and any pending prosecutions. This includes being reported for an 
offence, any arrest and subsequent bail where charges have not been laid. 
 
The disclosure of a criminal record or other information will normally prevent an 
applicant from obtaining a licence until such time, in accordance with the 
following paragraphs, has elapsed since the conviction. 
 
In making its decision the Council will consider the relevance of any offence, the 
seriousness of the offence, the length of time since the offence occurred and any 
pattern of offending behaviour or other complaints. 
 
Whilst there is no definition of a fit and proper person, the Department for 
Transport Guidance suggests for licensed drivers, that the Council is effectively 
asking the following question:   
 
“Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would you 
allow a person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to travel alone in 
a vehicle driven by this person at any time of day or night?” 
 
The following test will be used to consider whether an operator is deemed to be 
fit and proper: 
 
“Would I be comfortable providing sensitive information such as holiday plans, 
movements of my family or other information to this person, and feel safe in the 
knowledge that such information will not be used or passed on for criminal or 
unacceptable purposes” 
 
The following test will be used to consider whether a vehicle proprietor is deemed 
to be fit and proper: 
 

Page 81



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 32 

“Would I be comfortable allowing this person to have control of a licenced vehicle 
that can travel anywhere, at any time of the day or night without arousing 
suspicion, and be satisfied that he/she would not allow it to be used for criminal 
or other unacceptable purposes, and be confident that he/she would maintain it 
to an acceptable standard throughout the period of the licence?” 
 
Licensing authorities must make difficult decisions, but the safeguarding of the 
public is paramount. All decisions on the suitability of an applicant or licencee 
should be made on the balance of probability. This means that an applicant or 
licencee should not be ‘given the benefit of doubt’. If the committee or delegated 
officer is only “50/50” as to whether the applicant or licencee is ‘fit and proper’, 
they should not hold a licence. The threshold used here is lower than for a 
criminal conviction (that being beyond reasonable doubt) and can take into 
consideration conduct that has not resulted in a criminal conviction. 
 
The Council considers all offences to be relevant offences (subject to the above 
Exemptions Order) when considering the suitability of a person to hold or retain a 
licence. 
 
The following types of offence will be viewed as serious (in no order of priority): 
 

a) Dishonesty  
b) Violence (including Criminal Damage & Sexual Offences) 
c) Alcohol Related Offences 
d) Public Order Offences 
e) Motoring Offences 
f) Possession of or Possession with the Intent to Supply controlled 

substances 
g) Obscenity (which includes the possession, making or distribution of 

unlawful obscene images / materials on computer or the internet) 
h) Racially or Religiously aggravated offences 
i) Offences of a discriminatory nature 
j) Offences involving Indecency or other offences of a Sexual Nature 
k) Contravention of Licensing Laws or Conditions 
l) Disqualification from driving a motor vehicle at any time in the three years 

prior to applying for a licence  
m) Offences involving animal cruelty 
n) Criminal Behaviour Orders 
o) Offences subject to the Equality Act 2010 
p) Inclusion on any of the barred lists  

 
 

Applications for Vehicle, Driver and Operator Licences following 
a conviction / caution and the ongoing suitability of Licence 
Holders 
 

Page 82



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 33 

If an applicant has been convicted of a criminal or motoring offence within the 
time periods specified below the Council will normally refuse an application. 
These offences will also be used to consider the ongoing suitability of existing 
licence holders. In the following list the term ‘applicant’ and ‘application’ refers to 
both new applicants for a licence and to existing licence holders. 
 
Please note:  Minor offences/convictions relating to driving will not be considered 
when determining if applicants for vehicle and operator licenses meet the ‘fit and 
proper’ threshold. 
 

Motoring offences 
 
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with 
the responsibility of carrying the public. It is accepted that offences can be 
committed unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence 
would not prohibit the granting of a licence. However, applicants with multiple 
motoring convictions may indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the 
behaviours of a safe road user and one that is suitable to drive professionally.  
 
Minor traffic offences or vehicle related offences - These are offences which 
do not involve loss of life, driving under the influence of drink or drugs, driving 
whilst using a mobile phone and have not resulted in injury to any person or 
damage to any property including vehicles.  
 
Where an applicant has 7 or more points on their DVLA driving licence for minor 
traffic or similar offences, a licence will not be granted until at least five years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
Where an applicant has 6 points on their DVLA driving licence for minor traffic or 
similar offences, they will be required to undertake a driver improvement scheme 
at their own expense. The Licensing Authority hold a list of current providers of 
the driving improvement scheme. 
 
Major traffic offence or vehicle related offence - These are ones which are not 
covered above and any offences which resulted in injury to any person or 
damage to any property including vehicles. They also involve driving without 
insurance or any offences connected with motor insurance.  
 
All major traffic offences (unless specified below) - a licence will not be granted 
until at least seven years have elapsed since the conviction or completion of any 
sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 
 
Using a mobile phone while driving a motor vehicle - a licence will not be granted 
until at least five years have elapsed since the conviction or completion of any 
sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 
 

Page 83



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 34 

Drink driving / driving under the influence of drugs - a licence will not be granted 
until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence or 
driving ban imposed. In the case of driving under the influence of drugs, any 
applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing at their own expense to 
demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs.  
 
Crimes / motoring offences resulting in death - Where an applicant has been 
convicted of a crime which resulted in the death of another person or was 
intended to cause the death or serious injury of another person, they will not be 
licenced.  
 

Exploitation - Where an applicant has been convicted of a crime involving, 
related to, or has any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of 
another individual irrespective of whether the victim or victims were adults or 
children, they will not be licenced. This includes slavery, child sexual abuse, 
exploitation, grooming, psychological, emotional, or financial abuse, but this is 
not an exhaustive list.  
 
Offences involving violence against the person - Where an applicant has a 
conviction for an offence of violence against the person, or connected with any 
offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.  
 
Possession of a weapon - Where an applicant has a conviction for possession 
of a weapon or any other weapon related offence, a licence will not be granted 
until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed.  
 
Sexual offences - Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving 
or connected with illegal sexual activity, a licence will not be granted.  
 
In addition to the above, the Licensing Authority will not grant a licence to any 
applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any barred list.  
 
Dishonesty - Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence where 
dishonesty is an element of the offence including: 
 

a) Theft 
b) Burglary 
c) Fraud 
d) Benefit fraud (including offences under ss.111A and 112 of the Social 

Security Administration Act 1992) 
e) Handling or receiving stolen goods 
f) Forgery 
g) Conspiracy to defraud 
h) Obtaining money or property by deception 
i) Other deception 

Page 84



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 35 

j) Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 
 
A failure by a licence holder to disclose an arrest that the Licensing Authority is 
subsequently advised of might be behaviour that questions honesty and therefore 
the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the outcome of the initial 
allegation. 
 
A licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
NOTE: Any inaccuracies, or failure to record or report convictions, will 
normally result in the refusal of an application.   
  
Drugs - Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of 
drugs, or possession with intent to supply or connected with possession with 
intent to supply, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed.  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the 
possession of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. In these circumstances, 
any applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing for a period at their own 
expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs.  
 
Discrimination - Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected 
with discrimination in any form, a licence will not be granted until at least seven 
years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.  
 
Hackney carriage and private hire offences - Where an applicant has a 
conviction for an offence associated or connected with hackney carriage or 
private hire activity (excluding vehicle use), a licence will not be granted until at 
least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
Other violence offences - An application will normally be refused / revoked 
where there is an offence for arson unless ten years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed.  
 
An application will normally be refused / revoked unless five years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed for any of the following offences: 
 

a) Riot 
b) Obstruction 
c) Criminal damage 
d) Resisting arrest 
e) Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 

 
 

Page 85



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 36 

Barred lists - In the interests of public safety, Durham County Council’s policy is 
that we will not issue a licence to any individual that appears on either barred list. 
However, should the council consider there to be exceptional circumstances 
which means that, based on the balance of probabilities they consider an 
individual named on a barred list to be ‘fit and proper’, the reasons for reaching 
this conclusion should be recorded. 
 

Other Relevant Factors 
 

The Council may consider any other matter or matters that may affect whether an 
applicant or licence holder is a fit and proper person, such factors include but are 
not limited to: 
 

a) Convictions/Cautions for any other offence not listed above 
b) Any diversion scheme offered as an alternative to conviction (i.e. 

“checkpoint” or restorative approach) 
c) Mental Health Act Orders 
d) Police intelligence/information 
e) Drug/Alcohol use and Detoxification 
f) Terrorist offences and terrorism 
g) Hate crimes 
h) Any offence involving the mistreatment of animals 
i) Other relevant information disclosed 
j) Any complaints or the accumulation of complaints regarding a licence 

holder’s conduct 
k) Matters contrary to the requirements of this policy 

 
Note: Failure to disclose all arrest/bail/convictions, fixed penalty notices, 
cautions, (subject to the Exceptions Order) and/or ongoing investigations, 
being reported for an offence and/or pending prosecutions may affect the 
grant of a licence or may lead to the revocation of a licence. 

Page 86



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 37 

Appendix 3: Vehicle Licences 
 
An application for a vehicle licence must be made on the specified form.   
 
Vehicle licences will only be granted subject to all application criteria being met 
and will be valid for a period of one year. 
 
The Council must be satisfied that applicants for vehicle licences are fit and 
proper persons to hold a licence, they pose no threat to the public and have no 
links to serious criminal activity.   
 
If an applicant for a vehicle licence is not already licensed as a driver, and 
already subject to DBS checks, then a basic DBS certificate will be required 
annually.  If the applicant is a limited company, then a basic DBS certificate must 
be provided by each director.  If the applicant is a partnership, then a basic DBS 
certificate must be submitted by each partner.   
Should an individual cease to hold a driver licence then a basic DBS certificate 
will be immediately required. 
 
Licence holders will normally receive notification in advance of the expiry of the 
vehicle licence and can apply using the online form via the Council’s website. 
Although, a reminder may be sent as a matter of courtesy, it is the licence 
holder’s sole responsibility to ensure the renewal application is received prior to 
the expiry date of the licence. 
 
To avoid any delays, applicants are encouraged to apply to renew their licence at 
least 10 working days prior to the expiry. 
 
The following conditions will apply to all vehicles (Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire) licenced by the Council. 
 

Standard Conditions 
 

1. The vehicle shall be right-hand drive and the body must be a fixed head 
type (hard top).  
 

2. Notwithstanding condition 1.5 (below) the vehicle will only be licenced to 
carry the number of passengers specified on the V5 registration 
document. 

 
3. The design condition or appearance of a licenced vehicle must not be 

changed without first obtaining written consent from the Council any 
changes may require an additional vehicle inspection to be carried out. 

 
4. Where the seats are placed facing each other there must be a clear space 

of 38cm subject to a 2cm tolerance between any part of the front of a seat 
and any part of any other seat that faces it.  

Page 87



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 38 

 
5. Occasional (tip-up) seats must be arranged to rise automatically when not 

in use. 
 
6. A fully operational heating and ventilation system must be fitted and 

maintained for the driver and passengers. All vehicle body parts and 
trimmings must be fitted and maintained in good working order both 
internally and externally. 

 
7. Journeys must not be commenced using temporary tyres or tyres that 

have been subject to a temporary repair. 
 
8. Reasonable efforts should be made that in the event of mechanical failure 

a passenger’s journey can be completed in a safe and reasonable 
manner in an alternative licenced vehicle. 

 
9. The vehicle licence plate must be displayed and securely attached with 

bolts or screws on the outside rear of the vehicle. (attachment by 
adhesive tape and/or magnets is not acceptable). Licence plates must not 
be altered or defaced in any way. The condition of the plate remains the 
responsibility of the licence holder. 

 
The plate remains the property of the Council and must be returned upon 
expiry, surrender or suspension of the vehicle licence. 

 
10. The vehicle must prominently display the following: 

 

 internal licence plate / complaint sticker on each window so it is 
clearly visible in all passenger areas  

 driver I.D.  

 door crests as supplied and required by the Council which shall be 
permanently fixed to the front nearside and offside doors of the 
vehicle in a central position (attachment by magnets is not 
acceptable).  

  No-smoking signs as required by law 
 

11. Smoking cigarettes, cigars, pipes etc and the use of electronic cigarettes 
(vaping) and similar shall be prohibited in all licensed vehicles all the time.  

 
12. Any material displayed on the vehicle other than self-promotional 

information must be approved by the Licensing Manager or Licensing 
Team Leader. Examples of the material and its proposed placement must 
be forwarded to the Licensing Manager and Licensing Team Leader for 
their consideration and approval.  
 

13. Self-promotional or other material requiring approval must not be 
displayed on the front doors or in such a manner which may detract from 

Page 88



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 39 

or obscure the Council signage or vehicle top sign. NOTE: such material 
may be applied to the lower door or sill if it does not obscure or 
detract from the Council livery. 
 

14. All vehicles shall undergo an inspection by the Council’s appointed testing 
station(s) as required, subject to the requirements of this policy. See 
section 16.0 above. 

 
15. Vehicle proprietors must inform the Council at the earliest opportunity, and 

in writing within 72 hours, if any licenced vehicle has been involved in an 
accident or sustained damage.   

 
16. No fittings, devices or lights may be attached or carried inside or outside 

the vehicle that could injure or harm any passenger or other person either 
inside or outside of the vehicle.  No lights or other fittings shall be 
permitted on the vehicle that would obscure any licence plates or obscure 
the driver’s or passengers’ view out of the vehicle. 

 
17. Vehicle proprietors shall notify the Council in writing within seven days of 

any change of address. 
   
18. CCTV shall be permitted in vehicles.  Where such devices are fitted within 

the vehicle conditions at Appendix 8 shall apply 
 
19. No animals other than those owned by fare paying passengers shall be 

carried in any licenced vehicle whilst the vehicle is so engaged under the 
terms of its licence. 

 
20. Window tints shall comply with the following: 
 

d) The front windscreen shall allow 75% of light to be transmitted 
through 

e) The front side windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be 
transmitted through them 

f) Other windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be transmitted 
through them. Rear windows must be of manufacturers standard for 
the vehicle, aftermarket tints or films will not be accepted 
 

The Council recognises that vehicles may be manufactured with glass 
that is darker than that specified in the standard vehicle conditions 
prescribed in this policy. Because of the large costs and inconvenience 
associated with changing glass the Council will exercise discretion in the 
case of vehicles manufactured with window tints outside that standard.  

 
21.  If carrying a child, the driver MUST ask a responsible adult if they would 

like the child locks activated. The child locks must not be activated in any 
other circumstances 

Page 89



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 40 

 
NB Under no circumstances must any passenger be locked in a licenced 
vehicle against their will. 
 

22. The vehicle must carry a suitable fire extinguisher sited in a readily 
accessible place known to the driver.  The appliance shall have a 
minimum content of 1 kilogram, conform to BSEN3 1996 and be of the 
dry powder or foam type, be kept in good condition and be fitted with a 
gauge which indicates the condition of its contents together with an 
unexpired tested until or use before date. Every fire extinguisher must be 
permanently marked with the vehicle’s hackney carriage or private hire 
vehicle licence number. 
 

23. The vehicle must carry a “first aid” kit which is suitable to the number of 
persons the vehicle is licenced to carry. Any items contained in the first 
aid kit which are not sealed are deemed to be unsterile and must be 
replaced immediately. The first aid kit must be permanently marked with 
the vehicle’s hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence number. As 
a minimum it should contain: 

 

 A leaflet with general guidance on first aid (for example, HSE’s 
leaflet Basic advice on first aid at work) 

 Individually wrapped sterile plasters of assorted sizes 

 Sterile eye pads 

 Individually wrapped triangular bandages, preferably sterile 

 Safety pins 

 Large and medium-sized sterile, individually wrapped, unmedicated 
wound dressings 

 Disposable gloves  
 

24. The vehicle must be able to carry a reasonable amount of luggage which 
must be able to be stored securely. luggage compartment or any attached 
roof rack/box must be free from the proprietors or driver’s personal 
property, so it is available to store passenger’s luggage. Luggage should 
be stored securely and not stored in such a way as to hinder access to a 
door. 
 

25. There must be at least four doors.  All doors must be capable of being 
opened from the inside (subject to activation of a child lock) and outside. 

 
26. The interior of the passenger compartment must be maintained in a clean 

condition and in good repair and where fitted, any parcel shelf shall 
always remain in place. 

 
27. The flooring of the passenger compartment must be covered with a non-

slip material. 
 

Page 90



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 41 

28. If a trailer is to be used a trailer plate, issued by the Council, must be 
displayed on the trailer. 

 
29. If a roof carrier is to be used for luggage or goods it must be of a type 

fitted to the guttering or to the roof rails provided by the manufacturer and 
must not obscure any top sign. 

 
30. Before commencing work each day, the driver of the vehicle must take 

reasonable steps to ensure that the vehicle they are driving is roadworthy 
and complies with this policy. This should include checks on lights, tyre 
pressure and tread as a minimum.  
 

31. These checks may be recorded electronically, for example via an app or 
manually using a check book. If the checks are recorded electronically the 
record must be made available upon request. If checks are recorded 
manually, the check book must be carried within the vehicle and be readily 
available for inspection. All records must be dated, signed if possible, by 
the driver and record the mileage at the time the check is carried out.  
 

32. Drivers must not deliver alcohol or tobacco products to any person who is 
under the age of 18. 
 

33 Any screens used must be installed in accordance with the provisions of 
any applicable national guidance. For example, In response to the 
Coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic, the Department for Transport 
developed ‘Coronavirus (COVID-19): safety screens for taxis and PHVs 
Guidance’ for the safe and appropriate fitting of separating screens 
between the front and rear of a taxi or private hire vehicle.  The installation 
of screens is one mitigation to prevent the transmission of the Coivid-19 
virus from driver to passenger and vice-versa. The guidance forms part of 
the Department for Transport’s Vehicle Safety Standards Information 
Sheets series.  

 
Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle licencing authorities are asked to be mindful 
of this guidance when they receive requests for approval for the 
installation of screens and/or panels. 

 
The devices installed e.g. screens should not be significantly changed or 
modified from the original manufactured design. In cases where it is 
necessary to modify the original design of the device (for example, to 
facilitate installation of the device in the vehicle), assurances should be 
sought from the supplier/installer that the modification does not raise any 
concerns in relation to safety of the device and complies with the relevant 
UK safety legislation. 
 

34 The installation of screens on a temporary basis - If any vehicle licence 
holder wishes to fit a protective screen in their vehicle, they must first:  

Page 91



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 42 

 

 Notify Licensing Services of their intention to fit a protective screen by 
emailing licensing@durham.gov.uk together with.  

 Proof from their insurer that fitting the protective screen will not result in 
their insurer refusing to cover the vehicle; and  

 An agreement to remove the protective screen within a maximum of 21 
days after any social distancing restrictions have been removed by 
Government 
 

35  The installation of screens on a permanent basis – if you wish to install 
a safety or infection control screen between the driver and passenger 
compartment of a licenced vehicle, the following criteria must be met:  

 

 Any fittings and equipment must comply with the Road Vehicle 
(Construction and Use) Regulations  

 Any screen must be tested to the relevant EU standard for an original 
equipment type approval test covering interior fittings  

 The screen must be approved by MIRA or other comparable independent 
product engineering, testing, consultancy and certification organisation  

 Screens must be professionally and securely fitted in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s instructions  

 Confirmation from the vehicle’s manufacturer should be sought to confirm 
that the screen does not compromise the integrity of the vehicle structure 

 Screens should be constructed of Polyethylene terephthalate glycol 
(PETG) or polycarbonate  

 The screen should not impede the driver’s vision, movement, or 
communication with passengers 

 The screen should not impede driver or passenger access or egress to the 
vehicle  

 Your insurer should be notified of any modifications you make to your 
vehicle  
 
The vehicle licence holder must notify Licensing services via email 
licensing@durham.gov.uk to confirm any fitting of a screen complies with 
the information above and provide the certification as requested. 

 

Hackney Carriage Vehicles 
In addition to the standard conditions, the following conditions will apply to 
Hackney Carriage vehicles. 
 
1. Only white vehicles will be licenced as Hackney Carriage Vehicles. 

(Vehicles licenced before 1 April 2011 are exempt from this colour 
condition, however such vehicles may only be replaced by white vehicles) 
 

Page 92



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 43 

2. An illuminated taximeter must be fitted in a position where it is not 
obstructed by other fixtures or fittings within the vehicle and in a place 
where it is clearly visible to all passengers carried in the vehicle. 

 
3. The taximeter shall be securely fitted, maintained in full working order, 

sealed and calibrated by an approved agent within the Council’s approved 
hackney carriage fare scale and shall not be tampered with. (Licensing 
services hold a list of approved agents) 

 
4. A current fare table must be displayed in a position that is clearly visible in 

the passenger compartment. 
 
5. Display a roof sign. This sign must prominently display the word TAXI 

(minimum font size of 5cm per letter) and must always be illuminated when 
the vehicle is available for hire. It must be used and maintained in 
accordance with the manufacturers design, construction and use 
specifications.  
 

6. Display a “for hire” sign in the front passenger side of the windscreen that 
is illuminated when the vehicle is available for hire. Exceptions will be 
made for purpose-built vehicles where the “for hire” sign is fitted as 
standard. 

 

Private Hire Vehicles 
In addition to the standard conditions, the following conditions will apply to 
Private Hire vehicles. 
 
1. Private hire vehicles may be any colour other than white or a colour that could 

be mistaken for white, for example cream or ivory. 
 

2. Any taximeter fitted in a private hire vehicle must be fitted in a position where 
it is not obstructed by other fixtures or fittings within the vehicle and in a place 
where it is clearly visible to all passengers carried in the vehicle. 

 
3. Any taximeter fitted to a private hire vehicle shall be securely fitted, 

maintained in full working order and a table detailing the fares applied must 
be displayed in a position that is clearly visible in the passenger compartment.  

 
4. The words “taxi”, “cab”, “for hire” or anything that may suggest that the vehicle 

is a Hackney Carriage must not be displayed on any part of any private hire 
vehicle. 

 
5. An operator consent form must be completed by the vehicle proprietor and 

operator on grant or renewal of the vehicle licence. An operator consent form 
must also be completed when there is a change in operator during the life of 
the licence. 

 

Page 93



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 44 

   

Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles  
In addition to the standard conditions and those applying to hackney carriage and 
private hire vehicles, further conditions apply to wheelchair accessible vehicles 
as set out in this section. Where the conditions for wheelchair accessible vehicles 
conflict with the standard conditions; the wheelchair accessible vehicles 
conditions will apply.  
 

1. The vehicle must have a designated space to accommodate at least one 
wheelchair user.  This space will be included in the total number of 
persons permitted to be carried. 
 

2. Either the rear or a nearside door must be used for wheelchair access.  
The door and doorway must be so constructed as to permit an unrestricted 
opening across the doorway of at least 780mm (30¾”).  The minimum 
angle of the door when opened must be 90 degrees (the minimum angle 
will not be relevant in the case of a sliding door).  

 
3. The floor to ceiling height where the disabled passenger will sit must be a 

minimum of 1350mm (54¾”). 
 

4. All wheelchairs must be carried facing forwards or rearwards.  Where a 
wheelchair is carried facing the rear of the vehicle, the wheelchair, in 
addition to standard restraints must be positioned such that it is reversed 
against a bulkhead to provide further stability. 

 
5. Facilities for the loading of a wheelchair and occupant must always be 

available for use at the nearside or rear passenger doors. This ramp must 
comply with all Equality Act recommendations as to design and 
installation. 

 
6. An adequate locating device must be fitted to ensure that the ramp does 

not slip or tilt when in use.  Provision must be made for the ramp to be 
stowed and secured safely when not in use.  The storage of the ramp 
when not in use must not impede access or egress of passengers.  
Ramps must be rigid when in use. There must be a slip resistant surface 
on the ramp with outer edges coloured. 
 

7. The gradient of the ramp for an unassisted wheelchair user should be 4.76 
degrees and 10 degrees for assisted wheelchair users. 

 
8. Suitable anchorages must be provided for the wheelchair.  Restraints for 

the wheelchair and occupant must be independent of each other.  Belts 
attached to a wheelchair, in order to assist a person to remain in it whilst 
travelling, will not be acceptable. 

 

Page 94



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 45 

9. Vehicles must be capable of transporting a folded wheelchair as luggage.  
Anchorages must also be provided for the safe storage of a wheelchair 
when not in use, whether folded or otherwise, if carried within the 
passenger compartment. 

 
10. All anchorages and restraints must not cause danger to any passenger. 

 
11. If a step is required for assisted entry, then the step must be covered with 

a slip resistant surface.  
 

 

Page 95



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 46 

Appendix 4: Special Vehicle Licence Conditions 
 

Standard Conditions for Special Vehicles 
In addition to the standard conditions, the following extra conditions apply to 
special vehicles. Where the conditions for special vehicles conflict with the 
standard conditions, the conditions for special vehicles will apply  
 

1. Forward and rear facing seats must be fitted with a 3-point, inertia reel 
seatbelt. 

 
2. Efforts must be in place to ensure that:  in the event of mechanical failure, 

the passenger’s journey can be completed in a safe and reasonable 
manner. 

 
3. The Council will require the vehicle to undertake a MOT test twice yearly 

 
 

Conditions for Stretch Vehicles 
In addition to the standard conditions and conditions for special vehicles, the 
following extra conditions apply to stretch vehicles.  Where the conditions for 
stretch vehicles conflict with the standard conditions or conditions for special 
vehicles, the conditions for stretch vehicles will apply: 
 
1. The maximum length of the vehicle “stretch” must not exceed 3048mm.  Each 

passenger seating area must be at least 400mm wide with a flat area in front 
of each seat of 300mm x 300mm.  

 
2. The tyres must be of an approved rating as specified by the manufacturer, 

meet legal requirements, and have a minimum tread depth of 2mm and must 
include and one full sized spare wheel. 

 
3. The vehicle is not used in any contract or provision for carrying school 

children or any unaccompanied children under the age of 18 years (the driver 
may not act as an accompanying adult) 

 
4. The Council’s exemption disc will always be displayed on the front 

windscreen. 
 
5. The private hire vehicle licence plate must be securely fixed in a visible 

position inside the luggage compartment. 
 

6. The vehicle’s Exemption Certificate/Notice must always be carried in the 
vehicle and produced on request to any Police Officer or Authorised Officer of 
the Council. 

 
 

Page 96



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 47 

Licence Conditions for Horse-Drawn Vehicles 
 

In addition to the standard conditions for special vehicles, extra conditions apply 
to horse-drawn vehicles as set out in this section.  Where the conditions for 
horse-drawn vehicles conflict with the standard conditions, the following extra 
conditions will apply:  

 
1. The driver must ensure every part of the harness of the animal or animals 

drawing the carriage is kept in order, so that the animal or animals are 
properly and securely attached to the carriage and under control. 

 
2. The driver must not feed or allow any animal harnessed or otherwise 

attached to a carriage to be fed, except with food contained in a proper 
bag or other receptacle  

 
3. Proprietors must arrange for animals to be checked at least annually, and 

at any other time at the request of the Council, by an approved veterinary 
surgeon. The licencee shall meet any costs involved.  Where an animal is 
found to be unfit, its use in the operation of a hackney carriage shall be 
discontinued until such time as a certificate of fitness signed by the 
veterinary surgeon is produced to the Council’s authorised officer. 

 
4. Proprietors must arrange for testing of the carriage on an annual basis and 

at the request of the Council.   
 

Other Vehicles 
 

1. Consideration may be given to alternative forms of transport being 
licenced; however, the Council will expect applications to be accompanied 
by information regarding the safety of the proposed operation, any 
proposed routes and pick up points, times and area of operation, details of 
the vehicle(s) and public liability insurance. 

 
2. Vehicles must be fitted with seatbelts that meet BSI standards. 

 
3. The Council will undertake consultation with anybody it considers 

appropriate with such an application and may attach such conditions as it 
thinks reasonable and proportionate. These may include conditions not 
applied to conventional hackney carriage or private hire vehicles. 

      

Page 97



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 48 

Appendix 5: Private Hire Operator 
 

An application for a private hire operator licence must be made on the specified 
form. Private hire operator licences will be issued subject to proof of eligibility. 
 
The Council must be satisfied that applicants for private hire operator licences 
are fit and proper to hold a licence.  To do so, a basic DBS check must be 
provided annually.  If the applicant is a limited company, then a basic DBS 
certificate must be provided by each director.  If the applicant is a partnership, 
then a DBS certificate must be submitted by each partner.  If the applicant is 
currently licenced as a driver, they will be exempt from this requirement as they 
are already subject to DBS checks. 
 
The following test will be used to consider whether an operator is deemed to be 
fit and proper: 
 
“Would I be comfortable providing sensitive information such as holiday plans, 
movements of my family or other information to this person, and feel safe in the 
knowledge that such information will not be used or passed on for criminal or 
unacceptable purposes” 
 
A licence will be valid for a period up to five years (or less as the Council may 
decide is necessary in certain circumstances) subject to continuing suitability.  It 
may be renewed following approval of a valid renewal application. 
 
Operators will normally receive notification in advance of the expiry of their 
licence and can apply using the online form via the Council’s website. Although, a 
reminder is sent as a matter of courtesy, it is the operator’s sole responsibility to 
ensure their renewal application is received prior to the expiry date of the licence. 
 
To avoid any delays, applicants are encouraged to apply to renew their licence at 
least 10 working days prior to the expiry. 
 

Standard Conditions 
The operator’s licence will be subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. Operators must keep legible, handwritten or electronic records of each 

booking for a period of no less than six months. Records must include: 
 

a) The date and time of the booking and if different the time and date of 
the proposed journey 

b) The name and address or telephone number of the hirer  
c) The agreed time and place of the proposed pick up 
d) The destination including address or street name 
e) The name and licence number of the driver 
f)       The licence number and registration of the vehicle allocated for the 

booking 

Page 98



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 49 

g) Any agreed fare 
h) The name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle 
i)       The name of any individual that responded to the booking request 

 
2. The operator shall keep legible, hand-written or electronic records of the 

particulars of all private hire vehicles operated by them which shall include: 
 

a) Vehicles make, model and colour  
b) Vehicle registration mark  
c) Number of passenger seats  
d) The vehicle licence number  
e) The company call-sign for the vehicle 
f) The vehicle proprietor’s name and address  
g) Insurance particulars of all vehicles working on behalf of the operator 
h) The date the vehicle was added to the operator’s fleet  
i) The date the vehicle was withdrawn from the operator’s fleet  
j) Name and address of the owner  
k) Name, address and the licence number of drivers of such vehicles 

 
3. The operator shall keep legible, hand-written or electronic records of the 

particulars of all drivers employed or otherwise engaged by them which 
shall include: 

 
a) The name and address of the driver and any change of address of a 

driver during their service with the operator 
b) The name, address and company call-sign assigned to the driver 
c) The date the driver commences working for the operator 
d) The date the driver ceases working for the operator 
 

4. The operator shall permit an authorised officer of the Council or a Police 
officer access to records required by their licence at all reasonable times. 
 

5. The operator shall retain from every licenced driver employed or otherwise 
engaged by them, a copy of that driver's licence, and shall retain it for the 
period of such employment or engagement.  The operator shall record the 
overall period or periods, during which, such employment or engagement 
continues.  

 
6. The operator shall retain a copy of all vehicle licences in respect of vehicles 

used in their business. 
 
7. The operator shall ensure that the vehicle fulfils bookings at the appointed 

time and place unless delayed or prevented by some justifiable cause. 
 
8. If provision is made by the operator for the reception of members of the 

public proposing to hire a vehicle, adequate arrangements shall be made 

Page 99



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 50 

for the seating of customers and it is recommended that toilet facilities 
within the premises be provided for public use.  

 
9. Where the premises are open to the public the operator shall provide a copy 

of the public liability insurance to the Licensing Authority.  
 
10. The Council expects operators and their employees to behave in a civil and 

professional manner. They should be polite, helpful and respectful to 
members of the public, the Police, Council employees, other public officials 
and licenced drivers, this includes on social media platforms. Failure to 
behave in such a manner may result in a referral to the Council’s Licensing 
Sub Committee. 

 
11. Notify the Council as soon as possible, and confirm in writing within seven 

days, of any alteration to their circumstances or material particulars 
including but not limited to: 

 
a) Change of address 
b) Change of name  
c) Change of office from which they operate 
d) Being arrested/bailed/charged with/convicted of or otherwise 

investigated in connection with any criminal offence 
e) Accepting a fixed penalty notice or caution, or receiving an Antisocial 

Behaviour Order (ASBO) 
f) Any change in directors or partners 

 
12. A register of all staff that will take bookings or dispatch vehicles must be 

maintained and available for inspection. The register should be a ‘living 
document’ that maintains records of all those in these roles for a period of 
no less than six months. 
 

13. Operators must require a basic DBS check from all individuals listed on the 
register of booking and dispatch staff upon commencing appointment and 
then once every 3 years. DBS certificates provided by the individual should 
be no more than 28 days old when submitted and this should be evidenced. 
A record that the operator has had sight of a basic DBS certificate (although 
the certificate itself should not be retained) should be retained for the 
duration that the individual remains on the register. Should an employee 
cease to be on the register and later re-entered, a new basic DBS certificate 
shall be requested and sight of this recorded. Alternatively, a ‘responsible 
organisation’ can request the check on an operator’s behalf. A link to a list 
of responsible organisations is provided in the Statutory Taxi and Private 
Hire Vehicle Standards. 

 
14. Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions, but they cannot 

pass on the obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators 

Page 100



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 51 

shall be required to evidence that comparable protections are applied by the 
company to which they outsource these functions. 

 
15. When individuals start taking bookings and dispatching vehicles for an 

operator they shall be required, as part of their employment contract, to 
advise the operator of any convictions while they are employed in this role. 

 
16. Operators or applicants for an operator licence will be required to provide a 

policy on employing ex-offenders in a role that involves taking bookings or 
dispatching vehicles. Operators shall ensure any staff employed are 
compatible with their policy on employing ex-offenders. Operators shall 
have regard to the assessment of previous convictions annexed to the 
Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards when preparing their 
 policy on the employment of ex-offenders. 

 
17. Operators have a duty under data protection legislation to protect the 

information they record. The Information Commissioner’s Office provides 
comprehensive on-line guidance on registering as a data controller and how 
to meet their obligations. 

 
18. Members of the public are entitled to expect when making a booking with a 

private hire vehicle operator that they will receive a private hire licensed 
vehicle and driver. The use of a driver who holds a PCV licence and the use 
of a public service vehicle (PSV) such as a minibus to undertake a private 
hire vehicle booking is not permitted without the informed consent of the 
booker. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 52 

 

Appendix 6: Glossary 
 
“Applicant” and “Application” refers to applicants for new licences but for the 
purpose of this policy, will also include existing drivers, vehicle and operator 
licence holders in connection with the assessment of their ongoing suitability.  
 
“Appointed Testing Station” means an appointed garage where the vehicle 
tests are carried out. 
 
“Authorised Officer” means a person who has the power or right to enforce. 
 
"Certificate of Compliance" means a certificate confirming that a licenced 
vehicle has passed the Council's vehicle test. A certificate of compliance acts in 
lieu of a MOT certificate whilst the vehicle remains licenced, should a vehicle be 
suspended for any reason a MOT certificate must be in place before the vehicle 
can be used for social, domestic and pleasure purposes. 
 
“Certificate of Good Conduct” means a certificate of good conduct relating to a 
Police records check.  For example, if an applicant has lived abroad, on their 
return to the UK, a licensing application may need confirmation that the applicant 
has no criminal record. This certificate will suffice the requirement. 
 
“DBS” means the Disclosure and Barring Service, an executive agency of the 
Home Office that provides access to criminal record and other relevant 
information to organisations in England and Wales and who carries out checks 
forming a disclosure. 
 
“Department for Transport” means the central government ministry which 
provides leadership across the Transport Sector to achieve its objectives, 
working with regional, local and private sector partners to deliver many of the 
services. 
 
“Driver Proficiency Test” means drivers expert test as laid down by The Driver 
and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) for taxi drivers. 
 
“DVLA Check” means a standard check with the Driver and Vehicle Licensing 
Agency revealing penalty points or traffic related convictions. 
 
“DVSA” means Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency. 
 
“Enforcement Policies” mean specific details of regulatory non-compliance and 
the action taken to deal with non-compliance. 
 
“Hackney Carriage Vehicle” means a vehicle licenced to carry passengers for 
hire or reward. It can be hailed by a prospective customer, wait on the rank and 
“ply for hire” where no other restrictions exist that would prevent them doing so. 

Page 102



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 53 

 
 
“Inertia Reel Seatbelt” means a reel that allows a vehicle seat belt to unwind 
freely but which locks under force of impact or rapid deceleration. 
 
“Integrated Transport System” means complete / total transport is available. 
 
“Licensing Authorities Constitution” means the body of fundamental principles 
or established precedents by which the organisation is governed. 
 
“Licensing Committee” means elected Members appointed to consider 
circumstances and make decisions in accordance with the Council’s constitution. 
 
“Licenced Vehicle” means both a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle. 
 
“Limousine” means a vehicle which has an engine capacity of 2800 c.c. or 
more, produced by a manufacturer as a luxury/high end vehicle. It will generally 
be obvious that a vehicle has been produced for this purpose and it will have a 
selection of extras that one would expect to be fitted. If doubt/contention exists, 
then the final arbiter shall be the manufacturer. Seating arrangements will consist 
of forward and/or rear facing seats only. 
 
“Livery” means a distinctive pattern or design on a vehicle providing 
identification, for instance door crests / Council signage. 
 
“LPG” means Liquefied Petroleum Gas.  
 
“MOT” means the Ministry of Transport Test which is an annual test of older 
vehicle safety and road worthiness.  MOT test certificates are currently issued by 
the Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) an agency within the 
Department for Transport. 
 
“Ply for Hire” means when a vehicle is made available for immediate hire. Only 
licenced hackney carriages may ply for hire and may only do so within the district 
in which they are licenced. 
 
“Private Hire Operator” means a person licenced to make provision for the 
invitation or acceptance of bookings for private hire vehicles. 

 
“Private Hire Vehicle” means a vehicle constructed or adapted to seat fewer 
than nine passengers, other than a Hackney Carriage or public service vehicle, 
which is licenced to be provided for hire with the services of a driver for the 
purpose of carrying passengers. Private hire vehicles may only be pre booked 
through a licenced private hire operator. 
 
“Relevance of Convictions” means convictions that may be taken into 
consideration when assessing matters. 

Page 103



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 54 

 
“Relevant Offences” mean criminal matters of a nature that may be considered 
when applications are being assessed. 
 
“Stakeholder” means a person with an interest or concern in something. 
 
“Taximeter” means a mechanical or electronic device installed in licenced 
vehicles that calculates passenger fares based on a combination of distance 
travelled and waiting time. 
 
“The Council” means the Authority responsible for the administration and 
regulation of taxi legislation and regulation. 
 
“The Guidance” means the Department for Transport - Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance March 2010. 
 
“Vehicle Compliance Pass Certificate” means the Council’s compliance test 
confirming the vehicle meets the standards required by the Local Authority. 
 
“Vehicle Exemption Certificate Notice” means a notice granting exception from 
the liability or obligation imposed on others. 
 

 
 

 

Page 104



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 55 

Page Intentionally Blank 

Page 105



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 56 

Page Intentionally Blank

Page 106



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 57 

 

Appendix 7: Enforcement Procedures and Escalation 
 
This appendix has been produced to provide details and guidelines on the 
processes which may be used by Licensing Services in support of the main 
policy when dealing with individuals / operators which raise concerns over 
whether they remain fit and proper to hold a licence. 
 
Enforcement Aims 
The aim of any sanctions and penalties is to: 
 

a) Change the behaviour of an offender 
b) Eliminate financial gain or benefit from non-compliance 
c) Be proportionate to the nature of the offence, past history of the offender 
d) Act to deter future non-compliance 

 
Verbal/written advice and warnings  
 
In all cases licence holders will be interviewed by a Licensing Enforcement 
Officer. 
 
Licensing services can, at any time, issue warnings based on the various options 
below: 
 
Written Warnings – This option may be considered for breaches of conditions or 
isolated or non- serious incidents of questionable conduct observed by officers, 
the Police or by the public. A copy of the warning will be recorded and held on 
the licence holder’s record; the warning may be referred to in any future 
enforcement actions including referrals to the Licensing Committee. 
 
Committee Referral and Officer Revocations – Committee referrals will be 
considered for repeated breaches of conditions and in relation to questionable 
conduct. Both options will also be considered for the most serious breaches of 
conditions and misconduct that raises significant concern affecting matters of 
public safety and protection. Previous warnings may be taken into consideration 
by the Licensing Committee.  
 
 

Committee Referrals and Officer Revocations 
 
The review of a licence by the Councils Licensing Committee will be sought 
following persistent breaches of conditions or poor conduct, similarly a review will 
be sought in response to the most serious breaches and misconduct that raises 
significant concern affecting matters of public safety and protection.  
 
Officer revocation may take place if it appears that the interests of public safety 
require the immediate revocation of the licence. This approach is appropriate 

Page 107



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 58 

where the licensing authority believes that, based on the information available at 
that time, on the balance of probability it is considered that the driver presents a 
risk to public safety. Factors including the immediacy and significance of the risk 
to public safety will be important matters for consideration.  
 
New evidence may, of course, become available later. If, for example, the 
allegations against a licence holder were now, on the balance of probability, 
considered to be unfounded, or their fitness to drive was proven satisfactory an 
expedited re-licensing process will be used. We will operate a Fast-Track 
application process for licence reinstatement (if appropriate) following an officer 
revocation in such cases.  
 
On referral to the Licensing Committee elected members will have the following 
options: 
 

a) To take no further action 
b) To issue a written warning 
c) To suspend a licence for example: 

 

 to require a driver to sit/re-sit the Councils knowledge and locality 
test(s) 

 to require a driver to undertake training in a subject appropriate to 
the reason(s) for their referral 
 

d) To revoke any of the following licences: 
 

 hackney carriage and private hire driver  

 private hire operator  

 hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
 
We will exercise our regulatory activities in a way which is: 

 
Proportionate – our activities will reflect the level of risk to the public and 
enforcement action taken will relate to the seriousness of the offence. 
 
Accountable – our activities will be open to public scrutiny, with clear and 
accessible policies, and fair and efficient complaints procedures. 
 
Consistent – our advice to those we regulate will be robust and reliable and we 
will respect advice provided by others. Where circumstances are similar, we will 
endeavour to act in similar ways to other local authorities. 
 
Transparent – we will ensure that those we regulate are able to understand what 
is expected of them and what they can anticipate in return, and 
  
Targeted – we will focus our resources on higher risk enterprises and activities, 
reflecting local need and national priorities. 

Page 108



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 59 

 

Page 109



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 60 

Appendix 8: C.C.T.V Installed in any Licenced Vehicle 
 

Where a CCTV system is installed in any vehicle the following conditions will 
apply. 
 
1. Notices informing of the CCTV must be displayed inside the vehicle in a 

prominent position where it can be easily read by persons both inside and 
outside of the vehicle. These notices shall be maintained in a clean and 
legible condition. 
 

2. The licence holder shall ensure that the system is properly maintained in 
accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. 

 
3. On request of an officer of the council or a police officer the licence holder 

shall ensure that the CCTV system is made available within a reasonable 
time and in any event within 7 days of the request. 

 
4. The licence holder shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that any driver of 

the vehicle is aware of the conditions relating to CCTV and that adequate 
instruction has been given in both the operation of the system and retrieving 
images.  

 
5. The licence holder as the data controller shall ensure that notification is 

lodged with the Information Commissioner’s Office to cover the purposes for 
which the CCTV system is used. 

 
6. The licence holder as the data controller shall take all reasonable steps to 

ensure that no other person keeps, uses or attempts to use any equipment to 
access the data and images stored on the system. 

 
Please note: Notices informing of the CCTV must be displayed in a prominent 
position where it can be easily read by persons wishing to enter the vehicle. 
These notices shall be maintained in a clean and legible condition.

Page 110



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026 

 61 

 

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2b - Tables of Changes (Pre- and Post-Consultation 
Changes/Proposals)  

 

Table 1 Pre-Consultation Proposals 

1 New Licences - An age restriction policy to be adopted with a 4-year 
vehicle age policy with effect from April 2020 for all newly licensed 
vehicles. This means the EURO 6 emissions standard applies from 
April 2020 to all new licences  

Existing Vehicles - From April 2023, to adopt an 8-year age policy so 
vehicles older than 8 years will not be licensed.   From April 2023 all 
diesel and petrol engine vehicles must be Euro 6.   The taxi trade 
therefore has 4 years to comply (3 years from April 2020).   

Wheelchair accessible vehicles - Existing vehicles will have an extra 
2 years added to the age restriction meaning that April 2025 is the 
compliance date.   Therefore, it is possible that a relatively low number 
of wheelchair accessible vehicles will be Euro 5 between April 2023 to 
April 2025.   

‘Full electric’ and ‘zero emission at source’ vehicles would be 
exempt 

2 Reference that the licence plate cannot be altered or defaced in any 
way 

3 Reference to post-accident testing requirements 

4 Reference 'reported for an offence' in addition to ‘charged with’ 

5 Addition of wording associated with the section of guidance that states: 
"We recommend that licensing authority rules for drivers are updated to 
make clear when a meter can and cannot be left running" 

6 Terrorism and hate crime offences to be added to appendix 2 

7 Possibility that we would also propose the use of an agreed formula to 
enable an annual tariff review to be implemented, this formula would be 
based on industry costs from across the county. Taking into 
consideration the cost of fuel, tyres, wages, licensing fees, insurance 
premiums Garage costs etc. 

Page 113



8 Vehicle defect book – addition of minimum timescale for keeping 
records and maximum time periods for vehicle checking i.e. once a 
week, daily or other specific period 

9 Consideration of acceptance of weekly insurance cover 

10 Amendment of the wording on the advertising condition regarding 
location of advertising to be restricted to rear doors, rear panels and 
boot 

11 Amendment and clarification of ‘fit and proper’ and ‘safe and suitable’ 
tests 

12 Addition of other offences to Appendix 2 including local authority 
enforced statutes and regulations  

13 Consideration of inclusion of a Drivers Code of Conduct 

14 Preventing the use of e-cigs and vaping in a licensed vehicle 

15 Additions to Operator Conditions re use of base (e.g. parking and 
maintenance of licensed vehicles etc) 

16 Addition to Appendix 2 of Equality Act offences 

17 Addition of changes to categories of write-off vehicles 

18 Additional information on applications to the Council for medical 
exemptions  

19 Clarification of prohibition on duplication of vehicle licences  

20 Additional explanatory information regarding passenger transport 
contracts e.g. home to school  

21 Consideration of time locked meters - also all meters set with maximum 
tariffs 

22 Reference in ‘fitness’ to suicidal threats / attempts, not a fit state of 
mind as per DVSA or other relevant guidance  

23 Adopt the IOL suitability guidance 

24 Transfers of vehicles - specify time frame when a transfer should be 
received and explain process 

25 NAFN register needs to be referenced 

Page 114



26 Need to incorporate into the policy that all tyres on the vehicle must be 
the same size and ratings etc 

27 Information and guidance on conduct and behaviour when using social 
media sites  

28 Reference electric vehicles 

29 Under appendix 1 continuing suitability need to refer under medical that 
they need to inform us of any changes to their health. Need to 
reference that drivers always need to meet Group 2 standards. Could 
list some of the major illnesses i.e. stroke, heart attack, diabetes etc 

30 Clarification on where a licence is refused / revoked, that it is 5 years 
from that date during which the council wouldn’t normally grant a 
licence - Make clear re refusals / revocations that a licence will not be 
granted unless 5 years has elapsed 

31 More clarification on who is required to carry out the vehicle checks 

32 Clarification on use of taxi meters in private hire vehicles 

33 Suggestion to refresher CSE training every 2 to 3 years (time to be 
decided at consultation stage) 

34 Randomised and targeted drug testing for drivers 

35 Policy to reference the need for licence holders to be respectful etc to 
other drivers 

36 Clarification on illumination of top signs  

37 Look at trailers - should we include a test? Page 471 of button book 
para 9.46 

38 Clarify DBS update service needs to be live with a valid certificate - 
upon renewal 

39 Amend transfer of a vehicle application - refer to section 49 LGMPA re 
14 days 

40 Inclusion of a definition of a special vehicle 

41 Explanation of transfer of ownership - quote section 49 of LGMPA 1976 

42 Changes to the PHO to require other persons associated with the 
application to be fit and proper not just the applicant 

Page 115



43 Suggestion that for new applicants having 6 points or more to go to 
committee for licensing decision  

44 Explanation in policy re why we do not allow surrender of a drivers 
badge but allow vehicle licence surrenders 

45 Greater explanation of why a proprietor may be referred to committee.  

46 Greater explanation of what we require for a medical exemption - i.e. 
blood tests, skin prick etc refer to guidance issued from guide dogs 

47 Approved test for fitness and propriety for operator and vehicle licences 
- refer to the Ann Harris case 

48 Take 'annual' out from continuing suitability point a) DVLA check 

49 Top sign - make it clearer that HCV vehicles must always have a top 
sign  

50 Consideration of first aid kits – the one we currently require is for up to 
10 persons – need to state applicable to the number of persons people 
can carry. Also, if not sealed then unsterile and needs to be replaced 

51 A licence, when granted, will be valid for a period of three years, (or 
less as the Council may decide is necessary in certain circumstances). 
- make it clearer as there is the option of 1 2 and 3 years. Addition of 
the word 'up to' 3 years 

52 Additional information and clarification on the decal exemptions 
associated with executive / luxurious vehicle  

53 Additional information clarifying and explaining the policy and 
processes followed in relation to late renewal applications (application 
of Exeter v Sandle)  

 

Table 2 Post-Consultation Proposals (Subsequent changes including 

amended proposals) 

1 Version date prediction July 2021 

2 1.3 addition of The Equality Act 2010 

3 4.0 change of wording for clarity 

4 New proposals for emissions policy and removal of age proposals 

Page 116



4.1 New Applications (Newly Licensed Vehicles) - New applications 
for vehicle licences will only be accepted for vehicles manufactured to 
the emissions standard “EURO 6” or higher. 

4.2 Renewal Applications (Existing Vehicles / Continued Licensing) 

- After the 31st March 2022, we will no longer accept renewal 
applications for licensed vehicles meeting Euro 4 or lower 

- After the 31st March 2023, we will no longer accept renewal 
applications for licensed vehicles meeting Euro 5 or lower  

4.3 Zero emission vehicles - fully electric and zero emission (at 
source) vehicles are welcomed by the Council. 

5 7.0 reference to General Licensing and Registration Sub-Committee 

6 7.5 additional words for clarification and reference to a Fast-Track 
application process for licence reinstatement following an officer 
revocation 

7 7.7 additional paragraph for explanatory and clarification purposes 

8 8.1 additional words regarding positive action 

9 11.1 additional wording for help and guidance  

10 15.6 additional sentence for explanatory and clarification purposes 

11 Appendix 1 e) Safeguarding including CSE Awareness; proposed 
policy on CSE awareness refresher training 

12 Appendix 1 f) Proposed policy on Disability Awareness Training and 
refresher awareness training 

13 Continuing Suitability and Renewal Process new word for clarity  

14 Continuing Suitability and Renewal Process new policy on: 

g) Periodic safeguarding including CSE awareness training  

h) Periodic disability awareness training 

15 Standard Conditions of a Private Hire Driver Licence s) ‘as a minimum’ 
for clarity/explanation  

16 Applications for Vehicle, Driver and Operator Licences following a 
conviction / caution and the ongoing suitability of Licence Holders; 

Page 117



additional sentence to differentiate between suitability criteria for drivers 
and for vehicle proprietors and operators  

17 Dishonesty convictions – removal of J and K – dealt with elsewhere 

18 Addition of NOTE: Any inaccuracies, or failure to record or report 
convictions, will normally result in the refusal of an application.   

19 Appendix 3 Vehicle Licences information/proposed policy on DBS 
checks  

20 Appendix 3 Standard Conditions 10 - positioning of plates and stickers 

21 Appendix 3 Standard Conditions 13 - information for clarification and 
explanation 

22 Appendix 3 Standard Conditions 19 – change of words for clarification  

23 Appendix 3 Standard Conditions 20 – additional words for clarification 
and explanation 

24 Appendix 3 Standard Conditions removal of 22 on basis of information 
supplied by DDFRA – relating to the carrying of fire extinguishers  

25 Appendix 3 Standard Conditions 24 – removal of words for clarification 
and explanation 

26 Appendix 3 Standard Conditions 25 - additional words for clarification 
and explanation 

27 Appendix 3 Standard Conditions 32 - proposed change of policy for 
practical reasons and enforcement purposes  

28 Appendix 3 Standard Conditions 33 – additional wording for clarification 
and explanation 

29 Appendix 3 Standard Conditions 34 – additional wording for clarification 
and explanation 

30 Appendix 3 Standard Conditions 35 – alternative wording for 
clarification and explanation 

31 Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles conditions 11 - alternative wording for 
clarification and explanation 

32 Conditions for Stretch Vehicles 2 - alternative wording for clarification 
and explanation 

Page 118



33 Appendix 5 Private Operator - additional wording for clarification and 
explanation 

34 Appendix 8: C.C.T.V Installed in any Licenced Vehicle condition 5 - 
additional wording for clarification and explanation 

35 Appendix 8: C.C.T.V Installed in any Licenced Vehicle condition 6 - 
additional wording for clarification and explanation 

36 Appendix 8: C.C.T.V Installed in any Licenced Vehicle NOTE on 
display of notices 

  

  

Page 119



 

Page 120



 

 

 

Regeneration and Local Services 

Environment, Health and Consumer Protection Services 

Hackney Carriage 

and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy  

2016 

(As amended April 2018)  

Appendix 3 HC and PH Licensing Policy April 2016 as amended

Page 121



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 2 

 

 

 

 

Version 
Date 

Version 
ref 

Revision 
History 

Reviser Approved 
by 

Review 
Date 

12 May 
2011 

V1 Final 
Version 

Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Neighbourhood Services 

County 
Council 

April 2016 

13 April 
2016 

V2 Final 
Version  

Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Neighbourhood Services 

County 
Council 

April 2021 

25 
January 
2017 

V3 Final 
Version  

Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Adult and Health Services 

County 
Council 

April 2021 

18 April 
2018 

 
V4 

Amended 
Final 
Version 

Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Adult and Health Services  

County 
Council 

April 2021 

Page 122



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 3 

Contents 

Contents ..........................................................................................................................................3 

1. Introduction .........................................................................................................................5 

2. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing .................................................................5 

3. Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria ..................................................................6 

4. Scope ...................................................................................................................................6 

5. Taxi Licensing Objectives..................................................................................................6 

6. Promotion of Taxi Licensing Objectives ..........................................................................7 

7. Partnership Working ..........................................................................................................8 

8. Duties and Obligations under the Equality Act 2010 ......................................................8 

9. Conditions ...........................................................................................................................9 

10. Enforcement ........................................................................................................................9 

11. Other Regulatory Regimes ........................................................................................... 100 

12. Decision Making .............................................................................................................. 10 

13. Complaints Procedure .................................................................................................... 10 

14. Vehicles ............................................................................................................................ 10 

15. Vehicle Insurance ............................................................................................................ 15 

16. Drivers............................................................................................................................... 15 

17. Private Hire Operators..................................................................................................... 16 

18. Licence Fees .................................................................................................................... 16 

19. Hackney Carriage Fares Policy ...................................................................................... 16 

20. Review............................................................................................................................... 17 

Appendices .................................................................................................................................. 19 

Appendix 1: Drivers ..................................................................................................................... 21 

1. Eligibility ........................................................................................................................... 21 

2. Continuing Suitability / Renewal Process ..................................................................... 22 

Page 123



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 4 

3. Standard Conditions of a Private Hire Driver Licence ................................................. 23 

Appendix 2: Determination of Applications for Driver and Operator Licences .................... 25 

1. Guidelines on the relevance of arrest, conviction, caution or any other relevant 

information including complaints and intelligence ................................................................. 25 

2. Application for a Drivers / Operators Licence following a conviction / caution and 

the ongoing suitability of licence holders ................................................................................ 26 

3. Other Relevant Factors ................................................................................................... 31 

Appendix 3: Vehicle Licences .................................................................................................... 34 

1. Standard Conditions ....................................................................................................... 34 

2. Hackney Carriage Vehicles ............................................................................................. 37 

3. Private Hire Vehicles ....................................................................................................... 38 

4. Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles .................................................................................... 38 

Appendix 4: Special Vehicle Licence Conditions .................................................................... 40 

1. Standard Conditions for Special Vehicles .................................................................... 40 

2. Conditions for Stretch Vehicles ..................................................................................... 40 

3. Licence Conditions for Horse-Drawn Vehicles ............................................................ 41 

4. Other Vehicles .................................................................................................................. 41 

Appendix 5: Private Hire Operator ............................................................................................. 42 

1. Standard Conditions ....................................................................................................... 42 

Appendix 6: Glossary .................................................................................................................. 46 

Appendix 7: Immediate Suspensions and Revocations .......................................................... 50 

Appendix 8: Enforcement Procedures and Escalation ............................................................ 52 

1. Enforcement Aims ........................................................................................................... 52 

Appendix 9: C.C.T.V Installed in any Licensed Vehicle ........................................................... 54 

 

 

Page 124



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 5 

1. Introduction 

1.1. The purpose of this policy is to explain how the Council undertakes its 
functions with respect to hackney carriage and private hire licensing.  
 

1.2. The Council, in adopting the licensing policy, recognises both the needs of 
residents for safe, convenient and effective taxi transport and the 
importance of this provision to the local economy and vibrancy of the 
County. 
 

1.3. This policy has been produced in accordance with the powers conferred 
by the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the Transport Act 1985, as 
amended, which places on the Council the duty to carry out its licensing 
functions in respect of hackney carriage and private hire licensing.  
 

1.4. The development, review, application and implementation will be the 
responsibility of the Environment, Health and Consumer Protection 
Service.  
 

1.5. The General Licensing and Registration Committee may make decisions 
that change the content of this policy.  The changes may have immediate 
effect, or may come into effect on a given date.   

2. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

2.1. Durham County Council is responsible for the licensing of hackney 
carriage and private hire vehicles, drivers and operators.  
 

2.2. A hackney carriage vehicle is a public transport vehicle with no more than 
8 passenger seats, which is licensed to ‘ply for hire’. This means they can 
stand at ranks or be hailed / flagged down in the street by members of the 
public. 
 

2.3. A private hire vehicle must also have no more than 8 passenger seats 
however, they must be ‘pre booked’ through a licensed private hire 
operator and may not ply for hire nor use appointed ranks. 
 

2.4. The aim of licensing the hackney carriage and private hire vehicle trades 
is to protect and safeguard the public and to ensure that the public have 
reasonable access to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire services. 
 

2.5. The Council recognises it is important that hackney carriage and private 
hire licensing powers are used appropriately to ensure that licensed 
vehicles of the Council are safe, comfortable, properly insured and 
available where and when required. 

Page 125



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 6 

 
2.6. The Council will not grant a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 

licence for any vehicle already licensed by another Local Authority.  

3. Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria  

3.1. New applications for vehicle licences will only be accepted for vehicles 
manufactured to the emissions standard “EURO 5” or higher. 
 

3.2. Existing licensed vehicles will continue to be renewed but may only be 
replaced by vehicles meeting the criteria outlined above. 

4. Scope 

4.1. This policy, which replaces all previous policies, shall apply throughout the 
administrative area of Durham County Council from the date of adoption. 
 

4.2. In developing this policy the Council has taken account of the Licensing 
Objectives, listed within paragraph 5, relevant legislation and Government 
guidance including the best practice guidance issued by the Department 
for Transport and Office of Fair Trading 

 
4.3. The Council has taken into account the views of the following when 

preparing this policy: 
 

a) Current licence holders 
b) Elected Members of the Council 
c) Durham Constabulary 
d) Local businesses and their representatives  
e) Residents and their representative bodies  
f) Local transport providers 
g) Disability Groups  
h) Planning Authority 
i) Service users  
j) The Automobile Association  
 

4.4. A full list of those consulted in preparing this Policy is available from 
Licensing Services.  

5. Taxi Licensing Objectives 

5.1. The Council will adopt and carry out its hackney carriage and private hire 
licensing functions with a view to protecting the public by promoting the 
following objectives: 
 

Page 126



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 7 

a) To ensure that safe, comfortable, reliable and accessible hackney 
carriage and private hire vehicles are available for all who require 
them 

b) To ensure that all licensed drivers and private hire operators are fit 
and proper persons 

c) To provide clarity for licensees with respect to the Council’s 
requirements and the decision making process 

d) To promote a professional and respected hackney carriage and 
private hire trade 

 
5.2. These objectives will be taken into account by the Council when making 

decisions. 

6. Promotion of taxi licensing objectives  

6.1. Methods used by this Council to promote the licensing objectives of this 
policy will include: 
 
a) Setting the standards for the licensing of drivers, vehicles and 

operators. 
b) The licensing and routine inspections of vehicles, with appropriate 

follow up action. 
c) Routine inspection of insurance policies, with appropriate follow up 

action. 
d) The assessment of applicants to ensure they are ‘fit and proper’ 

persons and thereby entitled to hold a licence. This will include 
consideration of the person’s medical suitability, criminal record (if 
any), driving standards and knowledge of the relevant law and 
locations in County Durham. 

e) Investigation of complaints with appropriate follow up action. 
f) Liaison with the Police, other local authorities and other relevant 

agencies regarding issues of mutual concern in relation to offences or 
the conduct of licence holders/applicants. 

g) Taking enforcement and / or disciplinary action including prosecution 
proceedings, verbal and written warnings, written cautions, notices, 
suspension or revocation of licences for breaches of legislation or 
conditions and/or in connection with reports or incidents of poor 
conduct. 

 
6.2. When considering applications and taking enforcement action against 

existing licence holders, the Council as the Licensing Authority will have 
regard to Environment, Health and Consumer Protection (EHCP) 
Enforcement Policy.

Page 127



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 8 

 

7. Partnership Working 

7.1. The Council will seek to work in partnership with the following agencies, 
groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: 

 
a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade 
b) Countywide Taxi Working Group 
c) Durham Constabulary 
d) Internal Council Departments 
e) Disability Groups 
f) Regional Licensing Groups (NESLiG) 
g) Any other appropriate formation which may contribute to the 

promotion of the objectives 

8. Duties and Obligations under the Equality Act 2010 

8.1. To achieve the above standard the Council will endeavour to comply with 
the duties and obligations under the following legislation: 
 
a) The Equality Act 2010 
b) Human Rights Act 1998 

 
8.2. Providers of transport services by way of hackney carriage and private 

hire vehicles are now deemed to be providers of services to the public for 
the purposes of Part 3 of the Equality Act 2010. 
 

8.3. A Statutory Code of Practice - Service, Public Functions and Associations 
- has been issued and provides guidance on specific issues associated 
with the Act. Licence holders should read this code and ensure they 
operate in accordance with it. As it is a statutory codes, approved by 
Parliament it is admissible under the Act and Courts must take them into 
account where relevant. 
 

8.4. Following the information provided in the Code may help transport 
providers avoid adverse court judgements – it includes examples of good 
practice – but it is not a complete or authoritative statement of the law and 
is not a substitute for taking appropriate advice. Ultimately, the Courts will 
provide authoritative interpretation of the Code. 
 

8.5. Where a disabled person believes they have been discriminated against 
the main remedies available are damages including compensation for 
injuries to feelings, an injunction and a declaration, however the claimant 
should seek independent legal advice before commencing any claim.  
 

Page 128



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 9 

8.6. It is a condition of a vehicle licence that wheelchair accessible vehicles 
have the appropriate equipment so as to be able to transport passengers 
in wheelchairs at all times. (The licence for a vehicle may be suspended 
until such time as the Council considers the vehicle is fit for purpose).  
 

8.7. Licensed drivers are under a duty to carry a passenger’s guide, hearing 
and other prescribed assistance dog in their vehicles without additional 
charge. Drivers who have a medical condition that is aggravated by 
exposure to dogs may apply for an exemption from the duty on medical 
grounds. A medical certificate must be provided at the drivers expense, 
from the drivers own GP stating the details of their medical condition. A 
register will be kept of those drivers exempted. 
 

8.8. Under the Equality Act 2010, the council will make and hold a list of 
wheelchair accessible vehicles (i.e. designated vehicles). The Act requires 
the drivers of those vehicles to carry passengers in wheelchairs, provide 
assistance to those passengers and prohibits them from charging extra. 
The relevant requirements of the Act do not apply to drivers who have a 
valid exemption certificate, which must be displayed in the vehicle. The 
Department for Transport has published statutory guidance; Access for 
Wheelchair Users to Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles. This guidance has 
been issued in order to assist council’s in the implementation of legal 
provisions intended to assist passengers in wheelchairs in their use of 
designated taxi and private hire vehicle services.  
 

8.9. Persons who breach duties imposed by the Equality Act may be guilty of a 
criminal offence. 
 

8.10. Further information is available from the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission at www.equalityhumanrights.com.  

9. Conditions 

9.1. The Council can impose such conditions as it deems necessary in relation 
to the grant or a renewal of any licence except a hackney carriage driver’s 
licence. 
   

9.2. Standard conditions relating to licences are included in the appendices.  In 
addition the Council may impose additional conditions where considered 
necessary or appropriate in all circumstances. 

10. Enforcement 

10.1. Licensing Enforcement Officers will undertake enforcement activities on 
behalf of the Council in accordance with the Councils enforcement policy. 

Page 129

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/


Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 10 

11. Other Regulatory Regimes 

11.1. Other statutory requirements may apply to the provision of any regulated 
activities provided by a licensed vehicle or at premises, and the 
responsibility for compliance rests with the licence holder and / or 
proprietor. 

12. Decision making 

12.1. The powers of the Council will be exercised in accordance with this policy 
and as delegated through the Council’s Constitution.   
 

12.2. The Council will make all decisions in relation to licensing matters on their 
own merits.  

 
12.3. The Council will provide reasons for all decisions that it makes. 

13. Complaints Procedure 

13.1. Durham County Council expects high standards of conduct and behaviour 
from the hackney carriage and private hire trade and all licence holders 
should maintain these standards at all times. However, it is recognised 
that there may be occasions when members of the public or the trade may 
make complaints.  
 

13.2. Complaints will be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s Complaints 
procedures. 
 

13.3. Durham County Council recognises that some complaints can be frivolous, 
vexatious and repetitious. Such complaints will not normally be pursued. 
 

13.4. Members of the trade will be expected to assist officers when carrying out 
their investigations. 
 

13.5. Following completion of the investigation all parties will normally receive 
written confirmation of any action taken. 
 

13.6. If any party is not satisfied with the outcome of the investigation the 
Council has a Corporate Complaints Procedure.  

14. Vehicles 

14.1. The Council has discretion over the types of vehicle that it can licence as 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles.  In setting the standard 
vehicle conditions the Council has taken account of passenger needs. Any 
application for a new vehicle licence will only be considered if it complies 
with the policy and conditions set out by the Council in Appendix 3 and 
Appendix 4 of this policy. 

Page 130



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 11 

 
14.2. Category A and B “write offs” will not be licensed as Hackney Carriage or 

Private Hire Vehicles. 
 
14.3. All vehicles shall have an appropriate ‘type approval’ which is either: 
 

a) European Whole Vehicle Type approval 
b) British National Type approval; or 
c) British Single Vehicle Approval (SVA) 

 
This paragraph will specifically apply to special vehicles as identified in 
Appendix 4. 

 
14.4. From the adoption of this policy all licensed vehicle will be subject to the 

requirements of paragraph 3.0 of this policy. 
 
14.5. Any advertising other than self-promotional information must be approved 

by the Licensing Team Leader. Examples of the advertising and its 
proposed placement must be forwarded to the Licensing Team Leader for 
their consideration and approval. 
 

14.6. Any approved advertising should not conflict with the Licensing Objectives 
and should comply with the requirements of the Advertising Standards 
Agency.  Advertising in this context does not include such information as 
the name and contact details that relate to the private hire or Hackney 
Carriage Company or proprietor that owns or operates the vehicle. Such 
details are to be regarded as self-promotional information. Self-
promotional information does not lend itself to any other interests outside 
the owner or operator’s private hire or hackney carriage company.  
 

Testing 
14.7. Prior to being licensed all vehicles must have been successfully tested 

with the preceding six months. All new vehicles must be presented for an 
inspection at one of the Council’s appointed testing stations prior to being 
licensed, subject to meeting all the requirements of the test a Certificate of 
Compliance, which lasts for one year, will be issued if the vehicle is to be 
used on a public highway.  

 
NB the Certificate of Compliance exempts a licensed vehicle from 
requiring an MOT test certificate. However, proprietors must be aware if 
the vehicle licence is surrendered, suspended, revoked or not renewed the 
vehicle must have an MOT certificate in place. 
 

14.8. Six months from the date of being licensed a vehicle will be required to be 
presented for a further test. 

Page 131



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 12 

 
 

14.9. Licence holders will be sent correspondence from Licensing Services in 
advance of the expiry of their licence and they should contact Licensing 
Services Administration to arrange an appointment to submit their renewal 
application and to arrange a vehicle fitness test. Upon meeting all the 
requirements of the test, a Certificate of Compliance, which lasts for one 
year will be issued.  
 
NB To ensure the application process is complete before the expiry of the 
vehicle licence, applicants are encouraged to contact the Licensing 
Services on receipt of their reminder to arrange appointments for both the 
vehicle test and to submit their renewal application.  
 

14.10. All licensed vehicles over 10 years old will be required to be tested three 
times each year. 
 

14.11. All tests (and retests where applicable) must be paid for prior to the 
vehicle being presented. A failure to attend an appointed test date will 
normally result in a charge being imposed. 
 

14.12. Where a vehicle fails its test on three consecutive occasions (including 
annual, six monthly, re-tests and third party inspections e.g. DVSA) or in 
circumstances it fails on a regular basis (although not necessarily 
consecutively) the proprietor and/or driver may be referred to the Council’s 
Licensing Committee.  
 

14.13. Vehicle licence holders who fail to present their vehicles for test or re-
schedule their test for a date which is later than has been scheduled, will 
have their vehicle licence suspended. Where appointments have been re-
scheduled for an earlier date and time, no action will be taken.  
 

Window Tints 
14.14. The Council recognises that vehicles may be manufactured with glass that 

is darker than that specified in the standard vehicle conditions prescribed 
in this policy. Because of the large costs and inconvenience associated 
with changing glass the Council will exercise discretion in the case of 
vehicles manufactured with window tints outside that standard.  
 

Temporary Replacement Vehicles 
14.15. The Council will allow the temporary licensing of vehicles in cases where 

an existing licensed vehicle suffers mechanical failure or accident damage 
which results in it having to be taken off the road for a period of time. 
Temporary replacement vehicles, which will not be subject to colour 
conditions, may be licensed for a period not exceeding two months. 
 

Page 132



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 13 

14.16. If a Licensed vehicle is damaged in an accident or by any other means, 
the licence holder must report the damage to Licensing Services as soon 
as reasonably practicable and in any case within 72 hours.  An 
examination will determine whether the vehicle is roadworthy or in need of 
repair. 
 
An 'Accident Damage Form' will be issued and must be retained in the 
vehicle. If the vehicle is deemed unfit the licence will be suspended. If the 
vehicle is not repaired and presented for test within two months from the 
date of inspection the licence will be revoked. Unless the Authority 
confirms otherwise, the vehicle may not be used as a hackney carriage or 
private hire vehicle from the date of first examination until it has been re-
examined and passed fit for use. If the vehicle has sustained major 
damage then the location of the vehicle must be given and it may be 
inspected by an Authorised Officer 

 
Special Vehicles  
14.17. The Council may licence a motorised special vehicle as a private hire for 

the carriage of up to eight passengers provided that such a vehicle has 
been issued with at least a Single Vehicle Approval (SVA) certificate and 
that the requirements in these specifications can be satisfied.  Only an 
original SVA certificate will be accepted by the Council as proof of the 
vehicle satisfying the requirements to obtain that approval.  

 
14.18. Prior to any licence being issued a vehicle compliance certificate must be 

issued by the Council. Where the vehicle is unable to be tested at a 
Council test centre alternative testing arrangements must be made by the 
applicant.  All costs associated with obtaining the relevant approvals or 
tests must be met by the vehicle proprietor. 
 

14.19. When imported into this country the importer must produce a declaration 
from the testing authority (DVSA) that the vehicle will never carry more 
than eight passengers. 
 

Exemptions  
14.20. Section 75(3) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

allows local authorities to grant exemptions to private hire vehicles from 
displaying licence plates and other prescribed livery. 
 

14.21. The Council has decided that for the purpose of this policy, they consider 
the use of a higher standard and more luxurious vehicle used exclusively 
for the purposes of carrying passengers under a written contract (the 
duration of which must be not less than 60 days) to be the minimum 
standard for an application not to display a licence plate and other 
identification livery to be considered.   
 

Page 133



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 14 

14.22. The Council will not exercise its discretion in granting this exemption for 
any vehicle which is to be used for any other purpose than as described 
above.  
 
The booking of a vehicle regardless of its “standard” for the purposes of 
carrying passengers to special events, airport services, celebrations or 
nights out not under a written contract (the duration of which must be not 
less than 60 days) is considered to be routine private hire work and will not 
satisfy the criteria for consideration of the exemption, for the avoidance of 
doubt contracts issued by: the NHS, Durham County Council passenger 
transport team will not satisfy the criteria for exemption.  
 

14.23. If the owner of a vehicle wishes to ask the Council to exercise its 
discretion to exempt the vehicle from displaying a licence plate and other 
identification livery they must apply to the Council in writing, providing 
evidence to support the application.  
 

14.24. Applicants for an exemption from displaying licence plates and other livery 
may also apply to be exempt from the Councils colour policy.  
 

14.25. Applications for exemptions will be determined by the duly authorised 
officer in consultation with the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Licensing 
Committee. 
 

14.26. An exemption from displaying a plate and other identification livery is a 
privilege rather than a right and the benefit of the exemption will be 
granted at the Councils discretion.   
 
The Council has the power to withdraw the exemption if the related 
conditions are not complied. Council Officers will periodically check 
booking records to ensure compliance with the policy.  
 

 
Stretched Limousines 
14.27. “Stretched Limousines” Imported Stretched Limousines are normally 

checked for compliance with British regulations under the Single Vehicle 
Approval (SVA) inspection regime, before they are registered. The 
Authority will request sight of the SVA certificate to ensure that the vehicle 
was tested by DVSA before being registered and licensed (taxed) by 
DVLA. The DVLA test verifies that the converted vehicle is built to certain 
safety and environmental standards. Stretched Limousines that clearly 
have more than eight passenger seats will not be licensed as PHV’s 
because they are outside the licensing regime for PHV’s. 

Page 134



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 15 

15. Vehicle Insurance 

15.1. Proprietors of licensed vehicles must ensure that a valid insurance policy, 
providing the relevant level of cover, is in place throughout the period a 
vehicle is licensed. This insurance policy must be in place before a licence 
can be granted. Where the policy covers a number of licensed vehicles, 
proprietors must also produce the schedule showing the list of insured 
vehicles.  
 

15.2. Hackney carriages must be insured for public hire purposes. Private hire 
vehicles must be insured for private hire purposes. 
 

15.3. Proof of continuous vehicle insurance must be provided, in a clearly 
legible form, to Licensing Services by the vehicle proprietor.  Proof of 
continuous insurance should also be produced upon request by an 
authorised officer of the Council.  Where valid insurance is not provided or 
produced upon request vehicle licences will be suspended.   

16. Drivers 

16.1. Only on receipt of a complete application can the Council issue a hackney 
carriage or private hire driver’s licence to an applicant, provided he or she 
meets the criteria for new drivers as outlined in this policy and is 
considered to be a fit and proper person.  
 

16.2. In determining whether a driver is fit and proper the Council will consider 
various criteria, which will include such things as: the applicant’s relevant 
skills, knowledge, experience, qualifications, medical fitness, criminal 
record and any previous history as a licence holder in accordance with 
Appendix 1 and Appendix 2. 

 
16.3. Applicants intending to operate a wheelchair accessible vehicle must 

complete a course approved by the Council. The course shall provide 
instruction to drivers on the correct procedures for clamping and 
restraining a wheelchair and other relevant aspects of carrying passengers 
with a disability. The cost of the training will be met by the applicant. This 
training must be undertaken by new applicants prior to being licensed.  
 
N.B. Existing drivers who operate wheelchair accessible vehicles and 
have not undertaken the training, must do so on applying to renew their 
driver’s licence. This must be completed within 6 months of the date of 
application to renew. 
 

16.4. The Council expects all drivers to behave in a civil and orderly manner, be 
polite, helpful and respectful to members of the public, the Police, Council 
employees and other public officials. Failure to do so may result in a 
referral to the Council’s Licensing Committee. 
 

Page 135



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 16 

16.5. Whilst using any licensed vehicle drivers must not engage in any sexual 
activity with or without their passengers, make inappropriate physical 
contact or make inappropriate comments of a sexual nature. 
 

16.6. The Council will not normally determine a new driver application where 
there are any outstanding legal proceedings until such proceedings are 
disposed of, this includes ongoing investigations, pending cases and 
appeals. The Council will endeavour to refer any application where there 
are any outstanding legal proceedings to the next available licensing 
committee.  
 

16.7. Following an appearance at committee, a direction will be made in any 
notice of decision as to any future referral to the licensing committee 
following the outcome of any legal hearing this is to include occasions 
where an individual is completely exonerated or charges being 
unsubstantiated.  

17. Private Hire Operators 

17.1. Only on receipt of a complete application, can the Council issue a private 
hire operator’s licence to an applicant, provided he or she meets the 
criteria outlined in this policy. 
 

17.2. In determining whether an applicant is a fit and proper person, the Council 
will consider the applicant’s criminal record and any previous history as a 
licence holder in accordance with Appendix 2 and Appendix 5. 

 
17.3. A private hire operator licence will only be granted to an address within the 

area administered by Durham County Council. 

18. Licence Fees 

18.1. The Council will set fees for licences at a level that will recover the costs 
recoverable under statute, incurred by the Council for issue, 
administration, control and supervision of that type of licence. 
 

18.2. Where refunds are due to any licence holder or applicant, they will be 
calculated on a pro rata basis and an administration charge deducted. 

19. Hackney Carriage Fares Policy 

19.1. When setting hackney carriage fares the Council will have regard to: 
a) The needs of the travelling public and what it is reasonable to expect 

people to pay 
b) The need to give the trade sufficient incentive to provide a service at 

the times when it is demanded 
 

Page 136



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 17 

19.2. Once a table of fares has been approved by the Council, any request for a 
review of that table of fares would not normally be considered for a period 
of at least 12 months. 
 

19.3. The Council supports the practice of drivers of licensed vehicles 
requesting advance payment of fares; this does not remove any 
requirement for the taximeter to be used on such occasions.  

20. Review 

20.1. This policy will be reviewed every five years. However, the Council will 
make such revisions as it considers appropriate and publish it accordingly. 
 

20.2. The Council from time to time will prepare and review procedures covering 
aspects of hackney carriage and private hire licensing including both 
enforcement and administration processes. 
 

Page 137



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 18 

 
 

Page Intentionally Blank 

Page 138



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 19 

 

Appendices 

Page 139



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 20 

Page Intentionally Blank 
 

Page 140



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 21 

Appendix 1: Drivers 
 

An application for a driver licence must be made on the specified form. 
 
Drivers’ licences will only be granted subject to proof of eligibility and all other 
application criteria being met. 
 
Drivers’ licences will only be renewed subject to all application criteria being met 
and consideration of the applicants continuing suitability. 
 
A licence, when granted, will be valid for a period of three years, (or less as the 
Council may decide is necessary in certain circumstances).   
 
Upon grant a driver will be issued two identification cards (badges) these must 
both be displayed at all times when the driver is available for hire or carrying 
passengers. One “badge” must be worn on the body of the driver the other being 
displayed in a prominent place in the vehicle and easily seen by any passenger.  

1. Eligibility 

The Council will, in considering whether an applicant is a fit and proper person to 
hold a driver licence require the applicant to meet the criteria set out below. 
 
a) Qualification 

The applicant will be required to provide proof that they have held a full UK 
drivers licence, or equivalent, for a period of not less than 12 months prior to 
the application being submitted. A full DVLA driving licence showing the 
applicants current address must be produced. 

  
b) Driving Assessment  

The applicant will be required to provide evidence that they have passed a 
suitable and satisfactory driver assessment test designed to assess the 
driving competency of hackney carriage and private hire drivers. Driving 
assessment tests and providers shall be subject to Council vetting and 
approval. 
 
The suitability and satisfactory nature of taxi driver assessment tests and of 
assessment providers shall be determined by the Council in accordance with 
current guidance issued by DCC. Approval of assessment providers shall 
also be subject to current guidance issued by DCC. 
 

c) Driver Knowledge and Locality Tests 
Applicants for both private hire and hackney carriage driver licences will be 
required to undertake both the Council’s knowledge and locality tests. The 
knowledge test will include a section on basic numeracy. Testing will be 
carried out in accordance with guidance issued by the council and may be 
reviewed from time to time.  

Page 141



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 22 

 
d) Medical Fitness 

Applicants are required to provide evidence, in the form of a prescribed 
certificate, available from the Council, signed by a medical practitioner with 
access to the applicant’s medical records, stating that the applicant satisfies 
all the requirements of the DVLA Group II medical standards of fitness to 
drive.  All costs associated with obtaining the medical certificate are to be 
met by the applicant. 
 

e) CSE Awareness 
Applicants will be required to attend a Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 
awareness training course. 
 

f) Suitability 
The Council must be satisfied that an applicant is a fit and proper person to 
hold a driver licence. Applicants must undergo a Driver Vehicle Licensing 
Agency (DVLA) check and a Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) check. 
Applicants will also be required to subscribe to the DBS update service and 
ensure continuity.   
 
Applicants from outside the United Kingdom must obtain a certificate of good 
conduct from the relevant Embassy or Consulate.   
 
The Council requires all applicants who have resided in the country for less 
than five years to obtain a DBS or equivalent and a Certificate of Good 
Conduct from their relevant Embassy or Consulate which must be 
authenticated, translated and sealed by the Embassy or Consulate. Any 
expenses incurred must be met by the applicant.  
 
Additional information will be considered as appropriate. For example, all 
applications will be subject to a right-to-work check under the Immigration 
Act 2016. 

2. Continuing Suitability / Renewal Process 

The ongoing suitability of a licence holder will be monitored.  In addition, the 
following specific checks will be carried out upon renewal, or at any other time 
deemed necessary by the Council: 
 
a) Annual DVLA check 
b) DBS update service  
c) Notification of Convictions/Cautions/Arrest/Ongoing or Pending prosecutions 

or investigations etc. this is to include motoring fixed penalties and antisocial 
behavior notices and attendance of any speed awareness courses. 

d) Checks carried out as a result of information or intelligence received by 
Licensing Services. 

e) Periodic medical examination 

Page 142



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 23 

f) CSE awareness training  
g) Right-to-work / immigration checks  

 
NB From the adoption of this policy existing licensed drivers will be required to 
undergo a DBS check no later than one year from their most recent check, they 
must then subscribe to the update service, failure to do so will result in the 
suspension of the licence. 
 
(A valid medical certificate, together with any supporting documents which show 
the DVLA Group II standard is met, such as: exercise test reports, must be 
produced at the following times): 
 
a) Upon initial application 
b) On the event of their 45th birthday 
c) Every fifth year after the 45th birthday 
d) On their 65th birthday and then annually 
e) At the request of Licensing Services 

 
NB Under no circumstances will a licence be issued until such time as all 
required checks are completed and supporting paperwork produced to licensing 
staff. All costs associated with medical checks and certification to be met by the 
applicant or licence holder. 
 
At each renewal the DVLA driving licence photographic card must be produced, 
this must be valid and must bear the correct address for the applicant; failure to 
produce this will result in the application not being processed. 
 
Licence holders will normally receive a reminder letter in advance of the expiry of 
their licence and must telephone the Licensing office to arrange a suitable 
appointment to submit a complete renewal application. 
 
To avoid delays, Applicants are encouraged to contact Licensing Services at 
least 10 working days prior to the expiry.   

3. Standard Conditions of a Private Hire Driver Licence 

The licensed driver shall: 
 

a) Notify the Council as soon as possible, and also confirm in writing within 
seven days, of any alteration to their circumstances or material particulars 
including but not limited to: 

(i) Change of address 
(ii) Change of name 
(iii) Change of office from which they operate 
(iv) Being arrested/bailed/charged with/convicted of or otherwise 

investigated in connection with any criminal or motoring offence 

Page 143



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 24 

(v) Accepting a fixed penalty notice or caution, or receiving a 
Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO), attendance at any speed 
awareness course 

(vi) Injury sustained or illness that may alter their medical status in 
line with DVLA Group II standards or affect their driving ability 

(vii) Details of any motoring fixed penalty endorsements received 
 

b) Notify the Council as soon as possible, and also confirm in writing within 72 
hours, of any traffic accident they are involved in whilst driving a licensed 
vehicle. 

c) Provide a DBS disclosure upon request. 
d) Provide a copy of their DVLA driving licence or equivalent upon reasonable 

request. 
e) Produce a valid medical certificate, upon request (Failure to do so will result 

in the licence being suspended) 
f) Behave in a professional manner at all times when working. 
g) Keep their vehicles clean and suitable for use by members of the public at 

all times. 
h) Where necessary, assist passengers into and out of vehicles. 
i) Offer passengers reasonable assistance with luggage. 
j) Bring to the attention of passengers any dangers associated with egress 

from the vehicle 
k) Ensure that the manner in which they carry out their business is such that 

no disturbance is caused to other road users, businesses and local 
residents.   

l) Behave in a civil and orderly manner and be polite, helpful and respectful to 
members of the public, the Police and Council employees. Failure to do so 
may result in a referral to the Council’s Licensing Committee. 

m) Not tamper with, or permit any person to tamper with, any taximeter or its 
fittings. 

n) Display the identification badges issued to them in the manner prescribed 
within this policy.   

o) Report the loss of their private hire driver identification badge to the Council 
immediately. 

p) Ensure that they charge passengers only the fare previously agreed 
between the operator and passenger, if a taximeter is used only the fare 
displayed on the taxi meter at the end of the journey can be charged, unless 
a lower fare is previously agreed with the passenger. 

q) Provide a receipt to a passenger upon request, the receipt shall include: 
(i) The fare 
(ii) Pick up location 
(iii) Destination 
(iv) Operator Name 
(v) Driver/Vehicle number 
(vi) Date 
(vii) Time 

Page 144



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 25 

Appendix 2: Determination of Suitability of Applicant and 
Licence Holders for Vehicle, Driver and Operator Licences  

Guidelines on the relevance of arrest, conviction, caution or any 

other relevant information including complaints and intelligence 

Licence holders and applicants for driver, vehicle and operator licences are 
required to disclose all convictions, fixed penalty notices and cautions, including 
those that would in other circumstances be regarded as spent under the 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, subject to Schedule 2 of the Rehabilitation 
of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 as amended. This order creates 
categories of ‘protected cautions’ and ‘protected convictions’, which applicants 
and licencees must be treated as not having committed, or been charged with, or 
prosecuted for, or convicted of, or sentenced for, even though ‘spent’ cautions 
and convictions may be taken into account. 
 
Licence holders and applicants must also disclose details of any ongoing 
investigations and any pending prosecutions. This is to include any arrest and 
subsequent bail where charges have not been laid. 
 
The disclosure of a criminal record or other information will normally prevent an 
applicant from obtaining a licence until such time, in accordance with the 
following paragraphs, has elapsed since the conviction. 
 
In making its decision the Council will consider the relevance of any offence, the 
seriousness of the offence, the length of time since the offence occurred and any 
pattern of offending behaviour or other complaints. 
 
The Council considers all offences to be relevant offences (subject to the above 
Exemptions Order) when considering the suitability of a person to hold or retain a 
licence. 
 
The following types of offence will be viewed as serious (in no particular order): 
 

a) Dishonesty  
b) Violence (including Criminal Damage & Sexual Offences) 
c) Alcohol Related Offences 
d) Public Order Offences 
e) Motoring Offences 
f) Possession of or Possession with the Intent to Supply controlled 

substances 
g) Obscenity (which includes the possession, making or distribution of 

unlawful obscene images / materials on computer or the internet) 
h) Racially or Religiously aggravated offences 
i) Offences of a discriminatory nature 
j) Offences involving Indecency or other offences of a Sexual Nature 
k) Contravention of Licensing Laws or Conditions 

Page 145



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 26 

l) Disqualification from driving a motor vehicle at any time in the three years 
prior to applying for a licence  

m) Offences involving animal cruelty 
n) Criminal Behaviour Orders   

 

Applications for Vehicle, Driver and Operator Licences following 
a conviction / caution and the ongoing suitability of Licence 
Holders 
 

If an applicant has been convicted of a criminal or motoring offence within the 
time periods specified below the Council will normally refuse an application. 
These offences will also be used to consider the ongoing suitability of existing 
licence holders. In the following list the term ‘applicant’ and ‘application’ refers to 
both new applicants for a licence and to existing licences and licence holders. 
 
Minor traffic offences  
Where two or more convictions for the following offences within any one year 
period are disclosed an application will normally be refused / revoked until one 
year from the date of the most recent conviction has elapsed.  
 
Minor traffic offences would include: 
 
CU80  Using a mobile phone while driving a motor vehicle  
  
MS10  Leaving a vehicle in a dangerous position  
MS20  Unlawful pillion riding  
MS30  Play street offences  
MS60  Offences not covered by other codes 
MS70  Driving with uncorrected defective eyesight  
MS80  Refusing to submit to an eyesight test 
MS90  Failure to give information as to identity of driver etc.  
  
MW10  Contravention of Special Road Regulations (excluding speed limits)  
  
PC10  Undefined contravention of pedestrian crossing regulations 
PC20  Contravention of pedestrian crossing regulations with moving vehicle 
PC30  Contravention of pedestrian crossing regulations with stationary 

vehicle 
  
SP10  Exceeding goods vehicle speed limits 
SP20  Exceeding speed limit for type of vehicle (excluding goods or 

passenger vehicles)  
SP30  Exceeding statutory speed limit on a public road 
SP40  Exceeding passenger vehicle speed limit 
SP50  Exceeding speed limit on a motorway 
  
TS10  Failing to comply with traffic light signals  

Page 146



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 27 

TS20  Failing to comply with double white lines  
TS30  Failing to comply with a Stop sign  
TS40  Failing to comply with direction of a constable or traffic warden  
TS50  Failing to comply with traffic sign (excluding Stop sign, traffic lights or 

double white lines)  
TS60  Failing to comply with school crossing patrol sign  
TS70  Undefined failure to comply with a traffic direction sign 
 

 

 Aiding, abetting, counseling or procuring any of the above offences 

 Inciting any of the above offences 

 Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 
 
Major traffic offences 
Where a conviction for one or more of the following offences is disclosed, an 
application will normally be refused / revoked until two years from the date of the 
most recent conviction has elapsed. 
 
In cases resulting in a period of disqualification an application will be refused 
unless three years from the date of the most recent conviction has elapsed. 
 
Major traffic offences would include: 
 
AC10 Failing to stop after an accident  
AC20 Failing to give particulars or to report an accident within 24 hours 
AC30 Undefined accident offences 
  
BA10 Driving while disqualified by order of Court  
BA30  Attempting to drive while disqualified by order of Court  
  
CD10  Driving without due care and attention  
CD20  Driving without reasonable consideration for other road users  
CD30  Driving without due care and attention or without reasonable 

consideration for other road users  
  
CU10  Using a vehicle with defective brakes 
CU20  Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of use of unsuitable vehicle 

or using a vehicle with parts or accessories (excluding brakes, steering 
or tyres) in a dangerous condition 

CU30  Using a vehicle with defective tyre(s) 
CU40  Using a vehicle with defective steering 
CU50  Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of load or passengers 
  
DD10  Causing serious injury by dangerous driving 
DD40  Dangerous driving 
DD60  Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving a vehicle 
DD90  Furious driving 

Page 147



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 28 

  
DR10  Driving or attempting to drive with alcohol level above limit  
DR20  Driving or attempting to drive while unfit through drink 
DR30  Driving or attempting to drive then failing to supply a specimen for 

analysis  
DR31  Driving or attempting to drive then refusing to give permission for 

analysis of a blood sample that was taken without consent due to 
incapacity 

DR40  In charge of a vehicle while alcohol level above limit  
DR50 In charge of a vehicle while unfit through drink 

DR60  Failure to provide a specimen for analysis in circumstances other than 
driving or attempting to drive  

DR61  Refusing to give permission for analysis of a blood sample that was 
taken without consent due to incapacity in circumstances other than 
driving or attempting to drive 

DR70  Failing to provide specimen for breath test  
DR80  Driving or attempting to drive while unfit through drugs 
DR90  In charge of a vehicle when unfit through drugs  
  
IN10  Using a vehicle uninsured against third party risks  
  
LC20  Driving otherwise than in accordance with a licence 
LC30  Driving after making a false declaration about fitness when applying for 

a licence  
LC40  Driving a vehicle having failed to notify a disability  
LC50  Driving after a licence has been revoked or refused on medical grounds  
  
MS50  Motor racing on the highway  
  
TT99  To signify disqualification under totting-up procedure. If the total of 

penalty points reached 12 or more within 3 years, the driver is liable to 
be disqualified 

  
UT50  Aggravated taking of a vehicle  
 

 Aiding, abetting, counseling or procuring any of the above offences 

 Causing or permitting any of the above offences 

 Inciting any of the above offences 

 Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences  
 
An application will normally be refused / revoked following a conviction for: 
 
CD40  Causing death through careless driving when unfit through drink 
CD50  Causing death through careless driving when unfit through drugs 
CD60  Causing death by careless driving with alcohol level above the limit 
CD70  Causing death by careless driving then failing to supply a specimen for 

analysis  

Page 148



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 29 

CD80  Causing death by careless, or inconsiderate driving 
CD90  Causing death by driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers 

 
DD80  Causing death by dangerous driving  
 

 
Town Police Clauses Act 1847, Part Two of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 & Criminal Justice & Public Order Act 
1994 
An application will normally be refused / revoked where: 
 

a) Less than one year has elapsed where there is one conviction 
b) Less than two years have elapsed since the date of the most recent 

conviction where there is more than one conviction 
c) Less than five years has elapsed since a licence has been revoked by any 

Council 
 
Offences under the Equality Act 2010 and other offences of a 
discriminatory nature 

An application will normally be refused / revoked where: 
 

a) Less than one year has elapsed where there is one conviction 
b) Less than two years have elapsed since the date of the most recent 

conviction where there is more than one conviction 
c) Less than five years has elapsed since a licence has been revoked by any 

Council 
 

Offences involving the possession drugs 
An application will normally be refused / revoked where: 
 

a) Less than one year has elapsed since the date of the conviction where 
there is one conviction 

b) Less than three years have elapsed since the date of the most recent 
conviction where there is more than one conviction 
 

Offences involving the possession drugs with the intent to supply 
An application will normally be refused / revoked where: 
 

a) Less than five years has elapsed where there is one conviction 
b) An application will be refused where there is more than one conviction 

 
Indecency and sexual offences 
An application will normally be refused / revoked where: 
 

a) There is a conviction for any sexual or indecency offence, including the 
possession of images.  

 

Page 149



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 30 

Soliciting 
An application will be refused / revoked where: 
 

a) Less than one year has elapsed since the date of the conviction where 
there is one conviction 

b) Less than two years have elapsed since the date of the most recent 
conviction where there is more than one conviction 

 
Where a person declares they are on, or have been, on the sex offenders 
register an application will be refused / revoked. 

 
Violence  
An application will be refused / revoked following a conviction for: 
 

a) Murder 
b) Manslaughter 
c) Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 

 
An application will normally be refused / revoked unless five years has elapsed 
since the date of a conviction for any of the following offences: 
 

a) Assault occasioning actual bodily harm  
b) Racially aggravated common assault  
c) Common assault 
d) Harassment (Protection from Harassment Act 1997) 
e) Battery 
f) Affray  
g) s.2 Protection from Harassment Act 1997 offence  
h) s.2 Public Order Act 1986  (violent disorder)  
i) s.4 Public Order Act 1986  (fear of provocation of violence)  
j) s.4A Public Order Act 1986 (intentional harassment, alarm or distress)  
k) s.5 Public Order Act 1986  (harassment, alarm or distress)  
l) Riot 
m) Obstruction 
n) Criminal damage 
o) Violent disorder 
p) Resisting arrest 
q) Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 

 
An application will normally be refused / revoked unless ten years has elapsed 
since the date of a conviction for any of the following offences: 
 

a) Arson 
b) Malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm (s.20 Offences Against the 

Person Act 1861) which is racially aggravated (s.29(1)(a) Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998) 

Page 150



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 31 

c) Actual bodily harm (s.47 Offences Against the Person Act 1861) which is 
racially aggravated (s.29(1)(b) Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

d) Grievous bodily harm with intent (s.18 Offences Against the Person Act) 
e) Grievous bodily harm (s.20 Offences Against the Person Act) 
f) Robbery 
g) Racially-aggravated criminal damage (s.30 Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
h) Racially-aggravated s.4 Public Order Act 1986  (fear of provocation of 

violence)  
i) Racially-aggravated s.4A Public Order Act 1986 (intentional harassment, 

alarm or distress  
j) Racially-aggravated s.5 Public Order Act 1986 (harassment, alarm or 

distress)  
k) Racially-aggravated s.2 Protection from Harassment Act 1997  

(harassment)  
l) Racially-aggravated s.2 Protection from Harassment Act 1997 (putting 

people in fear of violence)  
m) Assault on Police 
n) Possession of offensive weapon 
o) Possession of firearm 
p) Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 

 
Dishonesty offences 
An application will normally be refused / revoked unless 3 years has elapsed 
since the date of a conviction for any of the following offences: 
 

a) Theft 
b) Burglary 
c) Fraud 
d) Benefit fraud (including offences under ss.111A and 112 of the Social 

Security Administration Act 1992) 
e) Handling or receiving stolen goods 
f) Forgery 
g) Conspiracy to defraud 
h) Obtaining money or property by deception 
i) Other deception 
j) Failing to declare convictions etc. on application 
k) Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 

1. Other Relevant Factors 

The Council may take into account any other matter or matters that may affect 
whether an applicant or licence holder is a fit and proper person, such factors 
include but are not limited to: 
 

a) Convictions/Cautions for any other offence not listed above 
b) Any diversion scheme offered as an alternative to conviction (i.e. 

“checkpoint” or restorative approach) 

Page 151



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 32 

c) Mental Health Act Orders 
d) Inclusion on any register maintained for the purposes of safeguarding the 

public 
e) Police intelligence/information 
f) Drug/Alcohol use and Detoxification 
g) Other relevant information disclosed 
h) Any complaints or the accumulation of complaints regarding a licence 

holders conduct 
i) Surrender of a licence prior to an appearance before the Licensing 

Committee 
j) Matters contrary to the requirements of this policy 

 
Failure to disclose all arrest/bail/convictions, fixed penalty notices, 
cautions, (subject to the Exceptions Order) and/or ongoing investigations 
and/or pending prosecutions may affect the grant of a licence or may lead 
to the revocation of a licence. 

Page 152



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 33 

 

Page Intentionally Blank 
 

Page 153



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 34 

Appendix 3: Vehicle Licences 

An application for a vehicle licence must be made on the specified form.   
 
Vehicle licences will only be granted subject to all application criteria being met 
and will be valid for a period of one year. 
 
The following conditions will apply to all vehicles (Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire) licensed by the Council. 

1. Standard Conditions 

1.1. The vehicle shall be right-hand drive and the body must be a fixed head 
type (hard top).  
 

1.2. Notwithstanding condition 1.5 (below) the vehicle will only be licensed to 
carry the number of passengers specified on the V5 registration 
document. 

 
1.3. The design condition or appearance of a licensed vehicle must not be 

changed without first obtaining written consent from the Council any 
changes may require an additional vehicle inspection to be carried out. 

 
1.4. Where the seats are placed facing each other there must be a clear space 

of 38cm subject to a 2cm tolerance between any part of the front of a seat 
and any part of any other seat that faces it.  

 
1.5. Occasional (tip-up) seats must be arranged to rise automatically when not 

in use. 
 
1.6. A fully operational heating and ventilation system must be fitted and 

maintained for the driver and passengers. All body parts and trimmings 
must be fitted and maintained in good working order both internally and 
externally. 

 
1.7. Journeys must not be commenced using temporary tyres or tyres that 

have been subject to a temporary repair. 
 
1.8. Reasonable efforts should be made that in the event of mechanical failure 

a passenger’s journey can be completed in a safe and reasonable 
manner in an alternative licensed vehicle. 

 
1.9. The vehicle licence plate must be displayed and securely attached with 

bolts or screws on the outside rear of the vehicle. (attachment by 
adhesive tape and/or magnets is not acceptable)  

 

Page 154



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 35 

The plate remains the property of the Council and must be returned upon 
expiry, surrender or suspension of the vehicle licence. 

 
1.10. The vehicle must display the internal plate, internal driver I.D. door crests 

and complaint information stickers, as supplied and required by the 
Council, at all times.  The door crests shall be fixed to the front nearside 
and offside doors of the vehicle in a central position (attachment by 
magnets is not acceptable). All vehicles must display no smoking signs as 
required by law.  

 
1.11. Advertising may be displayed inside the vehicle and on the rear doors, 

panels and boot, subject to an application being made by the vehicle 
proprietor and subsequently approved by the Council.  It should not 
obscure the Council signage or vehicle top sign.   

 
1.12. All vehicles shall undergo an inspection by the Council’s appointed testing 

station(s) six months from grant or as required. 
 
1.13. Vehicle proprietors must inform the Council at the earliest opportunity, and 

in writing within 72 hours, if any licensed vehicle has been involved in an 
accident or sustained damage.   

 
1.14. No fittings, devices or lights may be attached or carried inside or outside 

the vehicle that could injure or harm any passenger or other person either 
inside or outside of the vehicle.  No lights or other fittings shall be 
permitted on the vehicle that would obscure any licence plates or obscure 
the driver’s or passengers’ view out of the vehicle. 

 
1.15. Vehicle proprietors shall notify the Council in writing within seven days of 

any change of address. 
 
1.16. CCTV shall be permitted in vehicles.  Where such devices are fitted within 

the vehicle conditions at Appendix 9 shall apply 
   
1.17. No animals other than those owned by fare paying passengers shall be 

carried in or on any licensed vehicle whilst the vehicle is so engaged 
under the terms of its licence. 

 
1.18. Window tints shall comply with the following: 
 

a) The front windscreen shall allow 75% of light to be transmitted 
through 

b) The front side windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be 
transmitted through them 

c) Other windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be transmitted 
through them.  

Page 155



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 36 

1.19.  If carrying a child the driver MUST ask a responsible adult if they would 
like the child locks activated. The child locks must not be activated in any 
other circumstances 
 
NB Under no circumstances must any passenger be locked in a licensed 
vehicle against their will. 
 

1.20. The vehicle must carry a suitable fire extinguisher sited in a readily 
accessible place known to the driver.  The appliance shall have a 
minimum content of 1 kilogram, conform to BSEN3 1996 and be of the 
dry powder or foam type, be kept in good condition and be fitted with a 
gauge which indicates the condition of its contents. Every fire extinguisher 
to be permanently marked with the vehicle’s hackney carriage or private 
hire vehicle licence number. 
 

1.21. The vehicle must carry a “first aid” kit which must contain: 
 

 A leaflet giving general advice on first aid, for example HSE   

 basic advice on first aid at work 

 20 individually wrapped sterile plasters 

 2 sterile eye pads 

 4 individually wrapped triangular bandages 

 6 safety pins 

 2 large and 6 medium sized, individually wrapped sterile                 
unmedicated wound dressings 

 2 pairs of disposable gloves 
 

NB The first aid kit to be permanently marked with the vehicle’s hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle licence number. 

 
1.22. The vehicle must be able to carry a reasonable amount of luggage which 

must be able to be stored securely. Where a vehicle is fitted with a 
removable parcel shelf it must remain in place when carrying luggage.The 
luggage compartment or any attached roof rack/box must be free from the 
proprietors or drivers personal property so it is available to store 
passenger’s luggage. Luggage should be stored securely and not stored 
in such a way as to hinder access to a door. 
 

1.23. There must be at least four doors.  All doors must be capable of being 
opened from the inside. 

 
1.24. The interior of the passenger compartment must be maintained in a clean 

condition and in good repair and where fitted any parcel shelf shall remain 
in place at all times. 

 
1.25. The flooring of the passenger compartment must be covered with a non-

slip material. 

Page 156



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 37 

 
1.26. If a trailer is to be used a trailer plate, issued by the Council, must be 

displayed on the trailer. 
 
1.27. If a roof carrier is to be used for luggage or goods it must be of a type 

fitted to the guttering or to the roof rails provided by the manufacturer and 
must not obscure any top sign. 

 
1.28. All vehicles must carry within, a vehicle check book which must be dated 

and signed by the driver to the effect that they have taken reasonable 
steps to ensure that the vehicle they are driving is roadworthy and 
complies with this policy. The book must record the mileage at the time 
the check is carried out. 

 
1.29. No licensed vehicle may be used for the unaccompanied carriage or 

delivery of alcohol or any tobacco products. 

2. Hackney Carriage Vehicles 

In addition to the standard conditions, the following conditions will apply to 
Hackney Carriage vehicles. 
 
2.1. Only white vehicles will be licensed as Hackney Carriage Vehicles. 

(Vehicles licensed before 1 April 2011 are exempt from this colour 
condition, however such vehicles may only be replaced by white vehicles) 
 

2.2. An illuminated taximeter must be fitted in a position where it is not 
obstructed by other fixtures or fittings within the vehicle and in a place 
where it is clearly visible to all passengers carried in the vehicle. 

 
2.3. The taximeter shall be securely fitted, maintained in full working order, 

sealed and calibrated by an approved agent within the Council’s approved 
hackney carriage fare scale and shall not be tampered with. (Licensing 
services hold a list of approved agents) 

 
2.4. A current fare table must be displayed in a position that is clearly visible in 

the passenger compartment. 
 
2.5. Display a roof sign, this sign must include the word TAXI and must be 

clearly illuminated (during both daylight and at night time) when the vehicle 
is available for hire. An exception to this condition will be afforded to 
purpose built taxi vehicles bearing a pre fitted sign. 

 
2.6. Display a “for hire” sign in the front passenger side of the windscreen that 

is illuminated when the vehicle is available for hire. An exception to this 
being purpose built vehicles where the ‘for hire’ sign is pre fitted. 

Page 157



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 38 

3. Private Hire Vehicles 

In addition to the standard conditions, the following conditions will apply to 
Private Hire vehicles. 
 
3.1. Private hire vehicles may be any colour other than white or a colour that 

could be mistaken for white, for example cream or ivory. 
 

3.2. Any taximeter fitted in a private hire vehicle must be fitted in a position 
where it is not obstructed by other fixtures or fittings within the vehicle and 
in a place where it is clearly visible to all passengers carried in the vehicle. 

 
3.3. Any taximeter fitted to a private hire vehicle shall be securely fitted, 

maintained in full working order and table of fares must be displayed in a 
position that is clearly visible in the passenger compartment displayed in 
the vehicle. 

 
3.4. The words “taxi”, “cab”, “for hire” or anything that may suggest that the 

vehicle is a Hackney Carriage must not be displayed on any part of any 
private hire vehicle. 

 
3.5. An operator consent form must be completed by the vehicle proprietor and 

operator on grant or renewal of the vehicle licence. An operator consent 
form must also be completed when there is a change in operator during 
the life of the licence.   

4. Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles  

In addition to the standard conditions and those applying to hackney carriage and 
private hire vehicles, further conditions apply to wheelchair accessible vehicles 
as set out in this section. Where the conditions for wheelchair accessible vehicles 
conflict with the standard conditions; the wheelchair accessible vehicles 
conditions will apply.  
 
4.1. The vehicle must have a designated space to accommodate at least one 

wheelchair user.  This space will be included in the total number of 
persons permitted to be carried. 
 

4.2. Either the rear or a nearside door must be used for wheelchair access.  
The door and doorway must be so constructed as to permit an unrestricted 
opening across the doorway of at least 780mm (30¾”).  The minimum 
angle of the door when opened must be 90 degrees (the minimum angle 
will not be relevant in the case of a sliding door).  

 
4.3. The floor to ceiling height where the disabled passenger will sit must be a 

minimum of 1350mm (54¾”). 
 

Page 158



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 39 

4.4. All wheelchairs must be carried facing forwards or rearwards.  Where a 
wheelchair is carried facing the rear of the vehicle, the wheelchair, in 
addition to standard restraints must be positioned such that it is reversed 
against a bulkhead to provide further stability. 

 
4.5. Facilities for the loading of a wheelchair and occupant must be available at 

all times for use at the nearside or rear passenger doors. This ramp must 
comply with all Equality Act recommendations as to design and 
installation. 

 
4.6. An adequate locating device must be fitted to ensure that the ramp does 

not slip or tilt when in use.  Provision must be made for the ramp to be 
stowed and secured safely when not in use.  The storage of the ramp 
when not in use must not impede access or egress of passengers.  
Ramps must be rigid when in use. There must be a slip resistant surface 
on the ramp with outer edges coloured. 

 
4.7. Suitable anchorages must be provided for the wheelchair.  Restraints for 

the wheelchair and occupant must be independent of each other.  Belts 
attached to a wheelchair, in order to assist a person to remain in it whilst 
travelling, will not be acceptable. 

 
4.8. Vehicles must be capable of transporting a folded wheelchair as luggage.  

Anchorages must also be provided for the safe storage of a wheelchair 
when not in use, whether folded or otherwise, if carried within the 
passenger compartment. 

 
4.9. All anchorages and restraints must not cause danger to any passenger. 
 
4.10. The provision of a step for assisted entry is required.  The step must be 

covered with a slip resistant surface.  
 

 

Page 159



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 40 

Appendix 4: Special Vehicle Licence Conditions 

1. Standard Conditions for Special Vehicles 

In addition to the standard conditions, the following extra conditions apply to 
special vehicles. Where the conditions for special vehicles conflict with the 
standard conditions, the conditions for special vehicles will apply  
 
1.1. Forward and rear facing seats must be fitted with a 3-point, inertia reel 

seatbelt. 
 

1.2. Efforts must be in place to ensure that:  in the event of mechanical failure, 
the passenger’s journey can be completed in a safe and reasonable 
manner. 

 
1.3. The Council will require the vehicle to undertake a MOT test Twice yearly 

2. Conditions for Stretch Vehicles 

In addition to the standard conditions and conditions for special vehicles, the 
following extra conditions apply to stretch vehicles.  Where the conditions for 
stretch vehicles conflict with the standard conditions or conditions for special 
vehicles, the conditions for stretch vehicles will apply  
 
2.1. The maximum length of the vehicle “stretch” must not exceed 3048mm.  

Each passenger seating area must be at least 400mm wide with a flat area 
in front of each seat of 300mm x 300mm.  
 

2.2. The vehicle must be equipped with a minimum of four road wheels and one 
full sized spare wheel.  The tyres must be of an approved rating as 
specified by the manufacturer, meet legal requirements and have a 
minimum tread depth of 2mm. 

 
2.3. The vehicle is not used in any contract or provision for carrying school 

children or any unaccompanied children under the age of 18 years (the 
driver may not act as an accompanying adult) 

 
2.4. The Council’s exemption disc will at all times be displayed on the front 

windscreen. 
 
2.5. The private hire vehicle licence plate must be securely fixed in a visible 

position inside the luggage compartment. 
2.6. The vehicle’s Exemption Certificate/Notice must be carried in the vehicle at 

all times and produced on request to any Police Officer or Authorised 
Officer of the Council. 
 

2.7. The driver of such vehicles must wear a shirt and tie. 

Page 160



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 41 

3. Licence Conditions for Horse-Drawn Vehicles 

In addition to the standard conditions for special vehicles, extra conditions apply 
to horse-drawn vehicles as set out in this section.  Where the conditions for 
horse-drawn vehicles conflict with the standard conditions, the following extra 
conditions will apply:  

 
3.1. The driver must ensure every part of the harness of the animal or animals 

drawing the carriage is kept in order, so that the animal or animals are 
properly and securely attached to the carriage and under control. 
 

3.2. The driver must not feed or allow any animal harnessed or otherwise 
attached to a carriage to be fed, except with food contained in a proper bag 
or other receptacle  

 
3.3. Proprietors must arrange for animals to be checked at least annually, and at 

any other time at the request of the Council, by an approved veterinary 
surgeon. The licensee shall meet any costs involved.  Where an animal is 
found to be unfit its use in the operation of a hackney carriage shall be 
discontinued until such time as a certificate of fitness signed by the 
veterinary surgeon is produced to the Council’s authorised officer. 

 
3.4. Proprietors must arrange for testing of the carriage on an annual basis and 

at the request of the Council.   

4. Other Vehicles 

4.1. Consideration may be given to alternative forms of transport being licensed; 
however the Council will expect applications to be accompanied by 
information regarding the safety of the proposed operation, any proposed 
routes and pick up points, times and area of operation, details of the 
vehicle(s) and public liability insurance. 
 

4.2. Vehicles must be fitted with seatbelts that meet BSI standards. 
 

4.3. The Council will undertake consultation with anybody it considers 
appropriate with such an application and may attach such conditions as it 
thinks reasonable and proportionate. These may include conditions not 
applied to conventional hackney carriage or private hire vehicles. 

      

Page 161



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 42 

Appendix 5: Private Hire Operator 
 

An application for a private hire operator licence must be made on the specified 
form. Private hire operator licences will be issued subject to proof of eligibility. 
 
A licence will be valid for a period of five years (or less as the Council may decide 
is necessary in certain circumstances) subject to continuing suitability.  It may be 
renewed following approval of a valid renewal application. 
 
Operators will receive a correspondence in advance of the expiry of their licence 
and on receipt must telephone the Licensing office to arrange a suitable 
appointment to submit their renewal application. 
 
To avoid delays, Applicants are encouraged to contact the Licensing Services at 
least 10 working days prior to the expiry. 

1.  Standard Conditions 

The operator’s licence will be subject to the following conditions: 
 

1.1. Operators must keep legible, hand written or computerised records of each 
booking for a period of no less than six months. Records must include: 

 
a) The date and time of the booking and if different the time and date of the 
b) proposed journey 
c) The name and address or telephone number of the hirer  
d) The agreed time and place of the proposed pick up 
e) The destination including address or street name 
f) The name of the driver 
g) The licence number of the vehicle allocated for the booking. 
h) Any agreed fare 

 
1.2. The operator shall keep legible, hand-written or computerised records of the 

particulars of all Private Hire vehicles operated by him which shall include: 
 

a) Vehicle make, model and colour 
b) Vehicle registration mark 
c) Number of passenger seats 
d) The vehicle licence number 
e) The company call-sign for the vehicle 
f) The vehicle proprietor’s name and address 
g) Insurance particulars of all vehicles working on behalf of the operator 
h) The date the vehicle was added to the operator’s fleet 
i) The date the vehicle was withdrawn from the operator’s fleet 
j) Name and address of the owner 
k) Name, address and the licence number of drivers of such vehicles 

 

Page 162



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 43 

1.3. The operator shall keep legible, hand-written or computerised records of the 
particulars of all drivers employed or otherwise engaged by him which shall 
include: 

 
a) The name and address of the driver and any change of address of a  

driver during the course of his service with the operator 
b) The name, address and company call-sign assigned to the driver 
c) The date the driver commences working for the operator 
d) The date the driver ceases working for the operator 

 
1.4. The operator shall permit an authorised officer of the Council or a Police 

officer access to records required by their licence at all reasonable times. 
 

1.5. The operator shall retain from every licensed driver employed or otherwise 
engaged by him, a copy of that driver's licence, and shall retain it for the 
period of such employment or engagement.  The operator shall record the 
overall period or periods, during which, such employment or engagement 
continues.  

 
1.6. The operator shall retain a copy of all vehicle licences in respect of vehicles 

used in his business. 
 
1.7. The operator shall ensure that the vehicle fulfils bookings at the appointed 

time and place unless delayed or prevented by some justifiable cause. 
 
1.8. If provision is made by the operator for the reception of members of the 

public proposing to hire a vehicle, adequate arrangements shall be made 
for the seating of customers and it is recommended that toilet facilities 
within the premises be provided for public use.  

 
1.9. Where the premises are open to the public the operator shall provide a copy 

of the public liability insurance to the Licensing Authority public.  
 
1.10. Behave in a civil and orderly manner and be polite, helpful and respectful to 

passengers and Council employees, failure to behave in such a manner 
may result in a referral to the Council’s Licensing Sub Committee. 

 
1.11. Notify the Council as soon as possible, and also confirm in writing within 

seven days, of any alteration to their circumstances or material particulars 
including but not limited to: 

 
a) Change of address. 
b) Change of name  
c) Change of office from which they operate. 
d) Being arrested/bailed/charged with/convicted of or otherwise investigated 

in connection with any criminal or motoring offence. 

Page 163



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 44 

e) Accepting a fixed penalty notice or caution, or receiving an Antisocial 
Behaviour Order (ASBO), attendance at any speed awareness course. 

f) Injury sustained or illness that may alter their medical status in line with 
DVLA Group II standards or affect their driving ability. 

g) Details of any motoring fixed penalty endorsements received. 

Page 164



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 45 

Page Intentionally Blank

Page 165



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 46 

Appendix 6: Glossary 
 

1. “Hackney Carriage Vehicle” means a vehicle licensed to carry passengers 
for hire or reward. It can be hailed by a prospective customer, wait on the 
rank and “ply for hire” where no other restrictions exist that would prevent 
them doing so. 
 

2. “Private Hire Vehicle” means a vehicle constructed or adapted to seat 
fewer than nine passengers, other than a Hackney Carriage or public 
service vehicle, which is licensed to be provided for hire with the services of 
a driver for the purpose of carrying passengers. Private hire vehicles may 
only be pre booked through a licensed private hire operator. 

 
3. “Private Hire Operator” means a person licensed to make provision for the 

invitation or acceptance of bookings for private hire vehicles. 
 

4. “Applicant” and “Application” refers to applicants for new licences but for 
the purpose of this policy, will also include existing drivers, vehicle and 
operator licence holders in connection with the assessment of their ongoing 
suitability.  

 
5. “Limousine” means a vehicle which has an engine capacity of 2800 c.c. or 

more, produced by a manufacturer as a luxury/high end vehicle. It will 
generally be obvious that a vehicle has been produced for this purpose and 
it will have a selection of extras that one would expect to be fitted. If 
doubt/contention exists then the final arbiter shall be the manufacturer. 
Seating arrangements will consist of forward and/or rear facing seats only. 

 
6. “Integrated Transport System” means complete / total transport is 

available. 
 
7. “Licensing Committee” means elected Members appointed to consider 

circumstances and make decisions in accordance with the Council’s 
constitution. 

 
8. “The Council” means the Authority responsible for the administration and 

regulation of taxi legislation and regulation. 
 
9. “DVSA” means Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency. 
 
10. “Livery” means a distinctive pattern or design on a vehicle providing 

identification, for instance door crests / Council signage. 
 
11. “Enforcement Policies” mean specific details of regulatory non-

compliance and the action taken to deal with non-compliance. 
 

Page 166



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 47 

12. “Licensing Authorities Constitution” means the body of fundamental 
principles or established precedents by which the organisation is governed. 

 
 
13. “Stakeholder” means a person with an interest or concern in something. 
 
14. “Driver Proficiency Test” means drivers expert test as laid down by The 

Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) for taxi drivers. 
 
15. “DBS” means the Disclosure and Barring Service, an executive agency of 

the Home Office that provides access to criminal record and other relevant 
information to organisations in England and Wales and who carries out 
checks forming a disclosure. 

 
16. “Certificate of Good Conduct” means a certificate of good conduct relating 

to a Police records check.  For example, if an applicant has lived abroad, on 
their return to the UK, a licensing application may need confirmation that the 
applicant has no criminal record. This certificate will suffice the requirement. 

 
17. “DVLA Check” means a standard check with the Driver and Vehicle 

Licensing Agency revealing penalty points or traffic related convictions. 
 
18. “Department for Transport” means the central government ministry which 

provides leadership across the Transport Sector to achieve its objectives, 
working with regional, local and private sector partners to deliver many of 
the services. 

 
19. “Relevance of Convictions” means convictions that may be taken into 

consideration when assessing matters. 
 
20. “Relevant Offences” mean criminal matters of a nature that may be taken 

into account when applications are being assessed. 
 
21. “Inertia Reel Seatbelt” means a reel that allows a vehicle seat belt to 

unwind freely but which locks under force of impact or rapid deceleration. 
 
22. “MOT” means the Ministry of Transport Test which is an annual test of older 

vehicle safety and road worthiness.  MOT test certificates are currently 
issued by the Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) an agency 
within the Department for Transport. 

 
23. “LPG” means Liquefied Petroleum Gas.  
 
24. "Certificate of Compliance" means a certificate confirming that a licensed 

vehicle has passed the Council's vehicle test. A certificate of compliance 
acts in lieu of a MOT certificate whilst the vehicle remains licensed, should 

Page 167



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 48 

a vehicle be suspended for any reason an MOT certificate must be in place 
before the vehicle can be used for social, domestic and pleasure purposes. 

 
 

25. “Taximeter” means a mechanical or electronic device installed in licensed 
vehicles that calculates passenger fares based on a combination of 
distance travelled and waiting time. 
 

26. “Vehicle Compliance Pass Certificate” means the Council’s compliance 
test confirming the vehicle meets the standards required by the Local 
Authority. 

 
27. “Appointed Testing Station” means an appointed garage where the 

vehicle tests are carried out. 
 
28. “Vehicle Exemption Certificate Notice” means a notice granting exception 

from the liability or obligation imposed on others. 
 
29. “Authorised Officer” means a person who has the power or right to 

enforce. 
 
30. “Ply for Hire” means when a vehicle is made available for immediate hire. 

Only licensed hackney carriages may ply for hire and may only do so within 
the district in which they are licensed. 

 
31. “The Guidance” means the Department for Transport - Taxi and Private 

Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance March 2010. 
 
32. “Licensed Vehicle” means both a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Vehicle. 
 
33. “Fit & Proper” will mean an individual will be deemed to be of the greatest 

integrity, safe (i.e. no risk to the public), honest and trustworthy in every 
respect. Whilst no definitive interpretation exists in law the accepted test of 
“Fit & Proper” is “whether one would allow a loved one (parent, spouse, 
child etc.) to travel alone with the individual. In order to provide greater 
reassurance to the residents of and visitors to County Durham, Durham 
County Council wishes to extend this test beyond mere safety. 

 

Page 168



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 49 

Page Intentionally Blank 

Page 169



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 50 

Appendix 7: Immediate Suspensions and Revocations 
 

Where the holder of a licence to drive a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
(or a joint driver) discloses to the Council that they have a medical condition 
which affects their compliance with the DVLA Group II standard the Licensing 
Enforcement Team Leader will suspend their licence until such time as a valid 
medical certificate, together with any supporting documents, which show the 
DVLA Group II standard is met, has been received. Only on receipt of such 
information will the suspension will be lifted. 
 
Where information is received that the holder of a hackney carriage or private 
hire licence has behaved in a manner or has been arrested, bailed, charged 
convicted or cautioned for a serious criminal offence the nature of which causes 
the Council to have concerns regarding the safety of the public that licence 
holder will have their licence suspended with immediate effect. This suspension 
can be appealed however the appellant may not drive any licensed vehicles until 
any such appeal has been fully disposed of. Where an appeal is successful the 
licence will be reinstated. Similarly where a licence holder is not prosecuted or is 
found not guilty of any offence the licence may be reinstated following an 
appearance at the Councils Licensing Committee.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 170



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 51 

Page Intentionally Blank

Page 171



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 52 

 

Appendix 8: Enforcement Procedures and Escalation 

 
This appendix has been produced to provide details and guidelines on the 
processes which may be used by Licensing Services in support of the main 
policy when dealing with complaints regarding driver conduct not amounting to 
offences for which prosecution action can be taken. 

1.  Enforcement Aims 

The aim of any sanctions and penalties is to: 
 

a) Change the behaviour of an offender 
b) Eliminate financial gain or benefit from non-compliance 
c) Be proportionate to the nature of the offence, past history of the offender 
d) Act to deter future non-compliance 

 
Verbal/written advice and warnings  
 
In all cases licence holders will be interviewed by a Licensing Enforcement 
Officer. 
 
Licensing services can, at any time, issue warnings based on the various options 
below: 
 
Written Warning – This option may be considered for a single breach of 
conditions or an isolated and non- serious incident of questionable conduct 
observed by officers, police or members of the public. A copy of the warning will 
be recorded and held on the drivers file; the warning will remain on file for the 
lifetime of the licence and may be referred to in any future enforcement actions 
including referrals to the Licensing Committee. 
 
Final Written Warning – This option may be considered for subsequent 
breaches of conditions or further incidents of non-serious questionable conduct 
observed by officers, police or members of the public. A copy of the final written 
warning will remain of file for the lifetime of the licence and will be referred to in 
any future enforcement actions including referrals to the Licensing Committee. 
 
Committee Referral – This option will be considered for repeated breaches of 
conditions or questionable conduct. This option will also be considered for the 
most serious breaches of conditions and conduct raising significant concern. 
Previous warnings may be referred to following referrals to the Licensing 
Committee.  

 
1.1. Committee Referrals 

Page 172



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 53 

 
The review of a licence by the Councils Licensing Committee will be sought 
following persistent breaches of conditions or poor conduct, similarly a review will 
be sought in response to the most serious breaches and poorest conduct.  
 
On referral to the Licensing Committee elected members will have the following 
options: 
 

a) To take no further action 
b) To issue a written warning 
c) To require a driver to sit/resit the Councils Knowledge and Locality test(s) 
d) To require a driver to undertake training in a subject appropriate to the 

reason(s) for their referral. 
e) To suspend a licence to drive hackney carriages, private hire vehicles or 

(joint driver) 
f) To revoke a licence to drive hackney carriages, private hire vehicles or 

(joint driver) 
 
We will exercise our regulatory activities in a way which is: 

 
Proportionate – our activities will reflect the level of risk to the public and 
enforcement action taken will relate to the seriousness of the offence. 
 
Accountable – our activities will be open to public scrutiny, with clear and 
accessible policies, and fair and efficient complaints procedures. 
 
Consistent – our advice to those we regulate will be robust and reliable and we 
will respect advice provided by others. Where circumstances are similar, we will 
endeavour to act in similar ways to other local authorities. 
 
Transparent – we will ensure that those we regulate are able to understand what 
is expected of them and what they can anticipate in return, and 
  
Targeted – we will focus our resources on higher risk enterprises and activities, 
reflecting local need and national priorities. 
 

Page 173



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 54 

Appendix 9: C.C.T.V Installed in any Licensed Vehicle 

Where a CCTV system is installed in any vehicle the following conditions will 
apply. 
 
1. Notices informing of the CCTV must be displayed inside the vehicle in a 

prominent position where it can be easily read by persons both inside and 
outside of the vehicle. These notices shall be maintained in a clean and 
legible condition. 
 

2. The licence holder shall ensure that the system is properly maintained in 
accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. 

 
3. On request of an officer of the council or a police officer the licence holder 

shall ensure that the CCTV system is made available within a reasonable 
time and in any event within 7 days of the request. 

 
4. The licence holder shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that any driver of 

the vehicle is aware of the conditions relating to CCTV and that adequate 
instruction has been given in both the operation of the system and retrieving 
images.  

 
5. The licence holder shall ensure that notification is lodged with the Information 

Commissioner’s Office to cover the purposes for which the CCTV system is 
used. 

 
6. The licence holder shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that no other 

person keeps uses or attempts to use any equipment to access the data and 
images stored on the system. 

Page 174



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 (as amended April 2018)   

 55 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

licensing@durh
am.gov.uk 

Tel 
03000261016 

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 – Pre-Consultation Draft Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

Policy 

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 

Community Protection Services 

Hackney Carriage 

and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy  

2021 to 2026 

  

Page 177



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 2 

 

 

 

 

Version 
Date 

Version 
ref 

Revision 
History 

Reviser Approved 
by 

Review 
Date 

12 May 
2011 

V1 Final 
Version 

Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Neighbourhood Services 

County 
Council 

April 2016 

13 April 
2016 

V2 Final 
Version  

Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Neighbourhood Services 

County 
Council 

April 2021 

25 
January 
2017 

V3 Final 
Version  

Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Adult and Health Services 

County 
Council 

April 2021 

18 April 
2018 

 
V4 

Amended 
Final 
Version 

Joanne Waller 
Head of EHCP 
Adult and Health Services  

County 
Council 

April 2021 

 
April 
2021 
 

 
V5 

Revised 
and 
Updated 
Final 
Version 

Joanne Waller head of 
Community Protection 
Regeneration and Local 
Services 

County 
Council 

April 2021 
Pending 

Page 178



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 3 

 

Section Contents Page 

1.0 Introduction 4 

2.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 5 

3.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 5 

4.0 Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria 6 

5.0 Taxi Licensing Aims and Objectives 7 

6.0 Promotion of taxi licensing objectives 7 

7.0 Delegations 8 

8.0  Partnership Working  9 

9.0 Duties and Obligations under the Equality Act 2010 9 

10.0 Conditions 11 

11.0 Enforcement 11 

12.0 Other Regulatory Regimes 11 

13.0 Decision Making 11 

14.0 Complaints Procedure  12 

15.0 Vehicle Licence Holders 12 

16.0 Vehicles 13 

17.0 Vehicle Insurance 17 

18.0 Transfer of Interest 17 

19.0 Changes to ‘Person Concerned’ 18 

20.0 Drivers 18 

21.0 Private Hire Operators 19 

22.0 Licence Fees 19 

23.0 Hackney Carriage Fares Policy 19 

24.0 Review 20 

25.0 Contact us 20 

 Appendices 22 

Appendix 1 Drivers 24 

Appendix 2 Determination of Suitability of Applicant and Licence 
Holders for Vehicle, Driver and Operator Licences 

32 

Appendix 3 Vehicle Licences  45 

Appendix 4 Special Vehicle Licence Conditions 54 

Appendix 5 Private Hire Operators 56 

Appendix 6 Glossary  61 

Appendix 7 Enforcement Procedures and Escalation 67 

Appendix 8 C.C.T.V Installed in any Licensed Vehicle 70 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 179



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 4 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1. Durham County Council is responsible for the licensing and regulation of 
the hackney carriage and private hire activities within the area 
administered by the Council. This policy sets out and explains how the 
Council undertakes its functions relating to the licensing and regulation of 
hackney carriages, private hire vehicles, drivers and private hire operators.  
 

1.2. In adopting the licensing policy, the Council recognises the needs of all 
persons for safe and convenient taxi transportation and the importance of 
both to the local economy and vibrancy of the County. This policy, which 
replaces all previous policies, shall apply throughout the administrative 
area of Durham County Council from the date of adoption. 
 

1.3. This policy has been produced in accordance with the powers conferred 
by the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the Transport Act 1985, as 
amended, which places on the Council the duty to carry out its licensing 
functions in respect of hackney carriage and private hire licensing. When 
developing this policy, the following have been taken into consideration: 
 

 The aims and objectives of this policy (see below) 

 Current legislation 

 The Department for Transport “Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Licensing: Best Practice Guidance” March 2010 

 Regulators Code 2014 

 Departmental Enforcement Policy 

 Local Government Association Template Criminal Convictions 
Policy 2015 

 The Department for Transport ‘Statutory Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Standards’ 2020 

 
1.4. The Council has considered the views of key partners, stakeholders and 

any other person who has responded to the consultation when preparing 
this policy. A full list of those consulted in preparing this Policy is available 
from Licensing Services. 
 

1.5. The development, review, application and implementation of this policy will 
be the responsibility of the Council’s Licensing Service and Elected 
Members sitting on the Licensing Committee.  
 

1.6. The General Licensing and Registration Committee may make decisions 
that change the content of this policy.  The changes may have immediate 
effect or may come into effect on a given date.  

Page 180



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 5 

2.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

2.1 Durham County Council is responsible for the licensing of hackney 
carriage and private hire vehicles, drivers and operators. This policy sets 
out application requirements and standards that must be met by the 
hackney carriage and private hire trade licensed by Durham County 
Council. When carrying out its regulatory functions, the Council will have 
regard to this policy. Each application or enforcement measure will be 
considered on its own merits however where it is necessary to depart 
substantially from the policy, clear and compelling reasons will be given. 
 

2.2 A hackney carriage vehicle is a public transport vehicle with no more than 
8 passenger seats, which is licensed to ‘ply for hire’. This means they can 
stand at public ranks or be hailed / flagged down in the street by members 
of the public, when operating within their licensing authority’s own 
geographical area (the controlled area). Outside their controlled areas, the 
law prevents hackney carriages from being hailed / flagged down in the 
street or from standing at public ranks. 
 

2.3 A private hire vehicle must also have no more than 8 passenger seats 
however, they must be ‘pre-booked’ through a licensed private hire 
operator and may not ply for hire nor use public ranks either inside or 
outside their controlled areas. 
 

2.4 The principal aims of licensing the hackney carriage and private hire 
vehicle trades are to protect and safeguard the public and to ensure that 
the public have reasonable access to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
services. 
 

2.5 The Council recognises it is important that hackney carriage and private 
hire licensing powers are used appropriately to ensure that licensed 
vehicles of the Council are safe, comfortable, properly insured and 
available where and when required. 
 

2.6 The Council will not grant a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
licence for any vehicle already licensed by another Local Authority. 

 

3.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 

3.1 An applicant must satisfy the Council that they are a fit and proper person 
to become licensed. Once licensed the driver must remain a fit and proper 
person throughout the duration of the licence.  

 
3.2 Whilst there is no definition of a fit and proper person, the Department for 

Transport Guidance suggests that the Council is effectively asking the 
following question:   

 
Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, 
would you allow a person for whom you care, regardless of their 

Page 181



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 6 

condition, to travel alone in a vehicle driven by this person at any 
time of day or night? 

  
3.3 During the application process the Council will undertake several checks 

to gather the information necessary to assess the suitability of the 
applicant.  

 
3.4 Factors that will be considered when reaching a decision include:  
  

 Criminality (whether the applicant has any criminal convictions or cautions) 

 Driving licence – length held, and penalty points endorsed 

 Right to work in the UK 

 Medical Fitness 

 General conduct/standards of behaviour 

 Conduct of the applicant during the application process 

 Previous licensing history 

 Knowledge of County Durham and other matters such as the Highway 
Code, this policy and taxi legislation 

 Ability to communicate and understand English  

 Completion of all necessary requirements of the application process 

 Whether the applicant has had a licence revoked or refused by another 
authority 

  
This is not an exhaustive list of matters that will be considered, and further 
information may be sought from other agencies such as the Police, 
Safeguarding Boards, other licensing authorities etc. 
 

4.0 Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria 
 

Tackling air pollution is a public health priority. To combat poor air quality, 
innovative and bold measures are being taken across the country to ensure 
the health and wellbeing of all road users. Adoption of the following proposed 
policy requirements will enable Durham licensed vehicles to help to reduce 
traffic pollution and improve local air quality in our region: 

 
4.1 New Licences - From (INSERT DATE POLICY ADOPTED) all new 

applications for licensed vehicles will only be accepted if the vehicle to be 

licensed is less than 4 years old from the date of first registration.  

 

4.2 Existing Vehicles - Adopt a maximum 8-year vehicle life with a start date 

of 1st April 2024. This means that from 1st April 2024 all diesel and petrol 

engine vehicles will be Euro 6 or above.  

 

 All existing licensed vehicles that are more than 8 years old will not be re-

licensed after 1st April 2024.  

Page 182



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 7 

 

4.3 Wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAV) - Existing licensed WAV’s will 

have an extra 2 years added to the age restriction. This means that all 

existing licensed WAV’s that are more than 10 years old will not be re-

licensed after 1st April 2024.  

 

4.4 Zero emission vehicles - fully electric and zero emission (at source) 

vehicles would be exempt from the age restriction / emissions policy. 

 

5.0 Taxi Licensing Aims and Objectives 

5.1 The principal purpose of hackney carriage and private hire licensing is to 
protect the public and promote public safety. The Council’s aim is to 
facilitate well run and responsible businesses which display sensitivity to 
the wishes and needs of the general public. The Council will carry out its 
hackney carriage and private hire licensing functions with a view to 
protecting the public by promoting the following objectives: 
 

a) The protection of the public, safeguarding children and the vulnerable and 
the prevention of crime and disorder - To ensure that all licensed drivers, 
vehicle licence holders and private hire operators are fit and proper 
persons 

b) The safety and health of the public and drivers - to ensure that safe, 
comfortable, reliable and accessible hackney carriage and private hire 
vehicles are available for all who require them 

c) Encouraging environmental sustainability 
d) To provide clarity for licensees with respect to the Council’s requirements 

and the decision-making process 
e) To promote a professional and respected hackney carriage and private 

hire trade 
 
5.2 The Council aims to ensure that the hackney carriage and private hire 

services offered within the County are of a good standard. The application 
and compliance procedures are designed to ensure these standards are 
maintained, monitored for compliance and appropriately enforced. These 
objectives will be considered by the Council when making decisions. 
 

6.0 Promotion of taxi licensing objectives  

6.1 Methods used by this Council to promote the licensing objectives of this 
policy will include: 
 

a) Setting the standards for the licensing of drivers, vehicles, proprietors and 
operators. 

b) The licensing and routine inspections of vehicles, with appropriate follow-
up action. 

c) Routine inspection of insurance policies, with appropriate follow-up action. 

Page 183



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 8 

d) The assessment of applicants to ensure they are ‘fit and proper’ persons 
and thereby entitled to hold a licence. This will include consideration of the 
person’s medical suitability, criminal record (if any), driving standards and 
knowledge of the relevant law and locations in County Durham. 

e) Investigation of complaints with appropriate follow-up action. 
f) Liaison with the Police, other local authorities and other relevant agencies 

regarding issues of mutual concern in relation to offences or the conduct 
of licence holders/applicants. 

g) Taking enforcement and / or disciplinary action including prosecution legal 
proceedings, verbal and written warnings, written cautions, notices, 
suspension or revocation of licences for breaches of legislation or 
conditions or any other reasonable cause. and/or in connection with 
reports or incidents of poor conduct. 

h) Random / intelligence led drug testing (see Appendix 2) 
i) The imposition of driver improvement schemes’ (see Appendix 2) 

 
6.2 When considering applications and taking enforcement action against 

existing licence holders, the Council as the Licensing Authority will have 
regard to the current Community Protection Enforcement Policy. 

 

7.0 Delegations  

7.1 Under the Council’s Constitution, the Licensing Sub-Committee has the 
authority to discharge non-executive regulatory functions with respect to 
hackney carriage and private hire licensing. The Sub-Committee will 
determine contested and non-conforming applications, misconduct, 
contraventions, suspensions and revocations.  

  
7.2 Officers in Licensing Services have delegated powers to grant licences 

where there are no criminal or other concerns that give rise to doubts over 
the suitability of the applicant to hold a licence. 

 
7.3 The Licensing Services Manager, the Licensing Enforcement Team 

Leader and Licensing Enforcement Officers may issue warning letters on 
behalf of the Council and Suspend hackney carriage or private hire drivers 
with immediate effect.  

  
7.4 Hackney carriage/private vehicles licensed by the council (and vehicles 

licensed by participating authorities in accordance with adopted cross-
border authorisation arrangements) may be suspended by the Licensing 
Services Manager, the Licensing Enforcement Team Leader and Licensing 
Enforcement Officers 

 
7.5 The Council has the option to suspend or revoke a licence should 

information be received that causes concern over whether a driver is a fit 
and proper person. A decision to revoke a licence does not however 
prevent the reissuing of a licence should further information be received that 
alters the balance of probability of a decision previously made. The decision 

Page 184



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 9 

to suspend or revoke was based on the evidence available at the time the 
determination was made. New evidence may, of course, become available 
later. If, for example, the allegations against a licence holder were now, on 
the balance of probability, considered to be unfounded, or their fitness to 
drive was proven satisfactory a suspension could be lifted or, if the licence 
was revoked, an expedited re-licensing process will be used. We will 
operate a Fast-Track application process for licence reinstatement following 
an officer revocation in such cases. 

 
7.6 A suspension may still be appropriate if it is believed that a minor issue can 

be addressed though additional training. In this instance the licence would 
be returned to the driver once the training has been completed without 
further consideration. This approach is clearly not appropriate where the 
licensing authority believes that, based on the information available at that 
time, on the balance of probability it is considered that the driver presents a 
risk to public safety. 

 
7.7 All licensing authorities must consider arrangements for dealing with serious 

matters that may require the immediate revocation of a licence. At Durham 
County Council, this role has been delegated to senior officers and 
managers with responsibility for the licensing service. 

 

8.0 Partnership Working 

8.1 The Council will seek to work in partnership with the following agencies, 
groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: 

 
a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade 
b) Countywide Taxi Working Group 
c) Durham Constabulary 
d) Internal Council Departments 
e) Disability Groups 
f) Regional Licensing Groups (NESLiG) 
g) Any other appropriate formation which may contribute to the promotion of 

the objectives 

9.0 Duties and Obligations under the Equality Act 2010 

9.1 To achieve the above standard the Council will endeavour to comply with 
the duties and obligations under the following legislation: 
 

a) The Equality Act 2010 
b) Human Rights Act 1998 

 

Page 185



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 10 

9.2 Providers of transport services by way of hackney carriage and private 
hire vehicles are now deemed to be providers of services to the public for 
the purposes of Part 3 of the Equality Act 2010. 
 

9.3 A Statutory Code of Practice - Service, Public Functions and Associations 
- has been issued and provides guidance on specific issues associated 
with the Act. Licence holders should read this code and ensure they 
operate in accordance with it. As it is a statutory code, approved by 
Parliament it is admissible under the Act and Courts must take them into 
account where relevant. 
 

9.4 Following the information provided in the Code may help transport 
providers avoid adverse court judgements – it includes examples of good 
practice – but it is not a complete or authoritative statement of the law and 
is not a substitute for taking appropriate advice. Ultimately, the Courts will 
provide authoritative interpretation of the Code. 
 

9.5 Where a disabled person believes they have been discriminated against 
the main remedies available are damages including compensation for 
injuries to feelings, an injunction and a declaration, however the claimant 
should seek independent legal advice before commencing any claim.  
 

9.6 It is a condition of a vehicle licence that wheelchair accessible vehicles 
have the appropriate equipment so as to be able to transport passengers 
in wheelchairs at all times. (The licence for a vehicle may be suspended 
until such time as the Council considers the vehicle is fit for purpose).  
 

9.7 Licensed drivers are under a duty to carry a passenger’s guide, hearing 
and other prescribed assistance dog in their vehicles without additional 
charge. Drivers who have a medical condition that is aggravated by 
exposure to dogs may apply to the Council for an exemption from the duty 
on medical grounds. 
 

9.8 A medical certificate must be provided at the driver’s expense, from the 
drivers own GP which demonstrates the driver has a genuine medical 
condition that is aggravated by exposure to dogs. This evidence should be 
in the form of a blood test, a skin prick test or clinical history. If granted, 
the Council will issue a tactile notice of exemption which must be 
displayed in any licensed vehicle driven by the driver and must be made 
available for inspection upon request and a register will be kept of exempt 
drivers. 
 

9.9 Under the Equality Act 2010, the council will make and hold a list of 

wheelchair accessible vehicles (i.e. designated vehicles). The Act requires 

the drivers of those vehicles to carry passengers in wheelchairs, aid those 

passengers and prohibits them from charging extra. The relevant 

requirements of the Act do not apply to drivers who have a valid 

Page 186



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 11 

exemption certificate, which must be displayed in the vehicle. The 

Department for Transport has published statutory guidance; Access for 

Wheelchair Users to Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles. This guidance has 

been issued in order to assist council’s in the implementation of legal 

provisions intended to assist passengers in wheelchairs in their use of 

designated taxi and private hire vehicle services.  

 
9.10 The Equality Act 2010 makes clear that if carrying a passenger in a     

wheelchair there cannot be any extra charge for doing so. This means      

that a taxi meter should not be started or left running whilst the driver 

performs duties required by the Act or as the passenger enters, leaves or 

secures their wheelchair within the passenger compartment. 

 
9.11 Persons who breach duties imposed by the Equality Act may be guilty of a 
 criminal offence. 

 
9.12 Further information is available from the Equality and Human Rights 
 Commission. at www.equalityhumanrights.com 

10.0 Conditions 

10.1 The Council can impose such conditions as it deems necessary in relation 
to the grant or a renewal of any licence except a hackney carriage driver’s 
licence. 
   

10.2 Standard conditions relating to licences are included in the appendices.  In 
addition, the Council may impose additional conditions where considered 
necessary or appropriate in the circumstances. 

11.0 Enforcement 

11.1 Licensing Enforcement Officers will undertake enforcement activities on 
behalf of the Council in accordance with the departmental enforcement 
policy. 

12.0 Other Regulatory Regimes 

12.1 Other statutory requirements may apply to the provision of any regulated 
activities provided by a licensed vehicle or at premises, and the 
responsibility for compliance rests with the licence holder and / or 
proprietor. 

13.0 Decision Making 

13.1 The powers of the Council will be exercised in accordance with this policy 
and as delegated through the Council’s Constitution.   

Page 187

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/


Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 12 

 
13.2 The Council will make all decisions in relation to licensing matters on their 

own merits.  
 
13.3 The Council will provide reasons for all decisions that it makes. 

14.0 Complaints Procedure 

14.1 Durham County Council expects high standards of conduct and behaviour 
from the hackney carriage and private hire trade and all licence holders 
should always maintain these standards.  
 

14.2 It is recognised that there may be occasions when members of the public 
or the trade may make complaints about licensed drivers, operators and 
vehicles. Complaints will be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s 
Complaints procedures. Information about how to make a complaint will be 
displayed within the licensed vehicle and on the Council’s website. 
 

14.3 Durham County Council recognises that some complaints can be frivolous, 
vexatious and repetitious. Such complaints will not normally be pursued. 
Under these circumstances, reasons why the complaint has not been 
investigated, followed-up or acted upon will usually be provided. 
 

14.4 Members of the licensed trade will be expected to assist officers when 
carrying out their investigations. A failure to cooperate may result in 
actions being taken against individuals and organisations where it is 
appropriate and possible to do so.  
 

14.5 Following completion of the investigation all parties will normally receive 
confirmation of any action taken. 
 

14.6 If any party is not satisfied with the outcome of the investigation the 
Council has a Corporate Complaints Procedure.  
 

15.0 Vehicle Licence Holders 
 
15.1 Durham County Council considers that although vehicle licence holders  
          may not be driving a vehicle they clearly have an interest in the use of the  
          vehicle and ensuring that it is properly maintained. Therefore, all applicants 
 should be fit and proper to hold a licence.   
 
15.2 When considering whether applicants are fit and proper the following test 

will be used: 
 
‘Would I be comfortable allowing this person to have control of a licensed 
vehicle that can travel anywhere, at any time of the day or night without 
arousing suspicion, and be satisfied that he/she would not allow it to be 

Page 188



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 13 

used for criminal or other unacceptable purposes, and be confident that 
he/she would maintain it to an acceptable standard throughout the period 
of the licence’. 
 

15.3 In determining whether an applicant is a fit and proper person, the Council 
will consider the applicant’s criminal record and any previous history as a 
licence holder in accordance with Appendix 2 and Appendix 5.   

 
15.4 If an applicant for a vehicle licence does not hold a hackney carriage / 

private hire driver licence or private hire operator licence issued by 
Durham County Council, then they will be required to provide a basic DBS 
check as part of the application process. Should a vehicle licence holder 
cease to hold a driver licence a basic DBS check will be required 
immediately. 

 

16.0 Vehicles 
 

16.1 The Council has discretion over the types of vehicle that it can licence as 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles.  In setting the standard 
vehicle conditions the Council has taken account of passenger needs. Any 
application for a new vehicle licence will only be considered if it complies 
with the policy and conditions set out by the Council in Appendix 3 and 
Appendix 4 of this policy. 
 

16.2 Category A and B “write offs” will not be licensed as Hackney Carriage or 
Private Hire Vehicles. 

 
16.3 All vehicles shall have an appropriate ‘type approval’ which is either: 

 

 European Whole Vehicle Type approval 

 British National Type approval; or 

 British Single Vehicle Approval (SVA) 
 

This paragraph will specifically apply to special vehicles as identified in 
Appendix 4. 

 
16.4 From the adoption of this policy all licensed vehicles will be subject to the 

requirements of paragraph 4.0 of this policy. 
 

16.5 Any material displayed on the vehicle advertising other than self-
promotional information must be approved by the Licensing Manager or 
Licensing Team Leader. Examples of the material advertising and its 
proposed placement must be forwarded to the Licensing Manager and 
Licensing Team Leader for their consideration and approval prior to being 
displayed on the vehicle.  
 

Page 189



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 14 

16.6 Self-promotional or other material requiring approval must not be 
displayed on the front doors or in such a manner which may obscure the 
Council signage or vehicle top sign. only be displayed on the rear doors, 
rear panels and boot areas. 
 

16.7 Any approved advertising should not conflict with the Licensing Objectives 
and should comply with the requirements of the Advertising Standards 
Agency.  Advertising in this context does not include such information as 
the name and contact details that relate to the private hire or hackney 
carriage company or proprietor that owns or operates the vehicle. Such 
details are to be regarded as self-promotional information. Self-
promotional information does not lend itself to any other interests outside 
the owner or operator’s private hire or hackney carriage company.  
 

16.8 Testing - Prior to being licensed all vehicles must have been successfully 
tested with the preceding six months. All new vehicles must be presented 
for an inspection at one of the Council’s appointed testing stations prior to 
being licensed, subject to meeting all the requirements of the test a 
Certificate of Compliance, which lasts for one year, will be issued if the 
vehicle is to be used on a public highway.  

 
NB the Certificate of Compliance exempts a licensed vehicle from 
requiring a MOT test certificate. However, proprietors must be aware if the 
vehicle licence is surrendered, suspended, revoked or not renewed the 
vehicle must have a MOT certificate in place. 
 

16.9 A licensed vehicle will be required to be tested twice annually. However, if 
the vehicle is over 10 years old at the time of renewal it will be required to 
be tested three times annually. 
 

16.10 Post- accident inspection and testing - In cases where a licensed 
vehicle has been in an accident and suspended pending a post-accident 
inspection and test will be required.  
 

16.11 Where a post-accident inspection and test is required, in cases when there 
is less than 6 weeks before the next scheduled test is due, the vehicle 
proprietor will be offered the option of carrying out the post-accident 
inspection and test in place of the next scheduled test.  
 

16.12 Licence holders will normally be sent correspondence from Licensing 
Services in advance of the expiry of their licence. They should apply to 
renew the licence using the online form via the Council’s website where 
they can also specify a preferred date and time for the vehicle fitness test.  
Licensing Services on receipt of the application will arrange and confirm 
with the applicant the vehicle fitness test. Upon meeting all the 
requirements of the test, a Certificate of Compliance, which lasts for one 
year will be issued.  

Page 190



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 15 

 
16.13 All tests (and retests where applicable) must be paid for prior to the 

vehicle being presented. A failure to attend an appointed test date will 
normally result in a charge being imposed. 
 

16.14 Serious or repeated test failures may indicate poor vehicle maintenance. 
In such cases it may be necessary to refer the vehicle proprietor and / or 
driver to the Council’s Licensing Committee to determine matters 
associated with ongoing suitability.  
 

16.15 Vehicle licence holders who fail to present their vehicles for test or re-
schedule their test for a date which is later than has been scheduled, will 
have their vehicle licence suspended. Where appointments have been re-
scheduled for an earlier date and time, no action will be taken.  
 

16.16 Window Tints - Window tints shall comply with the following: 
 

a) The front windscreen shall allow 75% of light to be transmitted 
through 

b) The front side windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be 
transmitted through them 

c) Other windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be transmitted 
through them.  

 
16.16 The Council recognises that vehicles may be manufactured with glass that 

is darker than that specified in the standard vehicle conditions prescribed 
in this policy. Because of the large costs and inconvenience associated 
with changing glass the Council will exercise discretion in the case of 
vehicles manufactured with window tints outside that standard.  
 

16.17 Temporary Replacement Vehicles - The Council will allow the temporary 
licensing of vehicles in cases where an existing licensed vehicle suffers 
mechanical failure or accident damage which results in it having to be 
taken off the road for a period. Temporary replacement vehicles, which will 
not be subject to colour conditions, may be licensed for a period not 
exceeding two months. 
 

16.18 If a Licensed vehicle is damaged in an accident or by any other means, 
the licence holder must report the damage to Licensing Services as soon 
as reasonably practicable and in any case within 72 hours.  An examination 
will determine whether the vehicle is roadworthy or in need of repair. 
 

16.19 An 'Accident Damage Form' will be issued and must be retained in the 
vehicle. If the vehicle is deemed unfit the licence will be suspended. If the 
vehicle is not repaired and presented for test within two months from the 
date of inspection the licence will be revoked. Unless the Authority confirms 
otherwise, the vehicle may not be used as a hackney carriage or private 

Page 191



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 16 

hire vehicle from the date of first examination until it has been re-examined 
and passed fit for use. If the vehicle has sustained major damage, then the 
location of the vehicle must be given, and it may be inspected by an 
Authorised Officer. 

 
16.20 Special Vehicles - The Council may licence a motorised special vehicle 

as a private hire for the carriage of up to eight passengers provided that 
such a vehicle has been issued with at least a Single Vehicle Approval 
(SVA) certificate and that the requirements in these specifications can be 
satisfied.  Only an original SVA certificate will be accepted by the Council 
as proof of the vehicle satisfying the requirements to obtain that approval.  

 
16.21 Prior to any licence being issued a vehicle compliance certificate must be 

issued by the Council. Where the vehicle is unable to be tested at a Council 
test centre, alternative testing arrangement must be made by the applicant.  
All costs associated with obtaining the relevant approvals or tests must be 
met by the vehicle proprietor. 
 

16.22 When imported into this country the importer must produce a declaration 
from the testing authority (DVSA) that the vehicle will never carry more 
than eight passengers. 
 

16.23 Exemptions - Section 75(3) Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 allows local authorities to grant exemptions to private 
hire vehicles from displaying licence plates and other prescribed livery. 
 

16.24 The Council has decided that for the purpose of this policy, they consider 
the use of a higher standard and more luxurious vehicle used exclusively 
for the purposes of carrying passengers under a written contract (the 
duration of which must be not less than 60 days) to be the minimum 
standard for an application not to display a licence plate and other 
identification livery to be considered.   
 

16.25 The Council will not exercise its discretion in granting this exemption for 
any vehicle which is to be used for any other purpose than as described 
above.  
 

16.26 The booking of a vehicle regardless of its “standard” for the purposes of 
carrying passengers to special events, airport services, celebrations or 
nights out not under a written contract (the duration of which must be not 
less than 60 days) is considered to be routine private hire work and will not 
satisfy the criteria for consideration of the exemption, for the avoidance of 
doubt contracts issued by: the NHS, Durham County Council passenger 
transport team will not satisfy the criteria for exemption.  
 

16.27 If the owner of a vehicle wishes to ask the Council to exercise its 
discretion to exempt the vehicle from displaying a licence plate and other 

Page 192



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 17 

identification livery they must apply to the Council in writing, providing 
evidence to support the application.  
 

16.28 Applicants for an exemption from displaying licence plates and other livery 
may also apply to be exempt from the Councils colour policy.  
 

16.29 Applications for exemptions will be determined by the duly authorised 
officer in consultation with the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Licensing 
Committee. 
 

16.30 An exemption from displaying a plate and other identification livery is a 
privilege rather than a right and the benefit of the exemption will be 
granted at the Councils discretion.   
 
The Council has the power to withdraw the exemption if the related 
conditions are not complied. Council Officers will periodically check 
booking records to ensure compliance with the policy.  
 

16.31 Stretched Limousines - “Stretched Limousines” Imported Stretched 
Limousines are normally checked for compliance with British regulations 
under the Single Vehicle Approval (SVA) inspection regime, before they are 
registered. The Authority will request sight of the SVA certificate to ensure 
that the vehicle was tested by DVSA before being registered and licensed 
(taxed) by DVLA. The DVLA test verifies that the converted vehicle is built 
to certain safety and environmental standards. Stretched Limousines that 
clearly have more than eight passenger seats will not be licensed as PHV’s 
because they are outside the licensing regime for PHV’s. 

17.0   Vehicle Insurance 

17.1 Proprietors of licensed vehicles must ensure that a valid insurance policy, 
providing the relevant level of cover, is in place throughout the period a 
vehicle is licensed. This insurance policy must be in place before a licence 
can be granted. Where the policy covers a number of licensed vehicles, 
proprietors must also produce the schedule showing the list of insured 
vehicles.  
 

17.2 Hackney carriages must be insured for public hire purposes. Private hire 
vehicles must be insured for private hire purposes. 
 

17.3 Proof of continuous vehicle insurance must be provided, in a clearly 
legible form, to Licensing Services by the vehicle proprietor.  Proof of 
continuous insurance should also be produced upon request by an 
authorised officer of the Council.  Where valid insurance is not provided or 
produced upon request vehicle licences will be suspended.  

Page 193



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 18 

 

18.0 Transfer of Interest  
18.1 The proprietor shall notify the Council on the appropriate form within 14 

days from change of ownership, giving the name and address of the new 
proprietor, if the interest or part interest in the vehicle is transferred to 
another person not currently named on the licence.  

 
18.2 If the interest is transferred to a person currently named on the licence the 

Council should be advised to remove the outgoing proprietor.  
 

18.3 The new proprietor shall complete the appropriate application form and will 
be requested to provide the following documents to the Council:  

 
a) Vehicle registration document (V5C) in new proprietor’s name. If this 

has not yet been received then, once the application has been 
submitted, 28 days will be given in order to produce the appropriate 
V5C document.  

b) Valid certificate of motor insurance.  
c) Details of the operator of the vehicle (private hire only)  

 
19.0 Changes to ‘Person Concerned’ with the Keeping, Employing and 

Letting of Vehicles  
19.1 Vehicle proprietors shall notify the Council on the appropriate form within 
 72 hours, if there is a change to the person who is named on the licence 
 as being concerned with the keeping, employing and letting of the vehicle. 

20.0   Drivers 

20.1 Only on receipt of a complete application can the Council issue a hackney 
carriage or private hire driver’s licence to an applicant, provided they meet 
the criteria for new drivers as outlined in this policy and are fit and proper 
persons.  
 

20.2 In determining whether a driver is fit and proper the Council will consider 
various criteria, which will include such things as: the applicant’s relevant 
skills, knowledge, experience, qualifications, medical fitness, criminal 
record and any previous history as a licence holder in accordance with 
Appendix 1 and Appendix 2. 

 
20.3 Drivers who are intending to operate wheelchair accessible vehicles 

should complete a course which should provide instruction to drivers on 
the correct procedures for clamping and restraining a wheelchair and other 
relevant aspects of carrying passengers with a disability. The cost of the 
training will be met by the applicant.  
 

20.4 The Council expects all drivers to behave in a civil and professional 
manner. They should be polite, helpful and respectful to members of the 

Page 194



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 19 

public, the Police, Council employees, other public officials and other 
licensed drivers, this includes on social media platforms. Failure to do so 
may result in a referral to the Council’s Licensing Committee. 
 

20.5 Whilst using any licensed vehicle drivers must not engage in any sexual 
activity with or without their passengers, make inappropriate physical 
contact or make inappropriate comments of a sexual nature. 
 

20.6 The Council will not normally determine a new driver application where 
there are any outstanding legal proceedings until such proceedings are 
disposed of, this includes ongoing investigations, pending cases and 
appeals. The Council will endeavour to refer any application where there 
are any outstanding legal proceedings to the next available licensing 
committee.  
 

20.7 Following an appearance at committee, a direction will be made in any 
notice of decision as to any future referral to the licensing committee 
following the outcome of any legal hearing this is to include occasions 
where an individual is completely exonerated or charges being 
unsubstantiated. 
 

20.8 In view of a significant number of drivers with cautions and/or convictions 
for drug related offences, the Council may require drug tests on drivers on 
both an intelligence led and random sample basis. (See Appendix 2) 
 

20.9 If a driver wants to carry out home to school contract work on behalf of the 
Council, they should contact the Council’s Sustainable Transport 
Department via email at IPTMonitoring@durham.gov.uk 
 

21.0   Private Hire Operators 

21.1 Only on receipt of a complete application, can the Council issue a private 
hire operator’s licence to an applicant, provided they meet the criteria 
outlined in this policy. 
 

21.2 In determining whether an applicant is a fit and proper person, the Council 
will consider the applicant’s criminal record and any previous history as a 
licence holder in accordance with Appendix 2 and Appendix 5. 

 
21.3 A private hire operator licence will only be granted to an address within the 

area administered by Durham County Council. 

Page 195

mailto:IPTMonitoring@durham.gov.uk


Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 20 

22.0   Licence Fees 

22.1 The Council will set fees for licences at a level that will recover the costs 
recoverable under statute, incurred by the Council for issue, 
administration, control and supervision of that type of licence. 
 

22.2 Where refunds are due to any licence holder or applicant, they will be 
calculated on a pro rata basis and an administration charge deducted. 

23.0   Hackney Carriage Fares Policy 

23.1 When setting hackney carriage fares the Council will have regard to: 
 

a) The needs of the travelling public and what it is reasonable to expect 
people to pay 

b) The need to give the trade enough incentive to provide a service at the 
times when it is demanded 
 

23.2 Once a table of fares has been approved by the Council, any request for a 
review of that table of fares would not normally be considered for a period 
of at least 12 months. 
 

23.3 The Council supports the practice of drivers of licensed vehicles 
requesting advance payment of fares; this does not remove any 
requirement for the taximeter to be used on such occasions.  

24.0   Review 

24.1 This policy will be reviewed every five years. However, the Council will 
make such revisions as it considers appropriate and publish it accordingly. 
 

24.2 The Council from time to time will prepare and review procedures covering 
aspects of hackney carriage and private hire licensing including both 
enforcement and administration processes. 
 

25.0 Contact Us 
25.1    Licensing Services can be contacted via e-mail at the following e-mail    
           addresses:   

 For Licensing Administration please use Licensing@durham.gov.uk 

 For Licensing Enforcement please use 
Licensingenforcement@durham.gov.uk  

 
 
 

Page 196

mailto:Licensing@durham.gov.uk
mailto:Licensingenforcement@durham.gov.uk


Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 21 

 
 

Page Intentionally Blank 

Page 197



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 22 

 

Appendices 

Page 198



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 23 

Page Intentionally Blank 
 

Page 199



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 24 

Appendix 1: Drivers 
 

An application for a driver licence must be made on the specified form. 
 
Drivers’ licences will only be granted subject to proof of eligibility and all other 
application criteria being met. 
 
Drivers’ licences will only be renewed subject to all application criteria being met 
and consideration of the applicants continuing suitability. 
 
A licence, when granted, will be valid for a period up to three years, (or less as 
the Council may decide is necessary in certain circumstances).   
 
When a driver licence is granted the licence holder will be issued with two 
identification cards (badges). These must both be displayed when the driver is 
available for hire or carrying passengers. One “badge” must be worn on the body 
of the driver the other being displayed in a prominent place in the vehicle where it 
can be easily seen by any passenger.  

1. Eligibility 

The Council will, in considering whether an applicant is a fit and proper person to 
hold a driver licence require the applicant to meet the criteria set out below. 
 
a) Qualification 

The applicant will be required to provide proof that they have held a full UK 
drivers licence, or equivalent, for a period of not less than 12 months prior to 
the application being submitted. A full DVLA driving licence showing the 
applicants current address must be produced. 

  
b) Driving Assessment  

The applicant will be required to provide evidence that they have passed a 
suitable and satisfactory driver assessment test designed to assess the 
driving competency of hackney carriage and private hire drivers. The 
Council holds a list of approved driving assessment providers which have 
been subject to Council vetting and approval.  
 
The suitability and satisfactory nature of taxi driver assessment tests and of 
assessment providers shall be determined by the Council in accordance with 
current guidance issued by DCC. Approval of assessment providers shall 
also be subject to any current guidance that may be issued by DCC.  
 

c) Driver Knowledge and Locality Tests 
Applicants for both private hire and hackney carriage driver licences will be 
required to undertake both the Council’s knowledge and locality tests. 
Applicants will be required to demonstrate basic oral and written English 
language skills in order to pass these tests. The knowledge test will also 

Page 200



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 25 

include a section on basic numeracy. Testing will be carried out in 
accordance with guidance issued by the council and may be reviewed from 
time to time. All applicants claiming dyslexia, or any form of learning difficulty 
will be required to provide medical proof of the condition e.g. screening 
results, to enable extra forms of help or assistance to be afforded.  
 

d) Medical Fitness 
Under Section 57 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 the Council may require an applicant for a driver’s licence to produce a 
certificate signed by a registered medical practitioner to the effect that they 
are physically and mentally fit to be the driver of a hackney carriage or 
private hire vehicle.  
 
The Council requires a medical certificate upon an initial application for a 
driver’s licence. In addition, or in place of such a certificate the Council may 
require an applicant to submit to examination by a registered medical 
practitioner selected by the Council as to their fitness to be a driver of a 
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle.  
 
In line with Department of Transport guidelines, the Council applies the 
DVLA Group 2 driver standards for the medical fitness of hackney carriage 
and private hire drivers. This is a higher medical standard than that required 
of drivers of other motor vehicles and is required due to the length of time 
the driver may spend at the wheel and the responsibility they have for the 
safety of their passengers and the public.  
 
Upon an initial application for a driver’s licence the applicant shall produce a 
completed medical examination report provided by the Council. This report 
must be completed by the applicant’s own G.P. or a medical practitioner 
with access to the applicant’s full medical history. The applicant is 
responsible for paying the fee for the examination. If the Council requires 
any further information in respect of any matter identified in the medical 
report the Council may either contact the G.P. direct or request the applicant 
to obtain the information.  
 
During the initial application process the medical examination report will be 
deemed valid for a period of 6 months after which, if the application process 
is still ongoing, either a new medical form or a letter from the G.P. who 
carried out the original medical assessment, confirming that there has been 
no change in the medical fitness of the applicant, will be required.  
 
The medical practitioner must confirm that:  
• They have examined the applicant 
• The applicant is registered with the practice and/or they have full access to 
the applicant’s full medical records 
• The medical examination was carried out to the DVLA’s Group 2 standard  

Page 201



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 26 

• They consider the applicant meets Group 2 standard and to be fit to act as 
the driver of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
  
Existing licensees aged 45 years and over must provide a medical 
examination report as evidence of their medical fitness to hold a licence 
every five years and from the age of 65 years, annually.  
 
If a driver has any change in their medical condition or a medical condition 
that requires notification to the DVLA e.g. sleep apnoea, heart attack, stroke 
etc. they shall also be required to notify the Council as soon as possible and 
confirm in writing within 7 days.  
 
In addition to the above requirements, where a driver suffers from a 
condition that requires monitoring but which would not prevent them from 
driving, they are required to provide written confirmation from their G.P. or 
consultant at intervals, as recommended by the DVLA standards, that they 
continue to meet Group 2 standards and remain fit to carry out the duties of 
a licensed driver.  
 
Applicants with insulin treated diabetes may be licensed but will be required 
to meet the criteria contained in the medical fitness to drive guidelines and if 
a licence is granted will then be subject to the submission of an annual 
medical report from a consultant specialising in treating diabetes.  
 
If the Council is not satisfied as to the medical fitness of a new applicant, a 
hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence will not be granted.  
 
If the Council is not satisfied as to the medical fitness of an existing licensed 
hackney carriage or private hire driver, there may be reasonable cause to 
suspend, revoke or refuse to renew the licence under Section 61 of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 

e) Safeguarding including CSE Awareness 
Applicants will be required to attend a Safeguarding and Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) awareness training course.   
 
All drivers must undergo Safeguarding awareness training (including Child 
Sexual Exploitation awareness) before being licensed. We consider that this 
training is so important that all drivers should undergo refresher training 
periodically, at least every 3 years. These programmes have been 
developed to help drivers to:  

 

 provide a safe and suitable service to vulnerable passengers of all ages 

 recognise what makes a person vulnerable; and 

 understand how to respond, including how to report safeguarding 
concerns and where to get advice. 

 

Page 202



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 27 

f) Suitability 
The Council must be satisfied that an applicant is a fit and proper person to 
hold a driver licence. Applicants must undergo a Driver Vehicle Licensing 
Agency (DVLA) check and an enhanced Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) 
check which will check both adult and child barred lists. Applicants will also 
be required to subscribe to the DBS update service and ensure continuity.   
 
Applicants from outside the United Kingdom must obtain a certificate of good 
conduct/character from the relevant Embassy or Consulate.   
 
The Council requires all applicants who have resided in the country for less 
than five years to obtain a DBS or equivalent and a Certificate of Good 
Conduct / Character from their relevant Embassy or Consulate which must 
be authenticated, translated and sealed by the Embassy or Consulate. Any 
expenses incurred must be met by the applicant.  
 
Additional information will be considered as appropriate. For example, all 
applications will be subject to a right-to-work check under the Immigration 
Act 2016. 

 
g)    National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3) 

The Licensing Authority provides information to the National Register of Taxi       
Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3), a mechanism for Licensing 
Authorities to share details of individuals who have had a hackney carriage 
or private hire driver licence revoked, or an application for one refused. This 
is a requirement for assessing whether an individual is a fit and proper 
person to hold a hackney carriage or private hire driver licence.  
 
Therefore:  
•Where a hackney carriage/ PHV Driver licence is revoked, or an application 
for one refused, the authority will automatically record this decision on NR3.  
 
•All applications for a new driver licence or licence renewal will automatically 
be checked on NR3. If a search of NR3 indicates a match with an applicant, 
the authority will seek further information about the entry on the register from 
the authority which recorded it. Any information received as a result of an 
NR3 search will only be used in respect of the specific license application 
and will not be retained beyond the determination of that application. 

2. Continuing Suitability / Renewal Process 

The ongoing suitability of a licence holder will be monitored.  In addition, the 
following specific checks will be carried out upon renewal, or at any other time 
deemed necessary by the Council: 
 
a) DVLA check 

Page 203



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 28 

b) DBS update service (if a driver is no longer subscribed to the DBS update 
service at the time of making an application for renewal, they will be required 
to apply for a new DBS certificate and subscribe to the update service prior 
to a renewal application being processed and a licence granted) 

c) Notification of Convictions/Cautions/Arrest/Ongoing or Pending prosecutions 
or investigations etc. This is to include motoring fixed penalties and 
antisocial behavior notices and attendance of any speed awareness courses  

d) Licence holders shall be required to notify the Licensing Authority by e-mail 
within 48 hours of an arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual 
offence, any offence involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring 
offence. An arrest for any of the offences within this scope will result in a 
review by the Licensing Authority as to whether the licence holder is fit to 
continue to do so 

e) Checks carried out as a result of information or intelligence received by 
Licensing Services. 

f) Periodic medical examination 
g) CSE awareness training  
h) Right-to-work / immigration checks  
i) Check of the National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations 

(NR3) 
j) Requirement to undertake a driver improvement scheme 

 
 

NB Under no circumstances will a licence be issued until such time as all 
required checks are completed and supporting paperwork produced to licensing 
staff. All costs associated with medical checks and certification to be met by the 
applicant or licence holder. 
 
At each renewal the DVLA driving licence photographic card must be produced, 
this must be valid and must bear the correct address for the applicant; failure to 
produce this will result in the application not being processed. 
 
Licence holders will normally receive notification in advance of the expiry of their 
licence and can apply using the online form via the Council’s website. Although, a 
reminder may be sent as a matter of courtesy, it is the licence holder’s sole 
responsibility to ensure their renewal application is received prior to the expiry 
date of the licence. 
 
To avoid any delays, Applicants are encouraged to apply to renew their 
licence at least 10 working days prior to the expiry.  
 
Late renewal applications - This policy clearly outlines what is required for a 
renewal application for each type of licence, and at what point the application will 
be accepted. This includes specific information, e.g. DBS certificates, medicals, 
immigration documents etc. This aims to reduce any possibility of disputes over 
whether a valid renewal application has been made. 
 

Page 204



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 29 

This policy covers the question of late renewal applications. In R (on the 
application of Exeter City Council) v Sandle [2011] LLR 480 Admin Crt.  It was 
accepted that an application to renew a vehicle licence could still be made after 
the licence had expired, provided two criteria were met. 
 
Firstly, the application had to be made within a short time of expiry (the judge 
mentioned two or three days before it should not be accepted); and secondly, 
there must also be a good reason for the delay in applying before expiry. The 
judge also made the point that any condition on the licence (which should derive 
from the council’s policy) would be significant. Collins J stated: 
 
But I must make it clear that if it is apparent from the conditions that the 
application has to be made within the period the licence is in force, it will take 
very strong case and very exceptional circumstances for an applicant who fails to 
make his application for renewal in time to be able to justify a claim that the 
council ought in the circumstances to have granted his licence. Such exceptional 
circumstances can exist and as I say it would be sensible for a council to give two 
or three days at least before taking the step of deciding to grant it [in this case a 
hackney carriage proprietor’s licence] to someone else. 
 
It is the policy of Durham County Council that we will accept a late renewal 
application made within 3 working days of the expiry date. Any application 
received after that period will not be processed unless the applicant can provide 
exceptional circumstances and good reasons for the delay. These will be 
considered by officers with management responsibility for the Licensing Service. 
 
Important – when a driver licence has expired, until or unless a new licence 
has been granted, you must not drive a licensed vehicle.  
 

3. Voluntary return of licence (surrender of licence) 
 
The introduction of the National Register (NR3) has brought into sharp focus the 
need to resolve any outstanding issues prior to the acceptance of any 
surrendered licence.  If there are any matters which bring into question whether a 
driver is fit and proper to hold a licence, then the Council may exercise its 
discretion in refusing to accept a surrender of the licence. Such matters could 
include for example, alleged misconduct, ongoing criminal investigations and 
complaints etc. This list is not exhaustive. 

4. Standard Conditions of a Private Hire Driver Licence 

The licensed driver shall: 
 

a) Notify the Council as soon as possible, and confirm in writing within seven 
days, of any alteration to their circumstances or material particulars 
including but not limited to: 

(i) Change of address 

Page 205



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 30 

(ii) Change of name 
(iii) Change of office from which they operate private hire operator  
(iv) Accepting a fixed penalty notice or caution, or receiving a 

Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO), attendance at any speed 
awareness course 

(v) Injury sustained or illness including mental health illness that may 
alter their medical status in line with DVLA Group II standards or 
affect their driving ability 

(vi) Details of any motoring fixed penalty endorsements received 
 

b) Notify the Council within 48 hours of being arrested/bailed/charged 
with/convicted of, reported for an offence or otherwise investigated in 
connection with any criminal or motoring offence 

c) Notify the Council as soon as possible, and confirm in writing within 72 
hours, of any traffic accident they are involved in whilst driving a licensed 
vehicle. 

d) Apply for and provide a DBS disclosure upon request. 
e) Provide a copy of their DVLA driving licence or equivalent upon reasonable 

request. 
f) Produce a valid medical certificate, upon request (Failure to do so will result 

in the licence being suspended) 
g) When requested attend a medical practitioner and/or submit to any drug 

test deemed appropriate 
h) Always behave in a professional manner when working. 
i) Keep their vehicles always clean and suitable for use by members of the 

public. 
j) Where appropriate necessary, assist passengers into and out of vehicles. 
k) Offer passengers reasonable assistance with luggage. 
l) Bring to the attention of passengers any dangers associated with egress 

from the vehicle 
m) Ensure that the way they carry out their business is such that no 

unreasonable disturbance is caused to other road users, businesses and 
residents.   

n) To behave in a civil and professional manner. They should be polite, helpful 
and respectful to members of the public, the Police, Council employees, 
other public officials and other licensed drivers, this includes on social 
media platforms. Failure to do so may result in a referral to the Council’s 
Licensing Committee. 

o) Not tamper with, or permit any person to tamper with, any taximeter or its 
fittings. 

p) Display the identification badges issued to them in the manner prescribed 
within this policy.   

q) Report the loss of their private hire driver identification badge to the Council 
immediately. 

r) Ensure that they charge passengers only the fare previously agreed 
between the operator and passenger, if a taximeter is used only the fare 

Page 206



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 31 

displayed on the taxi meter at the end of the journey can be charged, unless 
a lower fare is previously agreed with the passenger. 

s) Provide a receipt to a passenger upon request, the receipt shall include: 
 

(i) The fare 
(ii) Pick up location 
(iii) Destination 
(iv) Operator Name 
(v) Driver/Vehicle number 
(vi) Date 
(vii) Time 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 207



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 32 

 
 

Appendix 2: Determination of Suitability of Applicant and 
Licence Holders for Vehicle, Driver and Operator Licences  

Guidelines on the relevance of arrest, conviction, caution or any 

other relevant information including complaints and intelligence 

Licence holders and applicants for driver, vehicle and operator licences are 
required to disclose all convictions, fixed penalty notices and cautions, including 
those that would in other circumstances be regarded as spent under the 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, subject to Schedule 2 of the Rehabilitation 
of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 as amended. This order creates 
categories of ‘protected cautions’ and ‘protected convictions’, which applicants 
and licencees must be treated as not having committed, or been charged with, or 
prosecuted for, or convicted of, or sentenced for, even though ‘spent’ cautions 
and convictions may be taken into account. 
 
Licence holders and applicants must also disclose details of any ongoing 
investigations and any pending prosecutions. This includes being reported for an 
offence, any arrest and subsequent bail where charges have not been laid. 
 
The disclosure of a criminal record or other information will normally prevent an 
applicant from obtaining a licence until such time, in accordance with the 
following paragraphs, has elapsed since the conviction. 
 
In making its decision the Council will consider the relevance of any offence, the 
seriousness of the offence, the length of time since the offence occurred and any 
pattern of offending behaviour or other complaints. 
 
The following test will be used to consider whether an operator is deemed to be 
fit and proper: 
 
“Would I be comfortable providing sensitive information such as holiday plans, 
movements of my family or other information to this person, and feel safe in the 
knowledge that such information will not be used or passed on for criminal or 
unacceptable purposes” 
 
The following test will be used to consider whether a vehicle proprietor is deemed 
to be fit and proper: 
 
“Would I be comfortable allowing this person to have control of a licensed vehicle 
that can travel anywhere, at any time of the day or night without arousing 
suspicion, and be satisfied that he/she would not allow it to be used for criminal 
or other unacceptable purposes, and be confident that he/she would maintain it 
to an acceptable standard throughout the period of the licence?” 
 

Page 208



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 33 

 
Licensing authorities have to make difficult decisions, but the safeguarding of the 
public is paramount. All decisions on the suitability of an applicant or licensee 
should be made on the balance of probability. This means that an applicant or 
licensee should not be ‘given the benefit of doubt’. If the committee or delegated 
officer is only “50/50” as to whether the applicant or licensee is ‘fit and proper’, 
they should not hold a licence. The threshold used here is lower than for a 
criminal conviction (that being beyond reasonable doubt) and can take into 
consideration conduct that has not resulted in a criminal conviction. 
 
The Council considers all offences to be relevant offences (subject to the above 
Exemptions Order) when considering the suitability of a person to hold or retain a 
licence. 
 
The following types of offence will be viewed as serious (in no order of priority): 
 

a) Dishonesty  
b) Violence (including Criminal Damage & Sexual Offences) 
c) Alcohol Related Offences 
d) Public Order Offences 
e) Motoring Offences 
f) Possession of or Possession with the Intent to Supply controlled 

substances 
g) Obscenity (which includes the possession, making or distribution of 

unlawful obscene images / materials on computer or the internet) 
h) Racially or Religiously aggravated offences 
i) Offences of a discriminatory nature 
j) Offences involving Indecency or other offences of a Sexual Nature 
k) Contravention of Licensing Laws or Conditions 
l) Disqualification from driving a motor vehicle at any time in the three years 

prior to applying for a licence  
m) Offences involving animal cruelty 
n) Criminal Behaviour Orders 
o) Offences subject to the Equality Act 2010 
p) Inclusion on any of the barred lists  

 

Applications for Vehicle, Driver and Operator Licences following 
a conviction / caution and the ongoing suitability of Licence 
Holders 
 

If an applicant has been convicted of a criminal or motoring offence within the 
time periods specified below the Council will normally refuse an application. 
These offences will also be used to consider the ongoing suitability of existing 
licence holders. In the following list the term ‘applicant’ and ‘application’ refers to 
both new applicants for a licence and to existing licences and licence holders. 
 
 

Page 209



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 34 

 
Motoring offences 
 
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with 
the responsibility of carrying the public. It is accepted that offences can be 
committed unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence 
would not prohibit the granting of a licence. However, applicants with multiple 
motoring convictions may indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the 
behaviours of a safe road user and one that is suitable to drive professionally.  
 
Minor traffic offences or vehicle related offence 
 
This is an offence which does not involve loss of life, driving under the influence 
of drink or drugs, driving whilst using a mobile phone and has not resulted in 
injury to any person or damage to any property including vehicles.  
 
Where an applicant has 7 or more points on their DVLA driving licence for minor 
traffic or similar offences, a licence will not be granted until at least five years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
Where an applicant has 6 points on their DVLA driving licence for minor traffic or 
similar offences, they will be required to undertake a driver improvement scheme 
at their own expense. The Licensing Authority hold a list of current providers of 
the driving improvement scheme. 
 
Major traffic offence or vehicle related offence 
 
This is one which is not covered above and any offence which resulted in injury 
to any person or damage to any property including vehicles. It also involves 
driving without insurance or any offence connected with motor insurance.  
 
All major traffic offences (unless specified below) - a licence will not be 
granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the conviction or 
completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 
 
Using a mobile phone while driving a motor vehicle - a licence will not be 
granted until at least five years have elapsed since the conviction or completion 
of any sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 
 
Drink driving / driving under the influence of drugs - a licence will not be 
granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence or driving ban imposed. In the case of driving under the influence of 
drugs, any applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing at their own 
expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs.  
 
 
 

Page 210



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 35 

 
Crimes / motoring offences resulting in death  
 
Where an applicant has been convicted of a crime which resulted in the death of 
another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury of another 
person they will not be licensed.  
 

Exploitation  
 
Where an applicant has been convicted of a crime involving, related to, or has 
any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another individual 
irrespective of whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they will not 
be licensed. This includes slavery, child sexual abuse, exploitation, grooming, 
psychological, emotional or financial abuse, but this is not an exhaustive list.  
 
Offences involving violence against the person  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence against the 
person, or connected with any offence of violence, a licence will not be granted 
until at least 10 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed.  
 
Possession of a weapon  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other 
weapon related offence, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.  
 
Sexual offences  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with 
illegal sexual activity, a licence will not be granted.  
 
In addition to the above, the Licensing Authority will not grant a licence to any 
applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any barred list.  
 
Dishonesty  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence where dishonesty is an 
element of the offence including: 
 

a) Theft 
b) Burglary 
c) Fraud 
d) Benefit fraud (including offences under ss.111A and 112 of the Social 

Security Administration Act 1992) 
e) Handling or receiving stolen goods 

Page 211



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 36 

f) Forgery 
g) Conspiracy to defraud 
h) Obtaining money or property by deception 
i) Other deception 
j) Failing to declare convictions etc. on application 
k) Failure to notify the Licensing Authority of a revocation or refusal by another 

Licensing Authority  
l) Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 

 
A failure by a licence holder to disclose an arrest that the Licensing Authority is 
subsequently advised of might be behaviour that questions honesty and therefore 
the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the outcome of the initial 
allegation. 
 
A licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 
  
Drugs  
 
Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or 
possession with intent to supply or connected with possession with intent to 
supply, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed.  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the 
possession of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. In these circumstances, 
any applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing for a period at their own 
expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs.  
 
Discrimination  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in 
any form, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed.  
 
Hackney carriage and private hire offences 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence concerned with or connected 
to hackney carriage or private hire activity (excluding vehicle use), a licence will 
not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of 
any sentence imposed. 
 
Vehicle use offences 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence which involved the use of a 
vehicle (including hackney carriage or private hire vehicles), a licence will not be 

Page 212



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 37 

granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence imposed. 
 
Note for our Legal Colleagues – Can you explain the difference between the 2 
points highlighted above? This comes from the IOL Guidance. Also, about 3.14 
and 3.15 of the National Standards relating to existing licensed drivers  
 
Minor traffic offences  
 
Where two or more convictions for the following offences within any one year 
period are disclosed an application will normally be refused / revoked until one 
year from the date of the most recent conviction has elapsed.  
 
Minor traffic offences would include: 
 
MS10  Leaving a vehicle in a dangerous position  
MS20  Unlawful pillion riding  
MS30  Play street offences  
MS60  Offences not covered by other codes 
MS70  Driving with uncorrected defective eyesight  
MS80  Refusing to submit to an eyesight test 
MS90  Failure to give information as to identity of driver etc.  
  
MW10  Contravention of Special Road Regulations (excluding speed limits)  
  
PC10  Undefined contravention of pedestrian crossing regulations 
PC20  Contravention of pedestrian crossing regulations with moving vehicle 
PC30  Contravention of pedestrian crossing regulations with stationary 

vehicle 
  
SP10  Exceeding goods vehicle speed limits 
SP20  Exceeding speed limit for type of vehicle (excluding goods or 

passenger vehicles)  
SP30  Exceeding statutory speed limit on a public road 
SP40  Exceeding passenger vehicle speed limit 
SP50  Exceeding speed limit on a motorway 
  
TS10  Failing to comply with traffic light signals  
TS20  Failing to comply with double white lines  
TS30  Failing to comply with a Stop sign  
TS40  Failing to comply with direction of a constable or traffic warden  
TS50  Failing to comply with traffic sign (excluding Stop sign, traffic lights or 

double white lines)  
TS60  Failing to comply with school crossing patrol sign  
TS70  Undefined failure to comply with a traffic direction sign 
 

 

Page 213



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 38 

 Aiding, abetting, counseling or procuring any of the above offences 

 Inciting any of the above offences 

 Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 
 
Major traffic offences 
Where a conviction for one or more of the following offences is disclosed, an 
application will normally be refused / revoked until two years from the date of the 
most recent conviction has elapsed. 
 
In cases resulting in a period of disqualification an application will be refused 
unless three years from the date of the most recent conviction has elapsed. 
 
Major traffic offences would include: 
 
AC10 Failing to stop after an accident  
AC20 Failing to give particulars or to report an accident within 24 hours 
AC30 Undefined accident offences 
  
BA10 Driving while disqualified by order of Court  
BA30  Attempting to drive while disqualified by order of Court  
  
CD10  Driving without due care and attention  
CD20  Driving without reasonable consideration for other road users  
CD30  Driving without due care and attention or without reasonable 

consideration for other road users  
  
CU10  Using a vehicle with defective brakes 
CU20  Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of use of unsuitable vehicle 

or using a vehicle with parts or accessories (excluding brakes, steering 
or tyres) in a dangerous condition 

CU30  Using a vehicle with defective tyre(s) 
CU40  Using a vehicle with defective steering 
CU50  Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of load or passengers 

 
  
DD10  Causing serious injury by dangerous driving 
DD40  Dangerous driving 
DD60  Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving a vehicle 
DD90  Furious driving 
  
DR10  Driving or attempting to drive with alcohol level above limit  
DR20  Driving or attempting to drive while unfit through drink 
DR30  Driving or attempting to drive then failing to supply a specimen for 

analysis  
DR31  Driving or attempting to drive then refusing to give permission for 

analysis of a blood sample that was taken without consent due to 
incapacity 

Page 214



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 39 

DR40  In charge of a vehicle while alcohol level above limit  
DR50 In charge of a vehicle while unfit through drink 

DR60  Failure to provide a specimen for analysis in circumstances other than 
driving or attempting to drive  

DR61  Refusing to give permission for analysis of a blood sample that was 
taken without consent due to incapacity in circumstances other than 
driving or attempting to drive 

DR70  Failing to provide specimen for breath test  
DR80  Driving or attempting to drive while unfit through drugs 
DR90  In charge of a vehicle when unfit through drugs  
  
IN10  Using a vehicle uninsured against third party risks  
  
LC20  Driving otherwise than in accordance with a licence 
LC30  Driving after making a false declaration about fitness when applying for 

a licence  
LC40  Driving a vehicle having failed to notify a disability  
LC50  Driving after a licence has been revoked or refused on medical grounds  
  
MS50  Motor racing on the highway  
  
TT99  To signify disqualification under totting-up procedure. If the total of 

penalty points reached 12 or more within 3 years, the driver is liable to 
be disqualified 

  
UT50  Aggravated taking of a vehicle  
 

 Aiding, abetting, counseling or procuring any of the above offences 

 Causing or permitting any of the above offences 

 Inciting any of the above offences 

 Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences  
 
An application will normally be refused / revoked following a conviction for: 
 
CD40  Causing death through careless driving when unfit through drink 
CD50  Causing death through careless driving when unfit through drugs 
CD60  Causing death by careless driving with alcohol level above the limit 
CD70  Causing death by careless driving then failing to supply a specimen for 

analysis  
CD80  Causing death by careless, or inconsiderate driving 
CD90  Causing death by driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers 

 
DD80  Causing death by dangerous driving  

 
Town Police Clauses Act 1847, Part Two of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 & Criminal Justice & Public Order Act 
1994 

Page 215



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 40 

An application will normally be refused / revoked where: 
 

a) Less than one year has elapsed where there is one conviction 
b) Less than two years have elapsed since the date of the most recent 

conviction where there is more than one conviction 
c) Less than five years has elapsed since a licence has been refused or 

revoked by any Council 
 
Offences under the Equality Act 2010 and other offences of a 
discriminatory nature 

An application will normally be refused / revoked where: 
 

a) Less than one year has elapsed where there is one conviction 
b) Less than two years have elapsed since the date of the most recent 

conviction where there is more than one conviction 
c) Less than five years has elapsed since a licence has been revoked by any 

Council 
 

Offences involving the possession drugs 
An application will normally be refused / revoked where: 
 

a) Less than one year has elapsed since the date of the conviction where 
there is one conviction 

b) Less than three years have elapsed since the date of the most recent 
conviction where there is more than one conviction 
 

Offences involving the possession drugs with the intent to supply 
An application will normally be refused / revoked where: 
 

a) Less than five years has elapsed where there is one conviction 
b) An application will be refused where there is more than one conviction 

 
Indecency and sexual offences 
An application will normally be refused / revoked where: 
 

a) There is a conviction for any sexual or indecency offence, including the 
possession of images.  

 
Soliciting 
An application will be refused / revoked where: 
 

a) Less than one year has elapsed since the date of the conviction where 
there is one conviction 

b) Less than two years have elapsed since the date of the most recent 
conviction where there is more than one conviction 

 

Page 216



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 41 

Where a person declares they are on, or have been, on the sex offenders 
register an application will be refused / revoked. 

 
Violence  
An application will be refused / revoked following a conviction for: 
 

a) Murder 
b) Manslaughter 
c) Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 

 
Other violence offences 
  
An application will normally be refused / revoked where there is an offence for 
arson unless ten years has elapsed since the date of a conviction. for any of the 
following offences: 
 

a) Arson 
b) Malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm (s.20 Offences Against the 

Person Act 1861) which is racially aggravated (s.29(1)(a) Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998) 

c) Actual bodily harm (s.47 Offences Against the Person Act 1861) which is 
racially aggravated (s.29(1)(b) Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

d) Grievous bodily harm with intent (s.18 Offences Against the Person Act) 
e) Grievous bodily harm (s.20 Offences Against the Person Act) 
f) Robbery 
g) Racially aggravated criminal damage (s.30 Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
h) Racially aggravated s.4 Public Order Act 1986 (fear of provocation of 

violence)  
i) Racially aggravated s.4A Public Order Act 1986 (intentional harassment, 

alarm or distress  
j) Racially aggravated s.5 Public Order Act 1986 (harassment, alarm or 

distress)  
k) Racially aggravated s.2 Protection from Harassment Act 1997 (harassment)  
l) Racially aggravated s.2 Protection from Harassment Act 1997 (putting 

people in fear of violence)  
m) Assault on Police 
n) Possession of offensive weapon 
o) Possession of firearm 
p) Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 

 
An application will normally be refused / revoked unless five years has elapsed 
since the date of a conviction for any of the following offences: 
 

a) Assault occasioning actual bodily harm  
b) Racially aggravated common assault  
c) Common assault 
d) Harassment (Protection from Harassment Act 1997) 

Page 217



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 42 

e) Battery 
f) Affray  
g) s.2 Protection from Harassment Act 1997 offence  
h) s.2 Public Order Act 1986 (violent disorder)  
i) s.4 Public Order Act 1986 (fear of provocation of violence)  
j) s.4A Public Order Act 1986 (intentional harassment, alarm or distress)  
k) s.5 Public Order Act 1986 (harassment, alarm or distress)  
l) Riot 
m) Obstruction 
n) Criminal damage 
o) Violent disorder 
p) Resisting arrest 
q) Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 

 
Dishonesty offences 
An application will normally be refused / revoked unless 3 years has elapsed 
since the date of a conviction for any of the following offences: 
 

m) Theft 
n) Burglary 
o) Fraud 
p) Benefit fraud (including offences under ss.111A and 112 of the Social 

Security Administration Act 1992) 
q) Handling or receiving stolen goods 
r) Forgery 
s) Conspiracy to defraud 
t) Obtaining money or property by deception 
u) Other deception 
v) Failing to declare convictions etc. on application 
w) Or similar offences or offences which replace the above offences 

 
Barred lists 
 
In the interests of public safety, Durham County Council’s policy is that we will 
not issue a licence to any individual that appears on either barred list. However, 
should the council consider there to be exceptional circumstances which means 
that, based on the balance of probabilities they consider an individual named on 
a barred list to be ‘fit and proper’, the reasons for reaching this conclusion should 
be recorded. 

1. Other Relevant Factors 

The Council may consider any other matter or matters that may affect whether an 
applicant or licence holder is a fit and proper person, such factors include but are 
not limited to: 
 

a) Convictions/Cautions for any other offence not listed above 

Page 218



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 43 

b) Any diversion scheme offered as an alternative to conviction (i.e. 
“checkpoint” or restorative approach) 

c) Mental Health Act Orders 
d) Inclusion on any register maintained for the purposes of safeguarding the 

public.  
e) Police intelligence/information 
f) Drug/Alcohol use and Detoxification 
g) Terrorist offences and terrorism 
h) Hate crimes 
i) Any offence involving the mistreatment of animals 
j) Other relevant information disclosed 
k) Any complaints or the accumulation of complaints regarding a licence 

holder’s conduct 
l) Surrender of a licence prior to an appearance before the Licensing 

Committee 
m) Matters contrary to the requirements of this policy 

 
Failure to disclose all arrest/bail/convictions, fixed penalty notices, 
cautions, (subject to the Exceptions Order) and/or ongoing investigations, 
being reported for an offence and/or pending prosecutions may affect the 
grant of a licence or may lead to the revocation of a licence. 

Page 219



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 44 

 

Page Intentionally Blank 
 

Page 220



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 45 

Appendix 3: Vehicle Licences 

An application for a vehicle licence must be made on the specified form.   
 
Vehicle licences will only be granted subject to all application criteria being met 
and will be valid for a period of one year. 
 
Licence holders will normally receive notification in advance of the expiry of the 
vehicle licence and can apply using the online form via the Council’s website. 
Although, a reminder may be sent as a matter of courtesy, it is the licence 
holder’s sole responsibility to ensure the renewal application is received prior to 
the expiry date of the licence. 
 
To avoid any delays, applicants are encouraged to apply to renew their 
licence at least 10 working days prior to the expiry. 
 
The following conditions will apply to all vehicles (Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire) licensed by the Council. 

1. Standard Conditions 

1.1. The vehicle shall be right-hand drive and the body must be a fixed head 
type (hard top).  
 

1.2. Notwithstanding condition 1.5 (below) the vehicle will only be licensed to 
carry the number of passengers specified on the V5 registration 
document. 

 
1.3. The design condition or appearance of a licensed vehicle must not be 

changed without first obtaining written consent from the Council any 
changes may require an additional vehicle inspection to be carried out. 

 
1.4. Where the seats are placed facing each other there must be a clear space 

of 38cm subject to a 2cm tolerance between any part of the front of a seat 
and any part of any other seat that faces it.  

 
1.5. Occasional (tip-up) seats must be arranged to rise automatically when not 

in use. 
 
1.6. A fully operational heating and ventilation system must be fitted and 

maintained for the driver and passengers. All vehicle body parts and 
trimmings must be fitted and maintained in good working order both 
internally and externally. 

 
1.7. Journeys must not be commenced using temporary tyres or tyres that 

have been subject to a temporary repair. 

Page 221



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 46 

 
1.8. Reasonable efforts should be made that in the event of mechanical failure 

a passenger’s journey can be completed in a safe and reasonable 
manner in an alternative licensed vehicle. 

 
1.9. The vehicle licence plate must be displayed and securely attached with 

bolts or screws on the outside rear of the vehicle. (attachment by 
adhesive tape and/or magnets is not acceptable). Licence plates must not 
be altered or defaced in any way. The condition of the plate remains the 
responsibility of the licence holder. 

 
The plate remains the property of the Council and must be returned upon 
expiry, surrender or suspension of the vehicle licence. 

 
1.10. The vehicle must prominently display the following: 

 

 internal licence plate / complaint sticker placed on the window of 
each passenger compartment  

 driver I.D.  

 door crests as supplied and required by the Council which shall be 
permanently fixed to the front nearside and offside doors of the 
vehicle in a central position (attachment by magnets is not 
acceptable).  

  No-smoking signs as required by law 

 a sticker to be displayed on the roof of the vehicle detailing the 
licence number – may require further details 
 

1.11. Smoking cigarettes, cigars, pipes etc and the use of electronic cigarettes 
 (vaping) and similar shall be prohibited in all licensed vehicles all the time.  

 
1.12. Advertising may be displayed inside the vehicle and on the rear doors, 

rear panels and boot areas, subject to an application being made by the 
vehicle proprietor and subsequently approved by the Council.  It should 
not obscure the Council signage or vehicle top sign.   

 
1.13. Any material displayed on the vehicle advertising other than self-

promotional information must be approved by the Licensing Manager or 
Licensing Team Leader. Examples of the material advertising and its 
proposed placement must be forwarded to the Licensing Manager and 
Licensing Team Leader for their consideration and approval.  

 
1.14. Self-promotional or other material requiring approval must not be 

displayed on the front doors or in such a manner which may obscure the 
Council signage or vehicle top sign. only be displayed on the rear doors, 
rear panels and boot areas. 

 

Page 222



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 47 

1.15. All vehicles shall undergo an inspection by the Council’s appointed testing 
station(s) six months from grant and as further required, subject to the 
requirements of this policy. See section 16.0 above. 

 
1.16. Vehicle proprietors must inform the Council at the earliest opportunity, and 

in writing within 72 hours, if any licensed vehicle has been involved in an 
accident or sustained damage.   

 
1.17. No fittings, devices or lights may be attached or carried inside or outside 

the vehicle that could injure or harm any passenger or other person either 
inside or outside of the vehicle.  No lights or other fittings shall be 
permitted on the vehicle that would obscure any licence plates or obscure 
the driver’s or passengers’ view out of the vehicle. 

 
1.18. Vehicle proprietors shall notify the Council in writing within seven days of 

any change of address. 
 
1.19. CCTV shall be permitted in vehicles.  Where such devices are fitted within 

the vehicle conditions at Appendix 8 shall apply 
   
1.20. No animals other than those owned by fare paying passengers shall be 

carried in or on any licensed vehicle whilst the vehicle is so engaged 
under the terms of its licence. 

 
1.21. Window tints shall comply with the following: 
 

d) The front windscreen shall allow 75% of light to be transmitted 
through 

e) The front side windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be 
transmitted through them 

f) Other windows shall allow at least 70% of light to be transmitted 
through them.  
 

The Council recognises that vehicles may be manufactured with glass that 
is darker than that specified in the standard vehicle conditions prescribed in 
this policy. Because of the large costs and inconvenience associated with 
changing glass the Council will exercise discretion in the case of vehicles 
manufactured with window tints outside that standard.  

 
1.22.  If carrying a child, the driver MUST ask a responsible adult if they would 

like the child locks activated. The child locks must not be activated in any 
other circumstances 
 
NB Under no circumstances must any passenger be locked in a licensed 
vehicle against their will. 
 

Page 223



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 48 

1.23. The vehicle must carry a suitable fire extinguisher sited in a readily 
accessible place known to the driver.  The appliance shall have a 
minimum content of 1 kilogram, conform to BSEN3 1996 and be of the 
dry powder or foam type, be kept in good condition and be fitted with a 
gauge which indicates the condition of its contents together with an 
unexpired tested until or use before date. Every fire extinguisher must be 
permanently marked with the vehicle’s hackney carriage or private hire 
vehicle licence number. 
 

1.24. The vehicle must carry a “first aid” kit which is suitable to the number of 
persons the vehicle is licensed to carry. Any items contained in the first 
aid kit which are not sealed are deemed to be unsterile and must be 
replaced immediately. The first aid kit must be permanently marked with 
the vehicle’s hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence number. As 
a minimum it should contain: 

 

 A leaflet with general guidance on first aid (for example, HSE’s 
leaflet Basic advice on first aid at work) 

 Individually wrapped sterile plasters of assorted sizes 

 Sterile eye pads 

 Individually wrapped triangular bandages, preferably sterile 

 Safety pins 

 Large and medium-sized sterile, individually wrapped, unmedicated 
wound dressings 

 Disposable gloves  
 

1.25. The vehicle must be able to carry a reasonable amount of luggage which 
must be able to be stored securely. Where a vehicle is fitted with a 
removable parcel shelf it must remain in place when carrying luggage. 
The luggage compartment or any attached roof rack/box must be free 
from the proprietors or driver’s personal property, so it is available to store 
passenger’s luggage. Luggage should be stored securely and not stored 
in such a way as to hinder access to a door. 
 

1.26. There must be at least four doors.  All doors must be capable of being 
opened from the inside. 

 
1.27. The interior of the passenger compartment must be maintained in a clean 

condition and in good repair and where fitted, any parcel shelf shall 
always remain in place. 

 
1.28. The flooring of the passenger compartment must be covered with a non-

slip material. 
 
1.29. If a trailer is to be used a trailer plate, issued by the Council, must be 

displayed on the trailer. 
 

Page 224



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 49 

1.30. If a roof carrier is to be used for luggage or goods it must be of a type 
fitted to the guttering or to the roof rails provided by the manufacturer and 
must not obscure any top sign. 

 
1.31. Before commencing work each day, the driver of the vehicle must take 

reasonable steps to ensure that the vehicle they are driving is roadworthy 
and complies with this policy. This should include checks on lights, tyre 
pressure and tread as a minimum.  

 
1.32.  These checks may be recorded electronically, for example via an app or 

manually using a check book. If the checks are recorded electronically the 
record must be made available upon request. If checks are recorded 
manually, the check book must be carried within the vehicle and be 
readily available for inspection. All records must be dated, signed if 
possible, by the driver and record the mileage at the time the check is 
carried out.  
 

1.33. No licensed vehicle may be used for the unaccompanied carriage or 
delivery of alcohol or any tobacco products. 

 
1.34. The use of temporary screens for safety and infection control 

purposes - where the vehicle is fitted with a screen for the purpose of 
infection control on a temporary basis the following criteria must be met: 
 
o Must not have a solid frame to the screen;  
o Must only be fitted by way of either Velcro or adhesive fastenings, 

which can be removed from the vehicle when the screens are no 
longer permitted  

o Must be fitted in such a way so as not to affect the structural 
integrity of the vehicle, or interfere with any manufacturer fitted 
safety equipment e.g. air bags;  

o Must not wrap around the driver seat and create a partition 
between the two front seats, in addition to the rear cabin area.  

o The film/sheet used MUST be clear and transparent and can ONLY 
be fitted across the rear of both front seats, creating a partition 
between the front and rear cabin area of the vehicle.  

 
1.35 Process to be followed when wishing to fit a Temporary Screen - If 

 any vehicle licence holder wishes to fit a temporary protective screen in 
 their vehicle, they must first:  

o Notify Licensing Services of their intention to fit a protective screen 
by emailing licensing@durham.gov.uk together with;  

o Proof from their insurer that fitting the protective screen will not 
result in their insurer refusing to cover the vehicle and;  

o An agreement to remove the protective screen within a maximum of 
21 days after any social distancing restrictions have been removed  

 

Page 225



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 50 

1.36 The installation of permanent screens – if you wish to install a safety or 
 infection control screen between the driver and passenger compartment of 
 a licensed vehicle, the following criteria must be met:  

 
o Any fittings and equipment must comply with the Road Vehicle 

(Construction and Use) Regulations  
 

o Any screen must be tested to the relevant EU standard for an 
original equipment type approval test covering interior fittings  

 
o The screen must be approved by MIRA or other comparable 

independent product engineering, testing, consultancy and 
certification organisation  

o Screens must be professionally and securely fitted in accordance 
with the manufacturer’s instructions  

 
o Certification from the vehicle’s manufacturer should be sought to 

confirm that the screen does not compromise the integrity of the 
vehicle structure 
 

o Screens should be constructed of Polyethylene terephthalate glycol 
(PETG) or polycarbonate  

 
o The screen should not impede the driver’s vision, movement, or 

communication with passengers  
 

o The screen should not impede driver or passenger access or 
egress to the vehicle  

 
o Your insurer should be notified of any modifications you make to 

your vehicle  
 

 The vehicle licence holder must notify Licensing services via email 
 licensing@durham.gov.uk to confirm any fitting of a screen complies with 
 the information above and provide the certification as requested. 

2. Hackney Carriage Vehicles 

In addition to the standard conditions, the following conditions will apply to 
Hackney Carriage vehicles. 
 
2.1. Only white vehicles will be licensed as Hackney Carriage Vehicles. 

(Vehicles licensed before 1 April 2011 are exempt from this colour 
condition, however such vehicles may only be replaced by white vehicles) 
 

Page 226



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 51 

2.2. An illuminated taximeter must be fitted in a position where it is not 
obstructed by other fixtures or fittings within the vehicle and in a place 
where it is clearly visible to all passengers carried in the vehicle. 

 
2.3. The taximeter shall be securely fitted, maintained in full working order, 

sealed and calibrated by an approved agent within the Council’s approved 
hackney carriage fare scale and shall not be tampered with. (Licensing 
services hold a list of approved agents) 

 
2.4. A current fare table must be displayed in a position that is clearly visible in 

the passenger compartment. 
 
2.5. Display a roof sign. This sign must prominently display the word TAXI 

(minimum font size of 5cm per letter) and must always be illuminated when 
the vehicle is available for hire. It must be used and maintained in 
accordance with the manufacturers design, construction and use 
specifications.  
 

2.6. Display a “for hire” sign in the front passenger side of the windscreen that 
is illuminated when the vehicle is available for hire. Exceptions will be 
made for purpose-built vehicles where the “for hire” sign is fitted as 
standard. 

3. Private Hire Vehicles 

In addition to the standard conditions, the following conditions will apply to 
Private Hire vehicles. 
 
3.1. Private hire vehicles may be any colour other than white or a colour that 

could be mistaken for white, for example cream or ivory. 
 

3.2. Any taximeter fitted in a private hire vehicle must be fitted in a position 
where it is not obstructed by other fixtures or fittings within the vehicle and 
in a place where it is clearly visible to all passengers carried in the vehicle. 

 
3.3. Any taximeter fitted to a private hire vehicle shall be securely fitted, 

maintained in full working order and a table detailing the fares applied 
must be displayed in a position that is clearly visible in the passenger 
compartment.  

 
3.4. The words “taxi”, “cab”, “for hire” or anything that may suggest that the 

vehicle is a Hackney Carriage must not be displayed on any part of any 
private hire vehicle. 

 
3.5. An operator consent form must be completed by the vehicle proprietor and 

operator on grant or renewal of the vehicle licence. An operator consent 

Page 227



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 52 

form must also be completed when there is a change in operator during 
the life of the licence.   

4. Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles  

In addition to the standard conditions and those applying to hackney carriage and 
private hire vehicles, further conditions apply to wheelchair accessible vehicles 
as set out in this section. Where the conditions for wheelchair accessible vehicles 
conflict with the standard conditions; the wheelchair accessible vehicles 
conditions will apply.  
 
4.1. The vehicle must have a designated space to accommodate at least one 

wheelchair user.  This space will be included in the total number of 
persons permitted to be carried. 
 

4.2. Either the rear or a nearside door must be used for wheelchair access.  
The door and doorway must be so constructed as to permit an unrestricted 
opening across the doorway of at least 780mm (30¾”).  The minimum 
angle of the door when opened must be 90 degrees (the minimum angle 
will not be relevant in the case of a sliding door).  

 
4.3. The floor to ceiling height where the disabled passenger will sit must be a 

minimum of 1350mm (54¾”). 
 
4.4. All wheelchairs must be carried facing forwards or rearwards.  Where a 

wheelchair is carried facing the rear of the vehicle, the wheelchair, in 
addition to standard restraints must be positioned such that it is reversed 
against a bulkhead to provide further stability. 

 
4.5. Facilities for the loading of a wheelchair and occupant must always be 

available for use at the nearside or rear passenger doors. This ramp must 
comply with all Equality Act recommendations as to design and 
installation. 

 
4.6. An adequate locating device must be fitted to ensure that the ramp does 

not slip or tilt when in use.  Provision must be made for the ramp to be 
stowed and secured safely when not in use.  The storage of the ramp 
when not in use must not impede access or egress of passengers.  
Ramps must be rigid when in use. There must be a slip resistant surface 
on the ramp with outer edges coloured. 
 

4.7. The gradient of the ramp for an unassisted wheelchair user should be 4.76 
degrees and 10 degrees for assisted wheelchair users. 

 
4.8. Suitable anchorages must be provided for the wheelchair.  Restraints for 

the wheelchair and occupant must be independent of each other.  Belts 

Page 228



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 53 

attached to a wheelchair, in order to assist a person to remain in it whilst 
travelling, will not be acceptable. 

 
4.9. Vehicles must be capable of transporting a folded wheelchair as luggage.  

Anchorages must also be provided for the safe storage of a wheelchair 
when not in use, whether folded or otherwise, if carried within the 
passenger compartment. 

 
4.10. All anchorages and restraints must not cause danger to any passenger. 
 
4.11. The provision of a step for assisted entry is required.  The step must be 

covered with a slip resistant surface.  
 

 

Page 229



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 54 

Appendix 4: Special Vehicle Licence Conditions 

1. Standard Conditions for Special Vehicles 

In addition to the standard conditions, the following extra conditions apply to 
special vehicles. Where the conditions for special vehicles conflict with the 
standard conditions, the conditions for special vehicles will apply  
 
1.1. Forward and rear facing seats must be fitted with a 3-point, inertia reel 

seatbelt. 
 

1.2. Efforts must be in place to ensure that:  in the event of mechanical failure, 
the passenger’s journey can be completed in a safe and reasonable 
manner. 

 
1.3. The Council will require the vehicle to undertake a MOT test twice yearly 

2. Conditions for Stretch Vehicles 

In addition to the standard conditions and conditions for special vehicles, the 
following extra conditions apply to stretch vehicles.  Where the conditions for 
stretch vehicles conflict with the standard conditions or conditions for special 
vehicles, the conditions for stretch vehicles will apply: 
 
2.1. The maximum length of the vehicle “stretch” must not exceed 3048mm.  

Each passenger seating area must be at least 400mm wide with a flat area 
in front of each seat of 300mm x 300mm.  
 

2.2. The vehicle must be equipped with a minimum of four road wheels and one 
full sized spare wheel.  The tyres must be of an approved rating as 
specified by the manufacturer, meet legal requirements and have a 
minimum tread depth of 2mm. 

 
2.3. The vehicle is not used in any contract or provision for carrying school 

children or any unaccompanied children under the age of 18 years (the 
driver may not act as an accompanying adult) 

 
2.4. The Council’s exemption disc will always be displayed on the front 

windscreen. 
 
2.5. The private hire vehicle licence plate must be securely fixed in a visible 

position inside the luggage compartment. 
 

2.6. The vehicle’s Exemption Certificate/Notice must always be carried in the 
vehicle and produced on request to any Police Officer or Authorised Officer 
of the Council. 
 

Page 230



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 55 

3. Licence Conditions for Horse-Drawn Vehicles 

In addition to the standard conditions for special vehicles, extra conditions apply 
to horse-drawn vehicles as set out in this section.  Where the conditions for 
horse-drawn vehicles conflict with the standard conditions, the following extra 
conditions will apply:  

 
3.1. The driver must ensure every part of the harness of the animal or animals 

drawing the carriage is kept in order, so that the animal or animals are 
properly and securely attached to the carriage and under control. 
 

3.2. The driver must not feed or allow any animal harnessed or otherwise 
attached to a carriage to be fed, except with food contained in a proper bag 
or other receptacle  

 
3.3. Proprietors must arrange for animals to be checked at least annually, and at 

any other time at the request of the Council, by an approved veterinary 
surgeon. The licensee shall meet any costs involved.  Where an animal is 
found to be unfit, its use in the operation of a hackney carriage shall be 
discontinued until such time as a certificate of fitness signed by the 
veterinary surgeon is produced to the Council’s authorised officer. 

 
3.4. Proprietors must arrange for testing of the carriage on an annual basis and 

at the request of the Council.   

4. Other Vehicles 

4.1. Consideration may be given to alternative forms of transport being licensed; 
however the Council will expect applications to be accompanied by 
information regarding the safety of the proposed operation, any proposed 
routes and pick up points, times and area of operation, details of the 
vehicle(s) and public liability insurance. 
 

4.2. Vehicles must be fitted with seatbelts that meet BSI standards. 
 

4.3. The Council will undertake consultation with anybody it considers 
appropriate with such an application and may attach such conditions as it 
thinks reasonable and proportionate. These may include conditions not 
applied to conventional hackney carriage or private hire vehicles. 

      

Page 231



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 56 

Appendix 5: Private Hire Operator 
 

An application for a private hire operator licence must be made on the specified 
form. Private hire operator licences will be issued subject to proof of eligibility. 
 
The Council must be satisfied that applicants for private hire operator licences 
are fit and proper to hold a licence.  If the applicant is a limited company, then a 
basic DBS certificate must be provided by each director.  If the applicant is a 
partnership, then a DBS certificate must be submitted by each partner.  If the 
applicant is currently licensed as a driver, they will be exempt from this 
requirement as they are already subject to DBS checks. 
 
The following test will be used to consider whether an operator is deemed to be 
fit and proper: 
 
“Would I be comfortable providing sensitive information such as holiday plans, 
movements of my family or other information to this person, and feel safe in the 
knowledge that such information will not be used or passed on for criminal or 
unacceptable purposes” 
 
A licence will be valid for a period up to five years (or less as the Council may 
decide is necessary in certain circumstances) subject to continuing suitability.  It 
may be renewed following approval of a valid renewal application. 
 
Operators will normally receive notification in advance of the expiry of their 
licence and can apply using the online form via the Council’s website. Although, a 
reminder is sent as a matter of courtesy, it is the operator’s sole responsibility to 
ensure their renewal application is received prior to the expiry date of the licence. 
 
To avoid any delays, applicants are encouraged to apply to renew their 
licence at least 10 working days prior to the expiry. 

1. Standard Conditions 

The operator’s licence will be subject to the following conditions: 
 

1.1. Operators must keep legible, handwritten or electronic records of each 
booking for a period of no less than six months. Records must include: 

 
a) The date and time of the booking and if different the time and date of the 
     proposed journey 
b) The name and address or telephone number of the hirer  
c) The agreed time and place of the proposed pick up 
d) The destination including address or street name 
e) The name and licence number of the driver 
f) The licence number and registration of the vehicle allocated for the 
booking 

Page 232



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 57 

g) Any agreed fare 
h) The name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle 
i) The name of any individual that responded to the booking request 

 
1.2. The operator shall keep legible, hand-written or electronic records of the 

particulars of all private hire vehicles operated by them which shall include: 
 

a) Vehicle make, model and colour 
b) Vehicle registration mark 
c) Number of passenger seats 
d) The vehicle licence number 
e) The company call-sign for the vehicle 
f) The vehicle proprietor’s name and address 
g) Insurance particulars of all vehicles working on behalf of the operator 
h) The date the vehicle was added to the operator’s fleet 
i) The date the vehicle was withdrawn from the operator’s fleet 
j) Name and address of the owner 
k) Name, address and the licence number of drivers of such vehicles 

 
1.3. The operator shall keep legible, hand-written or electronic records of the 

particulars of all drivers employed or otherwise engaged by them which 
shall include: 

 
a) The name and address of the driver and any change of address of a 

driver during their service with the operator 
b) The name, address and company call-sign assigned to the driver 
c) The date the driver commences working for the operator 
d) The date the driver ceases working for the operator 

 
1.4. The operator shall permit an authorised officer of the Council or a Police 

officer access to records required by their licence at all reasonable times. 
 

1.5. The operator shall retain from every licensed driver employed or otherwise 
engaged by them, a copy of that driver's licence, and shall retain it for the 
period of such employment or engagement.  The operator shall record the 
overall period or periods, during which, such employment or engagement 
continues.  

 
1.6. The operator shall retain a copy of all vehicle licences in respect of vehicles 

used in their business. 
 
1.7. The operator shall ensure that the vehicle fulfils bookings at the appointed 

time and place unless delayed or prevented by some justifiable cause. 
 
1.8. If provision is made by the operator for the reception of members of the 

public proposing to hire a vehicle, adequate arrangements shall be made 

Page 233



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 58 

for the seating of customers and it is recommended that toilet facilities 
within the premises be provided for public use.  

 
1.9. Where the premises are open to the public the operator shall provide a copy 

of the public liability insurance to the Licensing Authority.  
 
1.10. The Council expects operators and their employees to behave in a civil and 

professional manner. They should be polite, helpful and respectful to 
members of the public, the Police, Council employees, other public officials 
and licensed drivers, this includes on social media platforms. Failure to 
behave in such a manner may result in a referral to the Council’s Licensing 
Sub Committee. 

 
1.11. Notify the Council as soon as possible, and also confirm in writing within 

seven days, of any alteration to their circumstances or material particulars 
including but not limited to: 

 
a) Change of address 
b) Change of name  
c) Change of office from which they operate 
d) Being arrested/bailed/charged with/convicted of or otherwise investigated 

in connection with any criminal offence 
e) Accepting a fixed penalty notice or caution, or receiving an Antisocial 

Behaviour Order (ASBO) 
f) Any change in directors or partners 
g) Injury sustained or illness that may alter their medical status in line with 

DVLA Group II standards or affect their driving ability 
 
1.13   A register of all staff that will take bookings or dispatch vehicles must be    

maintained and available for inspection. The register should be a ‘living 
document’ that maintains records of all those in these roles for a period of 
no less than six months. 
 

1.14  Operators must require a basic DBS check from all individuals listed on 
 the register of booking and dispatch staff upon commencing appointment 
 and then once every 3 years. DBS certificates provided by the individual 
 should be no more than 28 days old when submitted and this should be 
 evidenced. A record that the operator has had sight of a basic DBS 
 certificate (although the certificate itself should not be retained) should be 
 retained for the duration that the individual remains on the register. Should 
 an employee cease to be on the register and later re-entered, a new basic 
 DBS certificate shall be requested and sight of this recorded. Alternatively, 
 a ‘responsible organisation’ can request the check on an operator’s  behalf. 
 A link to a list of responsible organisations is provided in the Statutory Taxi 
 and Private Hire Vehicle Standards. 
 

Page 234



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 59 

1.15 Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions, but they cannot 
 pass on the obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators 
 shall be required to evidence that comparable protections are applied by 
 the company to which they outsource these functions. 
 
1.16   When individuals start taking bookings and dispatching vehicles for an   
          operator they shall be required, as part of their employment contract, to  
          advise the operator of any convictions while they are employed in this role. 
 
1.17 Operators or applicants for an operator licence will be required to provide 
 a policy on employing ex-offenders in a role that involves taking bookings 
 or dispatching vehicles. Operators shall ensure any staff employed are 
 compatible with their policy on employing ex-offenders. Operators shall 
 have regard to the assessment of previous convictions annexed to the 
 Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards when preparing their 
 policy on the employment of ex-offenders. 
 
1.18 Operators have a duty under data protection legislation to protect the 
 information they record. The Information Commissioner’s Office provides 
 comprehensive on-line guidance on registering as a data controller and 
 how to meet their obligations. 
 
1.19 Members of the public are entitled to expect when making a booking with 
 a private hire vehicle operator that they will receive a private hire 
 licensed vehicle and driver. The use of a driver who holds a PCV licence 
 and the use of a public service vehicle (PSV) such as a minibus to 
 undertake a private hire vehicle booking is not permitted without the 
 informed consent of the booker. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 235



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 60 

Page Intentionally Blank

Page 236



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 61 

Appendix 6: Glossary  
 

“Applicant” and “Application” refers to applicants for new licences but for the 
purpose of this policy, will also include existing drivers, vehicle and operator 
licence holders in connection with the assessment of their ongoing suitability.  
 
“Appointed Testing Station” means an appointed garage where the vehicle 
tests are carried out. 
 
“Authorised Officer” means a person who has the power or right to enforce. 
 
"Certificate of Compliance" means a certificate confirming that a licensed 
vehicle has passed the Council's vehicle test. A certificate of compliance acts in 
lieu of a MOT certificate whilst the vehicle remains licensed, should a vehicle be 
suspended for any reason a MOT certificate must be in place before the vehicle 
can be used for social, domestic and pleasure purposes. 
 
“Certificate of Good Conduct” means a certificate of good conduct relating to a 
Police records check.  For example, if an applicant has lived abroad, on their 
return to the UK, a licensing application may need confirmation that the applicant 
has no criminal record. This certificate will suffice the requirement. 
 
“DBS” means the Disclosure and Barring Service, an executive agency of the 
Home Office that provides access to criminal record and other relevant 
information to organisations in England and Wales and who carries out checks 
forming a disclosure. 
 
“Department for Transport” means the central government ministry which 
provides leadership across the Transport Sector to achieve its objectives, 
working with regional, local and private sector partners to deliver many of the 
services. 
 
“Driver Proficiency Test” means drivers expert test as laid down by The Driver 
and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) for taxi drivers. 
 
“DVLA Check” means a standard check with the Driver and Vehicle Licensing 
Agency revealing penalty points or traffic related convictions. 
 
“DVSA” means Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency. 
 
“Enforcement Policies” mean specific details of regulatory non-compliance and 
the action taken to deal with non-compliance. 
 
“Hackney Carriage Vehicle” means a vehicle licensed to carry passengers for 
hire or reward. It can be hailed by a prospective customer, wait on the rank and 
“ply for hire” where no other restrictions exist that would prevent them doing so. 
 

Page 237



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 62 

 
“Inertia Reel Seatbelt” means a reel that allows a vehicle seat belt to unwind 
freely but which locks under force of impact or rapid deceleration. 
 
“Integrated Transport System” means complete / total transport is available. 
 
“Licensing Authorities Constitution” means the body of fundamental principles 
or established precedents by which the organisation is governed. 
 
“Licensing Committee” means elected Members appointed to consider 
circumstances and make decisions in accordance with the Council’s constitution. 
 
“Licensed Vehicle” means both a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle. 
 
“Limousine” means a vehicle which has an engine capacity of 2800 c.c. or 
more, produced by a manufacturer as a luxury/high end vehicle. It will generally 
be obvious that a vehicle has been produced for this purpose and it will have a 
selection of extras that one would expect to be fitted. If doubt/contention exists, 
then the final arbiter shall be the manufacturer. Seating arrangements will consist 
of forward and/or rear facing seats only. 
 
“Livery” means a distinctive pattern or design on a vehicle providing 
identification, for instance door crests / Council signage. 
 
“LPG” means Liquefied Petroleum Gas.  
 
“MOT” means the Ministry of Transport Test which is an annual test of older 
vehicle safety and road worthiness.  MOT test certificates are currently issued by 
the Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) an agency within the 
Department for Transport. 
 
“Ply for Hire” means when a vehicle is made available for immediate hire. Only 
licensed hackney carriages may ply for hire and may only do so within the district 
in which they are licensed. 
 
“Private Hire Operator” means a person licensed to make provision for the 
invitation or acceptance of bookings for private hire vehicles. 

 
“Private Hire Vehicle” means a vehicle constructed or adapted to seat fewer 
than nine passengers, other than a Hackney Carriage or public service vehicle, 
which is licensed to be provided for hire with the services of a driver for the 
purpose of carrying passengers. Private hire vehicles may only be pre booked 
through a licensed private hire operator. 
 
“Relevance of Convictions” means convictions that may be taken into 
consideration when assessing matters. 
 

Page 238



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 63 

“Relevant Offences” mean criminal matters of a nature that may be considered 
when applications are being assessed. 
 
“Stakeholder” means a person with an interest or concern in something. 
 
“Taximeter” means a mechanical or electronic device installed in licensed 
vehicles that calculates passenger fares based on a combination of distance 
travelled and waiting time. 
 
“The Council” means the Authority responsible for the administration and 
regulation of taxi legislation and regulation. 
 
“The Guidance” means the Department for Transport - Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance March 2010. 
 
“Vehicle Compliance Pass Certificate” means the Council’s compliance test 
confirming the vehicle meets the standards required by the Local Authority. 
 
“Vehicle Exemption Certificate Notice” means a notice granting exception from 
the liability or obligation imposed on others. 
 
“Fit & Proper” will mean an individual will be deemed to be of the greatest 
integrity, safe (i.e. no risk to the public), honest and trustworthy in every respect. 
Whilst no definitive interpretation exists in law the accepted test of “Fit & Proper” 
is “whether one would allow a loved one (parent, spouse, child etc.) to travel 
alone with the individual. In order to provide greater reassurance to the residents 
of and visitors to County Durham, Durham County Council wishes to extend this 
test beyond mere safety. 

 
 

 

Page 239



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 64 

Page Intentionally Blank 

Page 240



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 65 

Appendix 7: Immediate Suspensions and Revocations 
 

Where the holder of a licence to drive a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
(or a joint driver) discloses to the Council that they have a medical condition 
which affects their compliance with the DVLA Group II standard the Licensing 
Enforcement Team Leader will suspend their licence until such time as a valid 
medical certificate, together with any supporting documents, which show the 
DVLA Group II standard is met, has been received. Only on receipt of such 
information the suspension will be lifted. 
 
Where information is received that the holder of a hackney carriage or private 
hire licence has behaved in a manner or has been arrested, bailed, charged 
convicted or cautioned for a serious criminal offence the nature of which causes 
the Council to have concerns regarding the safety of the public that licence 
holder will have their licence suspended with immediate effect. This suspension 
can be appealed however the appellant may not drive any licensed vehicles until 
any such appeal has been fully disposed of. Where an appeal is successful the 
licence will be reinstated. Similarly, where a licence holder is not prosecuted or is 
found not guilty of any offence the licence may be reinstated following an 
appearance at the Councils Licensing Committee.  
 
NOTE: This is covered in section 7 in the main body of the policy 
 

Page 241



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 66 

Page Intentionally Blank

Page 242



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 67 

 

Appendix 7: Enforcement Procedures and Escalation 

 
This appendix has been produced to provide details and guidelines on the 
processes which may be used by Licensing Services in support of the main 
policy when dealing with individuals / operators which raise concerns over 
whether they remain fit and proper to hold a licence. 

1.  Enforcement Aims 

The aim of any sanctions and penalties is to: 
 

a) Change the behaviour of an offender 
b) Eliminate financial gain or benefit from non-compliance 
c) Be proportionate to the nature of the offence, past history of the offender 
d) Act to deter future non-compliance 

 
Verbal/written advice and warnings  
 
In all cases licence holders will be interviewed by a Licensing Enforcement 
Officer. 
 
Licensing services can, at any time, issue warnings based on the various options 
below: 
 
Written Warnings – This option may be considered for a single breaches of 
conditions or isolated or non- serious incidents of questionable conduct observed 
by officers, police or members of the public. A copy of the warning will be 
recorded and held on the licence holders record; the warning will remain on 
record for the lifetime of the licence and may be referred to in any future 
enforcement actions including referrals to the Licensing Committee. 
 
Final Written Warning – This option may be considered for subsequent 
breaches of conditions or further incidents of non-serious questionable conduct 
observed by officers, police or members of the public. A copy of the final written 
warning will remain of file for the lifetime of the licence and will be referred to in 
any future enforcement actions including referrals to the Licensing Committee. 
 
Committee Referral / Officer Revocation – This option will be considered for 
repeated breaches of conditions or questionable conduct. This option will also be 
considered for the most serious breaches of conditions and conduct raising 
significant concern. Previous warnings may be referred to following referrals to 
the Licensing Committee.  
 
 

Page 243



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 68 

1.1. Committee Referrals / Officer Revocations 
 
The review of a licence by the Councils Licensing Committee will be sought 
following persistent breaches of conditions or poor conduct, similarly a review will 
be sought in response to the most serious breaches and poorest conduct.  
 
Officer revocation may take place if it appears that the interests of public safety 
require the immediate revocation of the licence. This approach is appropriate 
where the licensing authority believes that, based on the information available at 
that time, on the balance of probability it is considered that the driver presents a 
risk to public safety. New evidence may, of course, become available later. If, for 
example, the allegations against a licence holder were now, on the balance of 
probability, considered to be unfounded, or their fitness to drive was proven 
satisfactory an expedited re-licensing process will be used. We will operate a 
Fast-Track application process for licence reinstatement (if appropriate) following 
an officer revocation in such cases.  
 
On referral to the Licensing Committee elected members will have the following 
options: 
 

a) To take no further action 
b) To issue a written warning 
c) To suspend a licence for example: 

 to require a driver to sit/resit the Councils knowledge and locality 
test(s) 

 to require a driver to undertake training in a subject appropriate to 
the reason(s) for their referral 

d) To suspend a licence to drive hackney carriages, private hire vehicles or 
(joint driver) 

e) To revoke any of the following licences: 

 hackney carriage and private hire driver  

 private hire operator  

 hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
 
We will exercise our regulatory activities in a way which is: 

 
Proportionate – our activities will reflect the level of risk to the public and 
enforcement action taken will relate to the seriousness of the offence. 
 
Accountable – our activities will be open to public scrutiny, with clear and 
accessible policies, and fair and efficient complaints procedures. 
 
Consistent – our advice to those we regulate will be robust and reliable and we 
will respect advice provided by others. Where circumstances are similar, we will 
endeavour to act in similar ways to other local authorities. 
 

Page 244



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 69 

Transparent – we will ensure that those we regulate are able to understand what 
is expected of them and what they can anticipate in return, and 
  
Targeted – we will focus our resources on higher risk enterprises and activities, 
reflecting local need and national priorities. 
 

Page 245



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 70 

Appendix 8: C.C.T.V Installed in any Licensed Vehicle 

Where a CCTV system is installed in any vehicle the following conditions will 
apply. 
 
1. Notices informing of the CCTV must be displayed inside the vehicle in a 

prominent position where it can be easily read by persons both inside and 
outside of the vehicle. These notices shall be maintained in a clean and 
legible condition. 
 

2. The licence holder shall ensure that the system is properly maintained in 
accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. 

 
3. On request of an officer of the council or a police officer the licence holder 

shall ensure that the CCTV system is made available within a reasonable 
time and in any event within 7 days of the request. 

 
4. The licence holder shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that any driver of 

the vehicle is aware of the conditions relating to CCTV and that adequate 
instruction has been given in both the operation of the system and retrieving 
images.  

 
5. The licence holder shall ensure that notification is lodged with the Information 

Commissioner’s Office to cover the purposes for which the CCTV system is 
used. 

 
6. The licence holder shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that no other 

person keeps uses or attempts to use any equipment to access the data and 
images stored on the system. 

 
Please note – CCTV notices / stickers must not be displayed on or within the 
vehicle unless there is a CCTV system installed and in fully working order 

Page 246



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026   

 71 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

licensing@durh
am.gov.uk 

Tel 
03000261016 

Page 247



This page is intentionally left blank



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire
 Licensing Policy Review

About you

Q1 Are you responding as:

Licensed hackney carriage driver

Licensed private hire driver

Licensed operator 

Licensed vehicle proprietor 

Member of the public

Other

If other, please specify.

About the taxi policy

We have made changes to the current policy, often called the taxi policy. The purpose of the policy 
is to explain how the council undertakes its functions when licensing hackney carriage and private 
hire vehicles. The primary focus being on safeguarding and public protection, particularly, the 
protection of children and vulnerable adults.

Q2 Do you agree or disagree that the policy is easy to understand?

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Q3 Do you agree or disagree that the policy provides enough protection for children and 
vulnerable adults?

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

If you disagree, what do you think should be added or removed from the draft policy to 
improve it?

Appendix 5a – Survey Questionnaire

Page 249



Q4 Do you agree or disagree that the policy includes everything you think should be in such a 
policy?

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

If you disagree, what do you think should be added or removed from the draft policy to 
improve it?

About vehicle standards

The Government has recently published new national standards for taxi and private hire licensing 
(Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards). The Department for Transport therefore expects 
these recommendations to be implemented unless there is a compelling local reason not to.

Q5 Do you think that any of the requirements of the new national standards for taxi and private 
hire licensing should be left out of our new policy and if so, which ones and why?

Yes, there should be one or more left out

No

If yes, which do you feel should be left out and why?

We are proposing a new policy on vehicle emissions and the age of licensed vehicles. Adoption of 
these new policy requirements for new and existing vehicles will enable Durham licensed vehicles 
to meet similar, improved standards required by several other councils in our region. This will help 
to reduce traffic pollution and improve local air quality.

This means:
New licences: From the date of adoption of this policy in 2021, all new applications for licensed 
vehicles will only be accepted if the vehicle to be licensed is less than 4 years old from the date of 
registration.

Existing vehicles: Adopt a maximum 8-year vehicle life with a start date of 1st April 2024. This 
means that from 1st April 2024 all diesel and petrol engine vehicles will be Euro 6 or above. All 
existing licensed vehicles that are more than 8 years old will not be re-licensed after 1st April 2024.

Wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAV): Existing licensed WAVs will have an extra 2 years added 
to the age restriction. This means that all existing licensed WAVs that are more than 10 years old 
will not be re-licensed after 1st April 2024.

Zero emission vehicles: Fully electric and zero emission (at source) vehicles would be exempt 
from the age restriction/emissions policy.

Appendix 5a – Survey Questionnaire

Page 250



Q6 Do you agree or disagree with the proposals on vehicle emissions and the age of licensed 
vehicles?

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

If you disagree, which ones and why not?

About driver and passenger safety

We are proposing a new policy in respect of previous convictions and offences. We propose to 
follow the Department of Transports recommendations on the assessment of previous convictions 
developed by the Institute of Licensing.

Q7 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed adoption of the new policy in respect of 
previous convictions and offences as developed by the Institute of Licensing? 

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

If you disagree, which policy proposals do you disagree with and why?

We are proposing a new policy on drug testing. In view of a significant number of drivers with 
cautions and/or convictions for drug related offences the council would require drug and alcohol 
tests on drivers on both an intelligence led and random basis.

Q8 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed intelligence led and random drug and alcohol 
testing?

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

If you disagree, which policy do you disagree with and why?

Appendix 5a – Survey Questionnaire

Page 251



Currently we require all new drivers to have been trained on the prevention of child sexual 
exploitation before being licensed. We consider that this training is so important that all drivers 
should do refresher training periodically. We are proposing a new requirement for refresher 
training on the prevention of child sexual exploitation every three years.

Q9 Do you agree or disagree with our proposals for drivers to do refresher training on the 
prevention of child sexual exploitation every three years? 

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

If you disagree, please state why.

We do not currently require drivers to have been trained in disability awareness. Many drivers who 
work under contract and carry people with disabilities do have to undergo such training. We think it 
important that all drivers are disability aware and we are proposing that all drivers must be trained 
in disability awareness.

Q10 Do you agree or disagree that all drivers should be trained in disability awareness? 

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

If you disagree, please state why.

The Government has acknowledged the potential risk to public safety when passengers travel in 
taxis and private hire vehicles. The use of CCTV can provide a safer environment for the benefit of 
taxi/private hire vehicle passengers and drivers by: 
• deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime
• reducing the fear of crime
• assisting the police in investigating incidents of crime
• assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents.

Q11 Do you agree or disagree that all taxis and private hire vehicles should have internal CCTV 
fitted as standard?

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

If you disagree, please state why.

Appendix 5a – Survey Questionnaire

Page 252



Where an applicant has 6 points on their DVLA driving licence for minor traffic or similar offences, 
we propose that they will be required to undertake a driver improvement scheme at their own 
expense. The licensing authority holds a list of current providers of the driving improvement 
scheme.

Q12 Do you agree or disagree that applicants with 6 points on their DVLA driving licences 
should be required to undertake a driver improvement scheme?

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

If you disagree, please state why.

Q13 Do you have any other suggestions or comments to make?

About you

Q14 Are you

Male

Female

Q15 What is your age?

Under 18

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65-74

75+

Q16 Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? (This may include any long-standing 
illness, disability or infirmity which has a substantial effect on your day to day life. Long-
standing means it has lasted, or is likely to last, for over a year.)

Yes

No

Appendix 5a – Survey Questionnaire

Page 253



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5b – Consultation with trade letter – Taxi policy – 2020 

 

Environment, Health and Consumer Protection 
Licensing, PO Box 617, Durham DH1 9HZ 
Main Telephone 03000 261016 
 

 

   
www.durham.gov.uk 
 

Contact: Licensing Services 
Direct Tel: 03000 261016 

email: licensing@durham.gov.uk 
 
 
 

DATE 
Dear Sir / Madam 
 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy Review - Public Consultation 
 
I am writing to inform you about the Council’s forthcoming review of the Council’s 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy licensing policy. 
 
The Council’s current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy was adopted 
in 2016 and amended in 2018. It is often referred to as the ‘taxi policy’. It relates to the 
licensing by the Council of hackney carriages (taxis), private hire vehicles (must be pre-
booked), licensed drivers who may drive these licensed vehicles and private hire 
operators who take bookings for and control private hire vehicles and their drivers.   
 
The purpose of this policy is to explain how the Council undertakes its functions with 
respect to hackney carriage and private hire licensing. The primary focus being on 
safeguarding and public protection, with emphasis on the protection of children and 
vulnerable adults. 
 
The Council reviews this policy at least every five years and makes such revisions as it 
considers appropriate at any other time and publishes it accordingly. This policy is now 
being reviewed and several possible changes to policy are being put forward for 
consideration. 
 
We are proposing several changes to the existing policy however, the main proposals 
which concern licensed vehicles, drivers and operators include the following: 
 

 The implementation of the requirements of the new National Standards for Taxi 
and Private Hire Licensing 

 

 A new policy on vehicle emissions and the age of licensed vehicles 

 A new policy in respect of previous convictions and offences 

 A new policy on drug testing 

 Changes to the suspension and revocation of driver licences 

 Requirement of refresher training on Child Sexual Exploitation every three years 

 All applicants for a vehicle licence must undergo a basic DBS check 

 All drivers to be trained in Disability Awareness  

Page 255



 Additional conditions for Private Hire Operators  

In addition, we are also consulting on the use of In-vehicle visual and audio recording 

(CCTV). 

A briefing note has also been prepared and can be viewed online and I recommended 
that you read through the briefing note before taking part in our online questionnaire.  
 
We have made several changes to the content and format of the existing policy for 
clarification and explanatory reasons. Changes are highlighted in red in the on-line 
version of the draft proposal for a revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy 2021 – 26. [Link] 
 
It is recommended that the following documents are also read in conjunction with this 
briefing note before making any representations during the consultation period: 
 
• The Council’s webpage:  
• The current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing policy 
• The Department of Transport’s Taxi and Private Hire Best Practice guide 2010 
• The Department of Transport’s Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards 

2020 
• The draft proposal for a revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

Policy 2021 – 26 
 
Links to all these documents are provided on the Council’s webpage. In addition, a Taxi 
Policy Revision Questionnaire is also available on the website and may be used to 
respond to this consultation. If you are unable to access these documents on-line, we 
can send you the briefing note, policy documents and the survey by post upon your 
request.  
 
All representations should be made to: licensing@durham.gov.uk  
 
If you require further information on any of these proposals, please contact the Licensing 
Team at licensing@durham.gov.uk 
 
The consultation will begin on Monday 7th September and will run for 12 weeks up 
until midnight on Sunday 29th November 2020. 
 
I look forward to receiving your response to this consultation in due course.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Craig Rudman 
Licensing Manager 
 

Page 256

mailto:licensing@durham.gov.uk


Appendix 5c – Taxi Policy Briefing Note Consultation 
 

1 
 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy Consultation  

Draft Briefing Notes 

August 2020 

 

Introduction 

The Council’s current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy was 
adopted in 2016 and amended in 2018. It is often referred to as the ‘taxi policy’. It 
relates to the licensing, by the Council, of hackney carriages (taxis), private hire 
vehicles (must be pre-booked), licensed drivers who may drive these licensed vehicles 
and private hire operators, who take bookings for and control private hire vehicles and 
their drivers.   
 
The purpose of the taxi policy is to explain how the Council undertakes its functions 
with respect to hackney carriage and private hire licensing. The primary focus being 
on safeguarding and public protection, with emphasis on the protection of children and 
vulnerable adults. 
 
The Council reviews this policy at least every five years and makes such revisions as 
it considers appropriate at any other time and publishes it accordingly. This policy is 
now being reviewed and several possible changes to policy are being put forward for 
consideration. 
 
The main changes that concern licensed vehicles, drivers and operators include: 
 

A. The implementation of all the requirements of the new national standards for 
taxi and private hire licensing (Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards*). 
There is evidence to support the view that taxis and private hire vehicles are a high-
risk environment. In terms of risks to passengers, this can be seen in abuse and 
exploitation of children and vulnerable adults facilitated and, in some cases, 
perpetrated by the trade and the number of sexual crimes reported which involve taxi 
and private hire vehicle drivers. 
 
The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enables the Secretary of State for Transport to issue 
statutory guidance on exercising taxi and private hire vehicle licensing functions to 
protect children and vulnerable individuals who are over 18 from harm when using 
these services. 
 
The Department of Transport has recently published new standards called Statutory 
Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards. These constitute Government guidance to 
public authorities as to how their licensing functions under taxi and private hire vehicle 
legislation may be exercised to protect children, and vulnerable individuals who are 18 
or over, from harm. All licensing authorities must have regard to this guidance. This 
means that; 
 
1. An authority must take it into account. 
2. An authority cannot depart from it just because it does not agree with it. 
3. It must give clear reasons for departing from it. 

Page 257



Appendix 5c – Taxi Policy Briefing Note Consultation 
 

2 
 

 
 
Authorities should publish their consideration of the Guidance and the policies or plans 
stemming from these. 
 
The focus of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards is on protecting 
children and vulnerable adults; all passengers will benefit from the recommendations 
contained in it. There is consensus that common core minimum standards are required 
to regulate better the taxi and private hire vehicle sector, and the recommendations in 
this document* are the result of detailed discussion with the trade, regulators and 
safety campaign groups. The Department for Transport therefore expects these 
recommendations to be implemented unless there is a compelling local reason 
not to.  
 

B. A new policy on vehicle emissions and the age of licensed vehicles (4.0 Vehicle 
Emissions and Manufacture Criteria). Adoption of the following proposed policy 
requirements will enable Durham licensed vehicles to meet similar, improved 
standards already required by several other councils in our region. This will help to 
reduce traffic pollution and improve local air quality: 
 

 New Licences - From the date on which the new policy is adopted in 2021 all 
new applications for licensed vehicles will only be accepted if the vehicle to be 
licensed is less than 4 years old from the date of registration. 

 

 Existing Vehicles - Adopt a maximum 8-year vehicle life with a start date of 
1st April 2024. This means that from 1st April 2024 all diesel and petrol engine 
vehicles will be Euro 6 or above.  

 

 All existing licensed vehicles that are more than 8 years old will not be re-
licensed after 1st April 2024. 

 

 Wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAV) - Existing licensed WAV’s will have 
an extra 2 years added to the age restriction. This means that all existing 
licensed WAV’s that are more than 10 years old will not be re-licensed after 1st 
April 2024. 

 

 Zero emission vehicles - fully electric and zero emission (at source) vehicles 
would be exempt from the age restriction / emissions policy. 

 
C. A new policy in respect of previous convictions and offences – (Criminal 

convictions and rehabilitation) – Guidance states that all licensing authorities should 
have a clear policy for the consideration of criminal records. This should include, for 
example, which offences would prevent an applicant from being licenced regardless 
of the period elapsed in all but truly exceptional circumstances. In the case of lesser 
offences, a policy should consider the number of years the authority will require to 
have elapsed, since the commission of certain kinds of offences, before they will grant 
a licence. 

 
Our proposal is to follow the Department of Transport’s recommendations on the 
assessment of previous convictions. This draws on the work of the Institute of 

Page 258



Appendix 5c – Taxi Policy Briefing Note Consultation 
 

3 
 

Licensing, in partnership with the LGA, the National Association of Licensing 
Enforcement Officers (NALEO) and Lawyers in Local Government, in publishing its 
guidance on determining the suitability of taxi and private hire vehicle licensees. See 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-
standards  
 
D. A new policy on drug testing - In view of the prevalence of drugs in society 
generally and because some licensed drivers have received cautions and/or 
convictions for drug related offences, the Council would require drug tests on drivers 
on both an intelligence-led and random-sample basis. 
 
In association with this proposal, where an applicant has any conviction for, or related 
to, the supply of drugs, or possession with intent to supply or connected with 
possession with intent to supply, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. Where an applicant has 
a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the possession of drugs, a licence 
will not be granted until at least five years have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence imposed. In these circumstances, any applicant may also have to undergo 
drugs testing for a period, at their own expense, to demonstrate that they are not using 
controlled drugs. 
 
E. Changes to the suspension and revocation of driver licences - Licensing 
authorities have the option to suspend or revoke a licence should information be 
received that causes concern over whether a driver is a fit and proper person. A 
decision to revoke a licence does not however prevent the reissuing of a licence should 
further information be received that alters the balance of probability of a decision 
previously made. The decision to suspend or revoke is based on the evidence 
available at the time the determination was made. New evidence may, of course, 
become available later. 
 
New evidence may be produced at an appeal hearing that may result in the court 
reaching a different decision to that reached by the council or an appeal may be settled 
by agreement between the licensing authority and the driver on terms which, in the 
light of new evidence, becomes the appropriate course. If, for example, the allegations 
against a driver were now, on the balance of probability, considered to be unfounded, 
a suspension could be lifted or, if the licence was revoked, an expedited re-licensing 
process used. 
 
A suspension may still be appropriate if it is believed that a minor issue can be 
addressed though additional training. In this instance the licence would be returned to 
the driver once the training has been completed without further consideration. This 
approach is clearly not appropriate where the licensing authority believes that, based 
on the information available at that time, on the balance of probability it is considered 
that the driver presents a risk to public safety. 
 
Whilst most cases considering revocation will be referred to a licensing committee, all 
licensing authorities must also consider arrangements for dealing with serious matters 
that may require the immediate revocation of a licence. It is recommended by 
Government that this role is delegated to a senior officer/manager with responsibility 
for the licensing service.  

Page 259

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards


Appendix 5c – Taxi Policy Briefing Note Consultation 
 

4 
 

 
F. Requirement for refresher training Safeguarding (including Child Sexual 
Exploitation) every three years - All licensing authorities should provide 
safeguarding advice and guidance to the trade and should require taxi and private hire 
vehicle drivers to undertake safeguarding training. Currently we require all new drivers 
to have undergone training on the identification of Child Sexual Exploitation before 
being licensed. We consider that this training is so important that all drivers should 
undergo safeguarding refresher training periodically. These programmes have been 
developed to help drivers to:  
 

 provide a safe and suitable service to vulnerable passengers of all ages 

 recognise what makes a person vulnerable; and 

 understand how to respond, including how to report safeguarding concerns and 
where to get advice. 

 
G. Criminality checks for vehicle proprietors – Subject to any driver related 
DBS checks already undertaken, we propose that all applicants for a vehicle licence 
must undergo a basic DBS check - Enhanced DBS and barred list checks are not 
available for vehicle licensing. The Government recommends that licensing authorities 
should require a basic disclosure for vehicle proprietors from the DBS and that a check 
is undertaken annually. 
 
Any individual may apply for a basic check and the certificate will disclose any unspent 
convictions recorded on the Police National Computer (PNC). Licensing authorities 
should consider whether an applicant or licence holder with a conviction for offences 
provided in the annex to the Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards  
(Annex – Assessment of previous convictions), other than those relating to driving, 
meet the ‘fit and proper’ threshold. 
 
H. All drivers to be trained in Disability Awareness  
The Disabled Persons Transport Advisory Committee (DPTAC) position on, and 
recommendations about, the accessibility of taxis and private hire vehicles (PHVs) 
includes the proposal that taxi and PHV services should be fully accessible to disabled 
travellers. “The driver needs to take active steps to ensure that the passenger is safe 
and comfortable and provide reasonable assistance to enable the passenger to use 
their service.” 
 
In their consultation document DPTAC recommends that it should be part of the role 
of a licensing authority to make drivers aware of the breadth of their duties and provide 
training in how to carry out the full extent of their role. This being the case, licensing 
authorities will need, with appropriate guidance from the government, amongst other 
matters, to provide training for drivers on disability awareness and wider customer 
care issues. We propose to include this requirement as part of the application process 
and for all drivers as an assurance of their ongoing suitability to hold a licence. 
  
I. Additional conditions for Private Hire Operators  
Private hire vehicle drivers are not the only direct contact that private hire vehicle 

users have. There are private hire vehicle operators’ staff, for example a person 

taking bookings (be it by phone or in person). A vehicle dispatcher decides which 

driver to send to a user, a position that could be exploited by those seeking to exploit 

Page 260



Appendix 5c – Taxi Policy Briefing Note Consultation 
 

5 
 

children and vulnerable adults. It is therefore appropriate that all staff that have 

contact with private hire vehicle users and the dispatching of vehicles should not 

present an undue risk to the public or the safeguarding of children and vulnerable 

adults. 

 

Durham County Council needs to be satisfied that private hire vehicle operators can 

demonstrate that all staff that have contact with the public and/or oversee the 

dispatching of vehicles do not pose a risk to the public. We will therefore, as a 

condition of granting an operator licence, require an operator to keep a register of all 

staff that will take bookings or dispatch vehicles is kept. 

 

Operators will be required to evidence that they have had sight of a Basic DBS 

check on all individuals listed on their register, of booking and dispatch staff, and to 

ensure that Basic DBS checks are conducted on any individuals added to the 

register and that this is compatible with their policy on employing ex-offenders. 

 

When individuals start taking bookings and dispatching vehicles for an operator they 

should be required, as part of their employment contract, to advise the operator of 

any convictions while they are employed in this role. 

 

We will also require operators, or applicants for a licence, to provide their policy on 

employing ex-offenders in roles that would be on the register as above. As with the 

threshold to obtaining a private hire vehicle operators’ licence, those with a 

conviction for offences (provided in the annex to the document Statutory Taxi & 

Private Hire Vehicle Standards  (Annex – Assessment of previous convictions), 

other than those relating to driving, may not be suitable to decide who is sent to carry 

a child or vulnerable adult unaccompanied in a car. 

 

J. In-vehicle visual and audio recording (CCTV) - Government has 

acknowledged the potential risk to public safety when passengers travel in taxis and 

private hire vehicles. It is unfortunately the case that no matter how complete the 

information available to licensing authorities is when assessing whether to issue any 

taxi or private hire vehicle licence, nor how robust the policies in place are and the 

rigor with which they are applied, it will never completely remove the possibility of 

harm to passengers by drivers. 

CCTV can provide additional deterrence to prevent this and investigative value when 

it does. The use of CCTV can provide a safer environment for the benefit of 

taxi/private hire vehicle passengers and drivers by:  

 deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime 

 reducing the fear of crime 

 assisting the police in investigating incidents of crime 

 assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents 

We are consulting to identify if there are local circumstances which indicate that the 

installation of CCTV in vehicles would have either a positive or an adverse net effect 

Page 261



Appendix 5c – Taxi Policy Briefing Note Consultation 
 

6 
 

on the safety of taxi and private hire vehicle users, including children or vulnerable 

adults, and taking into account potential privacy issues. 

K. General – in drafting the proposed policy document, we have made several 

changes to the content and format of the existing policy, for clarification and 

explanatory reasons. All changes are highlighted in red in the draft proposal for a 

revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 – 26. [Link] 

It is recommended that the following documents are read in conjunction with this 

briefing note before making any representations during the consultation period: 

 The Council’s webpage:  

 The current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing policy 

 The Department of Transport’s Taxi and Private Hire Best Practice guide 

2010 

 The Department of Transport’s Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 

Standards 2020 

 The draft proposal for a revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

Policy 2021 - 26 

Links to all these documents are provided on the Council’s webpage. In addition, a 

Taxi Policy Revision Questionnaire is also available on the website and may be used 

to respond to this consultation. If you are unable to access these documents on-line, 

we can send you the briefing note, policy documents and the survey by post upon 

your request. 

All representations should be made to: licensing@durham.gov.uk  

If you require further information on any of these proposals, please contact the 

Licensing Team at licensing@durham.gov.uk  

If you require further information on any of these proposals, please contact the 

Licensing Team at licensing@durham.gov.uk 

The consultation will begin on Monday 7th September and will run for 12 

weeks up until midnight on Sunday 29th November 2020. 

I look forward to receiving your response to this consultation in due course.  

 

Yours sincerely 

Craig Rudman 

Licensing Manager 

Page 262

mailto:licensing@durham.gov.uk
mailto:licensing@durham.gov.uk


ID ID.format ID.completed ID.date ID.start ID.endDate ID.end ID.time Q1:1 Q1:2 Q1:3 Q1:4 Q1:5 Q1:6 Q1a Q2 Q3 Q3a Q4 Q4a Q5 Q5a Q6
The published format which was employed Case completed in Snap Interviewer Date of interview Time interview started Completion date of interview Time interview ended Duration of interview Are you responding as: Are you responding as: Are you responding as: Are you responding as: Are you responding as: Are you responding as: If other, please specify. Do you agree or disagree that the policy is easy to under... Do you agree or disagree that the policy provides enough ... If you disagree, what do you think should be added or rem... Do you agree or disagree that the policy includes everyth... If you disagree, what do you think should be added or rem... Do you think that any of the requirements of the new nati... If yes, which do you feel should be left out and why? Do you agree or disagree with the proposals on vehicle em...

1 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 07/09/2020 11:33:21 07/09/2020 11:47:07 13.77 Licensed private hire driver Neither agree nor disagree Neither agree nor disagree The locality test is not fit for purpose. If you were to revise certain routes you will pass the test but probably can't explain any other locations   people use technology now and they will ask if they are in doubt. It is a good way to collect revinue though. Disagree Locality test should just cover hospitals and maybe main accident and emergency departments but not where farms ect are.  Common sense. No Strongly disagree
2 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 07/09/2020 12:32:29 07/09/2020 12:38:59 6.5 Licensed hackney carriage driver Licensed private hire driver Licensed operator Strongly disagree Strongly agree Strongly agree Yes, there should be one or more left out Strongly disagree
3 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 07/09/2020 15:05:11 07/09/2020 15:21:09 15.97 Member of the public Disagree There should be more emphasis on and incentives to switch away from petrol and diesel to fully electric vehicles No Strongly agree
4 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 07/09/2020 16:34:18 07/09/2020 16:36:33 2.25 Member of the public Agree Agree Agree No Agree
5 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 07/09/2020 19:17:28 07/09/2020 19:22:03 4.58 Member of the public Agree Agree Agree No Agree
6 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 08/09/2020 14:09:29 08/09/2020 14:14:49 5.33 Licensed hackney carriage driver Agree Agree Disagree More protection and support for drivers who are vulnerable every time we pick up a passenger Yes, there should be one or more left out Age limits. As long as the vehicle meets Euro 6 and is correctly maintained age should not be an issue. Neither agree nor disagree
7 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 08/09/2020 16:23:42 08/09/2020 16:29:37 5.92 Member of the public Agree Agree Disagree All taxis should take contactless payment No Agree
8 Web: Snap WebHost completed 07/09/2020 10:23:15 09/09/2020 11:03:32 2920.28 Licensed operator Licensed vehicle proprietor Neither agree nor disagree Strongly agree Neither agree nor disagree No Strongly disagree
9 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 09/09/2020 15:29:54 09/09/2020 15:32:13 2.32 Licensed private hire driver Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree No Strongly agree

10 Web: Snap WebHost completed 11/09/2020 11:13:26 11/09/2020 11:30:50 17.4 Licensed hackney carriage driver Strongly agree Agree Provided there is close cooperation between local police and licensing authority with regard to very recent/ongoing convictions/cautions. Strongly agree No Strongly agree
11 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 11/09/2020 20:13:29 11/09/2020 20:40:49 27.33 Licensed hackney carriage driver Neither agree nor disagree Strongly agree Strongly agree No Strongly disagree
13 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 11/09/2020 20:49:30 11/09/2020 21:06:07 16.62 Licensed hackney carriage driver Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree No Neither agree nor disagree
14 Web: Snap Tablet completed 12/09/2020 11:45:59 12/09/2020 12:08:01 22.03 Member of the public Agree Disagree If a person has been suspended for an attack on vulnerable children what measures are in place if the driver returns back Disagree When taxi drivers have had heart or  other medical conditions needing daily medication yearly  face to face checks with a GP should take place No Strongly agree
15 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 13/09/2020 00:20:27 13/09/2020 00:22:27 2 Member of the public Agree Neither agree nor disagree Neither agree nor disagree No Strongly agree
16 Web: Snap WebHost completed 14/09/2020 09:49:27 14/09/2020 10:00:00 10.55 Member of the public Strongly agree Strongly agree Agree No Strongly agree
17 Web: Snap WebHost completed 15/09/2020 19:32:40 15/09/2020 19:43:16 10.6 Licensed hackney carriage driver Licensed private hire driver Licensed operator Licensed vehicle proprietor Agree Strongly agree Agree No Neither agree nor disagree
18 Web: Snap WebHost completed 22/09/2020 09:35:52 22/09/2020 10:15:51 39.98 Licensed hackney carriage driver Licensed private hire driver Licensed vehicle proprietor Agree Agree Agree Yes, there should be one or more left out Strongly disagree
19 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 28/09/2020 11:53:11 28/09/2020 12:02:16 9.08 Licensed hackney carriage driver Licensed private hire driver Licensed operator Licensed vehicle proprietor Agree Agree Agree No Strongly agree
20 Web: Snap WebHost completed 29/09/2020 09:13:32 29/09/2020 09:15:03 1.52 Licensed operator Agree Agree Agree No Agree
21 Web: Snap Tablet completed 30/09/2020 18:52:59 30/09/2020 18:56:50 3.85 Member of the public Neither agree nor disagree Neither agree nor disagree Agree No Strongly agree
22 Web: Snap Tablet completed 30/09/2020 19:06:48 30/09/2020 19:07:33 0.75 Member of the public Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Yes, there should be one or more left out Strongly agree
23 Web: Snap WebHost completed 02/10/2020 14:56:38 02/10/2020 15:04:57 8.32 Member of the public Neither agree nor disagree Neither agree nor disagree Neither agree nor disagree Strongly agree
24 Web: Snap WebHost completed 05/10/2020 21:30:39 05/10/2020 21:38:35 7.93 Licensed hackney carriage driver Agree Agree Agree No Strongly disagree
25 Web: Snap WebHost completed 14/10/2020 13:10:27 14/10/2020 13:29:06 18.65 Licensed operator Disagree Neither agree nor disagree Strongly disagree CROSS BORDER HIRING RULES Yes, there should be one or more left out AGE OF VEHICLES. SOME OLDER VEHICLES ARE IN BETTER CONDITION THAN SOME OF THE NEWER ONES. IF THE VEHICLE CAN PASS A COUNCIL MOT THEY SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO STAY ON THE ROAD Strongly disagree
26 Web: Snap WebHost completed 15/10/2020 13:12:43 15/10/2020 13:21:44 9.02 Licensed hackney carriage driver Agree Agree Disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Some cars over 8 years old could be potentially be in better condition than newer vehicles. As long as they pass the compliance test, they should be allowed to be licenced Strongly disagree
27 Web: Snap WebHost completed 15/10/2020 20:16:00 15/10/2020 20:52:49 36.82 Licensed hackney carriage driver Strongly agree Strongly agree Disagree see below Yes, there should be one or more left out wehicle age  see below Strongly disagree
28 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 18/10/2020 14:35:58 18/10/2020 14:41:17 5.32 Member of the public Neither agree nor disagree Neither agree nor disagree Neither agree nor disagree No Strongly disagree
29 Web: Snap WebHost completed 22/10/2020 17:53:51 22/10/2020 19:45:47 111.93 Licensed hackney carriage driver Disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed. Strongly disagree
30 Web: Snap WebHost completed 11/11/2020 20:41:11 11/11/2020 20:51:27 10.27 Licensed hackney carriage driver Strongly disagree Strongly disagree Strongly disagree AGE LIMITS WHAT PLANET ARE YOU ON TAXIS ARE JUST SURVIVING DEATH KNELL FOR MOST OPERATORS Strongly disagree
31 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 24/11/2020 13:33:41 24/11/2020 13:45:48 12.12 Licensed hackney carriage driver Disagree Agree Disagree Disagree
32 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 25/11/2020 16:11:48 25/11/2020 16:25:14 13.43 Licensed hackney carriage driver Licensed private hire driver Licensed vehicle proprietor Agree Agree Disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out 8 years old/ to 10 years old,and euro 5 NOT EURO 6 Strongly disagree
36 Web: Snap WebHost completed 26/11/2020 15:22:44 26/11/2020 15:24:17 1.55 Licensed hackney carriage driver Strongly agree Strongly agree Agree No Agree
37 Web: Snap WebHost completed 26/11/2020 15:24:51 26/11/2020 15:34:37 9.77 Licensed hackney carriage driver Strongly disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Disagree
38 Web: Snap WebHost completed 26/11/2020 15:40:04 26/11/2020 15:41:10 1.1 Licensed hackney carriage driver Agree Agree Agree No Agree
39 Web: Snap WebHost completed 26/11/2020 15:41:53 26/11/2020 15:42:45 0.87 Licensed hackney carriage driver Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree No Strongly agree
40 Web: Snap WebHost completed 26/11/2020 15:43:18 26/11/2020 15:44:30 1.2 Licensed hackney carriage driver Neither agree nor disagree Agree Agree No Agree
41 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 26/11/2020 20:41:13 26/11/2020 20:49:16 8.05 Licensed hackney carriage driver Agree Agree Agree Yes, there should be one or more left out Strongly disagree
42 Web: Snap WebHost completed 27/11/2020 08:59:28 27/11/2020 09:40:10 40.7 Licensed hackney carriage driver Licensed private hire driver Licensed vehicle proprietor Joint driver and own vehicles Agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out see response to next question Strongly disagree
43 Web: Snap WebHost completed 28/11/2020 00:19:51 28/11/2020 01:17:16 57.42 Licensed hackney carriage driver Disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed. Strongly disagree
44 Web: Snap WebHost completed 28/11/2020 07:32:52 28/11/2020 07:42:40 9.8 Licensed hackney carriage driver Member of the public Disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed. Strongly disagree
45 Web: Snap WebHost completed 28/11/2020 07:34:38 28/11/2020 07:43:06 8.47 Licensed hackney carriage driver Disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed. Strongly disagree
46 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 28/11/2020 08:04:25 28/11/2020 08:08:34 4.15 Licensed hackney carriage driver Neither agree nor disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree No Agree
47 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 28/11/2020 09:26:40 28/11/2020 09:40:23 13.72 Licensed private hire driver Neither agree nor disagree Disagree Agree Yes, there should be one or more left out Age limit. Some 8 year old cars are in better condition and less miles than some 3 year old. It will also put drivers in permanent debt Strongly disagree
48 Web: Snap WebHost completed 28/11/2020 09:59:31 28/11/2020 10:23:10 23.65 Member of the public Disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed. Strongly disagree
49 Web: Snap WebHost completed 28/11/2020 09:59:25 28/11/2020 10:23:35 24.17 Other Passenger Assistant Strongly disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed. Strongly disagree
50 Web: Snap WebHost completed 28/11/2020 09:59:23 28/11/2020 10:23:56 24.55 Member of the public Strongly disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed. Strongly disagree
51 Web: Snap WebHost completed 28/11/2020 09:59:19 28/11/2020 10:24:19 25 Other School Escort Strongly disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed. Strongly disagree
52 Web: Snap WebHost completed 28/11/2020 09:59:14 28/11/2020 10:24:40 25.43 Member of the public Strongly disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed. Strongly disagree
53 Web: Snap WebHost completed 28/11/2020 09:59:13 28/11/2020 10:25:07 25.9 Other radio operator Strongly disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed. Strongly disagree
54 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 28/11/2020 10:38:35 28/11/2020 10:44:04 5.48 Member of the public Neither agree nor disagree Strongly disagree Enhanced DBS checks Disagree No Strongly agree
55 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 28/11/2020 10:59:09 28/11/2020 11:03:34 4.42 Strongly disagree Neither agree nor disagree Strongly disagree No Strongly disagree
56 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 28/11/2020 11:13:49 28/11/2020 11:16:05 2.27 Licensed hackney carriage driver Disagree Strongly agree Agree Yes, there should be one or more left out Disagree
57 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 28/11/2020 11:21:19 28/11/2020 12:00:16 38.95 Licensed hackney carriage driver Licensed operator Licensed vehicle proprietor Disagree Strongly agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out The new standards are currently being challenged on various fronts, producing a new policy now and including them could mean the policy becomes void in the near future. It would make more sense to hold the new policy for 12 months while this is ironed out. Strongly disagree
58 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 28/11/2020 13:30:47 28/11/2020 13:32:20 1.55 Licensed hackney carriage driver Strongly disagree Strongly disagree Strongly disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Strongly disagree
59 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 28/11/2020 15:42:08 28/11/2020 15:52:08 10 Licensed hackney carriage driver Agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Agree
60 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 28/11/2020 16:17:43 28/11/2020 16:20:32 2.82 Licensed hackney carriage driver Strongly disagree Strongly disagree Strongly disagree No Strongly disagree
61 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 28/11/2020 16:36:48 28/11/2020 16:46:31 9.72 Licensed hackney carriage driver Neither agree nor disagree Agree Disagree Minor traffic offences. You keep your licence until 12 points. It should be the same for licensed taxi drivers. Yes, there should be one or more left out Disagree
62 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 28/11/2020 16:41:43 28/11/2020 16:54:02 12.32 Licensed hackney carriage driver Agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree No Agree
63 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 28/11/2020 20:37:56 28/11/2020 20:54:20 16.4 Licensed hackney carriage driver Licensed vehicle proprietor Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Strongly disagree
64 Web: Snap Tablet completed 28/11/2020 23:02:18 28/11/2020 23:30:51 28.55 Licensed hackney carriage driver Licensed private hire driver Licensed operator Licensed vehicle proprietor Member of the public Disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Common sense needs to be used, instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBS ‘s when not needed. Strongly disagree
65 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 29/11/2020 14:32:29 29/11/2020 14:40:28 7.98 Licensed hackney carriage driver Licensed vehicle proprietor Disagree Neither agree nor disagree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Concentrate on unlicensed out of town ph drivers before chastising hack vehicle age Strongly disagree
66 Web: Snap Tablet completed 29/11/2020 14:48:46 29/11/2020 14:53:32 4.77 Strongly disagree
67 Web: Snap WebHost completed 29/11/2020 20:48:14 29/11/2020 21:04:07 15.88 Licensed hackney carriage driver Disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out Drivers shouldn't be asked to pay for 2 DBS's Strongly disagree
68 Web: Snap Smartphone completed 29/11/2020 21:05:13 29/11/2020 21:11:45 6.53 Licensed private hire driver Disagree Disagree Strongly disagree Yes, there should be one or more left out On at 4 years off at 8. . also allowing cross border hiring. Strongly disagree
69 Web: Snap WebHost completed 30/11/2020 13:47:45 30/11/2020 13:58:21 10.6 Licensed hackney carriage driver Agree Agree Agree Yes, there should be one or more left out Strongly disagree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 263



Q6a Q7 Q7a Q8 Q8a Q9 Q9a Q10
If you disagree, which ones and why not? Do you agree or disagree with the proposed adoption of th... If you disagree, which policy proposals do you disagree w... Do you agree or disagree with the proposed intelligence l... If you disagree, which policy do you disagree with and why? Do you agree or disagree with our proposals for drivers t... If you disagree, please state why. Do you agree or disagree that all drivers should be train...
If a vehicle is miticulacley maintained why replace it as it costs more to the environment by manufacturing a new one Agree Strongly agree Neither agree nor disagree Neither agree nor disagree
The age of the car as long as it’s passed it’s hack tests there should be no reason why cars after 8 year old should not be re licenced this is a discrace and will put allot of drivers in financial difficulty having to buy new cars constantly Strongly agree Strongly disagree Strongly disagree Strongly disagree

Agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree
Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree
Agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree
Agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Agree
Agree Agree Agree Agree

The proposed new age limits on vehicles will unfairly affect operators who carry out a large proportion of school contracts as the timeframe to need to replace vehicles frequently will mean an increase in tendered prices to as depreciation will need to be recouped over a shorter time which means more cost for the Local Authority and ultimately the tax payers of the local area. The benefits gained of a low emission vehicle operating for less than 2 hours per day would be negligible. In this instance a 'schools only' plating category may be appropriate.Strongly agree Agree Strongly agree Agree
Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree
Agree providing there is close cooperation between licensing authority and local police regarding recent/ongoing cautions and prosecutions. Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree

I disagree with an age being put on licensed vehicles. Licensing vehicles less than four years old. And then only allowing vehicles to be licensed until they are 8 years old. Alternatively emission standards might be better. But without a age limit. Agree Agree Strongly disagree I disagree with refresher courses every 3 years. A refresher course every 5 to 6 years would be better. Agree
Not a lot of the drivers can afford to buy new vehicles every 8 years and I agree if the vehicle is near enough no longer road worthy than that’s great but if a vehicle is kept well maintained and is still road worthy I think it should be kept on as a taxi  due to the council MOT tests which we get every 6 months been a high profile test should be able to detect whether a vehicle is road worthy or not and a longer life span than the 8 year timelineStrongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree

Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree
Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree
Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree
Neither agree nor disagree Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree

I agree that vehicles should have an agreed age limit, however I do not agree that a vehicle first being licensed should be a maximum of four years old. In the last 18 months I have licenced 3 vehicles which are over that age and each time the tester has commented on how clean and well maintained they are. If this rule is enforced it will mean that as a trade we will be forced to purchase vehicles with higher mileage or vehicles which are or have previously been damaged rather than quality low mileage vehicles. For example a six passenger seat vehicle such as a Ford Galaxy on a 66 plate with more than 100,000 miles on would currently cost £10,000 to buy whereas a 64 plate with 40,000 miles on would cost you the same. If we are forced to purchase newer vehicles with more miles on the cost of repairs will be significant as we will be inheriting problems. Alternatively we could purchase lower mileage 66 plates for £14,000 but then the cost will have to be passed onto the customer. Our home to school transport prStrongly agree Strongly agree Agree I strongly agree. Also I think that all drivers whether they wish to be engaged on home to school contracts or not should complete the same CSE course which is held by County Hall. In my opinion it is ludicrous that as a new driver you potentially have to sit two as licencing wont issue your badge until you have completed their course.Strongly agree
Agree Agree Agree Strongly agree
Agree Agree Agree Agree
Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree
Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree
Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree

The 8 year rule is to strict. Vehicles over 8 years should be licenced. Agree Agree Disagree if driver has already done the course there no reason to refresh after 3 years. Agree
WE DISAGREE WITH THE AGE OF VEHICLE HOWEVER AGREE WITH EMISSIONS Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Agree
As long as a vehicle passes emissions,compliance test & is in good condition, it should be able to be licenced Disagree You have no control over cross border hiring drivers Agree Disagree If a driver has had training, it's a matter of common sense implanting ity Agree
As well as the taxi industry already  being decimated by covid, we now have to contend with the cost of buying  3 year old vehicles ,its like the council are trying to finish us off.  A better solution would be  Euro 6  up to 5or 6 year old   and vehicles removed at 10 years rather than 8. Neither agree nor disagree Agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree
Electric vehicles should not be exempt from the age restriction policy. Agree Strongly agree Agree Agree
This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be FIVE years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at TEN years will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles should last till TWELVE Strongly disagree Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week. Strongly disagree It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees Strongly disagree The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Strongly disagree

Strongly disagree Neither agree nor disagree Strongly disagree WHO WOULD YOU REPORT ANYTHING TO WHO WOULD TAKE ANY NOTICE MORE TIMEWASTING
Strongly disagree Agree Strongly disagree Common sense Strongly disagree

All of them,in the current climate its hard enough to make a living now,and aslong as its road worthy and well looked after,i really cant see what the problem is,coach companies don't have this issue,and they are serving the public Neither agree nor disagree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree
Agree Strongly agree Agree Agree

all vehicles should be up to 10 years old Neither agree nor disagree Strongly agree Strongly agree Agree
Agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Agree
Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Agree
Agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Agree

Age of new Vehicle should not be 4 years old a first license. Also the vehicle age to replace them at 8 years old is too short. I think 13 years old then vehicle should be replaced. Neither agree nor disagree Agree Disagree Drivers once sat course don’t loose knowledge. Agree
regarding public transport i.e. bus and coach companies who transport passengers including children are not required to meet these standards and as such their vehicles are much older so i feel the trade are being singled out. Agree with euro 6 emission standard however, not the new vehicle proposal or age policy of the vehicle whereby you would have to take it off after 8 years. I have vehicles which are maintained to a good standard and they get serviced twice a year as well as its council test. oil filters changed evey 9000 miles. it doesn't matter what age the vehicle is as long as it is maintained and serviced to a good standard. I generally know when my vehicle is at the end of life and at that point i would replace it.Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Agree
This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles should last TWO EXTRA Strongly disagree Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week. Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees. Strongly disagree The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new information to make the training relevant again and again.Strongly disagree
This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles should last TWO EXTRA Strongly disagree Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees. Strongly disagree The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new information to make the training relevant again and again.Strongly disagree
This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles should last TWO EXTRA Strongly disagree Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees. Strongly disagree The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new information to make the training relevant again and again.Strongly disagree

Disagree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Agree
Age. Will keep drivers in permanent debt and an 8 year old vehicle cam be as good as a 3 year old one. Agree Agree Disagree Course was waste of time. Common sense is needed we are not the police. At course police were asked about unlicensed vehicles picking vulnerable people up they said they couldn't do anything about it. That in my opinion is a bigger problem than drivers reporting it. Neither agree nor disagree
This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles should last TWO EXTRA Strongly disagree Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week. Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees. Strongly disagree The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new information to make the training relevant again and again.Strongly disagree
This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles should last TWO EXTRA Strongly disagree Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week. Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees. Strongly disagree The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new information to make the training relevant again and again.Strongly disagree
This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles should last TWO EXTRA Strongly disagree Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week. Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees. Strongly disagree The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new information to make the training relevant again and again.Strongly disagree
This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles should last TWO EXTRA Strongly disagree Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week. Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees. Strongly disagree The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new information to make the training relevant again and again.Strongly disagree
This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles should last TWO EXTRA Strongly disagree Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week. Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees. Strongly disagree The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new information to make the training relevant again and again.Strongly disagree
This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles should last TWO EXTRA Strongly disagree Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week. Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees. Strongly disagree The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new information to make the training relevant again and again.Strongly disagree

Agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree
Strongly disagree Strongly disagree Neither agree nor disagree Strongly agree
Disagree Agree Disagree Neither agree nor disagree

Utter rot that a 3 year old Euro 6 vehicle can be licensed but a 5 year old Euro 6 vehicle can’t be licensed as a new vehicle. If the vehicle meets Euro 6 engine specifications and passes the emissions test its Euro 6 and passed the test. How does the age of the vehicle impact emissions? If I purchase a brand new Euro 6 vehicle and run at 75,000 miles a year, when the vehicle it’s 4 years old it’s done 300k. If a driver buys a second hand Euro 6 vehicle at 5 years old with 40,000 miles on the clock how is that worse for the environment than a vehicle of the same age and engine as one with 300k+ miles? A stupid rule not thought out at all. If you want to make engine emissions future proof, all you need to do is say “only vehicles which meet Euro 6 will be licensed as new applications and all pre Euro 5 vehicles won’t be renewed after April 2024. Add a line that says something like Euro 6 vehicles may be used until 8 years after the Euro 6 engine specification is superseded, and from 3 years after the new standNeither agree nor disagree Strongly disagree Agree completely with intelligence led checks. Random checks are very much open to abuse by officers of the council. What’s to stop an officer ‘randomly’ selecting the same individual over and over again? Who pays for these tests? If I were randomly selected and expected to pay for my random test that I passed, I’d be seeking legal advice on the basis you carried out a test at my expense that wasn’t required. Will the council officers and drivers of council owned vehicles be subjected to the same random during and alcohol tests as the trade?Strongly disagree So long as the training is required because things have changed fair enough, but to expect people to pay to sit and watch a power point presentation in county hall which is identical to the power point presentation they watched 3 years ago is both a waste of time and an insult to the intelligence of the people attending. As mentioned, if it’s a new course, fair enough to expect retraining. It should read “retraining as required as legislation changes”Strongly agree
Strongly disagree Strongly agree Strongly disagree Strongly disagree
Agree Agree Agree Agree
Strongly disagree Strongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree

10 year old limit on cars, new cars 6 years old, more sensible and affordable Strongly disagree Absurd that 2 minor speeding offences e.g SP30 should endanger your licence Agree Disagree CRB checks are enough Disagree
Neither agree nor disagree Agree Agree Agree

Existing vehicles that meet and continue to meet standards that have been registered bedore the adoption of the policy should be granted grandfather rights to continue as Hack/PH until such time as they mechanically unsound.  To impliment a 4 year maximum age on new vehicles is to price  out the majority of the owner drivers, whos margins of operating margins are tight already.  Given  the loss of almost a years trading profits in 2020 this policy should be amended and deffered until the true impact of Covid can be assessed on tge trade.Strongly agree Strongly agree Any and all testing shall be at the expense of the licencing authority. Strongly agree Agree
Usually purchase agreements are over 5 years, so if you buy a 4 year old vehicle over a five year agreement, the said vehicle will have to be taken off as a taxi / phv with 1 year of the agreement to be paid. Meaning we’re stuck with a vehicle which still has to be paid for but unable to use as a taxi. WHATS THE POINT!!  No small company or individual can afford this.  Why not make it upto 6 year old to be licensed and renewed at 11 year old, with the exception to WAV which I agree should have a 2 year extension owing to the additional cost of purchase and adaption. This would still ensure all new vehicles being licensed fall into EURO 6 on the emissions.   Also would a zero emission vehicle, not still deteriorate at the same rate as a diesel or petrol car. I.E. the seats will have the same wear and tear, the suspension still travels on poor roads and on and on and on.Strongly disagree Why would the council licence people with drug or sex convictions ?  Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week. Strongly disagree Intelligence led, by all means, random so long as it’s at the councils expense unless a positive result is returned. Also should apply to all council officers, officials and employees. Strongly disagree The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training.  It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of being dragged to a central location. Agree with trading at first licence granting but then only if there is new information to be trained on, not the same time after time.Agree
These vehicles are not always affordable and unfairly limit existing drivers from protecting their careers. Strongly agree Strongly agree Test all of us. Many are high as kites Disagree Not our responsibility to spot or accuse public of this..  social services and polices job Disagree
If this change in policy is brought in it will decimate the taxi trade in County Durham. Having to buy a 4 year old (or newer) vehicle every 4 years (or more if buying a newer vehicle) will be so expensive that a lot of drivers will not be able to afford to buy another vehicle. Or if they can afford to buy one it may already be very high mileage. For example a 2016 Skoda octavia with 36000 miles on is £12000, £266 a month meaning you will pay back roughly £13500 (unless you have poor credit then you could be paying back £24-25000). But as the car is 4 years old when it is first licensed the owner only has 4 years to use that vehicle meaning they will be in a constant cycle of needing finance.  Further more, why when a vehicle becomes 4 years and 1 day old does it become any less suitable as a taxi. Or why when it becomes 8 years and 1 day is it any less suitable as a taxi?  I agree with new cars coming onto the fleet after 1st April 2024 being euro 6, we all should be working towards making the environment clStrongly agree Strongly agree Strongly agree Neither agree nor disagree
As long as vehicles meet the current 3 test per year (on older vehicles) and meet any enviromental standards then vehicles should be allowed to continue to be plated.  The policy would only be based on vanity (we only want new cars) and not roadworthy standards Strongly disagree Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions? Strongly disagree I would agree if it applied to all council employee's as well Strongly disagree Just reiterates the same thing, if anything new then it should be made available online to all drivers Strongly disagree
Age standards Strongly agree Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree
The 4 year Age should be increased from first licence. The vehicle age of 8 years should be increased considerably. Making the transition from petrol & diesel straight to electric is unfair on the trade due to costs. There should be encouragement to Hybrid. Agree Agree Disagree Once the course is done there should be no need for refresher. Agree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 264



Q10a Q11 Q11a Q12 Q12a Q13 Q14 Q15 Q16
If you disagree, please state why. Do you agree or disagree that all taxis and private hire ... If you disagree, please state why. Do you agree or disagree that applicants with 6 points on... If you disagree, please state why. Do you have any other suggestions or comments to make? Are you What is your age? Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? (This m...

Neither agree nor disagree Strongly disagree 6 points on a licence can be achieved very easily, however depending on the speeds involved. Male 55-64 No
Strongly agree Strongly disagree Male 35-44 No
Strongly agree Strongly agree Female 45-54 Yes
Strongly agree Strongly agree Female 35-44 Yes
Strongly agree Strongly agree I suggest all drivers are encouraged to complete an advanced driving assessment, by RoSPA, RODAR, or any similar organisation Female 45-54 No
Neither agree nor disagree Agree Male 55-64 No
Agree Strongly agree Male 55-64 No
Strongly disagree Vehicles that solely carry out school contracts this would not be appropriate, again a case could be made for a schools only plating category Strongly disagree I cant see the benefit of this at all The changes to the licensing policy regarding the age of vehicles will have a detrimental effect on many small business's. Whilst I can agree with the 4 year age limit for new vehicles the 8 year age limit will limit service life of perfectly good vehicles, as a rule a vehicle carrying out a school contract will give us 8 to 10 years service. I also think this will have a detrimental impact on many owner drivers who will not be able to justify the cost of replacing a vehicle so often.Male 25-34 No
Strongly agree Strongly agree Male 45-54 No
Strongly agree Strongly agree i have received concerns from a number of passengers about some drivers' poor command of the English language which results in communucation breakdown. i feel this needs to be addressed. Male 65-74 No

I agree only as one course without any requirement to do a refresher course every 3 years. Agree Strongly disagree If it’s only minor offences then there should be no requirement to do a driver improvement course. Male 35-44 No
Neither agree nor disagree I agree for the safety of yourself and the safety of passenger but again on financial background not a lot of drivers can afford these costs yes I have CCTV in my vehicle but not every driver is the same also, on the other side of the respect towards safeguarding of drivers on passenger patents or family member should be notified on a consent from by the driver or the council that cctv is fitted on the vehicle and that is is only used for the protection and safeguarding of any present in the vehicle and within vehicle range therefore a consent form should be sent out to every applicable family members to whether they agree and are ok and also a consent from should be in a vehicle along with info stickersStrongly agree Male 45-54 No
Strongly agree Disagree Should be band from driving with no test As stated in previous answer, I would like to propose  an issue about health problems in older taxi drivers that have serious medical conditions or heart problems more supervision of these drivers should be adhered to for the safty of passenger's. Female 65-74 No
Strongly agree Strongly agree Female 35-44 Yes
Strongly agree Strongly agree Female 75+ No
Neither agree nor disagree Neither agree nor disagree PH Vehicles should not be allowed to park in shopping car parks/car parks/ or on side streets waiting for there operator/telephone bookings they should be made to return to there base. Male 55-64 Yes
Agree Agree Male 35-44 No
Agree Agree Enforcement need to work nights and weekends to try and catch the growing amount of drivers overcharging and refusing short fares. Private hire vehicles should be able to use bus lanes, the likes of Uber are growing More and more so why should taxis which are declining in use be allowed to use bus lanes and private hires not ? Whilst the bridge in Durham is closed there needs to be a designated private hire pick up point as currently on a weekend taxis block up whole area around market place so where are the hundreds now using Uber meant to get safely collected from? Anything agreed by licensing in Durham needs to be agreed in Sunderland and Newcastle or else drivers can just register elsewhere and still legally operate, but eith very little chance of ever getting monitored as out of areaMale 35-44 No
Strongly disagree Installation of CCV is an additional cost and burden for drivers at a challenging time for the trade. It is unclear who would be the data controller. If drivers are to be put in a position to act as data controllers they would have significant additional burdens around processing of personal data, responsibility for storage and disclosure, and notification to the ICO. If drivers have full access to the CCTV system and data it offers limited protection for riders.Agree N/A Male 35-44 No
Strongly agree Strongly agree Vehicle insurance must be for full year not monthly and confirmation from insures when insurance stops Male 65-74 Yes
Strongly agree Strongly agree 65-74 Yes
Strongly agree Strongly agree Regarding Driver Knowledge and Locality Tests, I have taken quite a few taxis around Durham and the knowledge of the local area seems extremely poor in some cases. I am not sure whether drivers are retested or how thorough the existing tests are but the results do not seem very good. The standard was much higher before the extension of licencing to allow many more drivers/firms to pick up in the city.Male 35-44 Yes

Agree as long as there is not a refresher course after 3 years. Agree Disagree if its only a minor offence then there shouldn't be a requirement to sit a driver improvement course. Male 45-54 No
Agree Disagree DRIVERS HAVE ENOUGH TO PAY OUT FOR LICENSES WE NEED BETTER CLEARANCE ON CROSS BORDER HIRING AS THE AMOUNT OF VEHICLES FROM OUT OF TOWN THAT DONT HAVE TO ABIDE BY THE COUNCIL POLICY IS RIDICULOUS. I FEEL LIKE I WOULD BENEFIT FROM LICENSING ALL OF MY VEHICLES WITH A DIFFERENT COUNCIL AS IT WOULD BE CHEAPER WITH LESS RESTRICTIONS AND REQUIREMENTSMale 65-74 Yes
Agree Neither agree nor disagree Male 45-54 No
Agree Disagree ive heard of drivers getting prosecuted for doing 31-32 mph which is a bit harsh Another more serious matter concerns me and that although it is a serious offence and extremely dangerous , getting prosecuted for "using" a mobile phone brings with it a FIVE YEAR TAXI LICENCE BAN...  This is rather draconian  ,for example  does placing a fallen mobile back in its cradle constitute a serious offence and worthy of a 5 year ban????    Also does using a cradled phone for navigation or voice commands constitute an offence ? is it any different from using an in built manufacturers touch screen navigation system????   The law is very blurry in these areas and requires clarification  if such SERIOUS penalties are to be imposedMale 55-64 No
Strongly agree Agree Male 25-34 No

It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Strongly disagree While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can make sure we are getting our moneys worth. Strongly disagree The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade. Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using covid to avoid working in partnership with the following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade b) Countywide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 7 of your current policy on page 8.Male 55-64 No
Disagree SHOULD BE PERSONAL CHOICE SOMETIMES IT WOULD BE ILLEGAL Strongly disagree EVEN MORE FARES GOING TO WEB CARS AND PIZZA DRIVERS VERY POOR TIME TO BE DOING THIS ARE YOU PLANNING LICENSING STAFF REDUNDANCIES YOU WILL NEED LESS STAFF Male 65-74 Yes

It should be up to the drivers if they want to be trained not forced by the policy  Upto the company or the individual whether they insure there vehicles or licence there vehicles to carry disabled passengers. Strongly disagree Again it’s down to the descretion of the company or individual if this is a requirement they need to have.  More unnecessary expenses again. Strongly disagree You are discriminating the driver as incompetent.  If the driver amhas a licence to drive then no further action should be taken . I think the council should stop make the job of a Taxi driver  unbearable.  The pressure on drivers are ridiculous.  I think the council should listen to drivers rather than them getting to get her on a committee and thinking what’s the next thing we can add to the list to get to taxi drivers and the companies involved. Female 55-64 No
Strongly agree Agree Male 35-44 No
Agree Neither agree nor disagree Male 65-74 Yes
Neither agree nor disagree Strongly disagree Male 45-54 No
Agree Agree Male 55-64 No
Agree Agree Male 55-64 No
Neither agree nor disagree Agree Male 55-64 No
Agree Disagree I don’t think there’s any need for minor offences Male 45-54 Yes
Strongly agree Agree Male 35-44 No

It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Strongly disagree While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can make sure we are getting our moneys worth. Strongly disagree The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade. Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 7 of your current policy on page 8Male 45-54 No
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Strongly disagree While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can make sure we are getting our moneys worth. Strongly disagree The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade. Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 7 of your current policy on page 8Female 45-54 No
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Strongly disagree While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can make sure we are getting our moneys worth. Strongly disagree The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade. Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 7 of your current policy on page 8Female 25-34 No

Disagree Personal choice Strongly disagree Absolutely no need for it.  12 points is a ban not 6. Male 35-44 No
Agree As long as govt pay for it Strongly disagree The job is in enough financial ruin and current rules are enough Everything is against the driver. At this rate there won't be many drivers left Male 45-54 No

It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Strongly disagree While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can make sure we are getting our moneys worth. Strongly disagree The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade. Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 7 of your current policy on page 8Female 18-24 No
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Strongly disagree While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can make sure we are getting our moneys worth. Strongly disagree The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade. Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 7 of your current policy on page 8Female 45-54 No
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Strongly disagree While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can make sure we are getting our moneys worth. Strongly disagree The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade. Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 7 of your current policy on page 8Male 18-24 No
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Strongly disagree While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can make sure we are getting our moneys worth. Strongly disagree The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade. Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 7 of your current policy on page 8Male 25-34 No
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Strongly disagree While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can make sure we are getting our moneys worth. Strongly disagree The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade. Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 7 of your current policy on page 8Male 75+ No
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Strongly disagree While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can make sure we are getting our moneys worth. Strongly disagree The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade. Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 7 of your current policy on page 8Female 45-54 No

Strongly agree Strongly agree Male 45-54 No
Neither agree nor disagree Strongly disagree Female 35-44 No
Disagree Disagree Male 35-44 No

Drivers working on the ranks are meeting disabled people all the time, so yes it makes perfect sense to train drivers on disability awareness. The training needs to cover a much wider range of disabilities though other than wheelchair users and people with guide dogs. Attention needs to be paid to people with learning disabilities, mental health awareness, autisim, elderly people, and other hidden disabilities. I’d also suggest conflict managment training could be a valuable tool for drivers to participate in. Maybe consider an NVQ for drivers which covers all the areas you wish to train including first aid, health and safety, CSE awareness, disability awareness. Make it a formal course with an approved provider rather than the council nor a private company not affiliated to any education board being able to cobble something together as currently happens with disabled access training provided by the education transport teams.Strongly disagree CCTV should not be compulsory in vehicles, there’s privacy issues for drivers and customers. Who would hold the ico licenses? Individual vehicle owners or the council? If it’s the council they should pay fo the systems to be fitted, and then at the end of the taxis life would need to pay to have the vehicle returned to standard spec. Some companies operate contracts on behalf of the prison service where CCTV is prohibited in vehicles operating on their behalf.Neither agree nor disagree This depends on the circumstances, it is possible to get 6 points for a single offence, and in the same respect it’s possible to get points for parking badly. To force drivers to go on training courses for some things would be silly. Some of the policy directly breaches the equality act. You can not demand anyone provides proof of conditions such as dyslexia. You can not refuse to issue a drover with a taxi badge because they didn’t learn to read or write. There’s even an argument that an oral English test could be construed as disability discrimination. If an individual has a speech problem would you refuse to license them? Or is it just targeted at people who don’t speak English at all? Their is no requirement for a driver to be able to fluently communicate with passengers, so long as they can understand where a passenger wants to go to it’s not their job to hold a full conversation or act as a tour guide. Drivers should not really be actively talking with passengers or acting as a tour guide this is just as dangerous as talking on a mobile phone.Male 35-44 Yes
Strongly disagree Strongly disagree Male 25-34 No
Agree Disagree I disagree the dvla deem to you fit to drive how can parish councillors play god with a taxi drivers livelihood Male 35-44 No
Strongly agree Strongly agree Male 45-54 Yes

Only those with disability vehicles. Otherwise all drivers should employ common sense and courtesy Agree Strongly disagree Totally disagree. Taxi drivers drive a lot of miles. I do 30,000 per annum, in often stressful circumstances. I do not need driver training or lessons. Male 55-64 No
Agree Disagree Depends what the points are for, the current system works fine for consideration of individual cases More street presence of enforcement, on the 2 or 3 occasions that enforcement officers have been out in Durham City on a Friday or Saturday night during my 4 years as a hackney driver, more than half of the usual cars are working, once word gets around many drivers get out of town, speaks volumes. Also enforcement checks on private hire cars from out of the area who form their own taxi ranks would helpMale 55-64 No
Disagree In principal it is a good idea , but it should always fall to the operator owner to have final say. Strongly disagree Points can be issued by Police and are subject to discrestion, as such there is no level / standard to say what is minor or if and when they are given to a driver. An increase in licencing enforcement in Durham city to combat the rise in PH ride sharing drivers parking illigally and touting for work with little or no oversight. Male 35-44 No
Strongly agree But not at great expense to the operator. Also who would be the data controller ??? Strongly disagree The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers aswell as all the general council workforce if adopted by our trade. I honestly believe this new policy should have been put on hold for 12 months owing to the current economic situation. COVID-19 has a lot to answer for and I believe in running with this is taking precious time away from dealing with more pressing matters. Male 35-44 No

I dont work with disabled.... and never have.. Agree Disagree Points may not be associated with bad driving Male 45-54 No
Agree Disagree It should depend on the offences. Getting an sp30 for doing 33 in a 30 is vastly different to 79 in a 50. Male 35-44 No

only if online and free Strongly disagree Only if not controlled by the council Strongly disagree If the law of the land say 12 points then that's what it should be.  If yes then ALL council workers including councilors should be held to the same standard Male 45-54 No
Neither agree nor disagree Agree Male 55-64 No

As long as we are not required to do refresher courses. Agree Disagree Why get driver to do a course for minor offences. I'm a few hours late on submitting my views on this consultation please accept them. Female 35-44 No

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 265



ID Format Q1a Q1b Q1c Q1d Q1e Q1f Q1Oth TAXI Q2 Q3 Q3Dis Q4 Q4Dis Q5 Q5Yes Q6 Q6Dis Q7 Q7Dis Q8 Q8Dis Q9 Q9Dis Q10 Q10Dis Q11 Q11Dis Q12 Q12Dis Q13 Q14 Q15 Q16
48 1 5 2 4 2 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 1 2 2 2
50 1 5 2 5 2 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 1 1 2 2
51 1 6 2 1 5 2 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 1 1 3 2
45 1 1 1 4 2 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 1 2 3 2

8 1 3 4 1 3 1 2 3 2 2 2 5 1 1 2 2 2 1 2 2 2 5 1 5 1 1 1 3 2
28 2 5 2 3 3 2 3 2 2 2 5 1 2 2 1 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 2 2 2 1 3 2
58 2 1 1 5 5 2 5 2 1 2 5 2 5 2 1 2 5 2 5 2 5 2 5 2 2 1 3 2
63 2 1 4 1 2 3 2 -99 2 1 2 5 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 2 2 4 1 5 1 1 1 4 2
19 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 2 2 2 2 1 1 4 2
64 3 1 2 3 4 5 1 4 2 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 2 2 1 1 5 1 1 1 4 2
69 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 5 1 2 2 2 2 4 1 2 1 2 2 4 1 1 2 4 2
20 1 3 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 5 1 2 2 1 1 4 2
23 1 5 2 3 3 2 3 2 -99 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 1 4 1
57 2 1 3 4 1 4 1 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 3 2 5 1 5 1 1 1 5 1 3 1 1 1 4 1
46 2 1 1 3 2 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 4 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 4 1 5 1 2 1 4 2
59 2 1 1 2 2 2 3 2 -99 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 4 1 2 1 4 2
11 2 1 1 3 1 2 1 2 2 2 5 1 2 2 2 2 5 1 2 1 2 2 5 1 2 1 4 2
66 3 -99 -99 2 -99 2 -99 2 5 1 1 2 1 2 1 2 3 2 2 2 4 1 2 1 4 2
18 1 1 2 4 1 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 5 1 1 2 1 2 2 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 4 2
32 2 1 2 4 1 2 2 2 4 2 1 1 5 1 3 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 2 1 4 2
42 1 1 2 4 1 2 2 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 2 2 2 1 4 2

2 2 1 2 3 1 5 1 2 1 2 1 2 5 1 1 2 5 2 5 2 5 2 1 2 5 2 2 1 4 2
4 2 5 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 4 1

15 2 5 2 2 3 2 3 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 4 1
56 2 1 1 4 1 2 2 2 1 2 4 2 4 2 2 2 4 2 3 2 4 2 4 2 2 1 4 2
55 2 -99 5 3 2 5 2 2 2 5 2 5 2 5 2 3 2 1 2 3 2 5 2 2 2 4 2
47 2 2 1 3 4 2 2 2 1 1 5 1 2 2 2 2 4 1 3 2 2 1 5 1 1 1 5 2

5 2 5 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 5 2
49 1 6 1 1 5 2 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 1 2 5 2
53 1 6 3 1 5 2 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 1 2 5 2
44 1 1 5 1 4 2 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 1 2 5 2
43 1 1 1 4 2 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 1 1 5 2
41 2 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 5 1 3 2 2 2 4 1 2 2 2 2 4 1 2 1 5 1
24 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 5 1 2 2 2 2 4 1 2 1 2 2 4 1 2 1 5 2
67 1 1 1 4 2 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 2 1 5 2
65 2 1 4 1 4 3 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 1 2 1 1 4 1 4 1 2 2 4 1 2 1 5 2
13 2 1 1 1 1 2 1 2 2 2 3 1 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 3 1 1 2 2 1 5 2
26 1 1 1 2 2 2 4 2 1 1 5 1 4 1 2 2 4 1 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 1 5 2
37 1 1 1 5 2 2 3 2 1 2 4 1 3 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 3 2 5 2 2 1 5 2

3 2 5 2 -99 -99 2 4 1 2 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 5 1
54 2 5 2 3 5 1 4 2 2 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 1 5 2

9 2 2 1 1 1 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 1 5 2
60 2 1 1 5 5 2 5 2 2 2 5 2 5 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 1 5 1

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 266



27 1 1 1 1 1 2 4 1 1 1 5 1 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 4 1 1 1 6 2
31 2 1 1 4 2 2 4 2 -99 2 4 2 5 2 2 2 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 1 2 6 2
62 2 1 1 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 4 1 1 1 6 2
17 1 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 3 2 1 2 2 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 1 1 6 1
29 1 1 1 4 2 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 1 1 6 2

1 2 2 1 3 3 1 4 1 2 2 5 1 2 2 1 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 5 1 2 1 6 2
61 2 1 1 3 2 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 5 1 2 2 4 1 4 1 2 2 5 1 2 1 6 2
68 2 2 1 4 4 2 5 2 1 1 5 1 1 2 1 2 2 2 3 2 3 2 2 2 2 1 6 2

6 2 1 1 2 2 2 4 1 1 1 3 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 2 1 6 2
7 2 5 2 2 2 2 4 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 2 1 6 2

38 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 6 2
39 1 1 1 1 1 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 6 2
40 1 1 1 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 2 1 6 2
14 3 5 2 2 4 1 4 1 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 4 1 1 2 7 2
10 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 2 2 2 1 2 2 1 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 1 7 2
21 3 5 2 3 3 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 1 7 1
30 1 1 1 5 5 2 5 2 -99 1 5 2 5 2 3 2 5 1 -99 2 4 1 5 1 1 1 7 1
25 1 3 1 4 3 2 5 1 1 1 5 1 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 2 2 4 1 1 1 7 1
22 3 5 2 1 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 -99 7 1
36 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 1 7 1
52 1 5 2 5 2 2 3 2 1 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 1 1 8 2
16 1 5 2 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 8 2

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 267



ID TAXI Q3 Q3Dis CodeA CodeB CodeC
54 2 Strongly disagree Enhanced DBS checks

14 2 Disagree If a person has been suspended for an attack on vulnerable children what measures are in place if the driver returns back

10 1 Agree
Provided there is close cooperation between local police and licensing authority with regard to very recent/ongoing 
convictions/cautions.

1 1 Neither agree nor disagree
The locality test is not fit for purpose. If you were to revise certain routes you will pass the test but probably can't explain any 
other locations   people use technology now and they will ask if they are in doubt. It is a good way to collect revinue though.

49 1 Agree
51 1 Agree
53 1 Agree
64 1 Agree
44 1 Agree

3 2
4 2 Agree
5 2 Agree
7 2 Agree

15 2 Neither agree nor disagree
28 2 Neither agree nor disagree
21 2 Neither agree nor disagree
22 2 Strongly agree
16 2 Strongly agree
23 2 Neither agree nor disagree
48 2 Agree
50 2 Agree
52 2 Agree
19 1 Agree
17 1 Strongly agree
57 1 Strongly agree

8 1 Strongly agree
32 1 Agree
18 1 Agree
42 1 Agree
63 1 Neither agree nor disagree
65 1 Neither agree nor disagree

2 1 Strongly agree
20 1 Agree
25 1 Neither agree nor disagree

9 1 Strongly agree
47 1 Disagree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 268



68 1 Disagree
6 1 Agree

11 1 Strongly agree
13 1 Strongly agree
31 1 Agree
41 1 Agree
46 1 Agree
56 1 Strongly agree
58 1 Strongly disagree
59 1 Agree
60 1 Strongly disagree
61 1 Agree
62 1 Agree
24 1 Agree
26 1 Agree
27 1 Strongly agree
29 1 Agree
30 1 Strongly disagree
36 1 Strongly agree
37 1 Agree
38 1 Agree
39 1 Strongly agree
40 1 Agree
43 1 Agree
45 1 Agree
67 1 Agree
69 1 Agree
55 -99 Neither agree nor disagree
66

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 269



ID TAXI Q4 Q4Dis CodeA CodeB CodeC
7 2 Disagree All taxis should take contactless payment

25 1 Strongly disagree CROSS BORDER HIRING RULES
1 1 Disagree Locality test should just cover hospitals and maybe main accident and emergency departments but not where farms ect are.  Common sense.

61 1 Disagree Minor traffic offences. You keep your licence until 12 points. It should be the same for licensed taxi drivers.
6 1 Disagree More protection and support for drivers who are vulnerable every time we pick up a passenger

27 1 Disagree see below
3 2 Disagree There should be more emphasis on and incentives to switch away from petrol and diesel to fully electric vehicles

14 2 Disagree When taxi drivers have had heart or  other medical conditions needing daily medication yearly  face to face checks with a GP should take place
49 1 Neither agree nor disagree
51 1 Neither agree nor disagree
53 1 Neither agree nor disagree
64 1 Neither agree nor disagree
44 1 Neither agree nor disagree

4 2 Agree
5 2 Agree

15 2 Neither agree nor disagree
28 2 Neither agree nor disagree
54 2 Disagree
21 2 Agree
22 2 Strongly agree
16 2 Agree
23 2 Neither agree nor disagree
48 2 Neither agree nor disagree
50 2 Neither agree nor disagree
52 2 Neither agree nor disagree
19 1 Agree
17 1 Agree
57 1 Neither agree nor disagree

8 1 Neither agree nor disagree
32 1 Disagree
18 1 Agree
42 1 Neither agree nor disagree
63 1
65 1 Neither agree nor disagree

2 1 Strongly agree
20 1 Agree

9 1 Strongly agree
47 1 Agree
68 1 Strongly disagree
11 1 Strongly agree
13 1 Strongly agree
31 1 Disagree
41 1 Agree
46 1 Neither agree nor disagree
56 1 Agree
58 1 Strongly disagree
59 1 Neither agree nor disagree
60 1 Strongly disagree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 270



62 1 Neither agree nor disagree
10 1 Strongly agree
24 1 Agree
26 1 Disagree
29 1 Neither agree nor disagree
30 1 Strongly disagree
36 1 Agree
37 1 Neither agree nor disagree
38 1 Agree
39 1 Strongly agree
40 1 Agree
43 1 Neither agree nor disagree
45 1 Neither agree nor disagree
67 1 Neither agree nor disagree
69 1 Agree
55 -99 Strongly disagree
66

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 271



ID TAXI Q5 Q5Yes CodeA CodeB CodeC
32 1 Yes 8 years old/ to 10 years old,and euro 5 NOT EURO 6

47 1 Yes
Age limit. Some 8 year old cars are in better condition and less miles than some 3 year old. It will also put drivers in 
permanent debt

30 1 AGE LIMITS WHAT PLANET ARE YOU ON TAXIS ARE JUST SURVIVING DEATH KNELL FOR MOST OPERATORS
6 1 Yes Age limits. As long as the vehicle meets Euro 6 and is correctly maintained age should not be an issue.

25 1 Yes
AGE OF VEHICLES. SOME OLDER VEHICLES ARE IN BETTER CONDITION THAN SOME OF THE NEWER ONES. IF THE VEHICLE CAN 
PASS A COUNCIL MOT THEY SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO STAY ON THE ROAD

49 1 Yes Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed.
51 1 Yes Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed.
53 1 Yes Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed.
44 1 Yes Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed.
48 2 Yes Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed.
50 2 Yes Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed.
52 2 Yes Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed.
29 1 Yes Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed.
43 1 Yes Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed.
45 1 Yes Common sense needs to be used instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBSs when not needed.
64 1 Yes Common sense needs to be used, instead of making drivers pay for TWO DBS ‘s when not needed.
65 1 Yes Concentrate on unlicensed out of town ph drivers before chastising hack vehicle age
67 1 Yes Drivers shouldn't be asked to pay for 2 DBS's
68 1 Yes On at 4 years off at 8. . also allowing cross border hiring.
42 1 Yes see response to next question

26 1 Yes
Some cars over 8 years old could be potentially be in better condition than newer vehicles. As long as they pass the 
compliance test, they should be allowed to be licenced

57 1 Yes

The new standards are currently being challenged on various fronts, producing a new policy now and including them could 
mean the policy becomes void in the near future. It would make more sense to hold the new policy for 12 months while this is 
ironed out.

27 1 Yes wehicle age  see below
3 2 No
4 2 No
5 2 No
7 2 No

15 2 No

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 272



28 2 No
54 2 No
14 2 No
21 2 No
22 2 Yes
16 2 No
23 2
19 1 No
17 1 No

8 1 No
18 1 Yes
63 1 Yes

2 1 Yes
20 1 No

1 1 No
9 1 No

11 1 No
13 1 No
31 1
41 1 Yes
46 1 No
56 1 Yes
58 1 Yes
59 1
60 1 No
61 1 Yes
62 1 No
10 1 No
24 1 No
36 1 No
37 1 Yes
38 1 No
39 1 No
40 1 No

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 273



69 1 Yes
55 -99 No
66

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 274



ID TAXI Q6 Q6Dis CodeA CodeB CodeC
61 1 Disagree 10 year old limit on cars, new cars 6 years old, more sensible and affordable

41 1 Strongly disagree
Age of new Vehicle should not be 4 years old a first license. Also the vehicle age to replace them at 8 years old is too short. I 
think 13 years old then vehicle should be replaced.

68 1 Strongly disagree Age standards
47 1 Strongly disagree Age. Will keep drivers in permanent debt and an 8 year old vehicle cam be as good as a 3 year old one.

32 1 Strongly disagree
All of them,in the current climate its hard enough to make a living now,and aslong as its road worthy and well looked after,i 
really cant see what the problem is,coach companies don't have this issue,and they are serving the public

37 1 Disagree all vehicles should be up to 10 years old
26 1 Strongly disagree As long as a vehicle passes emissions,compliance test & is in good condition, it should be able to be licenced

67 1 Strongly disagree

As long as vehicles meet the current 3 test per year (on older vehicles) and meet any enviromental standards then vehicles 
should be allowed to continue to be plated.  The policy would only be based on vanity (we only want new cars) and not 
roadworthy standards

27 1 Strongly disagree

As well as the taxi industry already  being decimated by covid, we now have to contend with the cost of buying  3 year old 
vehicles ,its like the council are trying to finish us off.  A better solution would be  Euro 6  up to 5or 6 year old   and vehicles 
removed at 10 years rather than 8.

28 2 Strongly disagree Electric vehicles should not be exempt from the age restriction policy.

63 1 Strongly disagree

Existing vehicles that meet and continue to meet standards that have been registered bedore the adoption of the policy 
should be granted grandfather rights to continue as Hack/PH until such time as they mechanically unsound.  To impliment a 4 
year maximum age on new vehicles is to price  out the majority of the owner drivers, whos margins of operating margins are 
tight already.  Given  the loss of almost a years trading profits in 2020 this policy should be amended and deffered until the 
true impact of Covid can be assessed on tge trade.

18 1 Strongly disagree

I agree that vehicles should have an agreed age limit, however I do not agree that a vehicle first being licensed should be a 
maximum of four years old. In the last 18 months I have licenced 3 vehicles which are over that age and each time the tester 
has commented on how clean and well maintained they are. If this rule is enforced it will mean that as a trade we will be 
forced to purchase vehicles with higher mileage or vehicles which are or have previously been damaged rather than quality 
low mileage vehicles. For example a six passenger seat vehicle such as a Ford Galaxy on a 66 plate with more than 100,000 
miles on would currently cost £10,000 to buy whereas a 64 plate with 40,000 miles on would cost you the same. If we are 
forced to purchase newer vehicles with more miles on the cost of repairs will be significant as we will be inheriting problems. 
Alternatively we could purchase lower mileage 66 plates for £14,000 but then the cost will have to be passed onto the 
customer. Our home to school transport prices will increase significantly and our meter prices will have to increase which will 
cost the general public more, I am located in the most deprived area of the country, formally the district of Easington Colliery. 
This may also mean that there is a need for cheaper transport which may lead to more unlicensed taxis operating. Do we 
really think that putting these measures in place when we are in a recession is a good idea?

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 275



11 1 Strongly disagree
I disagree with an age being put on licensed vehicles. Licensing vehicles less than four years old. And then only allowing 
vehicles to be licensed until they are 8 years old. Alternatively emission standards might be better. But without a age limit.

1 1 Strongly disagree If a vehicle is miticulacley maintained why replace it as it costs more to the environment by manufacturing a new one

66 Strongly disagree

If this change in policy is brought in it will decimate the taxi trade in County Durham. Having to buy a 4 year old (or newer) 
vehicle every 4 years (or more if buying a newer vehicle) will be so expensive that a lot of drivers will not be able to afford to 
buy another vehicle. Or if they can afford to buy one it may already be very high mileage. For example a 2016 Skoda octavia 
with 36000 miles on is £12000, £266 a month meaning you will pay back roughly £13500 (unless you have poor credit then 
you could be paying back £24-25000). But as the car is 4 years old when it is first licensed the owner only has 4 years to use 
that vehicle meaning they will be in a constant cycle of needing finance.  Further more, why when a vehicle becomes 4 years 
and 1 day old does it become any less suitable as a taxi. Or why when it becomes 8 years and 1 day is it any less suitable as a 
taxi?  I agree with new cars coming onto the fleet after 1st April 2024 being euro 6, we all should be working towards making 
the environment cleaner, but discarding a perfectly usable vehicle simply because of its age is wrong.  Along with what I have 
previously said I think the council need to look at the current circumstances and take this into account. It is going to take 
many years for the economy to recover and forcing people into getting debt to carry out their job is immoral.

13 1 Neither agree nor disagree

Not a lot of the drivers can afford to buy new vehicles every 8 years and I agree if the vehicle is near enough no longer road 
worthy than that’s great but if a vehicle is kept well maintained and is still road worthy I think it should be kept on as a taxi  
due to the council MOT tests which we get every 6 months been a high profile test should be able to detect whether a vehicle 
is road worthy or not and a longer life span than the 8 year timeline

42 1 Strongly disagree

regarding public transport i.e. bus and coach companies who transport passengers including children are not required to 
meet these standards and as such their vehicles are much older so i feel the trade are being singled out. Agree with euro 6 
emission standard however, not the new vehicle proposal or age policy of the vehicle whereby you would have to take it off 
after 8 years. I have vehicles which are maintained to a good standard and they get serviced twice a year as well as its council 
test. oil filters changed evey 9000 miles. it doesn't matter what age the vehicle is as long as it is maintained and serviced to a 
good standard. I generally know when my vehicle is at the end of life and at that point i would replace it.

69 1 Strongly disagree

The 4 year Age should be increased from first licence. The vehicle age of 8 years should be increased considerably. Making 
the transition from petrol & diesel straight to electric is unfair on the trade due to costs. There should be encouragement to 
Hybrid.

24 1 Strongly disagree The 8 year rule is to strict. Vehicles over 8 years should be licenced.

2 1 Strongly disagree
The age of the car as long as it’s passed it’s hack tests there should be no reason why cars after 8 year old should not be re 
licenced this is a discrace and will put allot of drivers in financial difficulty having to buy new cars constantly

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 276



8 1 Strongly disagree

The proposed new age limits on vehicles will unfairly affect operators who carry out a large proportion of school contracts as 
the timeframe to need to replace vehicles frequently will mean an increase in tendered prices to as depreciation will need to 
be recouped over a shorter time which means more cost for the Local Authority and ultimately the tax payers of the local 
area. The benefits gained of a low emission vehicle operating for less than 2 hours per day would be negligible. In this 
instance a 'schools only' plating category may be appropriate.

65 1 Strongly disagree These vehicles are not always affordable and unfairly limit existing drivers from protecting their careers.

49 1 Strongly disagree

This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  
Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have 
been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year 
old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. 
Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then 
bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be 
SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years 
will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles 
should last TWO EXTRA years and new ones should be SIX years. While this may keep the current level of WAV vehicles in the 
county, it won’t help increase the woefully inadequate numbers in the county. But the only reason for removing old vehicles 
is vanity as long as they are sound and meeting environmental standards they should be able to work with the current THREE 
test regime.

51 1 Strongly disagree

This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  
Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have 
been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year 
old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. 
Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then 
bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be 
SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years 
will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles 
should last TWO EXTRA years and new ones should be SIX years. While this may keep the current level of WAV vehicles in the 
county, it won’t help increase the woefully inadequate numbers in the county. But the only reason for removing old vehicles 
is vanity as long as they are sound and meeting environmental standards they should be able to work with the current THREE 
test regime.

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 277



53 1 Strongly disagree

This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  
Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have 
been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year 
old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. 
Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then 
bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be 
SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years 
will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles 
should last TWO EXTRA years and new ones should be SIX years. While this may keep the current level of WAV vehicles in the 
county, it won’t help increase the woefully inadequate numbers in the county. But the only reason for removing old vehicles 
is vanity as long as they are sound and meeting environmental standards they should be able to work with the current THREE 
test regime.

44 1 Strongly disagree

This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  
Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have 
been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year 
old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. 
Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then 
bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be 
SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years 
will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles 
should last TWO EXTRA years and new ones should be SIX years. While this may keep the current level of WAV vehicles in the 
county, it won’t help increase the woefully inadequate numbers in the county. But the only reason for removing old vehicles 
is vanity as long as they are sound and meeting environmental standards they should be able to work with the current THREE 
test regime.

48 2 Strongly disagree

This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  
Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have 
been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year 
old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. 
Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then 
bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be 
SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years 
will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles 
should last TWO EXTRA years and new ones should be SIX years. While this may keep the current level of WAV vehicles in the 
county, it won’t help increase the woefully inadequate numbers in the county. But the only reason for removing old vehicles 
is vanity as long as they are sound and meeting environmental standards they should be able to work with the current THREE 
test regime.

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 278



50 2 Strongly disagree

This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  
Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have 
been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year 
old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. 
Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then 
bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be 
SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years 
will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles 
should last TWO EXTRA years and new ones should be SIX years. While this may keep the current level of WAV vehicles in the 
county, it won’t help increase the woefully inadequate numbers in the county. But the only reason for removing old vehicles 
is vanity as long as they are sound and meeting environmental standards they should be able to work with the current THREE 
test regime.

52 2 Strongly disagree

This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  
Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have 
been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year 
old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. 
Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then 
bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be 
SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years 
will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles 
should last TWO EXTRA years and new ones should be SIX years. While this may keep the current level of WAV vehicles in the 
county, it won’t help increase the woefully inadequate numbers in the county. But the only reason for removing old vehicles 
is vanity as long as they are sound and meeting environmental standards they should be able to work with the current THREE 
test regime.

29 1 Strongly disagree

This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  
Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have 
been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year 
old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. 
Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then 
bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be 
FIVE years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at TEN years will 
at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles should 
last till TWELVE years and new ones should be SIX years. While this may keep the current level of WAV vehicles in the county, 
it won’t help increase the woefully inadequate numbers in the county. But the only reason for removing old vehicles is vanity 
as long as they are sound and meeting environmental standards they should be able to work with the current THREE test 
regime.

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 279



43 1 Strongly disagree

This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  
Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have 
been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year 
old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. 
Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then 
bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be 
SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years 
will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles 
should last TWO EXTRA years and new ones should be SIX years. While this may keep the current level of WAV vehicles in the 
county, it won’t help increase the woefully inadequate numbers in the county. But the only reason for removing old vehicles 
is vanity as long as they are sound and meeting environmental standards they should be able to work with the current THREE 
test regime.

45 1 Strongly disagree

This policy stinks of favouring the large corporate companies at the expense of the traditional local independent drivers.  
Again a policy to favour large companies and make almost impossible the survival of the small individual drivers that have 
been a tradition especially in County Durham.  Normal purchase agreements are usually over FIVE years so buying a Four year 
old vehicle to go at EIGHT years means you are still paying for a vehicle you can’t use. No individual can sustain this cost. 
Large companies won’t be affected as they can dump the vehicle to a licensing authority that doesn’t have this standard, then 
bring it back to Durham and use it as a private hire. The aim of all Euro 6 vehicles is a good one, but, new vehicles should be 
SIX years old this will by the time the policy is adopted mean all new vehicles will be Euro 6. An end of use at ELEVEN years 
will at least allow individuals the ability to exit finance agreements before having to purchase a new vehicle. WAV vehicles 
should last TWO EXTRA years and new ones should be SIX years. While this may keep the current level of WAV vehicles in the 
county, it won’t help increase the woefully inadequate numbers in the county. But the only reason for removing old vehicles 
is vanity as long as they are sound and meeting environmental standards they should be able to work with the current THREE 
test regime.

64 1 Strongly disagree

Usually purchase agreements are over 5 years, so if you buy a 4 year old vehicle over a five year agreement, the said vehicle 
will have to be taken off as a taxi / phv with 1 year of the agreement to be paid. Meaning we’re stuck with a vehicle which still 
has to be paid for but unable to use as a taxi. WHATS THE POINT!!  No small company or individual can afford this.  Why not 
make it upto 6 year old to be licensed and renewed at 11 year old, with the exception to WAV which I agree should have a 2 
year extension owing to the additional cost of purchase and adaption. This would still ensure all new vehicles being licensed 
fall into EURO 6 on the emissions.   Also would a zero emission vehicle, not still deteriorate at the same rate as a diesel or 
petrol car. I.E. the seats will have the same wear and tear, the suspension still travels on poor roads and on and on and on.

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 280



57 1 Strongly disagree

Utter rot that a 3 year old Euro 6 vehicle can be licensed but a 5 year old Euro 6 vehicle can’t be licensed as a new vehicle. If 
the vehicle meets Euro 6 engine specifications and passes the emissions test its Euro 6 and passed the test. How does the age 
of the vehicle impact emissions? If I purchase a brand new Euro 6 vehicle and run at 75,000 miles a year, when the vehicle it’s 
4 years old it’s done 300k. If a driver buys a second hand Euro 6 vehicle at 5 years old with 40,000 miles on the clock how is 
that worse for the environment than a vehicle of the same age and engine as one with 300k+ miles? A stupid rule not thought 
out at all. If you want to make engine emissions future proof, all you need to do is say “only vehicles which meet Euro 6 will 
be licensed as new applications and all pre Euro 5 vehicles won’t be renewed after April 2024. Add a line that says something 
like Euro 6 vehicles may be used until 8 years after the Euro 6 engine specification is superseded, and from 3 years after the 
new standard is realised all new vehicles must meet that standard.

25 1 Strongly disagree WE DISAGREE WITH THE AGE OF VEHICLE HOWEVER AGREE WITH EMISSIONS
3 2 Strongly agree
4 2 Agree
5 2 Agree
7 2 Agree

15 2 Strongly agree
54 2 Strongly agree
14 2 Strongly agree
21 2 Strongly agree
22 2 Strongly agree
16 2 Strongly agree
23 2 Strongly agree
19 1 Strongly agree
17 1 Neither agree nor disagree
20 1 Agree

9 1 Strongly agree
6 1 Neither agree nor disagree

31 1 Disagree
46 1 Agree
56 1 Disagree
58 1 Strongly disagree
59 1 Agree
60 1 Strongly disagree
62 1 Agree
10 1 Strongly agree
30 1 Strongly disagree
36 1 Agree
38 1 Agree
39 1 Strongly agree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 281



40 1 Agree
55 -99 Strongly disagree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 282



ID TAXI Q7 Q7Dis CodeA CodeB CodeC
61 1 Strongly disagree Absurd that 2 minor speeding offences e.g SP30 should endanger your licence

10 1 Agree
providing there is close cooperation between licensing authority and local police regarding recent/ongoing cautions and 
prosecutions.

64 1 Strongly disagree

Why would the council licence people with drug or sex convictions ?  Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, never 
mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just not get 
involved. We have already seen one such case this week.

67 1 Strongly disagree Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?

49 1 Strongly disagree

Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, 
never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just 
not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week.

51 1 Strongly disagree

Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, 
never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just 
not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week.

53 1 Strongly disagree

Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, 
never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just 
not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week.

44 1 Strongly disagree

Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, 
never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just 
not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week

48 2 Strongly disagree

Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, 
never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just 
not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week.

50 2 Strongly disagree

Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, 
never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just 
not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week.

52 2 Strongly disagree

Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, 
never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just 
not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week.

29 1 Strongly disagree

Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, 
never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just 
not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week.

43 1 Strongly disagree

Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, 
never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just 
not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week.

45 1 Strongly disagree

Why would the council licensing people with drugs or a sex convictions?       Drivers are now reticent to act in self defence, 
never mind interceding in any incident on North Road. This clause would put the public in more danger as drivers would just 
not get involved. We have already seen one such case this week

26 1 Disagree You have no control over cross border hiring drivers
3 2 Agree
4 2 Strongly agree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 283



5 2 Agree
7 2 Agree

15 2 Strongly agree
28 2 Agree
54 2 Agree
14 2 Strongly agree
21 2 Strongly agree
22 2 Strongly agree
16 2 Strongly agree
23 2 Strongly agree
19 1 Agree
17 1 Neither agree nor disagree
57 1 Neither agree nor disagree

8 1 Strongly agree
32 1 Neither agree nor disagree
18 1 Strongly agree
42 1 Strongly agree
63 1 Strongly agree
65 1 Strongly agree

2 1 Strongly agree
20 1 Agree
25 1 Strongly agree

1 1 Agree
9 1 Strongly agree

47 1 Agree
68 1 Strongly agree

6 1 Agree
11 1 Agree
13 1 Strongly agree
31 1 Strongly disagree
41 1 Neither agree nor disagree
46 1 Disagree
56 1 Disagree
58 1 Strongly disagree
59 1 Agree
60 1 Strongly disagree
62 1 Neither agree nor disagree
24 1 Agree
27 1 Neither agree nor disagree
30 1 Strongly disagree
36 1 Agree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 284



37 1 Neither agree nor disagree
38 1 Agree
39 1 Strongly agree
40 1 Agree
69 1 Agree
55 -99 Strongly disagree
66 Strongly agree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 285



ID TAXI Q8 Q8Dis CodeA CodeB CodeC

57 1 Strongly disagree

Agree completely with intelligence led checks. Random checks are very much open to abuse by officers of the council. What’s 
to stop an officer ‘randomly’ selecting the same individual over and over again? Who pays for these tests? If I were randomly 
selected and expected to pay for my random test that I passed, I’d be seeking legal advice on the basis you carried out a test 
at my expense that wasn’t required. Will the council officers and drivers of council owned vehicles be subjected to the same 
random during and alcohol tests as the trade?

63 1 Strongly agree Any and all testing shall be at the expense of the licencing authority.
67 1 Strongly disagree I would agree if it applied to all council employee's as well

49 1 Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees.

51 1 Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees.

53 1 Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees.

44 1 Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees.

48 2 Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees.

50 2 Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees.

52 2 Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees.

43 1 Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees.

45 1 Strongly disagree Intelligence led yes, random no as it is open to abuse. It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees.

64 1 Strongly disagree
Intelligence led, by all means, random so long as it’s at the councils expense unless a positive result is returned. Also should 
apply to all council officers, officials and employees.

29 1 Strongly disagree It should also be applied to councillors and all council employees
65 1 Strongly agree Test all of us. Many are high as kites

3 2 Strongly agree
4 2 Strongly agree
5 2 Strongly agree
7 2 Agree

15 2 Strongly agree
28 2 Strongly agree
54 2 Strongly agree
14 2 Strongly agree
21 2 Strongly agree
22 2 Strongly agree
16 2 Strongly agree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 286



23 2 Strongly agree
19 1 Agree
17 1 Strongly agree

8 1 Agree
32 1 Strongly agree
18 1 Strongly agree
42 1 Strongly agree

2 1 Strongly disagree
20 1 Agree
25 1 Strongly agree

1 1 Strongly agree
9 1 Strongly agree

47 1 Agree
68 1 Strongly agree

6 1 Strongly agree
11 1 Agree
13 1 Strongly agree
31 1 Agree
41 1 Agree
46 1 Agree
56 1 Agree
58 1 Strongly agree
59 1 Agree
60 1 Strongly agree
61 1 Agree
62 1 Agree
10 1 Strongly agree
24 1 Agree
26 1 Agree
27 1 Agree
30 1 Neither agree nor disagree
36 1 Strongly agree
37 1 Strongly agree
38 1 Strongly agree
39 1 Strongly agree
40 1 Strongly agree
69 1 Agree
55 -99 Strongly disagree
66 Strongly agree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 287



ID TAXI Q9 Q9Dis CodeA CodeB CodeC
31 1 Strongly disagree Common sense

47 1 Disagree

Course was waste of time. Common sense is needed we are not the police. At course police were asked about unlicensed 
vehicles picking vulnerable people up they said they couldn't do anything about it. That in my opinion is a bigger problem than 
drivers reporting it.

61 1 Disagree CRB checks are enough
41 1 Disagree Drivers once sat course don’t loose knowledge.
11 1 Strongly disagree I disagree with refresher courses every 3 years. A refresher course every 5 to 6 years would be better.

18 1 Agree

I strongly agree. Also I think that all drivers whether they wish to be engaged on home to school contracts or not should 
complete the same CSE course which is held by County Hall. In my opinion it is ludicrous that as a new driver you potentially 
have to sit two as licencing wont issue your badge until you have completed their course.

26 1 Disagree If a driver has had training, it's a matter of common sense implanting ity
24 1 Disagree if driver has already done the course there no reason to refresh after 3 years.
67 1 Strongly disagree Just reiterates the same thing, if anything new then it should be made available online to all drivers
65 1 Disagree Not our responsibility to spot or accuse public of this..  social services and polices job
69 1 Disagree Once the course is done there should be no need for refresher.

57 1 Strongly disagree

So long as the training is required because things have changed fair enough, but to expect people to pay to sit and watch a 
power point presentation in county hall which is identical to the power point presentation they watched 3 years ago is both a 
waste of time and an insult to the intelligence of the people attending. As mentioned, if it’s a new course, fair enough to 
expect retraining. It should read “retraining as required as legislation changes”

64 1 Strongly disagree

The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training.  It should be online and free 
so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of being dragged to a central location. Agree with trading at 
first licence granting but then only if there is new information to be trained on, not the same time after time.

49 1 Strongly disagree

The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free 
so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to 
inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new 
information to make the training relevant again and again.

51 1 Strongly disagree

The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free 
so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to 
inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new 
information to make the training relevant again and again.

53 1 Strongly disagree

The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free 
so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to 
inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new 
information to make the training relevant again and again.

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 288



44 1 Strongly disagree

The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free 
so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to 
inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new 
information to make the training relevant again and again.

48 2 Strongly disagree

The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free 
so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to 
inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new 
information to make the training relevant again and again.

50 2 Strongly disagree

The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free 
so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to 
inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new 
information to make the training relevant again and again.

52 2 Strongly disagree

The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free 
so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to 
inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new 
information to make the training relevant again and again.

29 1 Strongly disagree

The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free 
so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to 
inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank.

43 1 Strongly disagree

The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free 
so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to 
inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new 
information to make the training relevant again and again.

45 1 Strongly disagree

The quality of the councils training this year was far below the standards of the previous training. It should be online and free 
so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central location to sit and listen to 
inferior training. Better to listen in your own home or on the rank. Training at first licencing yes, but there has been no new 
information to make the training relevant again and again.

30 1 Strongly disagree WHO WOULD YOU REPORT ANYTHING TO WHO WOULD TAKE ANY NOTICE MORE TIMEWASTING
3 2 Strongly agree
4 2 Strongly agree
5 2 Strongly agree
7 2 Agree

15 2 Strongly agree
28 2 Agree
54 2 Strongly agree
14 2 Strongly agree
21 2 Strongly agree
22 2 Strongly agree
16 2 Strongly agree
23 2 Strongly agree
19 1 Agree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 289



17 1 Agree
8 1 Strongly agree

32 1 Strongly agree
42 1 Strongly agree
63 1 Strongly agree

2 1 Strongly disagree
20 1 Agree
25 1 Strongly agree

1 1 Neither agree nor disagree
9 1 Strongly agree

68 1 Agree
6 1 Strongly agree

13 1 Strongly agree
46 1 Neither agree nor disagree
56 1 Disagree
58 1 Strongly disagree
59 1 Agree
60 1 Strongly agree
62 1 Agree
10 1 Strongly agree
27 1 Agree
36 1 Agree
37 1 Strongly agree
38 1 Strongly agree
39 1 Strongly agree
40 1 Strongly agree
55 -99 Neither agree nor disagree
66 Strongly agree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 290



ID TAXI Q10 Q10Dis CodeA CodeB CodeC
24 1 Agree Agree as long as there is not a refresher course after 3 years.
69 1 Agree As long as we are not required to do refresher courses.

57 1 Strongly agree

Drivers working on the ranks are meeting disabled people all the time, so yes it makes perfect sense to train drivers on 
disability awareness. The training needs to cover a much wider range of disabilities though other than wheelchair users and 
people with guide dogs. Attention needs to be paid to people with learning disabilities, mental health awareness, autisim, 
elderly people, and other hidden disabilities. I’d also suggest conflict managment training could be a valuable tool for drivers 
to participate in. Maybe consider an NVQ for drivers which covers all the areas you wish to train including first aid, health and 
safety, CSE awareness, disability awareness. Make it a formal course with an approved provider rather than the council nor a 
private company not affiliated to any education board being able to cobble something together as currently happens with 
disabled access training provided by the education transport teams.

11 1 Agree I agree only as one course without any requirement to do a refresher course every 3 years.
65 1 Disagree I dont work with disabled.... and never have..

49 1 Strongly disagree
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central 
location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank.

51 1 Strongly disagree
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central 
location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank.

53 1 Strongly disagree
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central 
location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank.

44 1 Strongly disagree
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central 
location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank.

48 2 Strongly disagree
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central 
location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank.

50 2 Strongly disagree
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central 
location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank.

52 2 Strongly disagree
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central 
location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank.

29 1 Strongly disagree
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central 
location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank.

43 1 Strongly disagree
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central 
location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank.

45 1 Strongly disagree
It should be online and free so as to be able to be completed at a convenient time instead of dragging people into a central 
location to sit and listen somebody rabbit on . Better to listen in your own home or on the rank.

31 1 Strongly disagree
It should be up to the drivers if they want to be trained not forced by the policy  Upto the company or the individual whether 
they insure there vehicles or licence there vehicles to carry disabled passengers.

67 1 Strongly disagree only if online and free
61 1 Disagree Only those with disability vehicles. Otherwise all drivers should employ common sense and courtesy
64 1 Agree

3 2 Strongly agree
4 2 Strongly agree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 291



5 2 Strongly agree
7 2 Agree

15 2 Strongly agree
28 2 Agree
54 2 Strongly agree
14 2 Strongly agree
21 2 Strongly agree
22 2 Strongly agree
16 2 Strongly agree
23 2 Strongly agree
19 1 Strongly agree
17 1 Neither agree nor disagree

8 1 Agree
32 1 Strongly agree
18 1 Strongly agree
42 1 Agree
63 1 Agree

2 1 Strongly disagree
20 1 Agree
25 1 Agree

1 1 Neither agree nor disagree
9 1 Strongly agree

47 1 Neither agree nor disagree
68 1 Neither agree nor disagree

6 1 Agree
13 1 Strongly agree
41 1 Agree
46 1 Agree
56 1 Neither agree nor disagree
58 1 Strongly disagree
59 1 Agree
60 1 Strongly agree
62 1 Agree
10 1 Strongly agree
26 1 Agree
27 1 Neither agree nor disagree
30 1
36 1 Agree
37 1 Agree
38 1 Agree
39 1 Agree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 292



40 1 Agree
55 -99 Strongly agree
66 Neither agree nor disagree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 293



ID TAXI Q11 Q11Dis CodeA CodeB CodeC

31 1 Strongly disagree
Again it’s down to the descretion of the company or individual if this is a requirement they need to have.  More unnecessary 
expenses again.

47 1 Agree As long as govt pay for it
64 1 Strongly agree But not at great expense to the operator. Also who would be the data controller ???

57 1 Strongly disagree

CCTV should not be compulsory in vehicles, there’s privacy issues for drivers and customers. Who would hold the ico licenses? 
Individual vehicle owners or the council? If it’s the council they should pay fo the systems to be fitted, and then at the end of 
the taxis life would need to pay to have the vehicle returned to standard spec. Some companies operate contracts on behalf 
of the prison service where CCTV is prohibited in vehicles operating on their behalf.

13 1 Neither agree nor disagree

I agree for the safety of yourself and the safety of passenger but again on financial background not a lot of drivers can afford 
these costs yes I have CCTV in my vehicle but not every driver is the same also, on the other side of the respect towards 
safeguarding of drivers on passenger patents or family member should be notified on a consent from by the driver or the 
council that cctv is fitted on the vehicle and that is is only used for the protection and safeguarding of any present in the 
vehicle and within vehicle range therefore a consent form should be sent out to every applicable family members to whether 
they agree and are ok and also a consent from should be in a vehicle along with info stickers

63 1 Disagree In principal it is a good idea , but it should always fall to the operator owner to have final say.

20 1 Strongly disagree

Installation of CCV is an additional cost and burden for drivers at a challenging time for the trade. It is unclear who would be 
the data controller. If drivers are to be put in a position to act as data controllers they would have significant additional 
burdens around processing of personal data, responsibility for storage and disclosure, and notification to the ICO. If drivers 
have full access to the CCTV system and data it offers limited protection for riders.

67 1 Strongly disagree Only if not controlled by the council
46 1 Disagree Personal choice
30 1 Disagree SHOULD BE PERSONAL CHOICE SOMETIMES IT WOULD BE ILLEGAL

8 1 Strongly disagree
Vehicles that solely carry out school contracts this would not be appropriate, again a case could be made for a schools only 
plating category

49 1 Strongly disagree

While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority 
controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can 
make sure we are getting our moneys worth.

51 1 Strongly disagree

While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority 
controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can 
make sure we are getting our moneys worth.

53 1 Strongly disagree

While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority 
controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can 
make sure we are getting our moneys worth.

44 1 Strongly disagree

While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority 
controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can 
make sure we are getting our moneys worth.

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 294



48 2 Strongly disagree

While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority 
controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can 
make sure we are getting our moneys worth.

50 2 Strongly disagree

While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority 
controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can 
make sure we are getting our moneys worth.

52 2 Strongly disagree

While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority 
controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can 
make sure we are getting our moneys worth.

29 1 Strongly disagree

While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority 
controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can 
make sure we are getting our moneys worth.

43 1 Strongly disagree

While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority 
controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can 
make sure we are getting our moneys worth.

45 1 Strongly disagree

While I believe any driver who doesn't have cameras is an idiot. I would never be in favour of compulsory local authority 
controlled cameras in any licensed vehicle, unless all council vehicles and offices have cameras linked to the web so we can 
make sure we are getting our moneys worth.

3 2 Strongly agree
4 2 Strongly agree
5 2 Strongly agree
7 2 Agree

15 2 Strongly agree
28 2 Strongly agree
54 2 Strongly agree
14 2 Strongly agree
21 2 Strongly agree
22 2 Strongly agree
16 2 Strongly agree
23 2 Strongly agree
19 1 Agree
17 1 Neither agree nor disagree
32 1 Strongly agree
18 1 Agree
42 1 Strongly agree
65 1 Agree

2 1 Strongly agree
25 1 Agree

1 1 Neither agree nor disagree
9 1 Strongly agree

68 1 Neither agree nor disagree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 295



6 1 Neither agree nor disagree
11 1 Agree
41 1 Agree
56 1 Disagree
58 1 Strongly disagree
59 1 Agree
60 1 Strongly agree
61 1 Agree
62 1 Agree
10 1 Strongly agree
24 1 Agree
26 1 Agree
27 1 Agree
36 1 Agree
37 1 Neither agree nor disagree
38 1 Agree
39 1 Agree
40 1 Neither agree nor disagree
69 1 Agree
55 -99 Neither agree nor disagree
66 Agree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 296



ID TAXI Q12 Q12Dis CodeA CodeB CodeC
1 1 Strongly disagree 6 points on a licence can be achieved very easily, however depending on the speeds involved.

46 1 Strongly disagree Absolutely no need for it.  12 points is a ban not 6.
62 1 Disagree Depends what the points are for, the current system works fine for consideration of individual cases
25 1 Disagree DRIVERS HAVE ENOUGH TO PAY OUT FOR LICENSES
30 1 Strongly disagree EVEN MORE FARES GOING TO WEB CARS AND PIZZA DRIVERS

8 1 Strongly disagree I cant see the benefit of this at all
59 1 Disagree I disagree the dvla deem to you fit to drive how can parish councillors play god with a taxi drivers livelihood
41 1 Disagree I don’t think there’s any need for minor offences
11 1 Strongly disagree If it’s only minor offences then there should be no requirement to do a driver improvement course.
24 1 Disagree if its only a minor offence then there shouldn't be a requirement to sit a driver improvement course.

67 1 Strongly disagree
If the law of the land say 12 points then that's what it should be.  If yes then ALL council workers including councilors should 
be held to the same standard

66 Disagree It should depend on the offences. Getting an sp30 for doing 33 in a 30 is vastly different to 79 in a 50.
27 1 Disagree ive heard of drivers getting prosecuted for doing 31-32 mph which is a bit harsh

63 1 Strongly disagree
Points can be issued by Police and are subject to discrestion, as such there is no level / standard to say what is minor or if and 
when they are given to a driver.

65 1 Disagree Points may not be associated with bad driving
14 2 Disagree Should be band from driving with no test

49 1 Strongly disagree
The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. 
Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade.

51 1 Strongly disagree
The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. 
Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade.

53 1 Strongly disagree
The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. 
Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade.

44 1 Strongly disagree
The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. 
Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade.

48 2 Strongly disagree
The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. 
Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade.

50 2 Strongly disagree
The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. 
Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade.

52 2 Strongly disagree
The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. 
Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade.

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 297



29 1 Strongly disagree
The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. 
Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade.

43 1 Strongly disagree
The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. 
Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade.

45 1 Strongly disagree
The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. 
Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers as well as the general council workforce if adopted for the trade.

64 1 Strongly disagree
The idea that minor traffic offences warrant denying any human being their ability to earn a living by any council is a disgrace. 
Again these rules should apply to councillors and officers aswell as all the general council workforce if adopted by our trade.

47 1 Strongly disagree The job is in enough financial ruin and current rules are enough

57 1 Neither agree nor disagree
This depends on the circumstances, it is possible to get 6 points for a single offence, and in the same respect it’s possible to 
get points for parking badly. To force drivers to go on training courses for some things would be silly.

61 1 Strongly disagree
Totally disagree. Taxi drivers drive a lot of miles. I do 30,000 per annum, in often stressful circumstances. I do not need driver 
training or lessons.

69 1 Disagree Why get driver to do a course for minor offences.

31 1 Strongly disagree
You are discriminating the driver as incompetent.  If the driver amhas a licence to drive then no further action should be taken 
.

3 2 Strongly agree
4 2 Strongly agree
5 2 Strongly agree
7 2 Strongly agree

15 2 Strongly agree
28 2 Agree
54 2 Strongly agree
21 2 Strongly agree
22 2 Strongly agree
16 2 Strongly agree
23 2 Strongly agree
19 1 Agree
17 1 Neither agree nor disagree
32 1 Agree
18 1 Agree
42 1 Agree

2 1 Strongly disagree
20 1 Agree

9 1 Strongly agree
68 1 Agree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 298



6 1 Agree
13 1 Strongly agree
56 1 Disagree
58 1 Strongly disagree
60 1 Strongly agree
10 1 Strongly agree
26 1 Neither agree nor disagree
36 1 Neither agree nor disagree
37 1 Strongly disagree
38 1 Agree
39 1 Agree
40 1 Agree
55 -99 Strongly disagree

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 299



ID TAXI Q13 CodeA CodeB CodeC

63 1
An increase in licencing enforcement in Durham city to combat the rise in PH ride sharing drivers parking illigally and touting 
for work with little or no oversight.

27 1

Another more serious matter concerns me and that although it is a serious offence and extremely dangerous , getting 
prosecuted for "using" a mobile phone brings with it a FIVE YEAR TAXI LICENCE BAN...  This is rather draconian  ,for example  
does placing a fallen mobile back in its cradle constitute a serious offence and worthy of a 5 year ban????    Also does using a 
cradled phone for navigation or voice commands constitute an offence ? is it any different from using an in built 
manufacturers touch screen navigation system????   The law is very blurry in these areas and requires clarification  if such 
SERIOUS penalties are to be imposed

14 2
As stated in previous answer, I would like to propose  an issue about health problems in older taxi drivers that have serious 
medical conditions or heart problems more supervision of these drivers should be adhered to for the safty of passenger's.

19 1

Enforcement need to work nights and weekends to try and catch the growing amount of drivers overcharging and refusing 
short fares. Private hire vehicles should be able to use bus lanes, the likes of Uber are growing More and more so why should 
taxis which are declining in use be allowed to use bus lanes and private hires not ? Whilst the bridge in Durham is closed there 
needs to be a designated private hire pick up point as currently on a weekend taxis block up whole area around market place 
so where are the hundreds now using Uber meant to get safely collected from? Anything agreed by licensing in Durham needs 
to be agreed in Sunderland and Newcastle or else drivers can just register elsewhere and still legally operate, but eith very 
little chance of ever getting monitored as out of area

47 1 Everything is against the driver. At this rate there won't be many drivers left

10 1
i have received concerns from a number of passengers about some drivers' poor command of the English language which 
results in communucation breakdown. i feel this needs to be addressed.

64 1

I honestly believe this new policy should have been put on hold for 12 months owing to the current economic situation. COVID-
19 has a lot to answer for and I believe in running with this is taking precious time away from dealing with more pressing 
matters.

5 2
I suggest all drivers are encouraged to complete an advanced driving assessment, by RoSPA, RODAR, or any similar 
organisation

31 1

I think the council should stop make the job of a Taxi driver  unbearable.  The pressure on drivers are ridiculous.  I think the 
council should listen to drivers rather than them getting to get her on a committee and thinking what’s the next thing we can 
add to the list to get to taxi drivers and the companies involved.

69 1 I'm a few hours late on submitting my views on this consultation please accept them.

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 300



62 1

More street presence of enforcement, on the 2 or 3 occasions that enforcement officers have been out in Durham City on a 
Friday or Saturday night during my 4 years as a hackney driver, more than half of the usual cars are working, once word gets 
around many drivers get out of town, speaks volumes. Also enforcement checks on private hire cars from out of the area who 
form their own taxi ranks would help

20 1 N/A

17 1
PH Vehicles should not be allowed to park in shopping car parks/car parks/ or on side streets waiting for there 
operator/telephone bookings they should be made to return to there base.

23 2

Regarding Driver Knowledge and Locality Tests, I have taken quite a few taxis around Durham and the knowledge of the local 
area seems extremely poor in some cases. I am not sure whether drivers are retested or how thorough the existing tests are 
but the results do not seem very good. The standard was much higher before the extension of licencing to allow many more 
drivers/firms to pick up in the city.

57 1

Some of the policy directly breaches the equality act. You can not demand anyone provides proof of conditions such as 
dyslexia. You can not refuse to issue a drover with a taxi badge because they didn’t learn to read or write. There’s even an 
argument that an oral English test could be construed as disability discrimination. If an individual has a speech problem would 
you refuse to license them? Or is it just targeted at people who don’t speak English at all? Their is no requirement for a driver 
to be able to fluently communicate with passengers, so long as they can understand where a passenger wants to go to it’s not 
their job to hold a full conversation or act as a tour guide. Drivers should not really be actively talking with passengers or 
acting as a tour guide this is just as dangerous as talking on a mobile phone.

49 1

Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have 
been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the 
following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts 
for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be 
split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should 
take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 
7 of your current policy on page 8

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 301



51 1

Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have 
been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the 
following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts 
for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be 
split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should 
take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 
7 of your current policy on page 8

53 1

Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have 
been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the 
following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts 
for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be 
split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should 
take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 
7 of your current policy on page 8

44 1

Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have 
been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the 
following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts 
for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be 
split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should 
take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 
7 of your current policy on page 8

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 302



48 2

Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have 
been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the 
following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts 
for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be 
split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should 
take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 
7 of your current policy on page 8

50 2

Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have 
been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the 
following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts 
for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be 
split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should 
take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 
7 of your current policy on page 8

52 2

Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have 
been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the 
following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts 
for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be 
split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should 
take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 
7 of your current policy on page 8

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 303



43 1

Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have 
been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the 
following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts 
for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be 
split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should 
take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 
7 of your current policy on page 8

45 1

Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have 
been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using Covid 19 to avoid working in partnership with the 
following agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Trade b) County Wide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts 
for a taxi driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be 
split between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should 
take place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 
7 of your current policy on page 8

29 1

Stop copy and pasting from people who sit on their backside dreaming up how to make people unemployed. This should have 
been put to trade reps by email for comment before publishing, using covid to avoid working in partnership with the following 
agencies,  groups and individuals to promote the licensing objectives: a) Local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade b) 
Countywide Taxi Working Group again. All councillors should do at least one week every year working normal shifts for a taxi 
driver. Licensing councillors and licensing and enforcement should do four weeks every year. What is made could be split 
between the taxi owner and a charity chosen by the trade reps. Before any attempt to adopt this policy meetings should take 
place this year between licensing and the trade by any means possible, otherwise we will take it you failed under section 7 of 
your current policy on page 8.

8 1

The changes to the licensing policy regarding the age of vehicles will have a detrimental effect on many small business's. 
Whilst I can agree with the 4 year age limit for new vehicles the 8 year age limit will limit service life of perfectly good vehicles, 
as a rule a vehicle carrying out a school contract will give us 8 to 10 years service. I also think this will have a detrimental 
impact on many owner drivers who will not be able to justify the cost of replacing a vehicle so often.

21 2 Vehicle insurance must be for full year not monthly and confirmation from insures when insurance stops

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 304



30 1 VERY POOR TIME TO BE DOING THIS ARE YOU PLANNING LICENSING STAFF REDUNDANCIES YOU WILL NEED LESS STAFF

25 1

WE NEED BETTER CLEARANCE ON CROSS BORDER HIRING AS THE AMOUNT OF VEHICLES FROM OUT OF TOWN THAT DONT 
HAVE TO ABIDE BY THE COUNCIL POLICY IS RIDICULOUS. I FEEL LIKE I WOULD BENEFIT FROM LICENSING ALL OF MY VEHICLES 
WITH A DIFFERENT COUNCIL AS IT WOULD BE CHEAPER WITH LESS RESTRICTIONS AND REQUIREMENTS

3 2
4 2
7 2

15 2
28 2
54 2
22 2
16 2
32 1
18 1
42 1
65 1

2 1
1 1
9 1

68 1
6 1

11 1
13 1
41 1
46 1
56 1
58 1
59 1
60 1
61 1
24 1
26 1

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 305



36 1
37 1
38 1
39 1
40 1
67 1
55 -99
66

Appendix 6a – Survey Raw Data

P
age 306



Appendix 6b – Final output sans OE 
 

Taxi Licensing Survey 2020 

 

Executive summary 

 

 The Taxi Licensing Survey 2020 yielded 65 responses, of which 48 had some background in 

employment or ownership within the taxi industry. 

 

 Just over a third of respondents found the policy difficult to understand. 

 

 Nine in ten thought the policy provides enough protection for children and vulnerable adults. 

 

 Just over a third thought the policy includes everything you think should be in such a policy, 

whilst just over a quarter disagreed. 

 

 Around half thought one or more of the requirements of the new national standards for taxi 

and private hire licensing should be left out of the new policy 

 

 Over half strongly disagree with the proposals on vehicle emissions and the age of licensed 

vehicles. However, this is the overriding opinion of the taxi industry, the general public agree 

with the proposal. 

 

 Over half agree with the proposal in respect of previous convictions and offences as 

developed by the Institute of Licensing.  

 

 Nearly two thirds agree with the proposed intelligence led and random drug and alcohol 

testing. 

 

 Over half agree with the proposal for drivers to do refresher training on the prevention of 

child sexual exploitation every three years. However, the taxi industry is equally for and 

against the proposal. 

 

 Nearly two thirds agree with that all drivers should be trained in disability awareness. 

 

 Over half agree that all taxis and private hire vehicles should have internal CCTV fitted as 

standard. 

 

 Over half disagree that applicants with 6 points on their DVLA driving licences should be 

required to undertake a driver improvement scheme. However, this is the overriding opinion 

of the taxi industry, the general public agree with the proposal. 

 

 

 

 

Page 307



Appendix 6b – Final output sans OE 
 

Results 

 

Format of response 

 Frequency Percent 

PC 30 46% 

Mobile 30 46% 

Tablet 5 8% 

Total 65 100% 

 

Are you responding as: 

 Frequency 

Licensed hackney carriage driver 38 

Licensed private hire driver 11 

Licensed operator 8 

Licensed vehicle proprietor 10 

Member of the public 17 

Other 3 

 

If other, please specify 

 Frequency 

Passenger assistant 1 

Radio operator 1 

School escort 1 

Total 3 

 

Are you a licensed driver, operator or employee? 

 Frequency Percent 

Yes 48 76% 

No 15 24% 

Total 63 100% 

 

Do you agree or disagree that the policy is easy to understand? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 8 13% 

Agree 20 32% 

Neither agree nor disagree 11 17% 

Disagree 13 21% 

Strongly disagree 11 17% 

Total 63 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level1: +2% 

Non-taxi related agreement level: +27% 

 

                         

1 Agreement levels are those that strongly agree or agree minus those that disagree or strongly 

disagree. 
 

Page 308



Appendix 6b – Final output sans OE 
 

Do you agree or disagree that the policy provides enough protection for children and vulnerable 

adults? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 13 21% 

Agree 34 54% 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 14% 

Disagree 3 5% 

Strongly disagree 4 6% 

Total 63 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: +71% 

Non-taxi related agreement level: +43% 

 

If you disagree, what do you think should be added or removed from the draft policy to improve 

it? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 4 6% 

No response 61 94% 

Total 65 100% 

 

Do you agree or disagree that the policy includes everything you think should be in such a 

policy? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 7 11% 

Agree 16 25% 

Neither agree nor disagree 23 37% 

Disagree 11 17% 

Strongly disagree 6 10% 

Total 63 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: +13% 

Non-taxi related agreement level: +7% 

 

If you disagree, what do you think should be added or removed from the draft policy to improve 

it? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 8 12% 

No response 57 88% 

Total 65 100% 

 

Do you think that any of the requirements of the new national standards for taxi and private 

hire licensing should be left out of our new policy and if so, which ones and why? 

 Frequency Percent 

Yes, there should be one or more left out 32 53% 

No 28 47% 

Total 60 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee “Yes”: 62% 

Non-taxi related “Yes”: 29% 

 

If yes, which do you feel should be left out and why? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 23 35% 

No response 42 65% 

Total 65 100% 

 

Page 309



Appendix 6b – Final output sans OE 
 

Do you agree or disagree with the proposals on vehicle emissions and the age of licensed 

vehicles? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 12 18% 

Agree 10 15% 

Neither agree nor disagree 3 5% 

Disagree 4 6% 

Strongly disagree 36 55% 

Total 65 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: -48% 

Non-taxi related agreement level: +47% 

 

If you disagree, which ones and why not? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 35 54% 

No response 30 46% 

Total 65 100% 

 

Do you agree or disagree with the proposed adoption of the new policy in respect of previous 

convictions and offences as developed by the Institute of Licensing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 19 29% 

Agree 18 28% 

Neither agree nor disagree 7 11% 

Disagree 3 5% 

Strongly disagree 18 28% 

Total 65 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: +15% 

Non-taxi related agreement level: +60% 

 

If you disagree, which policy proposals do you disagree with and why? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 15 23% 

No response 50 77% 

Total 65 100% 

 

Do you agree or disagree with the proposed intelligence led and random drug and alcohol 

testing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 32 49% 

Agree 17 26% 

Neither agree nor disagree 1 2% 

Strongly disagree 15 23% 

Total 65 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: +52% 

Non-taxi related agreement level: +60% 

 

If you disagree, which policy do you disagree with and why? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 15 23% 

No response 50 77% 

Total 65 100% 

 

Page 310



Appendix 6b – Final output sans OE 
 

Do you agree or disagree with our proposals for drivers to do refresher training on the 

prevention of child sexual exploitation every three years? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 25 38% 

Agree 11 17% 

Neither agree nor disagree 3 5% 

Disagree 8 12% 

Strongly disagree 18 28% 

Total 65 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: 0% 

Non-taxi related agreement level: +60% 

 

If you disagree, please state why. 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 24 37% 

No response 41 63% 

Total 65 100% 

 

Do you agree or disagree that all drivers should be trained in disability awareness? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 19 30% 

Agree 22 34% 

Neither agree nor disagree 7 11% 

Disagree 2 3% 

Strongly disagree 14 22% 

Total 64 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: +31% 

Non-taxi related agreement level: +60% 

 

If you disagree, please state why. 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 18 28% 

No response 47 72% 

Total 65 100% 

 

Do you agree or disagree that all taxis and private hire vehicles should have internal CCTV 

fitted as standard? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 18 28% 

Agree 19 29% 

Neither agree nor disagree 8 12% 

Disagree 4 6% 

Strongly disagree 16 25% 

Total 65 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: +15% 

Non-taxi related agreement level: +60% 

 

If you disagree, please state why. 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 21 32% 

No response 44 68% 

Total 65 100% 

 

Page 311



Appendix 6b – Final output sans OE 
 

Do you agree or disagree that applicants with 6 points on their DVLA driving licences should be 

required to undertake a driver improvement scheme? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 14 22% 

Agree 11 17% 

Neither agree nor disagree 4 6% 

Disagree 11 17% 

Strongly disagree 25 38% 

Total 65 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: -33% 

Non-taxi related agreement level: +47% 

 

If you disagree, please state why. 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 32 49% 

No response 33 51% 

Total 65 100% 

 

Do you have any other suggestions or comments to make? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 29 45% 

No response 36 55% 

Total 65 100% 

 

Are you: 

 

Frequency Percent 

Taxi driver, operator, 

or employee 

Not a taxi driver, 

operator, or employee 

Male 50 78% 42 7 

Female 14 22% 6 7 

Total 64 100% 48 14 

 

What is your age? 

 

Frequency Percent 

Taxi driver, operator, 

or employee 

Not a taxi driver, 

operator, or employee 

Under 18 0 0% 0 0 

18-24 2 3% 0 2 

25-34 5 8% 4 1 

35-44 19 29% 14 3 

45-54 17 26% 14 3 

55-64 13 20% 12 1 

65-74 7 11% 4 3 

75+ 2 3% 0 2 

Total 65 100% 48 15 

 

Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? 

 

Frequency Percent 

Taxi driver, operator, 

or employee 

Not a taxi driver, 

operator, or employee 

Yes 13 20% 7 6 

No 52 80% 41 9 

Total 65 100% 48 15 

 

Page 312



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

1 
 

Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 

Table 1 Questions, Responses and Commentary  

Questions 
 

Q1 to Q13 

Respondent 
 

Taxi Trade 
Member 
 
Taxi business 
 
Councillor 
 
Parish Council 
 
Public 
 
Other 

Summarised Responses 
(Numbered) 

 

 Agreements 
Agreement levels are those that strongly 
agree or agree minus those that disagree or 
strongly disagree. 
 

 Disagreements 
 

 Arguments for the proposals 
 

 Arguments against the 
proposals 

Comments and Assessment 
(Numbered comments relate to summarised Responses)  

 

 Supportive of proposal 
 

 Opposition to proposal 
 

 Discussion points 
 

 Opinions/Recommendations 
 

NOTES: The ‘Assessment of Taxi Survey Responses’ (Appendix 6) - Some text is in purple. The purple 
text represents further changes to policy being proposed after the consultation and which resulted from 
officer appraisal of the consultation responses. Some of the text is in red. The red text represents matters 
that are being put forward for additional consideration by Members at GLRC. These text colours are also 
referenced/explained in the SMT Report. 

Q1 Are you 
responding as: 
Licensed 
hackney 
carriage driver 
Licensed 
private hire 
driver Licensed 
operator 
Licensed 
vehicle 
proprietor 
Member of the 
public 
Other 

The Taxi 
Licensing Survey 
2020 yielded 65 
responses, of 
which 48 had 
some 
background in 
employment or 
ownership 
within the taxi 
industry 

NA  
Are you responding as: 

 Frequency 

Licensed hackney carriage driver 38 

Licensed private hire driver 11 

Licensed operator 8 

Licensed vehicle proprietor 10 

Member of the public 17 

Other 3 

 
If other, please specify 

 Frequency 

Passenger assistant 1 

Radio operator 1 

School escort 1 

Total 3 

 
Are you a licensed driver, operator, or employee? 

 Frequency Percent 

Yes 48 76% 

No 15 24% 

Total 63 100% 
 

Q2 Do you 
agree or 
disagree that 
the policy is 

 Yes 
Just under two thirds of respondents found 
the policy easy to understand. 
 

 
N/A 
 
Do you agree or disagree that the policy is easy to understand? 

 Frequency Percent 

P
age 313



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

2 
 

easy to 
understand?  

1 Strongly agree, albeit in the context that a 
policy document, such as this, is never going 
to be short and will inevitably deal with 
complex legal and procedural matters that 
are not easily expressed in ‘Clear English’. 
 
No 
 
Just over a third of respondents found the 
policy difficult to understand. 
 

Strongly agree 8 13% 

Agree 20 32% 

Neither agree nor disagree 11 17% 

Disagree 13 21% 

Strongly disagree 11 17% 

Total 63 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level1: +2% 
Non-taxi related agreement level: +27% 
 

Q3 Do you 
agree or 
disagree that 
the policy 
provides 
enough 
protection for 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults? 
 
If you disagree, 
what do you 
think should be 
added or 
removed from 
the draft policy 
to improve it? 

 Yes 
Ninety percent of respondents thought the 
proposed policy provides enough protection 
for children and vulnerable adults 
 
No 
Ten percent of respondents either thought 
the proposed policy provides enough 
protection for children and vulnerable adults 
or had no opinion 
 
What should be added or removed from 
the draft policy to improve it? 

Do you agree or disagree that the policy provides enough protection for children and vulnerable 
adults? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 13 21% 

Agree 34 54% 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 14% 

Disagree 3 5% 

Strongly disagree 4 6% 

Total 63 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: +71% 
Non-taxi related agreement level: +43% 
 
If you disagree, what do you think should be added or removed from the draft policy to improve 
it? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 4 6% 

No response 61 94% 

Total 65 100% 
 

Q4 Do you 
agree or 
disagree that 
the policy 
includes 
everything you 
think should be 
in such a 
policy?  
 
If you disagree, 
what do you 
think should be 
added or 
removed from 

 Yes 
Just over a third thought the proposed policy 
included everything we think should be in 
such a policy 
 
1 Strongly agree that the policy covers 
everything that should be covered by such a 
policy, but that is not the same as saying the 
contents of the policy are agree in every 
regard. 
 
No 
Just over a quarter disagreed 
 
 
 

Do you agree or disagree that the policy includes everything you think should be in such a policy? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 7 11% 

Agree 16 25% 

Neither agree nor disagree 23 37% 

Disagree 11 17% 

Strongly disagree 6 10% 

Total 63 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: +13% 
Non-taxi related agreement level: +7% 
 
If you disagree, what do you think should be added or removed from the draft policy to improve 
it? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 8 12% 

                                                           
 

P
age 314



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

3 
 

the draft policy 
to improve it? 

 
 
What do you think should be removed 
from the draft policy? 
 
1 A vehicle age policy 
 
2 Page 7, para 3.4: The Council is asked to 
remove, for those applying to be licensed as 
a private hire driver, the requirement to pass 
the topographical knowledge test, as has 
been recommended by the Department for 
Transport since 2010 (see DFT Best 
Practice Guidance, para 76). 
 
3 Pages 41 - 42, Appendix 3: Vehicle 
Licences, Standard Conditions, conditions 
22 & 23: The Council is respectfully asked to 
follow the practice and example of some of 
the other local authorities in the region, and 
to remove the requirements to carry fire 
extinguishers and first aid kits.  Drivers are 
not trained to be competent to use either.  
Tyne and Wear Fire and Rescue Service 
issued advice about fire extinguishers to 
local authorities in its area in early 2016 and, 
as a result, licensed vehicles in that wider 
area do not carry fire extinguishers. 
 
4 Pages 41 - 42, Appendix 3: Vehicle 
Licences, Standard Conditions, condition 32: 
The Council is asked to remove this 
condition prohibiting licensed vehicles from 
being used for the unaccompanied carriage 
and delivery of alcohol and tobacco 
products.  The COVID-19 pandemic has 
resulted in many drivers being required to 
diversify with the unaccompanied carriage of 
takeaway meals and grocery collection and 
delivery services.  It is unreasonable to 
expect a driver to rummage through a 
customer’s grocery shopping to establish 
whether it includes a packet of cigarettes or 
a bottle of wine and, if they were to do so, 
what are they then supposed to do, because 
the customer has by then paid the retailer for 
the goods. 
 

No response 57 88% 

Total 65 100% 

 
What do you think should be removed from the draft policy? 
 
1 Officer Comments: Taking into consideration all responses and, arguments against the proposed 
vehicle age restrictions, the following policy based solely on emission standards is proposed to replace 
the previous proposals on vehicle emissions and the age of licensed vehicles: 
 
Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria 
 
New Applications (Newly Licensed Vehicles) - New applications for vehicle licences will only be 
accepted for vehicles manufactured to the emissions standard “EURO 6” or higher. 
 
Renewal Applications (Existing Vehicles / Continued Licensing) 
 

- After the 31st March 2022, we will no longer accept renewal applications for licensed vehicles 
meeting Euro 4 or lower (From Manufacturing emission standard January 2006; 16 years old) 

 
- After the 31st March 2023, we will no longer accept renewal applications for licensed vehicles 

meeting Euro 5 or lower (From Manufacturing emission standard January 2011; 13 years old)  
 

TO ASK MEMBERS: 
 
2 Points noted. Locality tests for PHD - ask members if they no longer want us to test PHD on 
topographical knowledge TO ASK MEMBERS 
 
3 Points noted re suggested removal of fire extinguishers and first aid kits and advice and 
recommendations requested from Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue, NHS and H and S. 
DDFRS Re: Fire Extinguishers -  “So our thought are that we would be happy for them NOT to be a 
requirement in Taxis. The reasoning being that car fires are relatively few and far between (other than 
Arson) and with the introduction of a Fire Extinguisher it places a pressure on someone to use it i.e. to get 
closer to the fire which we would prefer didn’t happen. Obviously with this there is a great chance that 
they get burnt or overcome with fumes or get caught out with a rapid escalation of the fire”. Johnathan 
Smith josmith@ddfire.gov.uk  Proposed alteration to policy to remove requirements for licensed 
vehicles to carry a fire extinguisher  
 
4 REMOVED AND REPLACED WITH MORE SUITABLE WORDING 
 
5 Information taken from Guide Dogs Publication Taxi and PHV Policy - Assistance Dogs 
campaigns@guidedogs.org.uk Best Practice Recommendations – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
6 Licensing Services has received complaints from licensed drivers alleging their receipt of abuse and 
threats etc via social media from other licensed drivers. These complaints have been investigated and 
actions have taken by the licensing authority on the basis that a licence holder who makes threats or 
abuses other people via social media may be acting improperly and may tender them unsuitable to hold a 
DCC Taxi driver Licence. We dispute the assertion that what a driver happens to put on his/her own 
personal social media pages in their own time has nothing to do with their ability or otherwise to carry out 

P
age 315

mailto:josmith@ddfire.gov.uk
mailto:campaigns@guidedogs.org.uk


Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

4 
 

5 Regarding condition 9.8 - with the greatest 
of respect, local authorities are not in a 
position to dictate to medical professionals 
the type of medical examination needed in 
order to verify allergies, which renders 
everything in this paragraph that is written in 
red, to be meaningless. And should 
therefore be removed. 
 
6 regarding 19.4 - Not entirely sure why 
social media platforms have been brought 
into the policy here unless it is the intention 
to actively monitor and stalk drivers on social 
media, which is beyond the remit and 
powers of enforcement, Facebook has a 
number of options, scroll past, ignore, or if 
really offended, block. 
 
7 regarding drug testing - Intelligence led is 
perfectly acceptable, random testing is 
above and beyond the remit of licensing and 
could be deemed to be an invasion of 
privacy. Removal of random drug testing 
suggested. 
 
8 page 44 regarding carrying luggage - 
Suggest removing this part “Where a vehicle 
is fitted with a removable parcel shelf it must 
remain in place when carrying luggage” 
since this is not always possible, in many 
cases in order to comply with the 
“reasonable amount” requirement, the parcel 
shelf must be removed. To leave such a 
condition in place has the effect of restricting 
the amount of luggage that may be 
“reasonable” 
 
9 page 45 regarding condition 33 use of 
temporary screens - Never promote, 
encourage or support the use of Velcro or 
adhesive fastenings, to do so causes 
damage to the interior of the vehicles, when 
removed, and allows for such screens to be 
pulled down and used as a weapon against 
the drivers. This topic is currently under 
review by the DfT and the TRL, so it may be 
worth holding back on setting such 

their job as a licensed driver. A licensed driver remains a licensed driver even when not working as a taxi 
driver. If a taxi driver burgled a house and stole in their own time, when not working as a taxi driver, would 
this render their actions irrelevant to their role as a licensed driver? We think that any licensed driver who 
acts improperly and unlawfully may be guilty of misconduct and that may affect their propriety and 
suitability to hold a DCC licence – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
7 Taking into consideration all responses and, arguments relating to the proposed intelligence lead and 
random drug and alcohol testing we are minded continuing with our proposals. In implementing such a 
policy, we will pay attention to comments regarding racial profiling and racism. We will ensure that, even 
when acting on intelligence, appropriate policies, procedures, safeguards, working practices and other 
appropriate controls are in place – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
8 Points noted – REMOVE FROM POLICY  
 
9 Points noted – CHANGE WORDING 
 
10 Points noted – WORDING ALTERED SLIGHTLY BUT LEAVE IN 
 
11 Points noted – WORDING ALTERED SLIGHTLY BUT LEAVE IN 
 
12 Points noted – WORDING ALTERED SLIGHTLY BUT LEAVE IN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 316



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

5 
 

conditions pending the outcome or guidance 
issued by the regulators here. 
 
10 regarding condition 35 on page 46 - This 
requirement to remove the screen within a 
maximum of 21days should be removed 
completely, we have seen the repeated 
lockdowns, and the tier systems being 
introduced, the screens must be allowed to 
remain installed, or at the very least, if a time 
scale is to be added, then maybe within 21 
days of COVID19 being completely 
eradicated and no longer posing any risk to 
health, which may never happen, otherwise 
the removal of such protective devices may 
lead to the virus being spread again and the 
“R” number going back up. 
 
11 regarding page 46 condition 36 
Certification - Should be removed completely 
unless and until vehicle manufacturers issue 
such certificates for council issued license 
plates, taxi meters, fire extinguishers, or 
even their own dealership replacement 
parts, in the words of MIRA, such 
certification is impossible to obtain. 
 
12 Page 49 part 11 provision of entry step - 
Part 11 should be removed on the basis that 
if such a step is supplied as an additional 
component then there is a higher risk of 
liability in the event of the passenger slipping 
off this step, preference should be given to 
built in steps. At the very least, a cautionary 
statement must be added here to advise of 
potential added risk of liability. 
 
What do you think should be added to the 
draft policy? 
 
1 The Sub-Committee liked the design 
(coverage of the vehicle in part with pictures 
of prominent landmarks and important 
buildings in the region) and asked us to 
reconsider the terms of our policy on this 
issue, going forward, stating this type of 
covering should be encouraged. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
What do you think should be added to the draft policy? 
 
1 Points noted – NO CHANGE REQUIRED  
 
2 Points noted – THIS WOULD NOT BE A PRACTICAL OPTION AT THE CURRENT TIME BUT WILL 
BE KEPT UNDER REVIEW. THIS IS A PROCEDURAL MATTER NOT A POLICY ISSUE - NO 
CHANGE REQUIRED – no change recommended. 
 
3 SEE OPTIONS FOR VEHICLE AGE AND EMISSIONS POLICY 
 
4 Points noted – AGREED CHANGE APPENDIX 2 ‘DISHONESTY’  

P
age 317



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

6 
 

2 Would the Council allow all licence holders 
to set up a direct debit on a 1- or 3-year 
basis to pay for their licenses. This is good 
and reliable practise for insurance cover 
which can be opted out on request but if 
maintained would guarantee continuity of 
such licences and payments to Durham 
County Council. 
 
3 If we want to improve the safety factor, we 
have more efficient and simple methods 
available such as more compliance checks 
and imposing 3 vehicle checks per year 
instead of the standard 2. 
 
4 If Councillors want to add a clause to the 
policy i.e. “any inaccuracies, or failure to 
record or report convictions, will normally 
result in the refusal of an application”.  
Perhaps one for further discussion. SB 
 
5 Page 5, para 1.3: It is noted that, whilst the 
policy addresses the obligations for the trade 
under the Equality Act 2020, the Council has 
failed to acknowledge the statutory duties 
placed upon itself by the Public Sector 
Equality Duty (PSED) under section 149 of 
the said Act. 
 
6 Page 12, para 9.8: The Council is asked to 
make clear that those who suffer from acute 
anxiety when confronted by a dog or near a 
dog would also be entitled to a medical 
exemption certificate. 
 
7 Pages 17 - 18, paras 15.25 – 15.32: The 
Council is asked to reconsider its position in 
relation to the requirements it imposes for 
the grant of an exemption under section 
75(3) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous provisions) Act 1976.  With 
the greatest of respect, at present the 
Council might as well say that it will not grant 
such an exemption, because the chances of 
an individual, let alone a business, securing 
enough work from contracts of at least 60 
days duration each to qualify for an 
exemption and to be able to afford to not 

 
5 These comments have been noted and AGREED CHANGE  
 
6 Re acute anxiety carrying a dog - policy covers this matter as it stands, no changes to proposal required 
– no change to proposals recommended. 
 
7 Points noted – EXEMPTIONS ARE PROVIDED. NO CHANGE TO POLICY ADVOCATED, 
HOWEVER MEMBERS MAY WISH TO SHORTEN CONTRACT PERIOD TO BELOW 60 DAYS. 
 
8 Points noted but recommend that no changes to proposed policy are required – no change to proposals 
recommended. 
 
9 Points noted re suggested removal of fire extinguishers and first aid kits – requested fire and 
rescue service comments – to request Members opinions 
 
10 Points noted – WORDING CHANGE AGREED 
 
11 Points noted – NO CHANGE REQUIRED – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
12 It is implicit in English law that all drivers, including taxi drivers, must comply with road traffic 
legislation. This is not a matter of policy but is a matter of legislation. A policy should not duplicate legal 
requirements already in place via national statutes and regulations. By way of analogy, taxi drivers should 
not be stealing or assaulting people however such misdemeanours are already controlled and restricted 
by statute so for the reasons provided above, we do not specify that licensed drivers should not steal or 
assault people – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
13 Points noted however this is not legally possible under current legislation nor would it be practical to 
enforce, control, assess or manage even if it were necessary or appropriate to do so – no change to 
proposals recommended. 
 
 
14 Points noted - THIS COULD BE CONSIDERED BY MEMBERS HOWEVER IT WOULD HAVE A 
CONSIDERABLE EFFECT ON FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS.   
 
 

P
age 318



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

7 
 

undertake any other work must be almost 
zero, if not zero.  The Council is asked to 
grant the exemption in respect of certain 
contracted work, whilst requiring the vehicle 
to display plate and signage at all other 
times, as expressly permitted by the wording 
of the said section. 
 
8 Page 40, Appendix 3: Vehicle Licences, 
Standard Conditions, condition 10: For the 
purposes of enhancing public safety by 
making private hire vehicles more easily 
identified by the public, in particular the 
customer that has booked such a vehicle, 
Blueline Taxis would like to see this 
condition amended to include a requirement 
that every private hire vehicle must display 
signage on the vehicle identifying the private 
hire operator for which it works.  This not 
only assists customers generally but is of 
particular benefit to disabled passengers if 
they are visually impaired and even to 
wheelchair users and persons with mobility 
problems as no one wants to get to a 
vehicle, only to discover it’s not even a 
licensed vehicle.  Clear operator livery also 
enables other motorists and members of the 
public generally to raise complaints about 
the behaviour of a driver or the manner of 
their driving with an operator when they may 
not have complained to the Council or the 
police because they did not get the plate or 
vehicle registration number.  And, of course, 
such clear operator signage also enhances 
compliance checks and aids enforcement by 
licensing officer and police officers. 
 
9 Page 43 regarding condition 22 fire 
extinguishers - Suggested inclusion of CO2 
extinguishers here? Since they are as 
effective but cause far less damage or mess 
inside the vehicle. 
 
10 Page 44 re condition 25 -There must be 
at least four doors. All doors must be 
capable of being opened from the inside. 
Suggest adding “and outside” 
 

P
age 319



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

8 
 

11 Regarding condition 17 - Suggest adding 
that is subject to a license issued by this 
authority.  
 
12 The Parish Council believes that the 
following general statement ought to be 
included in Appendix 1 of the draft Policy: 
“that drivers must comply with traffic laws 
and all council traffic regulations /restrictions 
/requirements at all times as a condition of 
their licence.” 
 
13 I suggest that you reintroduce the system 
where taxi firms from outside Durham 
County are excluded from plying their trade 
within the county and taxi firms from within 
Durham County are limited to operating in 
their former District Council areas. 
 
14 I feel really strongly that we should be 
promoting electric, zero emissions, and 
hybrid petrol vehicles above diesel as we 
have severe pollution problems in the City 
Centre, and also need to hit our climate 
targets This should be with zero fee charges 
for electric vehicles, balanced out with higher 
fees for more polluting vehicles or by 
subsidy. 
 

Q5 Do you 
think that any of 
the 
requirements of 
the new 
national 
standards for 
taxi and private 
hire licensing 
should be left 
out of our new 
policy and if so, 
which ones and 
why? 
 
Yes, there 
should be one 
or more left out 
or No. 

 Yes 
Around half thought none of the 
requirements of the new national standards 
for taxi and private hire licensing should be 
left out of the new policy or had no opinion. 
 
No 
Around half thought one or more of the 
requirements of the new national standards 
for taxi and private hire licensing should be 
left out of the new policy 
 
1 No and it is believed that the Council has 
incorporated all subjects covered by the 
Statutory Standards in its draft taxi policy. 

 
 
 
 

Do you think that any of the requirements of the new national standards for taxi and private hire 
licensing should be left out of our new policy and if so, which ones and why? 
 

 Frequency Percent 

Yes, there should be one or more left out 32 53% 

No 28 47% 

Total 60 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee “Yes”: 62% 
Non-taxi related “Yes”: 29% 
 
If yes, which do you feel should be left out and why? 
 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 23 35% 

No response 42 65% 

Total 65 100% 

 
 
 

P
age 320



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

9 
 

 
If yes, which do 
you feel should 
be left out and 
why? 

 
 
Arguments for leaving out any of the 
requirements of the new national 
standards for taxi and private hire 
licensing 
 
1 regarding paragraph 7.5 - The Council has 
the option to suspend or revoke a licence 
should information be received that causes 
concern over whether a driver is a fit and 
proper person. - On the very basis that “you 
would offer a fast track application process”, 
this would be far easier and more efficient to 
suspend only, in which case should such 
contradictory evidence come to light after the 
fact, the suspension could simply be lifted, 
as opposed to creating an unnecessary 
cause to reapply as a new applicant. Such 
powers of revocation have led to severe 
problems within the industry as it deprives 
drivers of their right to a fair hearing, such 
finite decisions to revoke should be referred 
to licensing committees to determine. 
 
Arguments for leaving in all the 
requirements of the new national 
standards for taxi and private hire 
licensing 
 
1 It is believed that the Council has 
incorporated all subjects covered by the 
Statutory Standards in its draft taxi policy. 
 
2 Primarily, there is clearly a consensus that 
common core minimum standards are 
required to better regulate the taxi and 
private hire vehicle sector. The Statutory 
Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards 
reflect the significant changes in the industry 
and lessons learned from experiences in 
local areas since the 2010 version of the 
Department for Transport’s Best Practice 
Guidance. This includes extensive advice on 
checking the suitability of individuals and 
operators to be licensed (the ‘fit and proper’ 
person test); safeguarding children and 
vulnerable adults; the Immigration Act 2016 

 
 
 
Arguments for leaving out any of the requirements of the new national standards for taxi and 
private hire licensing 
 
1 The DfT National Standards require Councils to make suitable arrangements to enable the immediate 
revocation of licences – see committee report and DfT UK National Standards. A transparent, effective 
and efficient system involving clear separation between the investigator and the decision maker must be 
in place. To facilitate compliance with the guidance and enable a swift methodology for immediate 
revocations, Officers recommendation is to enable appointed officers to issue immediate revocations 
following constitutional changes and changes to delegated authority; in addition to the implementation of a 
suitable fast-trach reinstatement/re-application process should post-revocation evidence emerge that 
vindicates the licence holder from wrongdoing that would require revocation – no change to proposals 
recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Arguments for leaving in all the requirements of the new national standards for taxi and private 
hire licensing 
 
1 and 2 There is clearly a consensus that common core minimum standards are required to better 
regulate the taxi and private hire vehicle sector. The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards 
reflect the significant changes in the industry and lessons learned from experiences in local areas since 
the 2010 version of the Department for Transport’s Best Practice Guidance. This includes extensive 
advice on checking the suitability of individuals and operators to be licensed (the ‘fit and proper’ person 
test); safeguarding children and vulnerable adults; the Immigration Act 2016 and Common Law Police 
Disclosure. It is noteworthy that the recommendations set out in the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Standards document (and which the proposed County Council policy seeks to incorporate) are 
the result of extensive consultation with the taxi and private hire vehicle sector, regulators and safety 
campaign groups – no change to proposals recommended. 

P
age 321



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

10 
 

and Common Law Police Disclosure. It is 
noteworthy that the recommendations set 
out in the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Standards document (and which the 
proposed County Council policy seeks to 
incorporate) are the result of extensive 
consultation with the taxi and private hire 
vehicle sector, regulators and safety 
campaign groups. 

  Agree 
The general public agrees with the proposal 
 
Disagree 
Over half strongly disagree with the 
proposals on vehicle emissions and the age 
of licensed vehicles. However, this is the 
overriding opinion of the taxi industry. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Arguments for the proposed vehicle age 
restrictions 
 
2 Strongly agree that there is a need to 
address air quality, whilst also strongly 
disagreeing with the timeframe for the 
introduction of such measures. 
  
In effect, the submission I make on behalf of 
Blueline Taxis is that Durham County 
Council’s current policy in relation to 
emission standards is right and that it should 
not be changed Blueline  
 
Arguments against the proposed vehicle 
age restrictions  
 
1 Vehicle owners cannot afford to buy new 
vehicles. Many people will be forced out of 
the trade, either into retirement or 
unemployment. The financial impact of the 

Do you agree or disagree with the proposals on vehicle emissions and the age of licensed 
vehicles? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 12 18% 

Agree 10 15% 

Neither agree nor disagree 3 5% 

Disagree 4 6% 

Strongly disagree 36 55% 

Total 65 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: -48% 
Non-taxi related agreement level: +47% 
 
If you disagree, which ones and why not? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 35 54% 

No response 30 46% 

Total 65 100% 

 
Arguments for the proposed vehicle age restrictions 
 
1 North East Transport Plan 2021-2035 
Page 50 – ‘Shovel Ready Schemes – Delivery Plane’ 100 Enforcement of 'engine idling' at taxi ranks and 
bus stops (see City Parish Council Response) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Arguments against the proposed vehicle age restrictions  
 
1 Officer Comments: Taking into consideration all responses and, arguments against the proposed 
vehicle age restrictions (1 to 18) , the following policy based solely on emission standards is proposed to 
replace the previous proposals on vehicle emissions and the age of licensed vehicles: 
 
Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria 
 

P
age 322



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

11 
 

coronavirus pandemic on all parts of the 
hackney carriage and private hire trades 
cannot be understated with many drivers, 
owner-drivers, fleet owners and private hire 
operators having received no or very little 
direct or indirect financial assistance from 
Government. The Council is asked to also 
have regard to the finical impact that 
introducing the proposed policy would have 
currently.  Anyone forced into changing 
vehicle after 1 April 2021 may well not be 
able to afford to buy a vehicle that would 
meet the requirements for a new vehicle. 
 
2 Vehicle owners will get into debt buying 
new vehicles 
 
3 Drivers approaching retirement may have 
to buy a new vehicle but won’t have enough 
time to pay for vehicle 
 
4 Having bought a new vehicle, a lack of 
money will lead owners to allow longer 
periods of time between repairs, servicing 
and maintenance thereby affecting public 
safety 
 
5 The Council is seeking to raise / 
harmonise standards with its partners in the 
North East Strategic Licensing Group in 
order to ensure that all vehicles licensed in 
the region will be able to enter the soon to 
be created Newcastle City Centre Clean Air 
Zone (“the CAZ”). The standard to be 
required of a licensed vehicle to be able to 
enter the CAZ without being liable to pay a 
charge, is not age related and use of an age 
limit is an artificial way to achieve this, 
especially in the first instance and 
transitionally.  If the objective is to reduce 
harmful exhaust emissions, it should not 
matter what age a vehicle is, so long as it 
meets the Euro 6 diesel or Euro 4 petrol 
standard 
 
6 Age policies should not be those 
proposed, which are too restrictive, 

New Applications (Newly Licensed Vehicles) - New applications for vehicle licences will only be 
accepted for vehicles manufactured to the emissions standard “EURO 6” or higher. 
 
Renewal Applications (Existing Vehicles / Continued Licensing) 
 

- After the 31st March 2022, we will no longer accept renewal applications for licensed vehicles 
meeting Euro 4 or lower (From Manufacturing emission standard January 2006; 16 years old) 

 
- After the 31st March 2023, we will no longer accept renewal applications for licensed vehicles 

meeting Euro 5 or lower (From Manufacturing emission standard January 2011; 13 years old)  
 

TO ASK MEMBERS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 323



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

12 
 

especially when no age criteria currently 
exist 
 
7 Although strenuously opposed to imposing 
an age for a vehicle to be first licensed, if an 
age has to be specified, my client suggests 
that it should be “less than 5 years of age” 
as that would permit the licensing of vehicles 
that come out of lease hire at 4+ years. The 
suggested terminal age limits would be [8] 
years for saloon and estate cars and [10] 
years from MPVs, minibuses and WAVs 
(wheelchair accessible vehicles). 
Additionally, the Council is asked to consider 
increasing age limits to 10 years for saloon 
vehicles and to 12 years for WAVs. 
 
8 If the cost to owners-drivers of changing to 
a vehicle that is compliant with the new 
policy is too great, they will either leave the 
trade or look to vehicle fleet owners and 
operators to rent a vehicle from.  The cost of 
buying or leasing such increased numbers 
could be prohibitive to vehicle fleet owners 
and operators, as too many vehicles would 
all have to be bought in a short period of 
time. 
 
9 Whilst not asked in the online survey, the 
implementation date of [1 April 2021] is too 
soon and will not allow for transition to be 
made to any newly adopted policy. 
 
10 Regulators should carry out their 
activities in a way that supports those they 
regulate to comply and grow. 
 
11 Regulators should avoid imposing 
unnecessary regulatory burdens through 
their regulatory activities and should assess 
whether similar social, environmental and 
economic outcomes could be achieved by 
less burdensome means.  Regulators should 
choose proportionate approaches to those 
they regulate, based on relevant factors 
including, for example, business size and 
capacity.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 324



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

13 
 

12 local licensing authorities to look carefully 
at the costs – financial or otherwise – 
imposed by each of their licensing policies.  
It is suggested they should ask themselves 
whether those costs are commensurate with 
the benefits a policy is meant to achieve. 
 
13 There is no justification for such 
prescriptively low age limits which renders 
the conditions far from meeting the 
“reasonably necessary” criteria, the simple 
reason for this is that since Euro6 engines 
were introduced in 2015, by the date of 
adoption of this policy (expected to be 2021 
unless delayed) a 6 year entry age limit and 
an exit age limit of 11 years would achieve 
exactly the same results, at a far more 
affordable price to the trade and therefore be 
in accordance with the regulators code of 
2014. Also, this would consider the 5-year 
finance packages taken out when 
purchasing vehicles, the extra time would 
have far less of a financial impact on the 
trade you regulate, and therefore be in 
accordance with the regulators code 2014. 
 
14 the proposed extensions for WAVs 
should apply to all purpose built vehicles and 
minibuses on the basis that these vehicles 
are all built on the same chassis and are just 
as expensive to purchase and to insure, with 
an added 2 year life span for such vehicles 
over and above the age limit for standard 
vehicles. 
 
15 in relation to the exemption for zero 
emission vehicles, The only real difference 
between the two vehicle types is the 
conventional engine being replaced by an 
electric motor in the same engine bay, they 
all have the same chassis type, the same 
suspension type, the same brakes etc, so 
we are struggling to see any justification for 
such a broad exemption here. 
 
16 I agree with new cars coming onto the 
fleet after 1st April 2024 being euro 6, we all 
should be working towards making the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 325



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

14 
 

environment cleaner but discarding a 
perfectly usable vehicle simply because of 
its age is wrong. The council need to look at 
the current circumstances and take this into 
account. It is going to take many years for 
the economy to recover and forcing people 
into getting debt to carry out their job is 
immoral. 
 
17 Approximately 375 of the 1,256 vehicles 
currently licensed by Durham County 
Council to operate as either taxis or private 
hire vehicles, are at present more than 8 
years old. This approach is too restrictive, 
and the age of the vehicle must not be the 
deciding factor for this. In order to address 
this issue and in an effort to not restrict the 
trade further, the Parish Council suggests 
that the policy ought simply to be that, after 
1st April 2024, all vehicles, be they new or 
existing, must meet the Euro 6 vehicle 
emissions standard. 
 
18 The Parish Council is acutely aware of 
the important role which taxis can play in 
tackling anti-social behaviour in Durham City 
and any policy which would effectively 
eliminate 30% of the current fleet must 
surely be resisted.   
 
Arguments for the proposals on vehicle 
emissions 
 
1 Strongly agree that there is a need to 
address air quality, whilst also strongly 
disagreeing with the timeframe for the 
introduction of such measures. 
 
2 If the objective is to reduce harmful 
exhaust emissions, it should not matter what 
age a vehicle is, so long as it meets the Euro 
6 diesel or Euro 4 petrol standard. 
 
3 I agree with new cars coming onto the fleet 
after 1st April 2024 being euro 6, we all 
should be working towards making the 
environment cleaner but discarding a 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Arguments for the proposals on vehicle emissions 
 
1 Officer Comments: Taking into consideration all responses and, arguments against the proposed 
vehicle age restrictions (1 to 18) , the following policy based solely on emission standards is proposed to 
replace the previous proposals on vehicle emissions and the age of licensed vehicles: 
 
Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria 
 
New Applications (Newly Licensed Vehicles) - New applications for vehicle licences will only be 
accepted for vehicles manufactured to the emissions standard “EURO 6” or higher. 
 
Renewal Applications (Existing Vehicles / Continued Licensing) 
 

- After the 31st March 2022, we will no longer accept renewal applications for licensed vehicles 
meeting Euro 4 or lower (From Manufacturing emission standard January 2006; 16 years old) 

 
- After the 31st March 2023, we will no longer accept renewal applications for licensed vehicles 

meeting Euro 5 or lower (From Manufacturing emission standard January 2011; 13 years old)  

P
age 326



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

15 
 

perfectly usable vehicle simply because of 
its age is wrong. 
 
4 the Parish Council applauds what is clearly 
an effort by the County Council to encourage 
environmental sustainability and to reduce 
carbon emissions from its licensed vehicles, 
the Parish Council believes that this 
approach is too restrictive and the age of the 
vehicle must not be the deciding factor for 
this. The Parish Council suggests that the 
policy ought simply to be that, after 1st April 
2024, all vehicles, be they new or existing, 
must meet the Euro 6 vehicle emissions 
standard. 
 
5 I feel strongly that we should be promoting 
electric, zero emissions, and hybrid petrol 
vehicles above diesel as we have severe 
pollution problems in the City Centre, and 
need to hit our climate targets 
 
6 I do agree with the Euro 6 emission 
standard of vehicles from 2024  
 
Arguments against the proposals on 
vehicle emissions 
 
Zero emission vehicles - fully electric and 
zero emission (at source) vehicles would be 
exempt from the age restriction / emissions 
policy. 
 
1 Is there any actual reason for this? The 
only real difference between the two vehicle 
types is the conventional engine being 
replaced by an electric motor in the same 
engine bay, they all have the same chassis 
type, the same suspension type, the same 
brakes etc, so we are struggling to see any 
justification for such a broad exemption here. 
 
 
 

 
TO ASK MEMBERS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Arguments against the proposals on vehicle emissions 
 
 
1 Officer Comments: Taking into consideration all responses and, arguments against the proposed 
vehicle age restrictions (1 to 18) , the following policy based solely on emission standards is proposed to 
replace the previous proposals on vehicle emissions and the age of licensed vehicles: 
 
Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria 
 
New Applications (Newly Licensed Vehicles) - New applications for vehicle licences will only be 
accepted for vehicles manufactured to the emissions standard “EURO 6” or higher. 
 
Renewal Applications (Existing Vehicles / Continued Licensing) 
 

- After the 31st March 2022, we will no longer accept renewal applications for licensed vehicles 
meeting Euro 4 or lower (From Manufacturing emission standard January 2006; 16 years old) 

 
- After the 31st March 2023, we will no longer accept renewal applications for licensed vehicles 

meeting Euro 5 or lower (From Manufacturing emission standard January 2011; 13 years old)  
 

TO ASK MEMBERS 
 
 

P
age 327



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

16 
 

 

7 Do you agree 
or disagree with 
the proposed 
adoption of the 
new policy in 
respect of 
previous 
convictions and 
offences as 
developed by 
the Institute of 
Licensing? 
 
If you disagree, 
which policy 
proposals do 
you disagree 
with and why. 

 Agree 
Over half agree with the proposal in respect 
of previous convictions and offences as 
developed by the Institute of Licensing. 
 
Disagree 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Which policy proposals do you disagree 
with and why? 
 
1 The institute of licensing “safe and 
suitability guidance” which is under fire from 
the taxi and private hire industry nationally, 
the adoption of such a policy is for each 
council to decide, such a condition must take 
into consideration a period of time over 
which those 7 points have been 
accumulated, for example, if 3 or more of 
those points are due to be removed from the 
applicants license, then the 5 year 
suggested punishment here has already 
almost expired. 
 
2 The Council appears not to agree with the 
Institute of Licensing developed policy as the 
Council rightly proposes to depart from it in 
relation to minor motoring offences 
 
3 Blueline Taxis urges the Council not to 
adopt the convictions policy developed by 
the Institute of Licensing, as largely 
incorporated into the Statutory Standards, 
but to adopt a clearer and simpler policy that 
adopts the principles of rehabilitation and 

Do you agree or disagree with the proposed adoption of the new policy in respect of previous 
convictions and offences as developed by the Institute of Licensing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 19 29% 

Agree 18 28% 

Neither agree nor disagree 7 11% 

Disagree 3 5% 

Strongly disagree 18 28% 

Total 65 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: +15% 
Non-taxi related agreement level: +60% 
 
If you disagree, which policy proposals do you disagree with and why? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 15 23% 

No response 50 77% 

Total 65 100% 

 
 
Which policy proposals do you disagree with and why? 
 
Taking into consideration all responses and, arguments relating to the proposed adoption of the new 
policy in respect of previous convictions and offences as developed by the Institute of Licensing, we 
advocate for maintaining our proposed policy – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
We consider that we have simplified and clarified the current policy in relation to convictions etc. and 
consider that the proposed level of detail will provide enough detail for all policy users including Members, 
officers, and the public. We have considered the alternatives suggested by respondents and have 
concluded that no compelling reasons for departure from our proposed policy has been put forward – no 
change to proposals recommended. 
 
Our proposals do not mirror the IOL standards in all respects and we are minded to highlight the complete 
IOL standards simply as a further point of reference. These comments have been noted. We have 
proposed to mirror the IOL standards except in relation to the minor motoring offences or motoring 
offences involving disqualification – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
These are the IOL Standards: 
 
Motoring convictions  
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the responsibility of 
carrying the public. It is accepted that offences can be committed unintentionally, and a single occurrence 
of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the granting of a licence. However, applicants with multiple 
motoring convictions may indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the behaviours of a safe road user 
and one that is suitable to drive professionally.  
 
Any motoring conviction while a licensed driver demonstrates that the licensee may not take their 
professional responsibilities seriously. However, it is accepted that offences can be committed 

P
age 328



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

17 
 

results in a policy being adopted by the 
Council that would mean drivers would not 
have any live criminal convictions. 
 
4 In relation to convictions and cautions, my 
clients respectfully suggest that the policy 
should simply provide:  
  
• Whilst every case will be considered on its 
own merits, the following sets out the 
approach the Council will usually take.  
  
• In respect of an application for the initial 
grant of a licence, it is for the applicant to 
satisfy the Council on the balance of 
probability that he / she is a fit and proper 
person to be granted a licence.  Once a 
person is licensed, they shall be presumed 
to remain a fit and proper person to be 
licensed, unless the Council is satisfied on 
the balance of probability that he / she is no 
longer a fit and proper person as a result of 
a conviction, caution, complaint or other non-
convictional information.  
  
(The above reflects the legal position 
following Kaivanpor v Director of Public 
Prosecutions [2015] EWHC 4127 (Admin), a 
copy of which can be provided on request.)  
  
• Anyone with a conviction or caution for a 
sexual offence, who is on the sex offender 
register [barred from working with children or 
vulnerable adults] or in respect of whom 
non-convictional information or a complaint 
is made of a sexual nature, will be referred 
to the [General Licensing & Registration 
Sub-Committee] for consideration, but will 
usually be refused a licence.  
  
• [Anyone who has had a previous licence 
revoked by another local authority will be 
referred to the General Licensing & 
Registration Sub-Committee for 
consideration, but will usually be refused a 
licence unless there are exceptional reasons 
to now be satisfied that the applicant is a fit 
and proper person.]  

unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence may not necessitate the revocation of a 
taxi or private hire vehicle driver licence providing the authority considers that the licensee remains a fit 
and proper person to retain a licence.  
 
Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs – we have included this 
Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the influence of drugs, a licence will 
not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence or driving 
ban imposed. In the case of driving under the influence of drugs, any applicant may also have to undergo 
drugs testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs.  
 
Using a hand-held device whilst driving – we have included this 

Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held‐hand mobile telephone or a hand‐held device whilst 
driving, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have elapsed since the conviction or 
completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 
 
This is what we have in the proposed policy: 
 
Motoring offences 
 
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the responsibility 
of carrying the public. It is accepted that offences can be committed unintentionally, and a single 
occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the granting of a licence. However, 
applicants with multiple motoring convictions may indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the 
behaviours of a safe road user and one that is suitable to drive professionally.  
 
Minor traffic offences or vehicle related offence 
 
This is an offence which does not involve loss of life, driving under the influence of drink or 
drugs, driving whilst using a mobile phone and has not resulted in injury to any person or damage 
to any property including vehicles.  
 
Where an applicant has 7 or more points on their DVLA driving licence for minor traffic or similar 
offences, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have elapsed since the completion 
of any sentence imposed. 
 
Where an applicant has 6 points on their DVLA driving licence for minor traffic or similar offences, 
they will be required to undertake a driver improvement scheme at their own expense. The 
Licensing Authority hold a list of current providers of the driving improvement scheme. 
 
Major traffic offence or vehicle related offence 
 
This is one which is not covered above and any offence which resulted in injury to any person or 
damage to any property including vehicles. It also involves driving without insurance or any 
offence connected with motor insurance.  
 
All major traffic offences (unless specified below) - a licence will not be granted until at least 
seven years have elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban 
imposed, whichever is the later. 

P
age 329



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

18 
 

  
• Anyone with a conviction or caution for 
being concerned in drug dealing or drug 
cultivation will be referred to the Regulation 
and Review Committee for consideration but 
will usually be refused a licence.  
  
• A licence will not be granted to anyone who 
has a live criminal conviction, i.e. a 
conviction for a criminal (not motoring) 
offence that has not become spent by virtue 
of the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 
and, in that regard, it should be noted that 
some sentences never become spent.  
  
• Anyone who has [6 penalty points 
endorsed on their DVLA driving licence will 
be required to satisfactorily complete a 
driving improvement scheme course.].  
  
• Anyone disqualified from driving under the 
totting-up provisions will be licensed upon 
the restoration of their driving licence.  
  
• Anyone disqualified for driving under any 
other circumstances will not be licensed until 
their driving licence had been restored to 
them for twice the period for which they were 
disqualified.  By way of examples: (i) If 
disqualified for 14 days, a licence will not be 
granted (or would be suspended) for 28 days 
after the restoration of their driving licence; 
and (ii) If disqualified for 3 years as a result 
of a second conviction for driving with 
excess alcohol within a period of 10 years, a 
licence will not be granted for 6 years after 
the restoration of their driving (or their 
licence would be revoked by the Council). 
 

 
Using a mobile phone while driving a motor vehicle - a licence will not be granted until at least five 
years have elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, 
whichever is the later. – same as IOL 
 
Drink driving / driving under the influence of drugs - a licence will not be granted until at least 
seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed. In the 
case of driving under the influence of drugs, any applicant may also have to undergo drugs 
testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. – same as 
IOL 
 
We also add to the IOL standards in a couple of areas – we expand upon dishonesty, add taxi 
offences and other relevant factors.  See comparison of National Standards with Policy Proposals 
in Table X Appendix X  
 

Q8 Do you 
agree or 
disagree with 
the proposed 
intelligence 
lead and 
random drug 
and alcohol 
testing? 

 Agree 
Nearly two thirds agree with the proposed 
intelligence led and random drug and alcohol 
testing. 
 
1 Strongly agree.  It is understood that such 
a policy has been operated by, at least, 
Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council for many 

Do you agree or disagree with the proposed intelligence led and random drug and alcohol 
testing? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 32 49% 

Agree 17 26% 

Neither agree nor disagree 1 2% 

Strongly disagree 15 23% 

Total 65 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: +52% 

P
age 330



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

19 
 

 
If you disagree, 
which policy do 
you disagree 
with and why? 

years and possibly also by other Tees Valley 
local authorities. 
  
2 However, unless the Council is prepared to 
risk being accused of racial profiling and / or 
of institutional racism, the Council will want 
to ensure that, even when acting on 
intelligence, it has appropriate policies, 
procedures and safeguards in place to 
ensure that such testing is not the result of 
racism. 
 
3 Intelligence lead or evidence based is 
perfectly understandable and not only 
accepted but supported. 
 
4 Intelligence led is perfectly acceptable 
 
Disagree 
 
Which policy do you disagree with and 
why? 
 
1 Random is fundamentally flawed. But there 
can be no “we want to so we will” (random) 
testing. 
 
2, Random testing is above and beyond the 
remit of licensing and could be deemed to be 
an invasion of privacy. 

Non-taxi related agreement level: +60% 
 
If you disagree, which policy do you disagree with and why? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 15 23% 

No response 50 77% 

Total 65 100% 

 
Taking into consideration all responses and, arguments relating to the proposed intelligence lead and 
random drug and alcohol testing we are minded continuing with our proposals. In implementing such a 
policy, we will pay attention to comments regarding racial profiling and racism. We will ensure that, even 
when acting on intelligence, appropriate policies, procedures, safeguards, working practices and other 
appropriate controls are in place – no change to proposals recommended. 

Q9 Do you 
agree or 
disagree with 
our proposals 
for drivers to do 
refresher 
training on the 
prevention of 
child sexual 
exploitation 
every three 
years? 
 
If you disagree, 
please state 
why. 

 Agree 
Over half agree with the proposal for drivers 
to do refresher training on the prevention of 
child sexual exploitation every three years. 
The taxi industry is equally for and against 
the proposal. 
 
1 Strongly agree with the principle of 
refresher training, but such training must be 
readily available; not be of an inappropriately 
long duration; and not be disproportionately 
expensive, whether a separate fee is 
charged or whether it is included in the 
renewal application fee. 
 
2 Rather than requiring a driver to take the 
refresher training before the renewal of a 
licence, requiring it to be taken within a 

Do you agree or disagree with our proposals for drivers to do refresher training on the prevention 
of child sexual exploitation every three years? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 25 38% 

Agree 11 17% 

Neither agree nor disagree 3 5% 

Disagree 8 12% 

Strongly disagree 18 28% 

Total 65 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: 0% 
Non-taxi related agreement level: +60% 
 
If you disagree, please state why. 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 24 37% 

No response 41 63% 

Total 65 100% 

 

P
age 331



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

20 
 

specified period after the grant of the 
renewed licence, would avoid the risk of 
drivers not booking themselves onto a 
course in good time before the expiry of their 
current licence.  It is appreciated that it might 
be said that attending refresher training is no 
different to getting a vehicle tested in order 
to renew its licence, but there will always be 
greater availability and flexibility to vehicle 
testing than to the provision of classroom 
based refresher training. 
 
Disagree 
The taxi industry is equally for and against 
the proposal. 
 
If you disagree, why? 
 
1 We fail to see the purpose, benefit or 
reasonableness of repeating the same test 
every 3 years, the course will be exactly the 
same and therefore be a waste of time, effort 
and money on the part of the existing 
licensee, on first application we understand 
and agree with. 

Taking into consideration all responses and, arguments relating to the proposals for drivers to do 
refresher training on the prevention of child sexual exploitation every three years, we are not persuaded to 
alter our proposals – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
As the requirement to undergo CSE awareness refresher training prior to being re-licensed will be part of 
the process establishing the propriety of the prospective licensed driver, we disagree with the proposal 
that refresher training should be done after renewal. In order to give existing licensed drivers time to book 
on and complete the CSE awareness refresher training prior to the expiry of their driver’s licence, we 
propose that: FROM 31ST MARCH 2022, ALL EXISTING LICENSED DRIVERS MUST UNDERGO CSE 
AWARENESS REFRESHER TRAINING BEFORE THEIR LICENCE IS RENEWED, IF THEY HAVE 
NOT ALREADY RECEIVED CSE AWARENESS TRAINING (OR CSE AWARENESS REFRESHER 
TRAINING) WITHIN THE PREVIOUS 3 YEARS.  

Q10 Do you 
agree or 
disagree that all 
drivers should 
be trained in 
disability 
awareness? 
 
If you disagree, 
please state 
why? 

 Agree 
Nearly two thirds agree with that all drivers 
should be trained in disability awareness. 
 
1 Strongly agree and there would seem to 
be no good reason why this should not also 
be included in the refresher training, subject 
to the comments made above at A9.  
Blueline Taxis would also like to see training 
extended to cover customer service and for 
this also to from part of the triennial refresher 
training. 
 
Disagree 
Nearly one third disagree that all drivers 
should be trained in disability awareness. 
 
If you disagree, why? 

Do you agree or disagree that all drivers should be trained in disability awareness? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 19 30% 

Agree 22 34% 

Neither agree nor disagree 7 11% 

Disagree 2 3% 

Strongly disagree 14 22% 

Total 64 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: +31% 
Non-taxi related agreement level: +60% 
 
If you disagree, please state why. 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 18 28% 

No response 47 72% 

Total 65 100% 

 
Taking into consideration all responses and, arguments relating to the proposals for drivers to be trained 
in disability awareness, we are minded to insert such a requirement in our proposed policy for 
consideration by Members. We are also minded to ask Members if they would want the requirement for 
disability awareness refresher training to be included in the proposed policy and if so, at what frequency? 
I.e. for new applications, all prospective drivers to have undergone disability awareness training 
and for existing licensed drivers, E.g. From 31st March 2022, all licensed drivers must undergo 

P
age 332



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

21 
 

DISABILITY awareness refresher training before their licence is renewed, if they have not already 
received DISABILITY awareness training (or DISABILITY awareness refresher training) within the 
previous 3 years. 

Q11 Do you 
agree or 
disagree that all 
taxis and 
private hire 
vehicles should 
have internal 
CCTV fitted as 
standard? 
 
If you disagree, 
please state 
why. 

 Agree 
Over half agree that all taxis and private hire 
vehicles should have internal CCTV fitted as 
standard. 
 
1 Strongly agree, but note that the draft 
policy at page 41, para 18 and page 62, 
Appx 8 do not provide that all licensed 
vehicles should be fitted with a CCTV 
system. Whilst supporting the principle of 
requiring all licensed vehicles to be fitted 
with CCTV, it is noted that the Council has 
not produced any evidence to support such 
an approach and has not made reference to 
addressing any of the statutory and other 
requirements detailed in the Statutory 
Standards at pages 38-39, Annex – CCTV 
Guidance.. If the Council cannot establish 
that there is a legitimate need to require the 
installation of CCTV in licensed vehicles, 
Blueline Taxis supports the approach 
expressed in the draft taxi policy, but urges 
the Council to do all it can to promote to 
drivers the installation of CCTV systems, 
because anecdotally it seems they are far 
more frequently the victim to criminal and 
anti-social behaviour by passengers and 
members of the public than they are the 
victims of drivers. 
 
2 The Department’s view is that CCTV can 
provide additional deterrence to prevent this 
and investigative value when it does. The 
use of CCTV can provide a safer 
environment for the benefit of taxi/private 
hire vehicle passengers and drivers by:  
• deterring and preventing the occurrence of 
crime; • reducing the fear of crime; • 
assisting the police in investigating incidents 
of crime; • assisting insurance companies in 
investigating motor vehicle accidents. 
 
Disagree 
 
If you disagree, why? 

Do you agree or disagree that all taxis and private hire vehicles should have internal CCTV fitted 
as standard? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 18 28% 

Agree 19 29% 

Neither agree nor disagree 8 12% 

Disagree 4 6% 

Strongly disagree 16 25% 

Total 65 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: +15% 
Non-taxi related agreement level: +60% 
 
If you disagree, please state why. 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 21 32% 

No response 44 68% 

Total 65 100% 

 
See Department for Transport Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards Annex – CCTV Guidance 
page 38. 
 
Following consultation, DCC Licensing Services has been unable to identify if there are any local 
circumstances which indicate that the installation of CCTV in vehicles would have either a positive or an 
adverse net effect on the safety of taxi and private hire vehicle users, including children or vulnerable 
adults, and taking into account potential privacy issues. 
 
Imposition of a blanket requirement to attach CCTV as a condition to a licence is likely to give rise to 
concerns about the proportionality of such an approach and will therefore require an appropriately strong 
justification and must be kept under regular review. More information and guidance on assessing the 
impacts of CCTV and on an authority mandating CCTV is annexed to this document (Annex – CCTV 
guidance). 
 
Taking into consideration all responses and, arguments relating to the question about whether all 
taxis and private hire vehicles should have internal CCTV fitted as standard, we proposed to keep 
the policy in relation to the fitting of CCTV in licensed vehicles as it is and not to mandate its 
installation as standard in all licensed vehicles – no change to proposals recommended. 

P
age 333



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

22 
 

Q12 Do you 
agree or 
disagree that 
applicants with 
6 points on 
their DVLA 
driving licences 
should be 
required to 
undertake a 
driver 
improvement 
scheme? 
 
If you disagree, 
please state 
why. 

 Agree 
The general public agrees with the proposal. 
 
Disagree 
 
If you disagree, why? 
Over half disagree that applicants with 6 
points on their DVLA driving licences should 
be required to undertake a driver 
improvement scheme. However, this is the 
overriding opinion of the taxi industry 
 
1 It should depend on the offences. Doing 33 
in a 30 is vastly different to 79 in 50 for 
example. 
 
2 since drivers have invariably already 
undergone such tests, there is no 
justification for repetitions of the same thing 
which would achieve very little if anything at 
all 
 
3 This should depend on the type or nature 
of offence, for example a parking ticket 
offence would not indicate a full driving test, 
therefore there should be options which 
could be taken by licensing committee such 
as “take no action, issue a warning, require a 
driving refresher course be undertaken, 
revoke or suspend a license” as opposed to 
a finite decision regardless of circumstances. 

Do you agree or disagree that applicants with 6 points on their DVLA driving licences should be 
required to undertake a driver improvement scheme? 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 14 22% 

Agree 11 17% 

Neither agree nor disagree 4 6% 

Disagree 11 17% 

Strongly disagree 25 38% 

Total 65 100% 

Taxi driver/operator/employee agreement level: -33% 
Non-taxi related agreement level: +47% 
 
If you disagree, please state why. 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 32 49% 

No response 33 51% 

Total 65 100% 

 
Taking into consideration the responses received and the intended purpose of the proposal, to protect the 
public we consider that driver improvement schemes  to allow for poor driving issues may be properly 
addressed catering for the improvement of driving practice by sub-standard drivers and offers a suitable 
alternative to other means of enforcement action and committee determination – no change to proposals 
recommended. 

Q13 Do you 
have any other 
suggestions or 
comments to 
make? 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Other Suggestions and Comments 
 
 
1 The Parish Council would equally welcome 
any and all new initiatives by the County 

Do you have any other suggestions or comments to make? 

 Frequency Percent 

Response 29 45% 

No response 36 55% 

Total 65 100% 

 
Are you: 

 
Frequency Percent 

Taxi driver, operator, or 
employee 

Not a taxi driver, operator, 
or employee 

Male 50 78% 42 7 

Female 14 22% 6 7 

Total 64 100% 48 14 

 
1 These comments have been noted – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 

P
age 334



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

23 
 

Council to support the roll out of Electric 
Vehicles as part of its existing fleet. 
 
2 The Parish Council is concerned at the 
wording in para 19.4 of the draft policy, in 
relation to the reference to use of social 
media. It is the Parish Council’s view that 
this policy ought to be more specific and 
state that this would only be relevant on a 
social media platform on which the user is 
specifically identifiable as a Durham licensed 
Taxi driver. The Parish Council believes that 
what a driver happens to put on his/her own 
personal social media pages in their own 
time has nothing to do with their ability or 
otherwise to carry out their job as a licensed 
driver and the policy needs to distinguish 
this. 
 
3 It is the Parish Council’s understanding 
that only 6% of the current licensed fleet of 
vehicles in Durham is wheelchair accessible. 
The Parish Council wishes to stress its 
support that every effort be made to increase 
this provision of these vehicles, in order to 
ensure access for all in Durham. 
 
4 The Parish Council believes that the 
following general statement ought to be 
included in Appendix 1 of the draft Policy: 
“that drivers must comply with traffic laws 
and all council traffic regulations /restrictions 
/requirements at all times as a condition of 
their licence.” 
 
5 In relation to the section on License 
Conditions for Horse-Drawn vehicles in the 
draft policy, the Committee agreed that the 
existing sentence: “Proprietors must arrange 
for animals to be checked at least annually, 
and at any other time at the request of the 
Council, by an approved veterinary surgeon” 
ought to be amended to state that this must 
take place at least once every 6 months as 
opposed to annually, so as to better 
safeguard the welfare of the animal 
 

 
2 Licensing Services has received complaints from licensed drivers alleging their receipt of abuse and 
threats etc via social media from other licensed drivers. These complaints have been investigated and 
actions have taken by the licensing authority on the basis that a licence holder who makes threats or 
abuses other people via social media may be acting improperly and may tender them unsuitable to hold a 
DCC Taxi driver Licence. We dispute the assertion that what a driver happens to put on his/her own 
personal social media pages in their own time has nothing to do with their ability or otherwise to carry out 
their job as a licensed driver. A licensed driver remains a licensed driver even when not working as a taxi 
driver. If a taxi driver burgled a house and stole in their own time, when not working as a taxi driver, would 
this render their actions irrelevant to their role as a licensed driver? We think that any licensed driver who 
acts improperly and unlawfully may be guilty of misconduct and that may affect their propriety and 
suitability to hold a DCC licence – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3 These comments have been noted – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4 It is implicit in English law that all drivers, including taxi drivers, must comply with road traffic legislation. 
This is not a matter of policy but is a matter of legislation. A policy should not duplicate legal requirements 
already in place via national statutes and regulations. By way of analogy, taxi drivers should not be 
stealing or assaulting people however such misdemeanours are already controlled and restricted by 
statute so for the reasons provided above, we do not specify that licensed drivers should not steal or 
assault people – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
5   These comments have been noted and our proposed policy may be changed to reflect this 
suggestion. HJ to check with Animal Health Team 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 P

age 335



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

24 
 

6 Page 12, para 7.7 Such powers of 
revocation have led to severe problems 
within the industry as it deprives drivers of 
their right to a fair hearing, such finite 
decisions to revoke should be referred to 
licensing committees to determine. 
 
7 Page 13 para 8.1 This is a requirement of 
the regulators code, not to “seek to work 
with” but that “regulators must actively 
engage with those they regulate” 
 
8 Page 21 para 19.4 Not entirely sure why 
social media platforms have been brought 
into the policy here unless it is the intention 
to actively monitor and stalk drivers on social 
media, which is beyond the remit and 
powers of enforcement, Facebook has a 
number of options, scroll past, ignore, or if 
really offended, block. 
 
9 Page 24/25 Eligibility, c) in order to comply 
with the obligations, set under the equalities 
act, there must be an assistant available in 
order to read out the questions and possible 
answers for those without the ability to read 
and write. Also, Under the  same equalities 
act, it is an offence to ask for proof, or to 
even question such disabilities in much the 
same way as it is deemed to be unlawful for 
drivers to question any claim to exemption 
for the wearing of a facemask or to ask for 
proof. 
 
10 Page 27 e) Exploitation (CSE) awareness 
training course. We fail to see the purpose, 
benefit or reasonableness of repeating the 
same test every 3 years, the course will be 
exactly the same and therefore be a waste 
of time, effort and money on the part of the 
existing licensee, on first application we 
understand and agree with. 
 
11 Page 28 In light of the comments within 
section 7 above, it might be pertinent to 
ensure that the allegations made are valid 
before making such entries into the NR3 
register, without the element of protection in 

6 That all licensing authorities must consider arrangements for dealing with serious matters that may 
require the immediate revocation of a licence is a requirement of the new national standards for taxi and 
private hire licensing. Suitable and appropriate measures must be in place to safeguard the public and be 
applied for the protection and fast-track reinstatement of revoked licences  – no change to proposals 
recommended. 
 
 
7 These comments have been noted and our proposed policy may be changed to reflect this 
suggestion. CHANGE TO WORDING AGREED 
 
 
 
8 As with 2 above, Licensing Services has received complaints from licensed drivers alleging their receipt 
of abuse and threats etc via social media from other licensed drivers. These complaints have been 
investigated and actions have taken by the licensing authority on the basis that a licence holder who 
makes threats or abuses other people via social media may be acting improperly and may tender them 
unsuitable to hold a DCC Taxi driver Licence. We can confirm that there is and has never been any 
intention to actively monitor and stalk drivers on social media – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
9 These comments have been noted AS WE ALSO USE THE TESTS TO ASSESS ENGLISH 
LANGUAGE COMPETENCY, WE DO NOT NEED TO ALTER THIS SECTION OF THE POLICY  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10 The respondent has assumed that the course will be the same and therefore be a waste of time. 
Refresher training is an aspect of retraining taken by a person already qualified, trained or made aware of 
a subject or has previously been assessed as suitably knowledgably or competent in a field with the 
intention of updating skills and/or knowledge to a changed standard, or providing the opportunity to 
ensure that no important skills or knowledge have been lost due to lack of use – no change to proposals 
recommended. 
 
 
 
11 These comments have been noted. Licensing Services can confirm that reasonable validation checks 
are performed as is appropriate under the circumstances of any case – no change to proposals 
recommended.  
 
 
 

P
age 336



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

25 
 

place, drivers may find themselves entered 
on to the register for no justifiable reason. 
 
12 Page 28 DBS Update Service - On the 
basis of the possible delays in achieving an 
up to date report it may be more advisable to 
issue a temporary or conditional “without 
prejudice” license pending the submission of 
the up to date DBS report as opposed to 
running the risk of the license expiring 
through nothing more than DBS delays 
 
13 Page 30 Voluntary return of licence - This 
is not actually the case, if a driver surrenders 
his license, the issuing authority may not 
refuse to accept the license, as this would in 
fact keep a driver licensed against his will, 
this paragraph needs clearing up to 
demonstrate and clarify the fact that “the 
surrendering of a license will not result in 
any pending or unresolved investigation 
being terminated, nor would it prevent the 
entry of those results being added to the 
NR3 register” 
 
14 page 32 s)  Passenger receipts - Unless 
the council is going to provide and issue a 
template receipt to all private hire drivers, 
with availability for more on request by each 
driver, then there is no justification to 
prescribe the details of the receipt, this is 
based not only on the time taken to prepare 
such receipts, but also on the fact that when 
requested, the reason for such a receipt is 
more for tax purposes, where they only need 
date, time and amount charged for 
accountancy purposes, many passengers 
would not want such detail to be included in 
the document. Besides which, the driver and 
vehicle number are invariably two different 
numbers and should therefore be two 
separate columns. 
 
15 Page 35 Where an applicant has 7 or 
more points on their DVLA driving licence for 
minor traffic or similar offences, a licence will 
not be granted until at least five years have 

 
 
12 In the interests of public safety, Licensing Services do not consider it appropriate to issue a temporary 
or conditional “without prejudice” license pending the submission of the up to date DBS report. It is the 
responsibility of the licensing authority to ensure so far as is reasonably practicable to determine the 
suitability of any applicant and existing driver prior to grant or renewal  – no change to proposals 
recommended. 
 
 
 
 
13 These comments have been noted however, Licensing Services, following consultation with DCC 
Legal Services, are confident in our current position in relation to the voluntary surrender of driver licences 
by drivers who have been implicated in misconduct and who are seeking to avoid or evade action being 
taken by the Council that may result in their details being added to the NR3 register – no change to 
proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
14 MINOR CHANGE TO WORDING – MINIMUM WORDING TO IDENTIFY VEHICLE USED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15 These comments have been noted. We have proposed to mirror the IOL standards except in relation 
to the minor motoring offences or motoring offences involving disqualification.  
 
These are the IOL Standards: 
 
Motoring convictions  

P
age 337



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

26 
 

elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence imposed. - 
 
This is the institute of licensing “safe and 
suitability guidance” which is under fire from 
the taxi and private hire industry nationally, 
the adoption of such a policy is for each 
council to decide, such a condition must take 
into consideration a period of time over 
which those 7 points have been 
accumulated, for example, if 3 or more of 
those points are due to be removed from the 
applicants license, then the 5 year 
suggested punishment here has already 
almost expired. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the responsibility of 
carrying the public. It is accepted that offences can be committed unintentionally, and a single occurrence 
of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the granting of a licence. However, applicants with multiple 
motoring convictions may indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the behaviours of a safe road user 
and one that is suitable to drive professionally.  
 
Any motoring conviction while a licensed driver demonstrates that the licensee may not take their 
professional responsibilities seriously. However, it is accepted that offences can be committed 
unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence may not necessitate the revocation of a 
taxi or private hire vehicle driver licence providing the authority considers that the licensee remains a fit 
and proper person to retain a licence.  
 
Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs – we have included this 
Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the influence of drugs, a licence will 
not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence or driving 
ban imposed. In the case of driving under the influence of drugs, any applicant may also have to undergo 
drugs testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs.  
 
Using a hand-held device whilst driving – we have included this 

Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held‐hand mobile telephone or a hand‐held device whilst 
driving, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have elapsed since the conviction or 
completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 
 
This is what we have in the proposed policy: 
 
Motoring offences 
 
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the responsibility 
of carrying the public. It is accepted that offences can be committed unintentionally, and a single 
occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the granting of a licence. However, 
applicants with multiple motoring convictions may indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the 
behaviours of a safe road user and one that is suitable to drive professionally.  
 
Minor traffic offences or vehicle related offence 
 
This is an offence which does not involve loss of life, driving under the influence of drink or 
drugs, driving whilst using a mobile phone and has not resulted in injury to any person or damage 
to any property including vehicles.  
 
Where an applicant has 7 or more points on their DVLA driving licence for minor traffic or similar 
offences, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have elapsed since the completion 
of any sentence imposed. 
 
Where an applicant has 6 points on their DVLA driving licence for minor traffic or similar offences, 
they will be required to undertake a driver improvement scheme at their own expense. The 
Licensing Authority hold a list of current providers of the driving improvement scheme. 
 
Major traffic offence or vehicle related offence 

P
age 338



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

27 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
16 Page 40 failure to disclose:  “being 
reported for an offence” and /or ongoing 
investigations may not have been brought 
the attention of the applicant, therefore this 
section must include a term such as “that 
they are aware of” in order to make this 
condition reasonable 
 
17 Page 41 para 9 - Any deterioration of 
such plates must be reported to the licensing 
authority for a replacement plate to be 
issued free of charge 
 
18 Page 41 para 10 Re internal licence plate 
/ complaint sticker placed on the window of 
each passenger compartment - 
suggested clarification here, “attached to a 
window” or “must be visible from within the 
passenger area” the term “the window of 
each passenger compartment is vague and 
open to confusion. 
 

 
This is one which is not covered above and any offence which resulted in injury to any person or 
damage to any property including vehicles. It also involves driving without insurance or any 
offence connected with motor insurance.  
 
All major traffic offences (unless specified below) - a licence will not be granted until at least 
seven years have elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban 
imposed, whichever is the later. 
 
Using a mobile phone while driving a motor vehicle - a licence will not be granted until at least five 
years have elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, 
whichever is the later. – same as IOL 
 
Drink driving / driving under the influence of drugs - a licence will not be granted until at least 
seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed. In the 
case of driving under the influence of drugs, any applicant may also have to undergo drugs 
testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. – same as 
IOL 
 
We also add to the IOL standards in a couple of areas – we expand upon dishonesty, add taxi offences 
and other relevant factors – no change to proposals recommended.  See comparison table 
 
 
 
16 suitable checks and enquiries would be made to ensure that the subject would have reasonably been 
expected to have been aware of any offences prior to any decisions being made and action taken – no 
change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
17 – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
18 – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
19 CHANGE TO POLICY WORDING 

P
age 339



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

28 
 

19 Page 42 para 19 - Suggested 
amendment, firstly “on” is very confusion, 
please clarify, since these are moving 
vehicles, it is highly unlikely if not impossible 
for any animal or pet to be carried “on” any 
licensed vehicle, further suggestion is 
“without the hirers consent” in which case 
the hirer must be asked for consent at point 
of booking / hiring, since many passengers 
would have no such objections. 
 
20 Page 43 para 20 tinted windows - Whilst 
we appreciate the note of discretion here, 
there should be no such discretion, since 
there is no such lawful reason or justification 
for such restrictions rearwards of the “B” 
post (rear windows) furthermore this aspect 
as described in f) has been subject to 
successful judicial review, has been 
abolished by several local authorities and is 
currently subject to DfT review, may we 
suggest this be amended to read “rear 
windows must be of manufacturers standard 
for the vehicle, aftermarket tints or films will 
not be accepted. 
 
21 Page 43 para 22 Fire Extinguishers - 
Suggested inclusion of CO2 extinguishers 
here? Since they are as effective but cause 
far less damage or mess inside the vehicle. 
 
22 Page 45 para 32 unaccompanied 
carriage or delivery of alcohol and tobacco - 
There is no lawful justification for this, 
although we do see the precaution you are 
trying to achieve here, to have such a 
condition would suggest drivers checking all 
bags when doing deliveries from such 
superstores such as ASDA or TESCO which 
could be deemed to be intrusive by the 
public. 
 
A better solution to this would be to 
introduce a condition that drivers must not 
delivery alcohol or tobaccos products to any 
person who is under the age of 18, such a 
stipulation would be legal, and would put 
drivers in a justifiable position to claim a 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
20 Points noted and accepted – change proposed policy to read at Page 43 para 20 tinted windows 
“rear windows must be of manufacturers standard for the vehicle, aftermarket tints or films will 
not be accepted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Checked with D and D Fire and Rescue Service – To Request Member’s opinions 
 
 
 
 
22 REMOVED AND REPLACED WITH MORE SUITABLE WORDING 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 340



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

29 
 

refund for any such items not delivered from 
the retailer from whom the delivery is being 
carried out. 
 
23 Page 45 para 33 33. The use of 
temporary screens for safety and infection 
control purposes - Never promote, 
encourage or support the use of Velcro or 
adhesive fastenings, to do so causes 
damage to the interior of the vehicles, when 
removed, and allows for such screens to be 
pulled down and used as a weapon against 
the drivers. This topic is currently under 
review by the DfT and the TRL, so it may be 
worth holding back on setting such 
conditions pending the outcome or guidance 
issued by the regulators here. 
 
24 Page 50 conditions for stretch vehicles - 
So a stretched reliant robin is not allowed? If 
this is not the point you were trying to make 
here by stipulate minimum of four road 
wheels, then what is it? Suggest reducing 
this to read “The tyres must be of an 
approved rating as specified by the 
manufacturer, meet legal requirements and 
have a minimum tread depth of 2mm and 
must include and one full sized spare 
wheel.” 
 
25 Page 54 and 55 para 13 13.
 Operators must require a basic 
DBS check from all individuals listed on the 
register of booking and dispatch staff upon 
commencing appointment and then once 
every 3 years. - Suggested amendment, 
current paragraph is very confusing and 
misses important options 
 
Operators must require a minimum of a 
basic DBS check from all individuals listed 
on their employment register of booking and 
dispatch staff upon commencing 
appointment if a basic disclosure is used, 
then it must be renewed every 3 years, this 
can be avoided by opting for the enhanced 
disclosure instead, and then the applicant 

 
 
 
 
23 Point noted - it may be worth holding back on setting such conditions pending the outcome or 
guidance issued by the regulators here. WORDING CHANGED  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
24 Point noted – consider alteration to read: “The tyres must be of an approved rating as specified 
by the manufacturer, meet legal requirements and have a minimum tread depth of 2mm and must 
include and one full sized spare wheel.” Check with LC and HJ CHANGES TO WORDING MADE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
25 Point noted – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 341



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

30 
 

registering on the update service in the 
same way as for driver applications. 
 DBS certificates provided by the individual 
should be no more than 28 days old when 
submitted, a copy to be kept on the 
employment files which should be retained 
for the duration that the individual remains 
employed. 
Alternatively, a ‘responsible organisation’ 
can request the check on an operator’s 
behalf. A link to a list of responsible 
organisations is provided in the Statutory 
Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards. 
 
26 Page 55 para 17 - Suggest adding that is 
subject to a license issued by this authority.  
Amend the last part which is confusing, the 
use of PCV and PSV is either permitted, or it 
is not, the consent of the booker has no 
bearing on local authority conditions. 
 
27 Appendix 8 C.C.T.V Installed in any 
Licenced Vehicle para 1 - Suggested edit to 
simply read “Notices informing of the CCTV 
must be displayed in a prominent position 
where it can be easily read by persons 
wishing to enter the vehicle. These notices 
shall be maintained in a clean and legible 
condition.  
The ICO regulation states that passengers 
must be alerted to the fact that the area is 
subject to CCTV recording equipment, there 
is no stipulation to have it repeated once 
entered the vehicle, which renders the 
amendment a reasonable compromise. 
 
28 Appendix 8 C.C.T.V Installed in any 
Licenced Vehicle para 5 - This condition only 
applies in cases where the driver or vehicle 
owner has direct access to the data and is 
therefore “data controller” where the data is 
locked out and a third party controller is 
used, then there is no such stipulation. 
 
29 Appendix 8 C.C.T.V Installed in any 
Licenced Vehicle para 6 - Suggested 
amendment to read “the data controller shall 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
26 Point noted – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
27 point noted. Appendix 8 C.C.T.V Installed in any Licenced Vehicle para 1 Suggest amending 
proposal to read: - “Notices informing of the CCTV must be displayed in a prominent position 
where it can be easily read by persons wishing to enter the vehicle. These notices shall be 
maintained in a clean and legible condition. CHANGES TO WORDING MADE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
28 Point noted, CHANGES TO WORDING MADE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
29 Point noted, CHANGES TO WORDING MADE 
 
 
 

P
age 342



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

31 
 

ensure that no other person has access to 
the data stored within the system” 
 
30 If the Council cannot establish that there 
is a legitimate need to require the installation 
of CCTV in licensed vehicles, Blueline Taxis 
supports the approach expressed in the draft 
taxi policy, but urges the Council to do all it 
can to promote to drivers the installation of 
CCTV systems, because anecdotally it 
seems they are far more frequently the 
victim to criminal and anti-social behaviour 
by passengers and members of the public 
than they are the victims of drivers. 
 
31 Page 5, para 1.3: It is noted that, whilst 
the policy addresses the obligations for the 
trade under the Equality Act 2020, the 
Council has failed to acknowledge the 
statutory duties placed upon itself by the 
Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) under 
section 149 of the said Act. 
 
32 Page 7, para 3.4: The Council is asked to 
remove, for those applying to be licensed as 
a private hire driver, the requirement to pass 
the topographical knowledge test, as has 
been recommended by the Department for 
Transport since 2010 (see DFT Best 
Practice Guidance, para 76). 
 
33 Page 9, para 6.1 f): Whilst the Council’s 
ability to liaise with the police is 
acknowledged, the Council and the police 
need to be alert to the risk of circumventing 
the DBS process and the Council receiving 
information to which it has no legal right.  In 
this regard, please refer to para 4.4 of the 
Statutory Standards.  If the police have not 
shared information formally through the DBS 
process or the common law disclosure 
process, information should not be casually 
disclosed to officers or the Subcommittee by 
a junior ranking officer or a PCSO. 
 
34 Page 9, para 7.1: The correctness of the 
assertion that authority is delegated to the 
Licensing Sub-Committee is question, as in 

 
 
 
30 Taking into consideration all responses and, arguments relating to the question about whether all taxis 
and private hire vehicles should have internal CCTV fitted as standard, we proposed to keep the policy in 
relation to the fitting of CCTV in licensed vehicles as it is and not to mandate its installation as standard in 
all licensed vehicles – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
31 Points noted and accepted, public sector equality duty - section 149 - to add the council 
acknowledges the duties under section 149 as per the public sector equality duty CHANGES TO 
WORDING MADE 
 
 
 
 
 
32 Points noted. Locality tests for PHD - ask members if they no longer want us to test PHD on 
topographical knowledge TO ASK MEMBERS  
 
 
 
 
 
 
33 Points noted. Requesting information from Police - we have a sharing information agreement - 
advice accepted - LC to check with Legal Services re the way we are doing it. ??? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
34 Page 9 7.1 re committee - CHANGES TO WORDING MADE 
 
 

P
age 343



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

32 
 

my experience such matters are dealt with 
(and are presumably delegated to) the 
General Licensing & Registration Sub-
Committees. 
 
35 Page 12, para 9.8: The Council is asked 
to make clear that those who suffer from 
acute anxiety when confronted by a dog or 
near a dog would also be entitled to a 
medical exemption certificate.  It is 
acknowledged that such psychological 
issues may not be so easily proven, 
especially if there is no recorded clinical 
history, as those who are now licensed are 
unlikely to have been able to access mental 
health services as a result of a dog attack 
when they were a child.  The Council would 
be in danger of discriminating against a 
person with a mental health disability if it 
were to fail to address how it will deal with 
drivers suffering from psychological trauma 
from a dog attack. 
 
36 Page 13, para 11.1: Please append a 
copy of the departmental enforcement policy 
to the taxi policy and cross-reference to it in 
this paragraph. 
 
37 Page 15, para 15.6 and page 40, 
Appendix 3: Vehicle Licences, Standard 
Conditions, condition 13: The Council is 
asked to vary this proposed change, so as to 
permit self-promotional material being 
displayed on the front door of a licensed 
vehicle.  It is unreservedly accepted that 
such material should not obscure or detract 
the Council door signage, but self-
promotional material along the sill and / or 
lower door would neither obstruct nor detract 
the Council door signage.  Blueline Taxis 
currently displays self-promotional material 
in this position, which is currently permitted 
by 7 of the 8 local authorities by which it is 
licensed, and it is believed the eighth will 
shortly propose revising its policy to permit 
this too. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
35 Re acute anxiety carrying a dog - policy covers this matter as it stands, no changes to proposal 
required – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
36 Enforcement policy - added sentence to say this can be accessed via the council’s website 
 
 
 
 
37 Re self-promotional material on vehicles - amended to allow for this – may be applied to the 
front door sill and lower door 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 344



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

33 
 

38 Pages 17 - 18, paras 15.25 – 15.32: The 
Council is asked to reconsider its position in 
relation to the requirements it imposes for 
the grant of an exemption under section 
75(3) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous provisions) Act 1976.  With 
the greatest of respect, at present the 
Council might as well say that it will not grant 
such an exemption, because the chances of 
an individual, let alone a business, securing 
enough work from contracts of at least 60 
days duration each to qualify for an 
exemption and to be able to afford to not 
undertake any other work must be almost 
zero, if not zero.  The Council is asked to 
grant the exemption in respect of certain 
contracted work, whilst requiring the vehicle 
to display plate and signage at all other 
times, as expressly permitted by the wording 
of the said section. 
 
39 Page 19, paras 17 & 18: It is hoped that 
these changes are intended to address the 
situation where a person who is not the 
owner of a vehicle wrongly obtains the 
vehicle licence in their sole name.  As 
officers and lawyers may recall, when I 
previously raised this matter in late 2018 / 
early 2019, the Council asserted that, in 
relation to hackney carriages, section 40 of 
the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 permitted 
the licence to be granted to someone who is 
not a proprietor of the vehicle, if that person 
and the proprietor consent to that 
arrangement by both signing the form.  The 
Council’s interpretation was fatally flawed in 
that section 40 goes on to create a criminal 
offence by providing that anyone who “in 
such requisition [states] the name of any 
person who is not a proprietor or part 
proprietor of such carriage … shall be liable 
to a penalty”.  Whether within these 
paragraphs or paragraph 15, the Council is 
asked to make clear that only a vehicle’s 
owner(s) can be named as licence holder(s) 
and that they alone may sign the application 
form, whether that vis for a hackney carriage 
or a private hire vehicle. 

38 grant of an exemption – No change to policy wording as exemptions have been issued, 
however Members may wish to consider reducing the number of days e.g. 40 or 30. The more 
frequently stickers are changed, the more replacements will be needed. We do not allow magnetic 
livery – no change to proposals recommended but TO ASK MEMBERS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
39 Transfer of vehicle - page 19 para 17 and 18 The Council note that there is no recognition, in law, of a 
hackney carriage proprietors’ licence.  There is only reference to hackney carriage vehicle licences and 
this Council has always formed the view that the legislation does not specifically state that such a licence 
can only be held by the vehicle’s proprietor. No change to policy required – no change to proposals 
recommended. 
 
The legislation is specific.  Section 40 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 states that a vehicle licence 
application must be signed by the vehicle’s proprietor.  No change to policy required – no change to 
proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 345



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

34 
 

 
40 Page 28, Appendix 1: Drivers, Continuing 
Suitability / Renewal Process: It is 
respectfully submitted that, as a result of 
changes made to this section, it ought to be 
split into two separate sections as it is now 
unclear as to what is a renewal requirement 
and what is a requirement for continuing 
suitability. 
 
41 Page 28, Appendix 1: Drivers, Continuing 
Suitability / Renewal Process: The need to 
produce the DVLA photocard driving licence 
at renewal is questioned when it is assumed, 
although not stated, that the Council will 
require the driver to produce a DVLA access 
code to enable the Council to check their 
online DVLS Driver Record.  It is assumed 
the Council will, at initial application or at an 
earlier renewal, had sight of the driver’s 
DVLA driving licence and other identification 
documents for the purposes of processing 
an Enhanced DBS check. 
 
42 Page 29, Appendix 1: Drivers, Continuing 
Suitability / Renewal Process: With the 
greatest of respect, the interpretation of the 
effect of the judgment in Exeter City Council 
v Sandle [2011] EWHC 1403, fails to have 
regard for the facts of that case.  The case 
concerned the late renewal application for a 
hackney carriage vehicle licence with a 
council that applied quantitative controls to 
such licences and had a waiting list of 
persons who wished to be granted such a 
licence upon one becoming available.  In 
that case and those circumstances, the High 
Court made clear that there was a need to 
balance the competing interest of the licence 
holder who applied for renewal late and 
those on the waiting list for the grant of a 
licence.  In those specific circumstances the 
court said as stated in the appendix to the 
taxi policy.  There is no reason why a 
renewal of a driver’s licence could not be 
permitted later than the 2 days referred to in 
the judgment or the 3 days specified in the 
taxi policy, because the delay does not 

 
40 improve clarity of layout? Change to wording agreed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
41 continuing suitability - provide a DVLA code to perform a DVLA check. This is procedural associated 
with the application process therefore no need to change policy wording to remove need to view DVLA 
photocard on renewal. This is however accepted and changes to procedures have been made to include 
this alteration to the processing of renewal applications. No policy change required - – no change to 
proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
42 Points noted renewal process Exeter v sandal - no change required as we already apply this principle 
transparently and clearly – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 346



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

35 
 

prejudice the interests of any other person.  
Similarly, neither would the renewal of a 
vehicle licence prejudice the interests of any 
other person, because there is no cap on the 
number of hackney carriages the Council will 
license (unlike the position in Exeter) and a 
local authority cannot regulate the number of 
private hire vehicles.  The Council is asked 
to acknowledge that, in exceptional 
circumstances, it may be prepared to grant 
the renewal of a licence more than 3 days 
after expiry.  Currently, one might have to 
consider the position of a driver who did not 
apply on time for the renewal of their licence, 
because they were hospitalised with COVID-
19 for weeks or months. 
 
43 Pages 29 - 30, Appendix 1: Drivers, 
Continuing Suitability / Renewal Process: 
Despite the Council’s assertion that it can 
(and has previously purported to) refuse to 
accept the surrender of a licence, surrender 
is something that can be done by a licence 
holder and for which the Council has not 
statutory power to refuse to accept it.  
Undoubtedly, legislation should provide for 
surrender and for a local authority’s power to 
accept surrender in situations such as those 
described, but statute does not permit this 
and the Council, being itself a creature of 
statute, can only do that permitted by law. 
 
44 Page 40, Appendix 3: Vehicle Licences, 
Standard Conditions, condition 10: For the 
purposes of enhancing public safety by 
making private hire vehicles more easily 
identified by the public, in particular the 
customer that has booked such a vehicle, 
Blueline Taxis would like to see this 
condition amended to include a requirement 
that every private hire vehicle must display 
signage on the vehicle identifying the private 
hire operator for which it works.  This not 
only assists customers generally but is of 
particular benefit to disabled passengers if 
they are visually impaired and even to 
wheelchair users and persons with mobility 
problems as no one wants to get to a 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
43 These comments have been noted however, Licensing Services, following consultation with DCC 
Legal Services, are confident in our current position in relation to the voluntary surrender of driver licences 
by drivers who have been implicated in misconduct and who are seeking to avoid or evade action being 
taken by the Council that may result in their details being added to the NR3 register. No policy change 
required – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
44 Points noted however, no change to proposed policy necessary – no change to proposals 
recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 347



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

36 
 

vehicle, only to discover it’s not even a 
licensed vehicle.  Clear operator livery also 
enables other motorists and members of the 
public generally to raise complaints about 
the behaviour of a driver or the manner of 
their driving with an operator when they may 
not have complained to the Council or the 
police because they did not get the plate or 
vehicle registration number.  And, of course, 
such clear operator signage also enhances 
compliance checks and aids enforcement by 
licensing officer and police officers. 
 
45 Pages 41 - 42, Appendix 3: Vehicle 
Licences, Standard Conditions, conditions 
22 & 23: The Council is respectfully asked to 
follow the practice and example of some of 
the other local authorities in the region, and 
to remove the requirements to carry fire 
extinguishers and first aid kits.  Drivers are 
not trained to be competent to use either.  
Tyne and Wear Fire and Rescue Service 
issued advice about fire extinguishers to 
local authorities in its area in early 2016 and, 
as a result, licensed vehicles in that wider 
area do not carry fire extinguishers. 
 
46 Pages 41 - 42, Appendix 3: Vehicle 
Licences, Standard Conditions, condition 32: 
The Council is asked to remove this 
condition prohibiting licensed vehicles from 
being used for the unaccompanied carriage 
and delivery of alcohol and tobacco 
products.  The COVID-19 pandemic has 
resulted in many drivers being required to 
diversify with the unaccompanied carriage of 
takeaway meals and grocery collection and 
delivery services.  It is unreasonable to 
expect a driver to rummage through a 
customer’s grocery shopping to establish 
whether it includes a packet of cigarettes or 
a bottle of wine and, if they were to do so, 
what are they then supposed to do, because 
the customer has by then paid the retailer for 
the goods. 
 
47 Pages 52 – 53, Appendix 5: Private Hire 
Operator, Standard Conditions, conditions 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
45 Points noted re suggested removal of fire extinguishers and first aid kits – to ask fire brigade 
about this again and NHS re first aid kit HJ to check and depending on response, officers to 
advise and Members to decide? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
46 Condition removed, and change to policy wording to require drivers to ensure no deliveries to 
children/under 18’s. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
47 Points noted however proposed policy requirement is in accordance with the National Standards and 
Basic disclosure for PHO staff is proposed therefore no change necessary notwithstanding the comments 
made and issues raised – no change to proposals recommended. 

P
age 348



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

37 
 

13 – 16: Whilst acknowledging that the 
proposed requirement for a Basic criminal 
records check arises from the Statutory 
Standards and are capable of being 
implemented in relation to new staff, neither 
the Statutory Standards nor the Council 
acknowledges, let alone addresses, the 
employment law issues relating to varying 
staff contracts and the risk of an employer 
having to dismiss staff if they refused to 
agree to the variation and risk of the 
dismissed employee(s) bringing unfair 
dismissal claims.  The employment law 
minefield is too complex to summarise 
herein, but the Council is respectfully asked 
to seek internal advice from its own HR / 
personnel department and / or its own legal 
officers, but in the absence of such internal 
expert advice, is respectfully referred to 
ACAS guidance ‘changing a contract of 
employment’ at 
https://www.acas.org.uk/changing-an-
employment-contract   
 
48 If Councillors want to add a clause to the 
policy i.e. “any inaccuracies, or failure to 
record or report convictions, will normally 
result in the refusal of an application”.  
Perhaps one for further discussion.   
 
49 I would ask, as a matter of urgency that 
on an annual or 2/3year basis, depending on 
the legality and logistics and agreement with 
the licence holder, that moneys for renewal 
are automatically paid to the council. These 
changes would need to be put into the policy 
and as such the need to normally wright to 
the licence holder would not be required. 
Would the Council allow all licence holders 
to set up a direct on a 1- or 3-year basis to 
pay for their licenses. This is good and 
reliable practise for insurance cover which 
can be opted out on request but if 
maintained would guarantee continuity of 
such licences and payments to Durham 
County Council. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
48 Request that Councillors may want to add a clause to the policy i.e. “any inaccuracies, or 
failure to record or report convictions, will normally result in the refusal of an application”.  
Wording altered in Appendix 2 re ‘dishonesty’  
 
 
 
49 This is not a policy matter but relates to processes and procedures. At the present time this is not a 
practical solution however it will be kept under review. No policy change required – no change to 
proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 349



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

38 
 

50 I note that there is no differential licensing 
fee schedule depending on the emissions of 
the vehicles.  
 
I feel really strongly that we should be 
promoting electric, zero emissions, and 
hybrid petrol vehicles above diesel as we 
have severe pollution problems in the City 
Centre, and also need to hit our climate 
targets This should be with zero fee charges 
for electric vehicles, balanced out with higher 
fees for more polluting vehicles or by 
subsidy. 
 
51 Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles: 7. The 
gradient of the ramp for an unassisted 
wheelchair user should be 4.76 degrees and 
10 degrees for assisted wheelchair users.   
 
When we apply these measurements most 
of the taxis fail this requirement by a few 
degrees (measurements fall between 12°-
15°) unless they have air suspension which 
can be dropped to allow wheelchair access. 
The only way around this is if the taxi 
deploys its ramp onto a curb then the angle 
is significantly lowered, so you may want to 
review these dimensions. 
 
52 I suggest that you reintroduce the system 
where taxi firms from outside Durham 
County are excluded from plying their trade 
within the county and taxi firms from within 
Durham County are limited to operating in 
their former District Council areas. 
 
53 The committee have asked me to 
investigate whether there could be an annex 
attached to the Licensing policy or a letter 
sent out to licensed drivers reminding them 
of their obligations to follow Government 
regulations and guidelines in relation to 
Coronavirus. 
 
S Grigor  

50 Points noted - Officers/Members could make such a decision however it would have significant 
implications for taxi licence financing – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
51 Policy wording amended at Appendix 3 ‘wheelchair accessibility conditions’  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
52 Points noted however this is not legally possible under current legislation nor would it be practical to 
enforce, control, assess or manage even if it were necessary or appropriate to do so. No policy change 
required – no change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
53 We wouldn’t wish to go down the route of sending out a letter as the expense of doing so is significant, 
with over 1500 licensed individuals it costs in excess of £1000 to send out a letter second class to all of 
them. 
 
We shouldn’t put things in policy that are a matter of legislation i.e. if the law requires something, then it’s 
not a matter of policy requirement, it’s a matter of legal compliance; no change to policy required – no 
change to proposals recommended. 
 
 
 

 

P
age 350



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

39 
 

Table 2  Comparison of National Standards and IOL Standards  with Policy Proposals 

National Standards 
 

IOL standards Proposed Policy 

 
Crimes resulting in death 
 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime 
which resulted in the death of another person or was intended to 
cause the death or serious injury of another person they will not 
be licensed.  
 

 
As national standards propose 

 
As national standards propose 

Exploitation 
 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime 
involving, related to, or has any connection with abuse, 
exploitation, use or treatment of another individual irrespective of 
whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they will not 
be licensed. This includes slavery, child sexual abuse, 
exploitation, grooming, psychological, emotional or financial 
abuse, but this is not an exhaustive list.  
 

 
As national standards propose 

As national standards propose 

Offences involving violence against the person 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence 
against the person, or connected with any offence of violence, a 
licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed.  
 

Offences involving violence 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of 
violence, or connected with any offence of violence, a 
licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed. 

As national standards propose 

Possession of a weapon 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon 
or any other weapon related offence, a licence will not be granted 
until at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of 
any sentence imposed.  
 

As national standards propose As national standards propose 

Sexual Offences 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or 
connected with illegal sexual activity, a licence will not be 
granted.  
In addition to the above, the licensing authority will not grant a 
licence to any applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders 
Register or on any barred list.  

Sexual Offences 
 
As national standards propose 

As national standards propose 

Dishonesty 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence where 
dishonesty is an element of the offence, a licence will not be 

 
As national standards propose 

 

 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence where 
dishonesty is an element of the offence including: a) Theft b) 
Burglary c) Fraud d) Benefit fraud (including offences under 

P
age 351



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

40 
 

granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 
 

ss.111A and 112 of the Social Security Administration Act 1992) e) 
Handling or receiving stolen goods f) Forgery g) Conspiracy to 
defraud h) Obtaining money or property by deception i) Other 
deception j) Failing to declare convictions etc. on application k) 
Failure to notify the Licensing Authority of a revocation or refusal 
by another Licensing Authority l) Or similar offences or offences 
which replace the above offences.  A failure by a licence holder to 
disclose an arrest that the Licensing Authority is subsequently 
advised of might be behaviour that questions honesty and 
therefore the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the 
outcome of the initial allegation. A licence will not be granted until 
at least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence imposed. 
 

Drugs 
 
Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the 
supply of drugs, or possession with intent to supply or connected 
with possession with intent to supply, a licence will not be granted 
until at least 10 years have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence imposed.  
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or 
related to the possession of drugs, a licence will not be granted 
until at least five years have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence imposed. In these circumstances, any applicant may 
also have to undergo drugs testing for a period at their own 
expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs.  
 

As national standards propose As national standards propose 
 

 
Discrimination 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with 
discrimination in any form, a licence will not be granted until at 
least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence imposed. 
 

 
As national standards propose 

 
As national standards propose 

Motoring Convictions 
 
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers 
charged with the responsibility of carrying the public. It is 
accepted that offences can be committed unintentionally, and a 
single occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the 
granting of a licence. However, applicants with multiple motoring 
convictions may indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the 
behaviours of a safe road user and one that is suitable to drive 
professionally.  
Any motoring conviction while a licensed driver demonstrates that 
the licensee may not take their professional responsibilities 

Minor traffic offences or vehicle related offence 
 
 This is an offence which does not involve loss of life, 
driving under the influence of drink or drugs, driving 
whilst using a mobile phone and has not resulted in 
injury to any person or damage to any property 
including vehicles. Where an applicant has 7 or more 
points on their DVLA driving licence for minor traffic or 
similar offences, a licence will not be granted until at 
least five years have elapsed since the completion of 
any sentence imposed.  
 

 
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers 
charged with the responsibility of carrying the public. It is accepted 
that offences can be committed unintentionally, and a single 
occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the granting 
of a licence. However, applicants with multiple motoring convictions 
may indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the behaviours of a 
safe road user and one that is suitable to drive professionally.  
 
Minor traffic offences or vehicle related offence. 
 

P
age 352



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

41 
 

seriously. However, it is accepted that offences can be committed 
unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence 
may not necessitate the revocation of a taxi or private hire vehicle 
driver licence providing the authority considers that the licensee 
remains a fit and proper person to retain a licence.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Major traffic offence or vehicle related offence  
 
This is one which is not covered above and any 
offence which resulted in injury to any person or 
damage to any property including vehicles. It also 
involves driving without insurance or any offence 
connected with motor insurance. All major traffic 
offences (unless specified below) - a licence will not 
be granted until at least seven years have elapsed 
since the conviction or completion of any sentence or 
driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 
(Taken from Institute of Licensing suggested guidance 
on suitability) 
 

 This is an offence which does not involve loss of life, driving under 
the influence of drink or drugs, driving whilst using a mobile phone 
and has not resulted in injury to any person or damage to any 
property including vehicles. Where an applicant has 7 or more 
points on their DVLA driving licence for minor traffic or similar 
offences, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.  
(Taken from Institute of Licensing suggested guidance on 
suitability) 
 
Where an applicant has 6 points on their DVLA driving licence for 
minor traffic or similar offences, they will be required to undertake a 
driver improvement scheme at their own expense. The Licensing 
Authority hold a list of current providers of the driving improvement 
scheme.  
 
 
 
 

  Major traffic offence or vehicle related offence  
 
This is one which is not covered above and any offence which 
resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property 
including vehicles. It also involves driving without insurance or any 
offence connected with motor insurance. All major traffic offences 
(unless specified below) - a licence will not be granted until at least 
seven years have elapsed since the conviction or completion of 
any sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 
(Taken from Institute of Licensing suggested guidance on 
suitability) 
 
 

 

Drink driving / driving under the influence of drugs 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving 
under the influence of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at 
least seven years have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence or driving ban imposed. In the case of driving under the 
influence of drugs, any applicant may also have to undergo drugs 
testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not 
using controlled drugs.  
 
 

As national standards propose As national standards propose 

Using a hand-held device whilst driving 
 

As national standards propose As national standards propose 

P
age 353



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

42 
 

Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held‐hand mobile 
telephone or a hand‐held device whilst driving, a licence will not 
be granted until at least five years have elapsed since the 
conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, 
whichever is the later. 
 

National standards don’t specifically mention 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

IOL standards don’t specifically mention Other violence offences 
 
An application will normally be refused / revoked where there is an 
offence for arson unless ten years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed.  
 
 
 

  An application will normally be refused / revoked unless five years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed for 
any of the following offences: a) Riot b) Obstruction c) Criminal 
damage d) Resisting arrest e) Or similar offences or offences 
which replace the above offences 

 

National standards don’t specifically mention 
 

 Hackney carriage and private hire offences  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence concerned with 
or connected to hackney carriage or private hire activity (excluding 
vehicle use), a licence will not be granted until at least seven years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
(Taken from the Institute of Licensing suggested guidance on 
suitability) 
 

National standards don’t specifically mention IOL standards don’t specifically mention Other Relevant Factors  
 
The Council may consider any other matter or matters that may 
affect whether an applicant or licence holder is a fit and proper 
person, such factors include but are not limited to: a) 
Convictions/Cautions for any other offence not listed above b) Any 
diversion scheme offered as an alternative to conviction (i.e. 
“checkpoint” or restorative approach) c) Mental Health Act Orders 
d) Police intelligence/information e) Drug/Alcohol use and 
Detoxification f) Terrorist offences and terrorism g) Hate crimes h) 
Any offence involving the mistreatment of animals i) Other relevant 
information disclosed j) Any complaints or the accumulation of 
complaints regarding a licence holder’s conduct k) Matters contrary 
to the requirements of this policy. 
 
Failure to disclose all arrest/bail/convictions, fixed penalty notices, 
cautions, (subject to the Exceptions Order) and/or ongoing 

P
age 354



Appendix 6c – Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses 
 

43 
 

investigations, being reported for an offence and/or pending 
prosecutions may affect the grant of a licence or may lead to the 
revocation of a licence. 

 

 

P
age 355



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 7 – Vehicle Emissions and Age Policy Options Appraisal 
 

1 
 

Vehicle Emissions and Age Restrictions Policy Options 

1.0 Regional policy development 

In 2019/20, several of the taxi licensing authorities (councils) in the North East region, meeting as the North East Strategic 

Licensing Group (NESLiG), considered and agreed a group proposal aimed at unifying licensed vehicle emission and age-related 

policies. 

The proposed policy, developed to support local air quality initiatives and to enhance public safeguards, was intended as a 

‘foundation’ or ‘outline’ policy for consideration by all North East Authorities, with some councils adopting modifications to allow for 

local circumstances.  

1.1 Taxi Emissions and Age Restriction policy proposals of the North East Strategic Licensing Group - Outline 

Proposal for Regional Standards at March 2020.   

 New Licences:  An age restriction policy to be adopted with a 4-year vehicle age policy with effect from April 2020 for all 
newly licensed vehicles.   This means the EURO 6 emissions standard applies from April 2020 to all new licences;  

 Existing Vehicles. Adopt a maximum 8-year vehicle life with a start date of April 2023.  The taxi trade therefore has 4 
years to comply (3 years from April 2020).  This means that from April 2023 all diesel and petrol engine vehicles will be 
Euro 6;   

 Wheelchair accessible vehicles.   Existing vehicles will have an extra 2 years added to the age restriction meaning that 
April 2025 is the compliance date. Consequently, it is possible that a relatively low number of wheelchair accessible vehicles 
will be Euro 5 between April 2023 to April 2020; 

 ‘Full electric’ and ‘zero emission at source’: vehicles would be exempt 

 

Tackling air pollution is one of several public health priorities. To combat poor air quality, innovative and bold measures are being 

taken across the country to ensure the health and wellbeing in communities as well as road users.  

 

Prior to consultation and with the regional licensing authority approach in mind, it was considered that adoption of the following 

proposed policy requirements will enable Durham licensed vehicles to meet similar, improved standards already required by 

several other councils in our region. This will help to reduce traffic pollution and improve local air quality: (wording of NESLiG 

proposals changed to enhance clarity): 

 

P
age 357



Appendix 7 – Vehicle Emissions and Age Policy Options Appraisal 
 

2 
 

 New Licences - From (INSERT DATE POLICY ADOPTED) all new applications for licenced vehicles will only be accepted if 

the vehicle to be licenced is less than 4 years old from the date of first registration.  

 Existing Vehicles - Adopt a maximum 8-year vehicle life with a start date of 1st April 2024. This means that from 1st April 

2024 all diesel and petrol engine vehicles will be Euro 6 or above; and 

 All existing licenced vehicles that are more than 8 years old will not be re-licenced after 1st April 2024.  

 Wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAV) - Existing licenced WAV’s will have an extra 2 years added to the age restriction. 

This means that all existing licenced WAV’s that are more than 10 years old will not be re-licenced after 1st April 2024.  

 Zero emission vehicles - fully electric and zero emission (at source) vehicles would be exempt from the age restriction / 

emissions policy. 

 

The situation regarding the taxi licensing policies of other councils in the North East region has been kept under review and at the 

time of writing, the following list and table sets out the taxi age and emission policies adopted by most of the licensing authorities in 

our region. 

 

1.2 Regional Council Taxi Policy Comparisons and Contrasts - Overview 

 

• Middlesbrough are taking a report to their CEOs Management Team.   Currently they have a 3 / 8-year standard 

• Stockton have already consulted and have a 5-years new / 12 years existing standard following an earlier consultation prior 

to the new regional framework and are not joining of this regional framework 

• Birmingham are considering following the Wolverhampton remote licensing approach and have no age policy 

• Remote licensing is still considered to bring lower environmental and public health standards to the region 

• The LA statutory duty to protect air quality is one of the challenge areas to remote licensing activities 

• North Tyneside are adopting the 4 / 8-year standard with a deferred April 2022 date (instead of April 2020) 

• Gateshead are in the process of adopting a 4 / 8-year standard 

• Sunderland are new to the scheme and will be consulting on a 4/ 8-year standard 

• Northumberland are keeping the Euro 5 standard and the Euro 6 standard (in the new framework) is under review  

• Darlington are going out to consultation and expect to adopt a 4 / 8-year standard depending on the consultation 

• Hartlepool are adopting a well-maintained exemption subject to a definition 

• Redcar and Cleveland expect to adopt a 4 / 8-year standard 

P
age 358



Appendix 7 – Vehicle Emissions and Age Policy Options Appraisal 
 

3 
 

• South Tyneside.    The Consultation is ongoing and there has been a big response.  The closing date for submission is 25th 

March 2020.   The results will be reported to Cabinet and if any policy is adopted our implementation date could be 1st July 

2020 
 

Table 1 Regional Council Taxi Policy Comparisons and Contrasts 
 

Council Vehicle Age ‘On’ Vehicle Age ‘Off’ Vehicle Emissions 

Darlington BC Less than 4 years old More than 8 years old except for 
purpose built wheelchair accessible 
vehicles (such as London Cabs) which 
may be licensed up to 10 years of age. 
No age restriction for zero emission 
vehicles to encourage the uptake of 
electric vehicles 

 

Durham CC NA NA New applications for vehicle licences will 
only be accepted for vehicles 
manufactured to the emissions standard 
“EURO 5” or higher. Existing licensed 
vehicles will continue to be renewed but 
may only be replaced by vehicles 
meeting the criteria outlined above. 

Gateshead MBC When first registered with Gateshead 
Council as a HC or PH Vehicle, no 
vehicle shall be more than three 
years old. 

No vehicle more than eight years old 
will be permitted to continue as a 
licensed HC or PH vehicle. 

 

Hartlepool Less than 4 years old Vehicle licences will normally only be 
renewed up to 6 years old (except for 
purpose built wheelchair accessible 
vehicles such as London Cabs which 
may be licensed up to 13 years of age. 
Vehicles which meet the Council’s 
“exceptionally well maintained” criteria 
may be licensed for longer periods. 
There is no age restriction for vehicles 

From 1st April 2023, petrol- and diesel-
powered vehicles must be Euro 
Emission Class 6 or subsequent 
Class. 
 
Hartlepool’s adopted policy on age limits 
(adopted earlier this year in response to 
NESLG discussions). In a nutshell, we 
retained our previous age policy but 

P
age 359



Appendix 7 – Vehicle Emissions and Age Policy Options Appraisal 
 

4 
 

that are powered solely by electricity or 
otherwise can be regarded as being 
truly ‘zero emission at source’ 

added a requirement that from April 2023 
all vehicles needed to be Class 6 for 
emissions (regardless of how well 
maintained they may have been 
otherwise). This will allow well 
maintained cars to continue to be 
licensed far beyond being six years old 
but only where they have a class 6 
engine inside them. Cars with older, 
more polluting engines, will need to be 
replaced in April 2023 (so we have given 
them plenty of time to prepare for this). 
 
            A licence will only be granted to 
an unlicensed vehicle when it is under 
four years old (from date of first 
registration). 
3.21    Vehicle licences will normally only 
be renewed up to 6 years old (except for 
purpose built wheelchair accessible 
vehicles such as London Cabs which 
may be licensed up to 13 years of age).   
3.22    Vehicles which meet the Council’s 
“exceptionally well maintained” criteria 
may be licensed for longer periods. 
 
3.23    For a vehicle to be regarded as 
being ‘exceptionally well maintained’ it 
will be for the vehicle proprietor to 
demonstrate to the licensing authority 
that the vehicle has been exceptionally 
well maintained throughout its lifetime. 
 
3.24    Matters to be taken into account 
when determining whether a vehicle has 

P
age 360



Appendix 7 – Vehicle Emissions and Age Policy Options Appraisal 
 

5 
 

been exceptionally well maintained will 
include, but are not limited to: - 
 
a) History of mechanical checks and 
the number and nature of any failures 
b) History of visual appearance 
checks carried out by licensing officers 
c) History of spot checks carried out 
by licensing officers 
d) Accident history of the vehicle 
 
3.25    Applications for an extension of 
the age policy must be made in writing to 
the Licensing Team, accompanied by the 
relevant fee, a minimum of 14 days prior 
to the expiry of the current licence. 
 
3.26    In addition to the above, from 1st 
April 2023, petrol- and diesel-powered 
vehicles must be Euro Emission Class 6 
or subsequent Class. 
 
3.27    Subject to satisfying all other 
relevant requirements detailed in this 
policy, there is no age restriction for 
vehicles that are powered solely by 
electricity or otherwise can be regarded 
as being truly ‘zero emission at source’. 

Middlesbrough  Vehicles in respect of new and 
replacement applications must be no 
more than three years of age from 
the date of first registration on the 
date of the initial application. 

The licence of any vehicle will terminate 
not more than eight years from the date 
of first registration. This will be 
extended to 10 years for London Style 
Cabs and side loading wheelchair 
accessible vehicles approved by the 
Council. 

Their current policy is for vehicles to be 
less than 3 years old when first licensed 
and for them to be licensed until 8 years 
old (10 years for a Wheelchair 
Accessible vehicle).  
 P

age 361



Appendix 7 – Vehicle Emissions and Age Policy Options Appraisal 
 

6 
 

However, they are about to consult on a 
change to the Policy – 5 years old when 
first licensed and for them to be licensed 
until 10 years old (12 years for a 
Wheelchair Accessible vehicle). 

Newcastle CC No known vehicle emission and 
age criteria 

No known vehicle emission and age 
criteria 

No known vehicle emission and age 
criteria 

North Tyneside 
MBC 

From 1 April 2022 no new vehicle 
licence will be granted for the vehicle 
unless it is less than 4 years old 
 
All ‘Full electric’ and ‘zero emission at 
source’ vehicles will be exempt from 
the age standards set out above. 

From 1 April 2024 a vehicle licence will 
not be renewed unless the vehicle is 
less than 8 years old 
 
From 1 April 2025 a wheelchair 
accessible vehicle licence will not be 
renewed unless the vehicle is less than 
8 years old 
 
All ‘Full electric’ and ‘zero emission at 
source’ vehicles will be exempt from the 
age standards set out above. 

The following age standards will be 
implemented over a four-year period:  
(i) From 1 April 2022 no new vehicle 
licence will be granted for the vehicle 
unless it is less than 4 years old  
(ii) From 1 April 2024 a vehicle licence 
will not be renewed unless the vehicle is 
less than 8 years old  
(iii) From 1 April 2025 a wheelchair 
accessible vehicle licence will not be 
renewed unless the vehicle is less than 8 
years old.  
All ‘Full electric’ and ‘zero emission at 
source’ vehicles will be exempt from the 
age standards set out above. 

Redcar and 
Cleveland 

In the case of an application for the 
‘Grant’ of a vehicle licence, the vehicle 
shall be under 3 years of age. 
 
 
In the case of an application for the 
‘Grant’ of vehicles of the type known 
as FX4 (i.e. London type hackney 
carriage), the vehicle should be less 
than 6 years of age.   
 
In the case of an application for the 
‘Grant’ of vehicles that are 

The vehicle shall not be more than 6 
years of age in the case of any 
application for the renewal of a licence 
unless the vehicle is exceptionally 
well maintained 
 
The vehicle shall not be more than 10 
years of age in the case of any 
application for the renewal of a licence 
unless the vehicle is exceptionally 
well maintained 
 

There has been no change to Redcar 
and Cleveland’s policy of 3 years on first 
licensing and 6 years (except where 
exceptionally maintained) to come off. 
 
The policy review is currently on hold 
until Covid settles. 

P
age 362



Appendix 7 – Vehicle Emissions and Age Policy Options Appraisal 
 

7 
 

wheelchair accessible, the vehicle 
should be less than 6 years of age.   

The vehicle shall not be more than 10 
years of age in the case of any 
application for the renewal of a licence 
unless the vehicle is exceptionally 
well maintained 

South Tyneside 
MBC 

N/A N/A Moving toward a euro standard rather 
than an age policy. Some form of 
strategy that will achieve Euro 6 by a 
certain point. E.g. any car entering the 
trade by a certain date must be Euro 6 
or better. A longer or extended end of 
life date for existing vehicles will be 
considered. 

Stockton BC Vehicles in respect of applications for 
new and replacement hackney 
carriage and private hire licences after 
1 January 2020, shall be no older than 
five years from the date of first 
registration, this is for both saloon 
vehicles and wheelchair accessible 
vehicles. 

Any renewal of an existing hackney 
carriage or private hire saloon vehicle 
will only be granted if the vehicle does 
not exceed the maximum age limit of 
twelve years.  For Wheelchair 
accessible vehicles the maximum age 
limit is fifteen years. 

 

Sunderland BC Except for those vehicles 
"exceptionally well maintained" 
 
no vehicle over five years old, i.e. 
from the date of first registration, will 
be    accepted for initial licensing 
 
 
 

No vehicle, licensed as a hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle, except 
those vehicles specified in (iii) below, 
will be accepted for further licensing 
once it has reached seven years of 
age from the date of first registration; 
and no vehicle licensed to carry five or 
more passengers will be accepted for 
further licensing once it has reached 
ten years of age from the date of first 
registration 
 
All vehicles licensed outside of the 
Council's 'Age Policy' as specified in (a) 

 

P
age 363



Appendix 7 – Vehicle Emissions and Age Policy Options Appraisal 
 

8 
 

(ii) or (iii) above will be subjected to 
three mechanical inspections per year. 

 

2.0 Post-consultation policy development 

2.1 Consultation Responses - Over half of all consultation respondents strongly disagreed with the proposals on vehicle 

emissions and the age of licensed vehicles. However, this was the overriding opinion of the taxi industry with 74% of all responses 

coming from the licensed trade. This subject elicited many comments and several alternative proposals. Further assessment of this 

matter has taken place and alternative options are put forward for consideration. 

The reasons for disagreement with the proposals are recorded in Appendix 6 which records the results of the consultation including 

statistical data and information, survey responses, associated commentary and discussion which includes Table 1 Analysis of 

Taxi Policy Survey Responses.  Most negative responses came from licensed trade respondents and were associated with the 

vehicle-age related proposals.  Arguments against the proposed vehicle age restrictions were generally based on financial and 

economic considerations such as affordability, financial pressures, lack of financial support and assistance, and debt. Other 

subjective and anecdotal contentions along the lines of ‘a well-maintained old car may perform better and be less polluting than a 

poorly maintained new car’ and similar were also put forward and do carry some weight of argument.   

Several respondents also considered that faced with financial pressures, drivers and vehicle owners may be forced out of the trade, 

be less inclined to maintain their vehicles and would adversely affect business growth, vehicle availability and public safety. The 

additional pressures resulting from the Coronavirus pandemic, regional and national lockdown restrictions were cited in some 

responses and Covid restrictions have clearly compounded the situation facing the taxi trade.  

Some respondents, in addition to their criticism of the proposed vehicle-age policy also put forward alternatives for consideration. 

Typically, these proposed alternatives either removed the vehicle age policy altogether or extended the compliance time periods 

and/or vehicle ages linked to the policy and proposed greater frequency of testing for older vehicles.  

2.2 Air Quality Considerations – The Regional Licensing Group had requested all North East of England local authorities to 

consider their position on adopting common emissions standards for licenced taxis within their authoritative areas. Durham County 

Council (DCC) had supported this request, and the Licencing Policy was due for review in 2021. It was agreed the standard 

proposed would form the basis of the consultation exercise, scheduled to be carried out in 2020. In preparation for this, further 

P
age 364



Appendix 7 – Vehicle Emissions and Age Policy Options Appraisal 
 

9 
 

evidence about how Durham’s licenced taxi fleet’s emissions contribute to overall pollution levels within the City would be useful in 

terms of providing members more information to inform their decisions. 

Durham County Council’s Pollution Control Team frequently receives enquires about the significance of taxi vehicular emissions 

from Members and the public. It was considered that conducting a study could help assess whether future work or more target 

interventions are necessary in this area. A report was therefore commissioned that addresses and responds to Action 16 of the 

revised Durham City Air Quality Action Plan, “To assess the significance of taxi vehicular emissions in Durham City”. The 

information within this report and its conclusions was intended to be of value when undertaking the next review (in 2020) of the Air 

Quality Action Plan. It could also inform future taxi policy development plans. DCC commissioned AECOM to perform the study.  

The following is an extract from the report - Durham Taxi Emissions Assessment for Durham County Council; Project 

number: 60607188; September 2019 

1. Conclusions and Recommendations 
1.1 This assessment is a determination of the contribution of the Durham licensed taxi fleet to overall traffic emissions in Durham, 

using previous dispersion modelling undertaken for the Local Plan commission to inform its findings. The assessment has 
used ANPR data collected from A690 Leazes Road – Milburngate Bridge.  

1.2 Based on this assessment the following conclusions have been made:  

 The ANPR data collected is considered representative of the Durham area as it has been collected on two separate 24 
hour occasions, outside of the school holidays, to collect both weekend and weekday data.  

 The taxis recorded by ANPR comprised up to 23% of the overall licensed taxi fleet in Durham and the taxi trips 
comprised up to 6% of the overall trips recorded by the ANPR.   

 The taxis recorded by ANPR are considered representative of the composition of the overall licensed taxi fleet.  

 The taxis trips recorded by ANPR comprised 4% of the emissions of all vehicle trips captured by ANPR.  

 Using Durham’s Local Plan, the inferred contribution of taxis captured by ANPR to the overall NO2 annual mean 
concentration around Milburngate Bridge can be considered to be approximately 1 μg/m3. To put this into a bit more 
perspective, ‘background’ (i.e. at locations away from the roads) NO2 concentrations in Durham city centre are 

P
age 365



Appendix 7 – Vehicle Emissions and Age Policy Options Appraisal 
 

10 
 

approximately 15 μg/m3, and concentrations measured at locations close to the bridge have been approximately 45 
μg/m3. 

1.3 Whilst the study reveals a relatively modest contribution of emissions from taxis to overall emissions and NO2 concentrations it 
should be noted that due to the high volume of short city centre trips, a relatively small number of vehicles contribute to the 
4% figure quoted above.  Given that there is currently no age restriction policy on DCC licenced vehicles there is a risk that 
the contribution from taxis may increase if the taxi fleet, which is predominantly relatively old Euro 5 diesel, does not improve.  

1.4 Therefore, measures to improve the licenced taxi fleet should be encouraged to prevent emissions from this sector increasing 
in future. Adoption of a regional common emissions standard would support this recommendation.  

2.3 Department of Transport Taxi and Private hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance 2010 -  Taken from the 

guidance ‘Local licensing authorities, in discussion with those responsible for environmental health issues, will wish to consider 

how far their vehicle licensing policies can and should support any local environmental policies that the local authority may have 

adopted. This will be of importance in designated Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs)., Local authorities may, for example, 

wish to consider setting vehicle emissions standards for taxis and PHVs. 

However, local authorities would need to carefully and thoroughly assess the impact of introducing such a policy; for example, the 

effect on the supply of taxis and PHVs in the area would be an important consideration in deciding the standards, if  any, to be set. 

They should also bear in mind the need to ensure that the benefits of any policies outweigh the costs (in whatever form).’ 

The Best Practice Guidance states the following in relation to vehicle age constraints: Age Limits.  It is perfectly possible for an 

older vehicle to be in good condition.  So, the setting of an age limit beyond which a local authority will not license vehicles may be 

arbitrary and inappropriate.  But a greater frequency of testing may be appropriate for older vehicles - for example, twice-yearly 

tests for vehicles more than five years old. 

2.4 An alternative approach – Currently, Durham County Council does not operate an age policy for licensed vehicles.  Our 

current policy is based solely on vehicle emissions and manufacture criteria and requires that new applications for vehicle licences 

will only be accepted for vehicles manufactured to the emissions standard “EURO 5” or higher. Existing licensed vehicles will 

continue to be renewed but may only be replaced by vehicles meeting the criteria outlined above. This is clearly out of date and 

requires revising in order to prevent emissions from this sector increasing in future. Referring to the extract from the Durham Taxi 

Emissions Assessment for Durham County Council; ‘Given that there is currently no age restriction policy on DCC licenced vehicles 

P
age 366



Appendix 7 – Vehicle Emissions and Age Policy Options Appraisal 
 

11 
 

there is a risk that the contribution from taxis may increase if the taxi fleet, which is predominantly relatively old Euro 5 diesel, does 

not improve’. 

It is possible to update and improve our current emissions standards policy without invoking age limits per se that may be deemed 

as being arbitrary and inappropriate. 

Taking into consideration the above matters including the arguments against the proposed vehicle age restrictions, the following 

policy based solely on emission standards is proposed as an alternative policy to replace the previous proposals on vehicle 

emissions and the age of licensed vehicles: 

Proposed: Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria 

A. New Applications (Newly Licensed Vehicles) 

 (From the date of adoption of the new policy) New applications for vehicle licences will only be accepted for vehicles 

manufactured to the emissions standard “EURO 6” or higher. 

 

B. Renewal Applications (Existing Vehicles / Continued Licensing)  

 After the 31st March 2022, we will no longer accept renewal applications for licensed vehicles meeting Euro 4 or lower (From 

Manufacturing emission standard January 2006; 16 years old) 

 After the 31st March 2023, we will no longer accept renewal applications for licensed vehicles meeting Euro 5 or lower (From 

Manufacturing emission standard January 2011; 13 years old) 

 

3.0 Available Options 

3.1 Keep the existing Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria policy (out of date and requires improving) – not 

recommended 

3.2 Adopt the policy proposal that was consulted on as in 1.1 above, Taxi Emissions and Age Restriction policy based on the 

proposals of the North East Strategic Licensing Group (this policy is generally opposed by trade respondents; contains 

arguably arbitrary and inappropriate vehicle age limits, and may not accord with Department of Transport best practice) – 

not recommended P
age 367



Appendix 7 – Vehicle Emissions and Age Policy Options Appraisal 
 

12 
 

3.3 Adopt a revised policy based on improved Vehicle Emissions and Manufacture Criteria as detailed in 2.4 An alternative 

approach, above. (does not include an age policy) – recommended.  

3.4 Adopt a policy that is different to any of the above – unable to recommend  

P
age 368



Appendix 8 – Arrangements for Immediate Revocations 

 

 Arrangements for dealing with serious matters that may require the immediate 

revocation of a licence - Implications for decision-making 

The new Department of Transport Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards 

July 2020 which Councils must have regard to, require that all licensing authorities 

must consider arrangements for dealing with serious matters that may require the 

immediate revocation of a licence. 

Table 1 Arrangements for immediate licence revocations by Councils in 

the Northeast Region 

Council Sub-Committee Officer Delegation 

Darlington BC  Delegated to Licensing 
Manager who make 
decision in consultation 
with the Chair of 
Licensing. Annual 
reporting of officer 
revocations to Licensing 
Committee. 

Durham CC Current Proposed/Recommended 

Gateshead MBC  Current – Head of Service 
has delegated power, but 
the decision is made in 
consultation with the Chair 
of the Regulatory 
Committee. Reporting of 
officer revocations to 
Licensing Committee. 

Hartlepool BC   

Middlesbrough CC   

Newcastle CC  Delegated to Head of 
Service who exercises 
authority following 
representations from 
officers.  Summary annual 
data and information 
reported to Licensing 
Members. 

North Tyneside MBC  Delegated to Head of 
Service who exercises 
authority following 
representations from 
officers.   

Redcar and Cleveland  Delegated to Head of 
Service who exercises 
authority following 
representations from 
officers.  Summary annual 
data and information 

Page 369



Appendix 8 – Arrangements for Immediate Revocations 

 

reported to Licensing 
Members. 

South Tyneside MBC  Officer delegation – 
delegation to Licensing 
Manager with annual 
updates to Licensing 
Members. 

Stockton BC  Delegated to Licensing 
Officers who make 
decision in consultation 
with the Chair of 
Licensing. Annual 
reporting of officer 
revocations to Licensing 
Committee. 

Sunderland BC  Delegated to Executive 
Director who exercises 
authority following 
representations from 
officers.  Summary annual 
data and information 
reported to Licensing 
Members. 

Northumberland CC   Delegated to Head of 
Service who exercises 
authority following 
representations from 
officers.  Annual updates 
to Licensing Members. 

  

MINUTES OF THE NESLG MEETING 

HELD ON 9th FEBRUARY 2021 on MS TEAMS 

Attendance:  

Leanne Maloney-Kelly, Heather Gebbie, Jeff Duffield, Jonathan Bryce, Colin 

Dobson, Laurence Waldock, Steve Wearing, Craig Rudman, Dave 

Iceton, Alan Burnett, Stephen Brown 

Apologies were received from: 

Ian Harrison, Rachael Readman, Tim Hodgkinson, Elaine Rudman, Tracey Johnson, 

Tasmin Hardy. 

4 Taxis and PH - Arrangements for the immediate revocation of driver’s licences.     CR 

referred to the Department of Transport Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards (July 

2020), which requires all licensing authorities to consider arrangements for dealing with 

serious matters that may require the immediate revocation of a licence.    Updates were given. 

Page 370



Appendix 8 – Arrangements for Immediate Revocations 

 

 Durham have plans to change their delegated powers scheme to enable 

selected officers to suspend licences when swift action is needed.  

 North Tyneside have authorised their HoS to revoke licences.  A report is given 

to the HoS. 

 Newcastle have a delegated scheme to Officers.    

 South Tyneside have authorised their Licensing Manager to suspend licences. 

 Redcar & Cleveland have authorised Officers to suspend licences in urgent 

cases.  

 Stockton.  Officers can suspend licences in consultation with the Chair 

 Sunderland.  The Executive Director is authorised to revoke licences. 

 Northumberland.  Have delegated the decision to their HoS 

 Darlington.  The Licensing Manager can suspend licences in consultation with 

the Chair 

 When Officers have powers to suspend licences, the tendency is to provide 

members with a summary either annually or periodically 

 A follow up discussion followed on the ‘right to a fair hearing’  Comments were 

made about drivers being given the opportunity to respond to the facts prior to 

a decision being made or the requirement to have a ‘statement of evidence’  in 

sufficient detail to provide the facts.   

 

Page 371



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 9 – Comparison of Assessment of Previous Convictions in National Standards with Policy Proposals 

 

1 
 

Table 2  Comparison of Assessment of Previous Convictions in National Standards with Policy Proposals 

National Standards 
 

IOL standards Proposed Policy 

 
Crimes resulting in death 
 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted 
of a crime which resulted in the death of another 
person or was intended to cause the death or 
serious injury of another person they will not be 
licensed.  
 

 
As national standards propose 

 
As national standards propose 

Exploitation 
 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted 
of a crime involving, related to, or has any 
connection with abuse, exploitation, use or 
treatment of another individual irrespective of 
whether the victim or victims were adults or children, 
they will not be licensed. This includes slavery, child 
sexual abuse, exploitation, grooming, psychological, 
emotional or financial abuse, but this is not an 
exhaustive list.  
 

 
As national standards propose 

As national standards propose 

Offences involving violence against the person 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence 
of violence against the person, or connected with 
any offence of violence, a licence will not be granted 
until at least 10 years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed.  
 

Offences involving violence 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an 
offence of violence, or connected with any 
offence of violence, a licence will not be 
granted until at least 10 years have 
elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence imposed. 

As national standards propose 

Possession of a weapon 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession 
of a weapon or any other weapon related offence, a 
licence will not be granted until at least seven years 

As national standards propose As national standards propose 

P
age 373



Appendix 9 – Comparison of Assessment of Previous Convictions in National Standards with Policy Proposals 

 

2 
 

have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed.  
 

Sexual Offences 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence 
involving or connected with illegal sexual activity, a 
licence will not be granted.  
In addition to the above, the licensing authority will 
not grant a licence to any applicant who is currently 
on the Sex Offenders Register or on any barred list.  

Sexual Offences 
 
As national standards propose 

As national standards propose 

Dishonesty 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence 
where dishonesty is an element of the offence, a 
licence will not be granted until at least seven years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed. 
 

 
As national standards propose 

 

 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence 
where dishonesty is an element of the offence 
including: a) Theft b) Burglary c) Fraud d) Benefit 
fraud (including offences under ss.111A and 112 of 
the Social Security Administration Act 1992) e) 
Handling or receiving stolen goods f) Forgery g) 
Conspiracy to defraud h) Obtaining money or 
property by deception i) Other deception j) Failing to 
declare convictions etc. on application k) Failure to 
notify the Licensing Authority of a revocation or 
refusal by another Licensing Authority l) Or similar 
offences or offences which replace the above 
offences.  A failure by a licence holder to disclose an 
arrest that the Licensing Authority is subsequently 
advised of might be behaviour that questions honesty 
and therefore the suitability of the licence holder 
regardless of the outcome of the initial allegation. A 
licence will not be granted until at least seven years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed. 
 

Drugs 
 
Where an applicant has any conviction for, or 
related to, the supply of drugs, or possession with 
intent to supply or connected with possession with 
intent to supply, a licence will not be granted until at 

As national standards propose As national standards propose 
 

P
age 374



Appendix 9 – Comparison of Assessment of Previous Convictions in National Standards with Policy Proposals 

 

3 
 

least 10 years have elapsed since the completion of 
any sentence imposed.  
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession 
of drugs, or related to the possession of drugs, a 
licence will not be granted until at least five years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed. In these circumstances, any applicant may 
also have to undergo drugs testing for a period at 
their own expense to demonstrate that they are not 
using controlled drugs.  
 

 
Discrimination 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction involving or 
connected with discrimination in any form, a licence 
will not be granted until at least seven years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed. 
 

 
As national standards propose 

 
As national standards propose 

Motoring Convictions 
 
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are 
professional drivers charged with the responsibility 
of carrying the public. It is accepted that offences 
can be committed unintentionally, and a single 
occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not 
prohibit the granting of a licence. However, 
applicants with multiple motoring convictions may 
indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the 
behaviours of a safe road user and one that is 
suitable to drive professionally.  
Any motoring conviction while a licensed driver 
demonstrates that the licensee may not take their 
professional responsibilities seriously. However, it is 
accepted that offences can be committed 
unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor 
traffic offence may not necessitate the revocation of 
a taxi or private hire vehicle driver licence providing 

Minor traffic offences or vehicle related 
offence 
 
 This is an offence which does not involve 
loss of life, driving under the influence of 
drink or drugs, driving whilst using a mobile 
phone and has not resulted in injury to any 
person or damage to any property including 
vehicles. Where an applicant has 7 or more 
points on their DVLA driving licence for 
minor traffic or similar offences, a licence 
will not be granted until at least five years 
have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence imposed.  
 
Major traffic offence or vehicle related 
offence  
 

 
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are 
professional drivers charged with the responsibility of 
carrying the public. It is accepted that offences can 
be committed unintentionally, and a single 
occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not 
prohibit the granting of a licence. However, applicants 
with multiple motoring convictions may indicate that 
an applicant does not exhibit the behaviours of a safe 
road user and one that is suitable to drive 
professionally.  
 
Minor traffic offences or vehicle related offence. 
 
 This is an offence which does not involve loss of life, 
driving under the influence of drink or drugs, driving 
whilst using a mobile phone and has not resulted in 
injury to any person or damage to any property 
including vehicles. Where an applicant has 7 or more 

P
age 375



Appendix 9 – Comparison of Assessment of Previous Convictions in National Standards with Policy Proposals 

 

4 
 

the authority considers that the licensee remains a 
fit and proper person to retain a licence.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

This is one which is not covered above and 
any offence which resulted in injury to any 
person or damage to any property including 
vehicles. It also involves driving without 
insurance or any offence connected with 
motor insurance. All major traffic offences 
(unless specified below) - a licence will not 
be granted until at least seven years have 
elapsed since the conviction or completion 
of any sentence or driving ban imposed, 
whichever is the later. 
(Taken from Institute of Licensing 
suggested guidance on suitability) 
 

points on their DVLA driving licence for minor traffic 
or similar offences, a licence will not be granted until 
at least five years have elapsed since the completion 
of any sentence imposed.  
(Taken from Institute of Licensing suggested 
guidance on suitability) 
 
Where an applicant has 6 points on their DVLA 
driving licence for minor traffic or similar offences, 
they will be required to undertake a driver 
improvement scheme at their own expense. The 
Licensing Authority hold a list of current providers of 
the driving improvement scheme.  
 
 
 
 

  Major traffic offence or vehicle related offence  
 
This is one which is not covered above and any 
offence which resulted in injury to any person or 
damage to any property including vehicles. It also 
involves driving without insurance or any offence 
connected with motor insurance. All major traffic 
offences (unless specified below) - a licence will not 
be granted until at least seven years have elapsed 
since the conviction or completion of any sentence or 
driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 
(Taken from Institute of Licensing suggested 
guidance on suitability) 
 
 

 

Drink driving / driving under the influence of 
drugs 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving 
or driving under the influence of drugs, a licence will 
not be granted until at least seven years have 

As national standards propose As national standards propose 

P
age 376



Appendix 9 – Comparison of Assessment of Previous Convictions in National Standards with Policy Proposals 

 

5 
 

elapsed since the completion of any sentence or 
driving ban imposed. In the case of driving under the 
influence of drugs, any applicant may also have to 
undergo drugs testing at their own expense to 
demonstrate that they are not using controlled 
drugs.  
 
 

Using a hand-held device whilst driving 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for using a 

held‐hand mobile telephone or a hand‐held device 
whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at 
least five years have elapsed since the conviction or 
completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, 
whichever is the later. 
 

As national standards propose As national standards propose 

National standards don’t specifically mention 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

IOL standards don’t specifically mention Other violence offences 
 
An application will normally be refused / revoked 
where there is an offence for arson unless ten years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed.  
 
 
 

  An application will normally be refused / revoked 
unless five years have elapsed since the completion 
of any sentence imposed for any of the following 
offences: a) Riot b) Obstruction c) Criminal damage 
d) Resisting arrest e) Or similar offences or offences 
which replace the above offences 

 

National standards don’t specifically mention 
 

 Hackney carriage and private hire offences  
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence 
concerned with or connected to hackney carriage or 
private hire activity (excluding vehicle use), a licence 

P
age 377



Appendix 9 – Comparison of Assessment of Previous Convictions in National Standards with Policy Proposals 

 

6 
 

will not be granted until at least seven years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed. 
 
(Taken from the Institute of Licensing suggested 
guidance on suitability) 
 

National standards don’t specifically mention IOL standards don’t specifically mention Other Relevant Factors  
 
The Council may consider any other matter or 
matters that may affect whether an applicant or 
licence holder is a fit and proper person, such factors 
include but are not limited to: a) Convictions/Cautions 
for any other offence not listed above b) Any 
diversion scheme offered as an alternative to 
conviction (i.e. “checkpoint” or restorative approach) 
c) Mental Health Act Orders d) Police 
intelligence/information e) Drug/Alcohol use and 
Detoxification f) Terrorist offences and terrorism g) 
Hate crimes h) Any offence involving the 
mistreatment of animals i) Other relevant information 
disclosed j) Any complaints or the accumulation of 
complaints regarding a licence holder’s conduct k) 
Matters contrary to the requirements of this policy. 
 
Failure to disclose all arrest/bail/convictions, fixed 
penalty notices, cautions, (subject to the Exceptions 
Order) and/or ongoing investigations, being reported 
for an offence and/or pending prosecutions may 
affect the grant of a licence or may lead to the 
revocation of a licence. 

 

 

 

P
age 378



Appendix 10 – DFT Statutory Taxi and PH Vehicle Standards with Proposed/Revised DCC Taxi Policy 

DFT Statutory Taxi and PH Vehicle Standards with Proposed/Revised DCC Taxi Policy 

 

The table below shows the recommendations set out by the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 

Standards (July 2020) and where these are referenced within the proposed Durham County Council Hackney Carriage and Private 

Hire Licensing Policy. 

DFT Statutory Taxi and PH Vehicle Standards Proposed DCC Taxi Policy 
 

Paragraphs 4.12 and 4.13 pages 13 and 14 – Licensee self-
reporting  
 

Appendix 1 section 2 continuing suitability / renewal process 
pages 27 and 28 

Paragraphs 4.20 to 4.25 pages 15 and 16 – Sharing licensing 
information with other licensing authorities  
 

Appendix 1, paragraph g) National Register of Taxi Licence 
Refusals and Revocations (NR3) page 27 

Paragraphs 4.29 to 4.33 page 17 – complaints against 
licensees  
 

Section 14 page 12 – Complaints procedure 
Appendix 3, point 1.10 page 46 (complaint sticker) 

Paragraphs 4.34 to 4.36 page 18 – Overseas convictions  Appendix 1, paragraph f) suitability page 27 
 

Paragraphs 5.12 to 5.14 page 21 – Fit and proper test  Appendix 2, pages 32 and 33 
 

Paragraphs 5.15 to 5.17 page 22 – Criminal convictions and 
rehabilitation  
Pages 35 and 36 – assessment of previous convictions  
 

Appendix 2 pages 32 to 43 
 

Paragraphs 6.1 to 6.3 page 23 – Criminality checks for drivers  
 

Appendix 1, paragraph f) suitability page 27  

Paragraph 6.3 page 23 - In the interests of public safety, 
licensing authorities should not, as part of their policies, issue a 
licence to any individual that appears on either barred list 

Appendix 2, Page 42 Barred list 

P
age 379



Appendix 10 – DFT Statutory Taxi and PH Vehicle Standards with Proposed/Revised DCC Taxi Policy 

Paragraph 6.5 page 23 – safeguarding awareness  
 

Appendix 1 paragraph e) Safeguarding including CSE 
awareness page 26 
 

Paragraphs 6.14 and 6.15 page 25 – language proficiency  
 

Appendix 1 paragraph c) Driver Knowledge and Locality Tests 
page 24 
 

Paragraphs 7.2 to 7.6 pages 26 and 27 – criminality checks for 
vehicle proprietors  
 

Section 15 Vehicle Licence Holders pages 12 and 13  

Paragraphs 7.7 to 7.13 pages 27 and 28 – in vehicle visual and 
audio recording (CCTV)  
 

As part of the public consultation, we are asking if CCTV 
should be mandatory in licensed vehicles. Following the 
outcome of the consultation the policy will be amended 
accordingly  
 

Paragraph 7.14 and 7.15 page 28 – Stretched Limousines  
 

Section 16, paragraph 16.31 Stretched Limousines page 17 
 

Paragraphs 8.2 to 8.6 pages 29 and 30 – criminality checks for 
private hire vehicle operators 

Section 21 page 19 and Appendix 5 page 56 – Private Hire 
Operator  
 

Paragraphs 8.7 to 8.12 pages 30 and 31 – booking and 
dispatch staff 
 

Appendix 5 paragraphs 1.13 to 1.17 pages 58 to 59 

Paragraphs 8.13 to 8.15 page 31 – record keeping  Appendix 5 paragraphs 1.1 and 1.18 page 56 and 59 
 

Paragraph 8.16 and 8.17 pages 31 and 32 – use of passenger 
carrying vehicles (PCV) licensed drivers 

Appendix 5 paragraph 1.19 page 59 
 
 

Section 9 – Enforcing the Licensing Regime pages 33 and 34 Appendix 7 pages 67 to 69 
 

 

P
age 380



Appendix 11 – Equality and diversity impact screening assessment 

 1 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

Licensing Services, Community Protection, 
Neighbourhood Services/ Regeneration and Local 
Services 

Lead Officer 
 

Craig Rudman 

Title 
 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 
 

 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

 

Start Date 
 

20th February 2020 

Review Date 
 

Prior to Adoption by Council by end of 2021  

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

 
The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy has been produced in 
accordance with the powers conferred by the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the Transport Act 
1985, as amended, which places on the Council the duty to carry out its licensing 
functions in respect of hackney carriage and private hire licensing and also in 
accordance with relevant government guidance. In formulating this policy, the 
Licensing Authority has had regard to the provisions of the European Convention 
on Human Rights, Human Rights Act 1998, Crime and Disorder Act 1998, and the 
Race Relations Act 1976, as amended by the Race Relations (Amendment) Act 
2000 and the Equality Act 2010. – All previous and current policy versions have 
been subject to screening following the initial full EIA. This screening assessment 
has taken into consideration the current policy and the proposed changes pre-
consultation. A further screening assessment will take place once the final draft of 
the proposed revised policy is available in December 2020 prior to reporting to 
GLRC and in February 2021 prior to reporting to full Council. The following 

Page 381



Appendix 11 – Equality and diversity impact screening assessment 

 2 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

proposed changes/amendments have been considered and subjected to the 
screening process: 
 
SM Report Appendix 3:  Table of Pre-Consultation Proposals  
 
1 New Licences - An age restriction policy to be adopted with a 4-year vehicle 
age policy with effect from April 2020 for all newly licensed vehicles. This means 
the EURO 6 emissions standard applies from April 2020 to all new licences  
Existing Vehicles - From April 2023, to adopt an 8-year age policy so vehicles 
older than 8 years will not be licensed.   From April 2023 all diesel and petrol 
engine vehicles must be Euro 6.   The taxi trade therefore has 4 years to comply (3 
years from April 2020).   
Wheelchair accessible vehicles - Existing vehicles will have an extra 2 years 
added to the age restriction meaning that April 2025 is the compliance date.   
Therefore, it is possible that a relatively low number of wheelchair accessible 
vehicles will be Euro 5 between April 2023 to April 2025.   
‘Full electric’ and ‘zero emission at source’ vehicles would be exempt 
2 Reference that the licence plate cannot be altered or defaced in any way 
3 Reference to post-accident testing requirements 
4 Reference 'reported for an offence' in addition to ‘charged with’ 
5 Addition of wording associated with the section of guidance that states: "We 
recommend that licensing authority rules for drivers are updated to make clear 
when a meter can and cannot be left running" 
6 Terrorism and hate crime offences to be added to appendix 2 
7 Possibility that we would also propose the use of an agreed formula to 
enable an annual tariff review to be implemented, this formula would be based on 
industry costs from across the county. Taking into consideration the cost of fuel, 
tyres, wages, licensing fees, insurance premiums Garage costs etc. 
8 Vehicle defect book – addition of minimum timescale for keeping records 
and maximum time periods for vehicle checking i.e. once a week, daily or other 
specific period 
9 Consideration of acceptance of weekly insurance cover 
10 Amendment of the wording on the advertising condition regarding location 
of advertising to be restricted to rear doors, rear panels and boot 
11 Amendment and clarification of ‘fit and proper’ and ‘safe and suitable’ tests 
12 Addition of other offences to Appendix 2 including local authority enforced 
statutes and regulations  
13 Consideration of inclusion of a Drivers Code of Conduct 
14 Preventing the use of e-cigs and vaping in a licensed vehicle 
15 Additions to Operator Conditions re use of base (e.g. parking and 
maintenance of licensed vehicles etc) 
16 Addition to Appendix 2 of Equality Act offences 
17 Addition of changes to categories of write-off vehicles 
18 Additional information on applications to the Council for medical exemptions  
19 Clarification of prohibition on duplication of vehicle licences  
20 Additional explanatory information regarding passenger transport contracts 
e.g. home to school  
21 Consideration of time locked meters - also all meters set with maximum 
tariffs 

Page 382



Appendix 11 – Equality and diversity impact screening assessment 

 3 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

22 Reference in ‘fitness’ to suicidal threats / attempts, not a fit state of mind as 
per DVSA or other relevant guidance  
23 Adopt the IOL suitability guidance 
24 Transfers of vehicles - specify time frame when a transfer should be 
received and explain process 
25 NAFN register needs to be referenced 
26 Need to incorporate into the policy that all tyres on the vehicle must be the 
same size and ratings etc 
27 Information and guidance on conduct and behaviour when using social 
media sites  
28 Reference electric vehicles 
29 Under appendix 1 continuing suitability need to refer under medical that 
they need to inform us of any changes to their health. Need to reference that 
drivers always need to meet Group 2 standards. Could list some of the major 
illnesses i.e. stroke, heart attack, diabetes etc 
30 Clarification on where a licence is refused / revoked, that it is 5 years from 
that date during which the council wouldn’t normally grant a licence - Make clear re 
refusals / revocations that a licence will not be granted unless 5 years has elapsed 
31 More clarification on who is required to carry out the vehicle checks 
32 Clarification on use of taxi meters in private hire vehicles 
33 Suggestion to refresher CSE training every 2 to 3 years (time to be decided 
at consultation stage) 
34 Randomised and targeted drug testing for drivers 
35 Policy to reference the need for licence holders to be respectful etc to other 
drivers 
36 Clarification on illumination of top signs  
37 Look at trailers - should we include a test? Page 471 of button book para 
9.46 
38 Clarify DBS update service needs to be live with a valid certificate - upon 
renewal 
39 Amend transfer of a vehicle application - refer to section 49 LGMPA re 14 
days 
40 Inclusion of a definition of a special vehicle 
41 Explanation of transfer of ownership - quote section 49 of LGMPA 1976 
42 Changes to the PHO to require other persons associated with the 
application to be fit and proper not just the applicant 
43 Suggestion that for new applicants having 6 points or more to go to 
committee for licensing decision  
44 Explanation in policy re why we do not allow surrender of a drivers badge 
but allow vehicle licence surrenders 
45 Greater explanation of why a proprietor may be referred to committee.  
46 Greater explanation of what we require for a medical exemption - i.e. blood 
tests, skin prick etc refer to guidance issued from guide dogs 
47 Approved tests for fitness and propriety for operator and vehicle licences - 
refer to the Ann Harris case 
48 Take 'annual' out from continuing suitability point a) DVLA check 
49 Top sign - make it clearer that HCV vehicles must always have a top sign  
50 Consideration of first aid kits – the one we currently require is for up to 10 
persons – need to state applicable to the number of persons people can carry. 
Also, if not sealed then unsterile and needs to be replaced 

Page 383



Appendix 11 – Equality and diversity impact screening assessment 

 4 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

51 A licence, when granted, will be valid for a period of three years, (or less as 
the Council may decide is necessary in certain circumstances). - make it clearer as 
there is the option of 1 2 and 3 years. Addition of the word 'up to' 3 years 
52 Additional information and clarification on the decal exemptions associated 
with executive / luxurious vehicle  
53 Additional information clarifying and explaining the policy and processes 
followed in relation to late renewal applications (application of Exeter v Sandle) 
 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 

 
The Council has taken into account the views of the following when preparing this 
policy: 

 Service users 
 Current licence holders 
 Elected members of the Council including members  Durham 

Constabulary 
 Local businesses and their representatives (trade associations) 
 Residents and their representative bodies  
 Local transport providers 
 Disability Groups including Durham County Council Disability Partnership  
 Planning Authority 

A full list of those consulted in preparing this Policy is available from the Licensing 
Section. 
 
 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 
Initial screening (Reviewed) CR 
Durham County Council is responsible for the licensing of hackney carriage and 
private hire vehicles, drivers and operators.  
No overall impacts have been identified across the equality strands.  
The policy applies to all regardless of gender, age, disability, religious belief, race 
or ethnic minority or sexual orientation.  However, there are implications for the 
following strands, but these have been explained and addressed within the policy 
and the full impact assessment.  
• Gender 
 Gender of applicants is not considered a barrier to the issuing of taxi 
licenses and Durham County Council.  
• Age 
 Age restrictions are included in applications for taxi drivers however these 
follow  national guidelines. All members of the                    
           community can use taxis, and no one should be refused.  
• Disability 

Page 384



Appendix 11 – Equality and diversity impact screening assessment 

 5 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

It is a condition of a vehicle licence that wheelchair accessible vehicles always 
have the appropriate equipment to be able to transport passengers in wheelchairs 
. (The licence for a vehicle may be suspended until such time as the Council 
considers the vehicle is fit for purpose). 
• Race/Ethnicity 
Applicants from outside the United Kingdom must obtain a certificate of good 
conduct from the relevant Embassy and will be required to pass the Council’s 
knowledge and locality test. (as will all applicants) 
 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No,? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N N 

Disability 
 

N N 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N N 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N N 

Religion or Belief 
 

N N 

Sex (gender) 
 

N N 

Sexual orientation 
 

N N 

Transgender 
 

N N 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

 
 
 
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

 advance equality of opportunity, and  

 foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

Reminder of our legal duties: 

Page 385



Appendix 11 – Equality and diversity impact screening assessment 

 6 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

o Eliminating unlawful discrimination & harassment   
o Promoting equality of opportunity 
o Promoting good relations between people from different groups 
o Promoting positive attitudes towards disabled people and taking account of 
someone’s disability, even where that involves treating them more favourably than 
other people 
o Involving people, particularly disabled people, in public life and decision 
making 
Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles have a specific role to play in an 
integrated transport system. They can provide services in situations where other 
forms of public transport are not available in rural areas and for those with mobility 
difficulties.  The council recognises it is important that hackney carriage and 
private hire licensing powers are used appropriately to ensure that licensed 
vehicles of the council are safe, comfortable, properly insured and available where 
and when required. 
 
 
 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

 
The legislation, guidance and policy are for the benefit of all taxi license 
applications that meet the statutory and policy criteria. The licensing authority 
holds a neutral stance in relation to all matters providing the application criteria are 
met by the applicant. The only reasons for rejecting an application stem from the 
statutory and policy requirements of the application process. The only objections 
that may be considered by the licensing authority that may lead to a decision not to 
grant a licence relate exclusively to aspects associated with the applicant being a 
fit and proper person in law. To ensure best practice it was decided to continue 
with a further full impact assessment of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy due to the complexity of the harmonisation of the seven different 
districts former processes and the impact this would have on delivery of this 
function. 
 

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 
 

N 

Page 386



Appendix 11 – Equality and diversity impact screening assessment 

 7 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 
 

N 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: Craig Rudman 
 
 

Date: 20th February 
2020 

Service equality representative sign off: 
 
 

Date: 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 

service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 

equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 387

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


Appendix 11 – Equality and diversity impact screening assessment 

 8 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions on 
impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Page 388



Appendix 11 – Equality and diversity impact screening assessment 

 9 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Page 389



Appendix 11 – Equality and diversity impact screening assessment 

 10 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 
 

 
 

 
 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

 
 
 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

    

    

    

    

    

 

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 
Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
 
 

Date: 

Service equality representative sign off: 
 
 

Date: 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 

a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

Page 390

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

   

        

 County Council 

26 January 2022 

Updated Local Code of Corporate 

Governance 

 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources  

Councillor Richard Bell, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Finance 

 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report provides Council with the updated Local Code of Corporate 
Governance, which was approved by Audit Committee on 29 November 
2021. 

Executive summary 

2 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (as amended) requires each 
local authority to conduct a review at least once in a year of the 
effectiveness of its system of internal control. A statement reporting on 
the review must be included in an Annual Governance Statement 
published with the Statement of Accounts. 

3 The Local Code of Corporate Governance is a public statement that 
sets out the way the Council will meet its commitment to demonstrating 
that it has the necessary corporate governance arrangements in place 
to perform effectively.  

4 Various updates and amendments have been made to the Local Code 
of Corporate Governance following the annual governance review 2021, 
to reflect changes during the year and to better reflect the arrangements 
currently in place. 

5 At a meeting of the Audit Committee on 29 November 2021, a draft 
version of the revised Code was considered and approved, which was 
marked-up to highlight each individual change. 

 

 

Page 391

Agenda Item 10



 

 

Recommendation 

6 Council is recommended to receive the updated Local Code of 
Corporate Governance, which was approved by Audit Committee on 29 
November 2021. 

  

Page 392



 

 

Background 

7 The Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 
accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, 
efficiently and effectively.  The Council also has a duty under the Local 
Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way which functions are exercised. 

8 In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for 
putting in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs 
and facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, including the 
management of risks. 

9 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require a local authority to 
review at least once a year the effectiveness of its system of internal 
control. This requirement will be fulfilled if the review is conducted in 
accordance with the Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
Framework 2016 (the DGG Framework). 

10 The Council should be able to demonstrate that its governance 
structures comply with the core and sub-principles contained in the 
Framework and, to facilitate this, it should therefore develop and 
maintain a Local Code of Corporate Governance reflecting the 
principles set out. 

11 The critical importance of good governance during this era of financial 
pressure and rapid change was emphasised in a report in May 2019 by 
the Public Accounts Committee (PAC). Although the PAC report does 
not relate directly to local authorities, it is likely to lead to increased 
scrutiny of local authority governance arrangements in the future. 

Local Code of Corporate Governance 

12 The Local Code of Corporate Governance is a public statement that 
sets out the way the Council will meet its commitment to demonstrating 
that it has the necessary corporate governance arrangements in place 
to perform effectively.  It represents a key component of the Council’s 
governance arrangements and applies to all Council members, officers, 
partners and stakeholders in their dealings with the Council. 

13 The Code was revamped to meet the requirements of the Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government Framework (2016), which 
remains current, and is now reviewed annually.  

  

Page 393

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmpubacc/2077/2077.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmpubacc/2077/2077.pdf


 

 

14 The Code has been revised to incorporate elements of the Council’s 
governance arrangements that have been strengthened or updated to 
ensure ongoing effectiveness, taking account of the annual governance 
review 2020/21. These include new and updated strategies, policy 
statements, communication and engagement frameworks, partnership 
governance arrangements and service standards, and the formal 
adoption of professional codes of practice.  

15 The Audit Committee has considered and approved a draft version of 
the revised Code, which was marked-up to highlight each individual 
change. 

Authors 

David Marshall   Tel:  03000 269648 

Kevin Roberts   Tel:  03000 269657 

  

Page 394



 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The governance review process ensures that the Council discharges its 

statutory duties under the Local Government Act 1999 and the Accounts and 

Audit Regulations 2015 as set out at paragraphs 5 to 8 of the report. The 

Code of Corporate Governance enables the Council to demonstrate how it 

complies with the Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 

Framework 2016. 

Finance 

There are no financial implications associated with this report. However, 

financial planning and management is a key component of effective corporate 

governance. 

Consultation 

Engaging local communities meets a core principle of the CIPFA/ SOLACE 

guidance. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Engaging local communities including hard to reach groups meets a core 

principle of the CIPFA/ SOLACE guidance. 

Climate Change 

There are no direct climate change implications, but good governance helps to 
avoid or minimise adverse impacts. 

Human Rights 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

There are no impacts on staffing but ensuring the adequate capability of staff 

meets a core principle of the CIPFA/ SOLACE guidance. 

Accommodation 

There are no accommodation implications, but asset management is a key 

component of effective corporate governance. 

Page 395



 

 

Risk 

There are no reportable risks associated with the report, but the assessment 

of corporate risk is a key component of the Council’s governance 

arrangements. 

Procurement 

None 

  

Page 396



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is intentionally left blank 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 397



 

 

 

Appendix 2:  Updated Local Code of Corporate Governance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

LOCAL CODE OF CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 398



 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require a local authority to conduct a 
review at least once in a year of the effectiveness of its system of internal 
control. A statement reporting on the review must be included in an Annual 
Governance Statement published with the Statement of Accounts. 
 

1.2 The Annual Governance Statement must be “prepared in accordance with 
proper practices in relation to accounts”. To help meet this requirement, this 
code has been produced in accordance with Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government Framework (2016), “The DGG Framework”.  

 

2. What is Governance? 
 

2.1 The International Framework: Good Governance in the Public Sector 
(Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy / International 
Federation of Accountants, 2014), the ‘International Framework’, defines 
governance as follows: 
 
Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the 
intended outcomes for stakeholders are defined and achieved. 

 
2.2 The International Framework also states that: 

 
To deliver good governance in the public sector, both governing bodies and 
individuals working for public sector entities must try to achieve their entity’s 
objectives while acting in the public interest at all times. Acting in the public 
interest implies primary consideration of the benefits for society, which should 
result in positive outcomes for service users and other stakeholders. 

 
2.3 The diagram below, taken from the International Framework shows how the 

various principles of good governance in the public sector relate to each other. 
 

  

Page 399



 

 

3 The Principles of Good Governance 
 
3.1 The DGG Framework requires governance processes and structures to focus 

on the attainment of sustainable outcomes for the economy, society and the 
environment. The Council acknowledges that sustainability and the links 
between governance and public financial management are crucial and pledges 
to take account of the impact of current decisions and actions on future 
generations. 
 

3.2 Principles A and B are consistently applied through principles C to G and 
ensure that the Council achieves its intended outcomes while acting in the 
public interest at all times. This requires: 
 

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical 
values, and respecting the rule of law. 

 
B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

 
3.3 In addition to the overarching requirements for acting in the public interest in 

principles A and B, achieving good governance in the public sector also 
requires effective arrangements for: 
 

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits.  

 
D. Determining and planning the interventions necessary to optimise 

the achievement of the intended outcomes.  
 
E. Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability of its 

leadership and the individuals within it.  
 
F. Managing risks, data and performance through robust internal 

control and strong public financial management 
 
G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to 

deliver effective accountability 
 

4 The Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance 
 
4.1 The Council is committed to, and endeavours to maintain, an effective 

governance framework to meet the principles set out in this Code. 
 

4.2 This Code also aims to ensure that the Council responds appropriately to 
sustained pressures from a variety of sources. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 400



 

 

4.3 The components that make up the Council’s governance framework are many 
and varied. They include: - 
 

 The statutory officers with responsibilities and powers to protect good 
governance, namely, the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), the 
Section 151 Local Government Act 1972 Officer (Corporate Director of 
Resources) and the Monitoring Officer (Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services). 

 Internal and partner strategy documents that set out a longer-term vision for 
the future of the County and identify the most important priorities; 

 Internal and partner policy documents and codes that regulate committee 
and business activities to ensure that they comply with the law and that the 
Council’s objectives and values are supported; 

 Committees and officer groups that regulate and/or monitor Council or 
business activities to ensure that they comply with the law and that the 
Council’s objectives and values are supported; 

 Other systems, processes and documents, including self-assessment tools, 
that support or evidence the principles of good governance set out in The 
DGG Framework. 

 
4.4 The key document supporting the Council’s governance arrangements is the 

Constitution, which sets out how we operate, how decisions are made and the 
rules and procedures we follow to ensure our work is efficient and transparent 
and that we are accountable to local people. The Constitution Working Group, 
which is chaired by the Leader of the Council and consists of the lead Members 
from each political party, co-ordinates proposed changes, and these are 
approved by Full Council. A full annual review is carried out each year. 

 
4.5 A fundamental feature of the Council’s governance arrangements is the 

overview and scrutiny system, the role of which is to review policy and 
challenge whether the Executive has made the right decisions to deliver policy 
goals.  Audit Committees are a key component of an authority’s governance 
framework. Their function is to provide an independent and high-level resource 
to support good governance and strong public financial management.  The 
purpose of the audit committee is to provide those charged with governance 
independent assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework, 
the internal control environment and the integrity of the financial reporting and 
governance processes. Another key feature is the Standards Committee, which 
is responsible for promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by 
councillors, independent members and co-opted members. Further details on 
the overview and scrutiny function and the Standards Committee are included 
under Principle A.   
 

4.6 This section describes, with reference to the components of the Council’s 
governance framework, how each of the principles and sub-principles of this 
Code will be met. In addition to the components listed above, where relevant, 
references to key legislation, professional standards and codes of practice are 
made.  

 

Page 401

http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution


 

 

Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to 
ethical values, and respecting the rule of law. 
 

Why this is important 
 
4.7 The Council is accountable not only for how much it spends, but also for how it 

uses the resources under its stewardship. This includes accountability for 
outputs, both positive and negative, and for the outcomes it has achieved. In 
addition, the Council has an overarching responsibility to serve the public 
interest in adhering to the requirements of legislation and government policies. 
It is essential that, as a whole, it can demonstrate the appropriateness of all its 
actions and have mechanisms in place to encourage and enforce adherence to 
ethical values and to respect the rule of law.  

 
How we meet this principle 

 
4.8 Key governance documents supporting Principle A include:  

 
Constitution – Codes of Conduct for Members; Contract Procedure Rules; 
Decision Making; Functions and Responsibilities of Key Officers; Overview and 
Scrutiny Arrangements; Protocol on Member/Officer Relations; Other Codes 
and Protocols; Roles and Functions of Members.  

 
Other – Code of Our Values, Behaviours and Conduct  (Employees); 
Confidential Reporting Code (Whistleblowing Policy); Corporate Complaints 
Policy; Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy; Fraud Response Plan; Member 
Role Descriptions (Councillor Compact); Officer and Member Gifts & Hospitality 
Register and Procedures; Overview and Scrutiny Handbook; Slavery and 
human trafficking statement 2020-21; Statutory Officers; Sustainable 
Commissioning and Procurement Policy.  

 
A1 Behaving with integrity 

 
4.9 The Council ensures that its values are communicated and understood, and 

that members and officers behave with integrity and lead a culture where acting 
in the public interest is visibly and consistently demonstrated. This is achieved 
by:  
 

 Setting out in the Code of Our Values, Behaviours and Conduct what is 
important to us. We work together to achieve the best for people; we put 
people and communities at the heart of everything we do and value our 
employees; we value, trust and support each other; we embrace change and 
look for better ways to deliver services. 

 Setting out in codes of conduct the minimum standards expected of 
members and employees, and the implications of any code breaches. 

 Seeking individual commitment to the codes from members and officers 
during induction, through annual, written reminders and in performance 
appraisals. 

 

Page 402

http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.durham.gov.uk/counterfraud
http://www.durham.gov.uk/complaints
http://www.durham.gov.uk/complaints
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2793/Counter-fraud-and-corruption-strategy
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2793/Counter-fraud-and-corruption-strategy
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2277/Support-for-councillors
http://www.durham.gov.uk/scrutiny
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/19130/Slavery-and-human-trafficking-statement-2020-21-
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/19130/Slavery-and-human-trafficking-statement-2020-21-
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2815/Procurement-policy-and-strategy
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2815/Procurement-policy-and-strategy


 

 

 Assigning the Constitution Working Group, chaired by the Leader of the 
Council and consisting of the lead Members from each political party, to 
oversee the maintenance and approval of the codes and protocols in the 
Constitution. The Codes of Conduct are intended to be consistent with the 
Seven Principles of Public Life* (the Nolan Principles), which must be 
observed by members and employees when conducting the business of the 
Council or acting as a representative of the Council.  
* Selflessness, Integrity, Objectivity, Accountability, Openness, Honesty and Leadership. 

 Setting out in the Contract Procedure Rules how contracts for goods, works, 
services and utilities should be put in place and managed, and detailing the 
record keeping and reporting requirements related to procurement activity. 
Any relaxation of procurement rules to support the COVID-19 response will 
be time limited according to ongoing need and will be kept under review in 
consultation with Internal Audit. 

 Members leading by example by adhering to these principles in decision 
making and during meetings with fellow members, employees, the 
community and partners. 

 Maintaining Registers of Interest for members and officers and formally 
registering interests at meetings and declaring gifts and hospitality.  

 
4.10 The Council endeavours to demonstrate, communicate and embed its values 

through the following policies and processes, which are reviewed on a regular 
basis to ensure that they are operating effectively. This is achieved by: 
 

 Providing guidance, through the Fraud Response Plan, which supports the 
Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy, to employees and managers on the 
procedures that must be followed in the event of suspected fraud, theft or 
other irregularity.  

 Requiring the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager to 
verbally inform the Section 151 Officer, Audit Committee and External Audit 
of any serious cases of fraud.  

 Reporting the outcomes of anti-fraud and corruption work to Audit 
Committee as part of Protecting the Public Purse updates. 

 Enabling employees, through the Confidential Reporting Code to raise 
serious concerns within the Council rather than overlooking a problem or 
‘blowing the whistle’ externally.  

 Including in the Durham Managers training programme a course that 
explains how the Confidential Reporting Code should be used as a means to 
‘blow the whistle’ where appropriate. 

 Maintaining arrangements, through the Corporate Complaints Policy, for 
non-statutory complaints about services, which are reported to Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Board along with details of 
investigations by the Commissioner for Local Administration. 

 Maintaining arrangements for complaints against employees, which are 
referred to the Corporate Fraud Team, Human Resources and the respective 
Service Management to ensure a proper investigation. 

 Assigning the Monitoring Officer to oversee the arrangements for conflicts of 
interest, gifts and hospitality for members and officers, who are required to 
review their declarations annually.  

Page 403

http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2793/Counter-fraud-and-corruption-strategy
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2793/Counter-fraud-and-corruption-strategy
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
http://www.durham.gov.uk/counterfraud
http://www.durham.gov.uk/counterfraud
http://www.durham.gov.uk/complaints
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156


 

 

 Publishing the Register of Gifts, Interests and Hospitality for Members on the 
website under the relevant meeting or on the Your Councillor webpage.  

 
A2 Demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values 

 
4.11 The Council seeks to establish, monitor and maintain ethical standards and 

performance, while underpinning personal behaviour with ethical values and 
ensuring they permeate all aspects of the organisation’s culture and operation. 
This is achieved by:  
 

 Assigning the Standards Committee to promote and maintains high 
standards of conduct by councillors, independent members and co-opted 
members. 

 Assigning the Appeals and Complaints Committee to determine appeals 
against decisions made by the Council. 

 Maintaining an effective scrutiny function that encourages constructive 
challenge and enhances performance through the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board and Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

 The role, functions and scope of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board and the five thematic committees are set out in detail in 
the Constitution and the Overview and Scrutiny Handbook. They allow a 
wider involvement in Council business by involving non-councillors from the 
wider public sector, voluntary and community groups to help them in their 
work. They may make reports and recommendations to the Executive and 
the Council as a whole on its policies, budget and service delivery. 

 Review and scrutinise the conduct, decisions and actions of Police and 
Crime Commissioner through the Durham Police and Crime Panel, which is 
made up of members from Durham County Council and Darlington Borough 
Council. 

 Regular review of the Gifts and Hospitality Register by the Monitoring 
Officer. 

 Providing, through the Constitution, roles for independent members and co-
opted members on the Standards Committee, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees, Audit Committee and Police and Crime Panel. 

 Reporting bi-annually, through the Internal Audit Service, to Corporate 
Management Team and the Audit Committee on investigations into 
misconduct, including any measures taken to enhance the control 
environment in order to prevent incidences happening in the future. 

 Embedding ethical values through a variety of channels, including online 
training, briefings and news bulletins. 

 Rewarding good ethical behaviour through the Inspiring People Awards and 
awarding instant recognition certificates to those who make an exceptional 
contribution in this area. 

 The Slavery and human trafficking statement 2020-21, through which the 
Council aims to understand and address all potential modern slavery and 
human trafficking risks related to its business.  
 
 
 

Page 404

http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
http://www.durham.gov.uk/ethicalstandards
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.durham.gov.uk/scrutiny
http://www.durham.gov.uk/policeandcrimepanel
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/19130/Slavery-and-human-trafficking-statement-2020-21-


 

 

4.12 The Council places emphasis on agreed ethical values by: 
 

 Maintaining a range of key ethical codes and protocols, such as the codes of 
conduct for members and employees, and the Protocol on Member/Officer 
Relations, in the Council Constitution.  

 Using the above codes and protocols to set the tone for subsidiary policies 
and procedures in areas such as procurement, recruitment, staff discipline, 
gifts and hospitality and declarations of interest. 
 

4.13 The Council requires external providers of services on its behalf to act with 
integrity and in compliance with ethical standards. This is achieved by: 

 

 Including the Council’s ethical values in protocols for partnership working. 

 Seeking, through the Sustainable Commissioning and Procurement Policy, 
to implement procedures that protect the long-term interests of the 
communities we represent, in line with the Public Services (Social Value) Act 
2012. Instructing bidding organisations to bring the above policy to the 
attention of bidders.   

 Addressing ethical supply chain issues through Sustainable Buying 
Standards, which are mandatory in all relevant council contracts.  

 Vetting potential contractors for convictions and violations for specified 
offences, as required by the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

 
A3 Respecting the rule of law 

 
4.14 The Council endeavours to ensure that members and staff demonstrate a 

strong commitment to the rule of the law as well as adhering to relevant laws 
and regulations. It also seeks to create the conditions to ensure that the 
statutory officers, other key post holders, and members, can fulfil their 
responsibilities in accordance with legislative, regulatory and other legal 
requirements. This is achieved by:  

 

 Through the Constitution; 
 
o Committing to exercise all powers and duties in accordance with the 

law;  
o Setting out Member Role Descriptions and the functions and 

responsibilities of key officers, recognising those posts that are 
statutory; 

o Committing to provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer 
with such officers, accommodation and other resources as are in their 
opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed; 

o Designating the Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service in 
accordance with Section 4 Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

o Designating the Corporate Director of Resources as the Section 151 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) to fulfil the governance requirements of 
the CIPFA* Statement on the Role of the CFO in Local Government 
(2010).   

* Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy  

Page 405

http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2815/Procurement-policy-and-strategy
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution


 

 

 Maintaining, under the supervision of the Chief Executive, a chief officer 
structure that is equipped to respond to modern challenges faced by the 
Council. 

 Making the CFO a member of Corporate Management Team, reporting 
directly to the Chief Executive and reviewing all reports to Cabinet which 
have financial implications.   

 Maintaining arrangements for members and officers to work together on the 
work programme of the Cabinet, which is managed through a system of 
Cabinet pre-agenda meetings, supported by regular briefing sessions held 
by Corporate Directors with Cabinet Portfolio Members and their support 
Members.  

 Providing specialist legal advice through Legal & Democratic Services. 

 Providing training, awareness and advice, through central support services, 
to meet general legal requirements in areas such as data protection, 
freedom of information, equalities and health and safety. 

 Making staff aware of relevant statutory provisions through formal training, 
written guidance and implementing appropriate service-specific 
arrangements to ensure compliance.  

 
4.15 The Council strives to optimise the use of the full powers available for the 

benefit of citizens, communities and other stakeholders by: 
 

 Designating, in accordance with Section 5 Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989, the Head of Legal and Democratic Services as Monitoring Officer, 
who attends Corporate Management Team and advises on legal issues. 

 Authorising the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, under the 
Constitution  to institute, defend or participate in any legal proceedings to 
give effect to decisions of the Council or in any case where she considers 
that such action is necessary to protect the Council’s interests. 
 

4.16 The Council endeavours to deal effectively with corruption, misuse of power 
and breaches of legal and regulatory provisions by: 
 

 Maintaining a dedicated Corporate Fraud Team to support its counter fraud 
arrangements. 

 Vigorously dealing with breaches of legal or regulatory provisions through 
disciplinary or criminal proceedings, as appropriate. 

 Enabling employees, contractors and suppliers, through the Confidential 
Reporting Code (Whistleblowing Policy), to raise concerns about potential 
breaches of conduct in decision-making. 

 Thoroughly investigating and, if confirmed, vigorously pursuing any 
allegations of corruption and misuse of power, seeking the strongest 
possible sanctions against those who seek to defraud the Council, 
regardless of whether they are staff, members, contractors, external 
individuals and organisations. 

  

Page 406

http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.durham.gov.uk/counterfraud
http://www.durham.gov.uk/counterfraud


 

 

 Exercising regulatory and enforcement functions under the Environment, 
Health & Consumer Protection enforcement policy, which requires 
authorised officers to have regard to codes of conduct, legislation and other 
statutory provisions, and adhere to the ‘principles of good regulation’ to 
improve outcomes without imposing unnecessary burdens on individuals and 
businesses. 

 Undertaking Public Protection Service enforcement and intervention activity 
in relation to licensing, neighbourhoods, trading standards and safer 
communities. 

 

Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 
 

Why this is important 
 
4.17 Local government is run for the public good. The Council should therefore 

ensure openness in its activities. Clear, trusted channels of communication and 
consultation should be used to engage effectively with all groups of 
stakeholders, such as individual citizens and service users, as well as 
institutional stakeholders. Institutional stakeholders are the other organisations 
that local government needs to work with to improve services and outcomes 
(such as commercial partners and suppliers as well as other public or third 
sector organisations) or organisations to which they are accountable.  

 
How we meet this principle 

 
4.18 Key governance documents supporting Principle B include:  

 
Constitution – Audit Committee Role; Decision Making; How the Council 
operates; Joint Arrangements and Partnerships; Officer Scheme of 
Delegations.  

 
Other – Area Action Partnerships Terms of Reference; Consultation Statement; 
Consultations web page; County Durham Compact; Framework for Good 
Workforce Mental Health in County Durham Businesses; Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2020 - 2025; notice of key decisions webpage; officer 
decisions webpage; Partnership Governance Framework; Partnerships 
Register; petitions webpage; Risk Management Strategy and Policy; County 
Durham Vision 2035; Transparency and Accountability webpage. 
 
B1 Openness 

 
4.19 The Council maintains an open culture and encourages wide public 

involvement in determining the most appropriate and effective interventions and 
courses of action. This is achieved by: 
 

 Encouraging a climate of openness, headed by the Council Leader who 
holds regular Cabinet meetings at various locations in the County. 

Page 407

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/5093/Environment-Health-and-Consumer-Protection-EHCP-enforcement-policy-
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/5093/Environment-Health-and-Consumer-Protection-EHCP-enforcement-policy-
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=160&MId=12208&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.durham.gov.uk/AAPs
http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation
http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8459/Voluntary-and-Community-Sector
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=919&MId=12142&Ver=4
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=919&MId=12142&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws
http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=154&RD=0
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgListOfficerDecisions.aspx?bcr=1&BAM=0
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgListOfficerDecisions.aspx?bcr=1&BAM=0
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2334/Partnerships
http://www.durham.gov.uk/petitions
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21626/Durham-2035-a-vision-for-County-Durham
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21626/Durham-2035-a-vision-for-County-Durham
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/5244/Transparency-and-accountability


 

 

 Maintaining a website that is designed to make it easy for users to find 
information and includes a Transparency and Accountability webpage  to 
comply with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015.  

 Publishing information on the website about services provided, land and 
assets owned by the Council, organisational structures and salaries, counter 
fraud, how money is spent and how services are bought. 

 Deploying a range of research, consultation and engagement techniques so 
that the selected approach is fit for each given purpose.  

 Taking a planned approach to encourage participation in new initiatives such 
as the Transformation Programme, a co-ordinated and integrated series of 
projects aimed at providing the very best services for the people of County 
Durham, to ensure that the public’s views are incorporated into decision 
making processes.  

 
4.20 The Council seeks to make decisions that are open about actions, plans, 

resource use, forecasts, outputs and outcomes, with a presumption for 
openness and, where relevant, giving reasons for keeping any decision 
confidential. Clear reasoning and evidence will be provided for decisions, being 
explicit about the criteria, rationale and considerations used to ensure that the 
impact and consequences of those decisions are clear. These aims are 
achieved by: 
 

 Setting out in the Constitution how the Council operates, how decisions are 
made and the procedures followed to ensure that these are effective, 
transparent and accountable to local people. 

 Publishing on the website: advance notice of key decisions covering a rolling 
period of four months; decisions made by the Executive, within two days of 
the respective meeting; and all major decisions that are in the public domain.  

 Publishing all officer decisions made under the Officer Scheme of 
Delegations (Constitution).  

 Supporting the Council’s decision-making processes with: 

o A Risk Management Strategy and Policy;  

o An Audit Committee responsible for monitoring and reviewing 

processes for risk management, internal control, governance and 

associated assurance; and  

o Arrangements to ensure that they comply with legal requirements and 

that all reports requiring a decision include the legal implications, 

confirm that legal advice has been obtained on proposals, and the 

source of that legal advice. 

 Including in the Council’s stated principles for decision making the giving of 
reasons for decisions and supporting them with references to legal or other 
professional advice and stating the potential implications in terms of finance, 
staffing, risk, human rights and several other factors.   

 
  

Page 408

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/5244/Transparency-and-accountability
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=154&RD=0
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgListOfficerDecisions.aspx?bcr=1&BAM=0
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155


 

 

B2 Engaging comprehensively with institutional stakeholders  
 

4.21 The Council seeks to effectively engage with institutional stakeholders and, 
where necessary, develop formal and informal partnerships to ensure that the 
purpose, objectives and intended outcomes for each stakeholder relationship 
are clear. The aims of this approach are to ensure that outcomes are achieved 
successfully and sustainably, with efficient use of resources. This is achieved 
by: 
 

 Establishing a vision for the County Durham Partnership that provides a 
strategic direction and enables close working between partners for the 
benefit of our residents. 

 The County Durham Partnership, restructured in September 2020, 
comprising: Health and Wellbeing Board and Outbreak Engagement Board 
(statutory); Safe Durham Partnership (statutory); Economic Partnership; and 
Environment and Climate Change Partnership.  

 Managing relationships with partners to ensure that: members are clear 
about their roles and responsibilities; there is clarity about the legal status of 
the partnership; and representatives both understand and make clear to all 
other partners the extent of their authority to bind their organisation to 
partner decisions.  

 Working with strategic partners through the Local Resilience Forum on 
collective capacity and capability, protection from the COVID-19 virus, 
managing deaths and planning for the future. 

 Providing support and oversight, through a Chief Officer Safeguarding Group 
chaired by the Chief Executive, to chief officers across all statutory agencies 
of the safeguarding arrangements for children and adults’ services. The 
Group has an independent Chair and includes officers from the Council, 
NHS and the Police. 

 Regularly reviewing governance arrangements and structures for strategic 
partnerships to evaluate their effectiveness. 

 Allowing, through the Constitution, joint arrangements to be established for 
specific purposes such as the provision and maintenance of crematoria, and 
setting out details of existing joint arrangements, including purpose, parties 
and effective dates. 

 Shaping and supporting a common vision and approach for community 
engagement through the County Durham Partnership. 

 Providing, through the County Durham Compact, a framework for 
partnership and engagement with the voluntary and community sector. 

 Including in the CDP a range of key public, private and voluntary sector 
organisations that work together to improve the quality of life for the people 
within County Durham. 

 Managing, within service groupings, informal, collaborative working 
arrangements with external organisations. 

 Ensuring that partnerships are based on trust, a shared commitment to 
change, a culture that promotes and accepts challenge among partners, and 
that the added value of partnership working is explicit.  

Page 409

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2334/Partnerships
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8459/Voluntary-and-Community-Sector
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2334/Partnerships


 

 

 The County Durham Together Partnership, formerly the Prevention Steering 
Group, identifies areas of work requiring early interventions to reduce 
demand on services and impacts on stakeholders. 

 
B3 Engaging with individual citizens and service users effectively 

 
4.22 Through the Consultation Statement, the Council seeks to establish a clear 

policy on the type of issues on which it will consult on and involve communities, 
individual citizens, service users and other stakeholders. The Council aims to 
ensure that the views of local people and visitors are used to set priorities, 
influence policy and decision making, and that service provision is contributing 
towards the achievement of intended outcomes. Council-wide Consultation 
Officer Group, chaired by Head of Partnerships and Community Engagement, 
coordinates all consultation activity across the authority. 

 
4.23 The Council endeavours to ensure that communication methods are effective, 

and that members and officers are clear about their roles with regard to 
community engagement, in order to collect and evaluate the views, experiences 
and future needs of people and organisations of different backgrounds. This 
approach is combined with effective feedback mechanisms to demonstrate how 
views have been taken into account and balancing feedback from more active 
and other stakeholder groups to ensure inclusivity. This is achieved by: 

 

 Assigning the Corporate Communications and Marketing Team to lead on 
communications with external audiences through local, regional and 
national media with direction and guidance provided through 
communications protocols. 

 Welcoming petitions and recognising that they are an effective way for 
people to voice their concerns.   

 Engaging with the community, through 14 multi-agency Area Action 
Partnerships, to identify and address local priorities and utilise locality 
budgets to drive improvements to the local area. 

 Channelling communications and updates on COVID-19 through a single 
point of entry. 

 Using the consultation process to involve a range of stakeholders in 
refreshing the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020 - 2025.  

 Publishing results of consultation and engagement campaigns on the 
website with explanations of what has been changed as a result of the 
views and comments collected.  

 Selecting appropriate consultation techniques and engaging through area 
action partnerships and the voluntary sector to involve all sections of the 
community effectively.  

 Ensuring that selected techniques recognise that different sections of the 
community have different priorities and establish processes for dealing 
with these competing demands. 

 Seeking, with guidance from the County Durham Vision 2035, the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020 - 2025, supported by the decision 
making process, to manage resources in ways that do not compromise the 
quality of life of future generations or those in the wider world. 

Page 410

http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation
http://www.durham.gov.uk/petitions
http://www.durham.gov.uk/coronavirus
http://www.durham.gov.uk/coronavirus
http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws
http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21626/Durham-2035-a-vision-for-County-Durham
http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws
http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws


 

 

 The framework for good workforce mental health in County Durham 
businesses was developed for small and medium sized businesses and 
voluntary and community sector organisations, and aims to improve 
awareness and promote the importance of good workforce mental health.  

 

Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 

environmental benefits 

Why this is important 
 
4.24 The long-term nature and impact of many of the Council’s responsibilities mean 

that it should define and plan outcomes and that these should be sustainable. 
Decisions should further the Council’s purpose, contribute to intended benefits 
and outcomes, and remain within the limits of authority and resources. Input 
from all groups of stakeholders, including citizens, service users, and 
institutional stakeholders, is vital to the success of this process and in balancing 
competing demands when determining priorities for the finite resources 
available.  

 
How we meet this principle 

 
4.25 Key governance documents supporting Principle C include:  

 
Constitution – Decision Making; Protocol on Member/Officer Relations.  

 
Other – Children and Young People's Strategy 2019 - 2022; Climate and 
Emergency Plan; Capital Strategy; Council Plan 2020 – 2023 and service 
plans; County Durham Plan; County Durham Vision 2035; Digital Strategy, 
customer services charter and service standards; Equality Policy; Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy 2020 - 2025; Medium Term Financial Plan 2021 - 2024; 
Performance Management Framework; Police, Crime and Victim's Plan 2018 - 
2021; Regeneration Statement 2012 – 2022; Risk Management Strategy and 
Policy; Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2020 - 2025. 

 

C1 Defining outcomes 
 

4.26 The County Durham Vision 2035, which has been produced by the Council in 
conjunction with its partners on the County Durham Partnership, and 
demonstrates its shared long-term vision for the future of County Durham. The 
Vision includes the following ambitions for the place of County Durham:  
 

 there are more and better jobs, 

 people live long and independent lives, and 

 our communities are well connected and supportive of each other. 
 

  

Page 411

http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=919&MId=12142&Ver=4
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=919&MId=12142&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8482/Plans-and-Strategies
https://www.durham.gov.uk/climatechange
https://www.durham.gov.uk/climatechange
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/7448/County-Durham-Plan-what-s-happened-so-far
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21626/Durham-2035-a-vision-for-County-Durham
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2810/Customer-services-charter-and-standards
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2810/Customer-services-charter-and-standards
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2292/Equality--Diversity
http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws
http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/performance
https://www.durham-pcc.gov.uk/Your-PCC/Police-Crime-and-Victims-Plan/Police-Crime-and-Victims-Plan.aspx
https://www.durham-pcc.gov.uk/Your-PCC/Police-Crime-and-Victims-Plan/Police-Crime-and-Victims-Plan.aspx
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2385/Regeneration-Statement
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3881/The-Safe-Durham-Partnership
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21626/Durham-2035-a-vision-for-County-Durham
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/


 

 

There are five underlying themes, which emerged from the extensive public 
consultation: rural communities, climate change, the natural environment, new 
technologies and the United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union. The 
Vision seeks to address several issues arising from an analysis of performance 
data and emerging policy, which were further refined after consultation with 
residents and other interested groups. These issues are: the economy; tourism; 
community spirit; children’s health, safety and access to a good education; 
health; transport; housing; and revitalisation of high streets. 

 
The Vision and ambitions are supported by the following County Durham 
Partnership Plans: 
 

 Safe Durham Partnership Plan, 

 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 

 Children and Young People’s Strategy, 

 Regeneration Statement, and 

 Climate Emergency Plan. 
 
4.27 In addition to the above arrangements, outcomes are defined through: 

 

 Establishing a Transformation Programme with four key outcomes that will 
change the way it works for the continued provision of high-quality services 
within the context of the further financial challenges. 

 Setting out, in the Council Plan 2020 - 2023 and individual service plans, 
supporting policies, plans and strategies, set out the key actions to be taken 
in support of delivering the longer term goals in the County Durham Vision 
2035 and the Council’s own improvement agenda. 

 Developing, through the Medium Term Financial Plan 2021 - 2024 (MTFP), a 
financial framework in line with the Council Plan 2020 - 2023 that enables 
members and officers to ensure policy initiatives can be planned for delivery 
within available resources and can be aligned to priority outcomes.  

 Subjecting the delivery of the Council Plan 2020 - 2023 and the Medium 
Term Financial Plan to detailed and frequent monitoring undertaken by 
Corporate Management Team and Cabinet. 

 Durham Police and Crime and Victims' Commissioner’s Police, Crime and 
Victims Plan. 

 Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service Integrated Risk 
Management Plan. 

 NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups Strategic Plans. 

 Durham Constabulary Plan on a Page. 

 Supporting decision making and project management processes with the 
Performance Management Framework and the Risk Management Strategy 
and Policy.  

 The Digital Strategy, which sets out the future for connecting Durham, how 
we will digitally improve our services, support our people, our communities 
and our organisation to deliver better outcomes for the people of the county. 

 The customer services charter and service standards, which outline how 
customers can expect to be treated when they get in touch with us and 
specific levels of service that they should receive. 

Page 412

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21626/Durham-2035-a-vision-for-County-Durham
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21626/Durham-2035-a-vision-for-County-Durham
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/performance
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2810/Customer-services-charter-and-standards
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2810/Customer-services-charter-and-standards


 

 

 The County Durham Strategic Partnership Approach to Early Help for 
Children, Young People and Families, which sets out our vision, priorities 
and approach for providing ‘early help’ to address inequalities, promote 
opportunity and secure better outcomes for children, young people and their 
families. 

 The Towns and Villages Investment Plan, which will lead to the re-use of 
derelict buildings, walking and cycling improvements, public realm and 
leisure schemes across the county. 

 
C2 Sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits 
 

4.28 The Council considers and balances the combined economic, social and 
environmental impact of policies and plans when taking decisions about service 
provision, taking a longer-term view with due regard to the wider public interest 
and potential risks. The Council is committed to acting transparently where 
there are potential conflicts between the Council’s intended outcomes and 
short-term factors such as the political cycle or financial constraints. This is 
achieved by: 
 

 Pursuing economic and environmental benefits through the Climate Change 
Emergency Response Plan 2020 - 2022  and pursuing social benefits 
through the other themes.  

 Using decision making processes, which include management of 
performance and risks, to support the achievement of high-level objectives in 
furtherance of economic, social and environmental benefits. 

 Pursuing economic, social and environmental benefits in the development 
the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 Preparing the capital budget reflecting the priorities detailed in the Council 
Plan 2020 - 2023, using criteria laid down in the Corporate Capital Protocol.  

 Advising Cabinet on the Capital Programme through the Member Officer 
Working Group for Capital, which is responsible for scrutinising capital 
budget revisions and monitoring progress on schemes.   

 Following the principles of decision making set out in the Constitution.  

 Guiding members and employees in their relations with one another and 
seeking to enhance and maintain integrity by demanding very high standards 
of personal conduct through the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations 
(Constitution). 

 Determining, through the Consultation Statement, the wider public interest 
associated with balancing conflicting interests between achieving the various 
economic, social and environmental benefits, in order to ensure appropriate 
trade-offs.   
 

  

Page 413

http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11300&Ver=4
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11300&Ver=4
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11957&Ver=4
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11270&Ver=4
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11270&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation


 

 

4.29 The Council ensures fair access to services by: 
 

 Using the Equality Policy to reinforce the Council’s responsibilities under the 
Equality Act 2010, including compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty, 
to understand and seek to prevent or mitigate any potential negative impacts 
as a result of Council decisions for people with protected characteristics 
(age, disability, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, transgender). 

 Supporting the Equality Policy with an equality impact assessment process, 
which ensures that the impact on equality is considered in the Council’s 
decision making. 

 Promoting equality and diversity across all of the Council’s work through the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board and Scrutiny 
Committees.  

 
Principle D: Determining and planning the interventions necessary to optimise 
the achievement of the intended outcomes 
  

Why this is important 
 
4.30 Local government achieves its intended outcomes by providing a mixture of 

legal, regulatory, and practical interventions. Determining the right mix of these 
courses of action is a critically important strategic choice that local government 
has to make to ensure intended outcomes are achieved. They need robust 
decision-making mechanisms to ensure that their defined outcomes can be 
achieved in a way that provides the best trade-off between the various types of 
resource inputs while still enabling effective and efficient operations. Decisions 
made need to be reviewed continually to ensure that achievement of outcomes 
is optimised.  

 
How we meet this principle 

 
4.31 Key governance documents supporting Principle D include: 

 
Constitution – Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules; Decision 
Making; Financial Procedure Rules; Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements.  

 
Other – Capital Programme; Council Plan and service plans; Medium Term 
Financial Plan; Partnership Governance Framework; Performance 
Management Framework; Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report; Risk 
Management Strategy and Policy; County Durham Vision 2035; Sustainable 
Commissioning and Procurement Policy. 

 
  

Page 414

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2292/Equality--Diversity
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2292/Equality--Diversity
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2334/Partnerships
http://www.durham.gov.uk/performance
http://www.durham.gov.uk/performance
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2291/Overview-and-scrutiny-annual-reports
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21626/Durham-2035-a-vision-for-County-Durham
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2815/Procurement-policy-and-strategy
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2815/Procurement-policy-and-strategy


 

 

D1 Determining interventions 
 

4.32 The Council ensures that decision makers receive objective and rigorous 
analysis of a variety of options, indicating how intended outcomes would be 
achieved and highlighting associated risks, in order to secure best value 
regardless of the service delivery method. This is combined with considering 
feedback from citizens and service users about proposed service 
improvements or where services are no longer required in order to prioritise 
competing demands within limited resources available including people, skills, 
land and assets and bearing in mind future impacts. This is achieved by: 
 

 Embedding the pursuit of value for money into all of the Council’s decision-
making processes.  

 Frequently undertaking reviews to provide assurance that value for money 
services are being provided. 

 Using residents’ and other stakeholders’ views with high level analysis of the 
equalities impact to shape proposals in the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 
D2 Planning interventions 
 

4.33 The Council’s arrangements for planning the interventions for the achievement 
of its intended outcomes are: 
 

 A comprehensive Transformation Programme incorporating a co-ordinated 
and integrated series of initiatives aimed at providing the very best services 
for the people of County Durham. 

 Establishing and implementing, through the Council Plan 2020 - 2023 and 
Medium Term Financial Plan monitoring, robust planning and control cycles 
that cover strategic and operational plans, priorities and targets. 

 Engaging with internal and external stakeholders, through participative 
budgeting and other consultation techniques, in determining how services 
and other courses of action should be planned and delivered. 

 Considering and monitoring risks facing each partner when working 
collaboratively, including shared risks, through the Partnership Governance 
Framework and the Risk Management Strategy and Policy. 

 Ensuring, through the Council Plan 2020 - 2023 and business continuity 
planning, that arrangements are flexible and agile so that the mechanisms 
for delivering goods and services can be adapted to changing 
circumstances. 

 Determining, during the development of the County Durham Vision 2035 and 
the Council Plan 2020 - 2023 how the performance of services and projects 
will be measured, and linking these arrangements to a locally led 
performance management framework, which ensures that attention is 
focused on Council priorities. 

 Using key target indicators in areas where improvements can be measured 
regularly and can be actively influenced by the Council and its partners.  

 Comparing performance with that of other Councils using a recognised, 
online tool. 

Page 415

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2334/Partnerships
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2334/Partnerships
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21626/Durham-2035-a-vision-for-County-Durham
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/performance


 

 

 Undertaking, through the Overview and Scrutiny Committees, in-depth, 
evidence-based reviews of services, the findings of which are outlined in the 
Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report. 

 Preparing budgets in accordance with the County Durham Vision 2035, the 
Council Plan 2020 - 2023 and the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 Informing medium- and long-term resource planning by determining, through 
Cabinet in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer, the general budget 
strategy and issuing annual guidelines to Members and Chief Officers on 
preparing: - 
o A detailed revenue budget for the following year and the MTFP; 
o The Capital Programme;  
o The timetable for developing and agreeing the Council’s revenue and 

capital budget. 

 The Business, Economy, Regeneration Strategy Recovery Group (a 
subgroup of the County Durham Economic Partnership) assesses and 
addresses the economic implications of the pandemic to help businesses to 
restart and grow the economy. 

D3 Optimising achievement of intended outcomes 
 

4.34 The Council optimises the achievement of its outcomes by: 
 

 Developing, through the Medium Term Financial Plan, a financial framework 
in line with the Council Plan 2020 - 2023 to deliver policy initiatives within 
available resources and aligned to priority outcomes. 

 Developing the budgeting process in line with Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules, to ensure that it is all-inclusive, and takes into account the 
full cost of operations over the medium and longer term.  

 Ensuring, through the development of the MTFP and Council Plan 2020 - 
2023 that partners and stakeholders have a clear view of the Council’s 
priorities, targets and financial plans over the forthcoming period of four 
years. 

 Seeking, through the Sustainable Commissioning and Procurement Policy, 
to implement procedures that protect the long-term interests of the 
communities we represent, in line with the Public Services (Social Value) Act 
2012.  

 Instructing bidding organisations bring this policy to the attention of bidders. 

 The Company Governance Group, which seeks to ensure that officers who 
work with, or who are appointed as, directors of Council companies 
understand their roles and responsibilities, identify and manage conflicts of 
interests, and provide resilience in the Council’s resourcing of companies. 

 

  

Page 416

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2291/Overview-and-scrutiny-annual-reports
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21626/Durham-2035-a-vision-for-County-Durham
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2815/Procurement-policy-and-strategy


 

 

Principle E: Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability of its 

leadership and the individuals within it 

 
Why this is important 

 
4.35 The Council needs appropriate structures and leadership, as well as people 

with the right skills, appropriate qualifications and mindset, to operate efficiently 
and effectively and achieve its intended outcomes within the specified periods. 
It must ensure that it has both the capacity to fulfill its own mandate and to 
make certain that there are policies in place to guarantee that its management 
has the operational capacity for the organisation as a whole. Because both 
individuals and the environment in which the Council operates will change over 
time, there will be a continuous need to develop its capacity as well as the skills 
and experience of the leadership and of individual staff members. Leadership in 
the Council is strengthened by the participation of people with many different 
types of backgrounds, reflecting the structure and diversity of communities.  

 
How we meet this principle 

 
4.36 Key governance documents supporting Principle E include:  

 
Constitution – Decision Making; The Executive; Financial Procedure Rules; 
Officer Scheme of Delegations; Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements; Protocol 
for Questions by the Public to Members of the Executive (Council Procedure 
Rules).  
 
Other – Apprenticeship Strategy 2019 to 2022; Area Action Partnerships Terms 
of Reference; Attendance Management Policy; Capital Strategy; County 
Durham Compact; Durham Leadership and Management Development 
Programme; Health, Safety and Wellbeing Strategy; Learning, Development 
and Support Programme for Members; Workforce Strategy 2021 – 23; Property 
Strategy. 

 
E1 Developing the Council’s capacity 
 

4.37 The Council strives to maintain the continuing effectiveness of its operations, 
performance and use of assets through: 
 

 The Inspiring Place element of the Transformation Programme, which seeks 
to modernise and refurbish strategic sites, introduce flexible ways of working, 
reduce paper-based processes and consolidate services. 

 Establishing a corporate landlord service delivery model for asset 
management, overseen by the Head of Corporate Property and Land. 

 Regularly monitoring key areas of performance, including the condition, 
suitability, sufficiency and accessibility of property to ensure that best use is 
made of assets in terms of service benefit, financial benefit and value for 
money.  

  

Page 417

http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
https://www.durham.gov.uk/Apprenticeships
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8459/Voluntary-and-Community-Sector
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8459/Voluntary-and-Community-Sector
http://intranet/pages/PoliciesandProceduresDetails.aspx?ItemId=3892


 

 

 Setting out in the Property Strategy the main principles to ensure that 
opportunities to share the use of property are identified, and to make sure 
that assets are fit for purpose, cost effective and used to support 
regeneration and economic development. 

 Consulting local communities and partners, where appropriate, about 
alternative methods of continuing to provide front line services. 

 Advising Cabinet on the Capital Programme through the Member Officer 
Working Group for Capital, which is responsible for scrutinising capital 
budget revisions and monitoring progress on schemes. 

 Formally reflecting on the experiences of the COVID-19 pandemic and using 
learning to strengthen capacity and capability.  
 

4.38 The Council strives to improve the use of its resources to ensure that they are 
allocated in a way that realises outcomes effectively and efficiently. This is 
achieved through: 
 

 The Inspiring Change element of the Transformation Programme, which 
seeks to invest in new IT systems, modernise and simplify business 
processes, redesign services in localities to meet community needs, and 
introduce more commercial activity to support social objectives. 

 Using benchmarking data from statutory returns to inform programmes of 
VFM reviews and savings options in various service areas in order to ensure 
that defined outcomes are achieved effectively and efficiently.  

 Using data from commercial benchmarking clubs, to facilitate meaningful 
comparisons with other Councils. 

 Providing, through the County Durham Compact, a framework for 
partnership and engagement with the voluntary and community sector where 
added value can be achieved.  

 Including in the County Durham Partnership a range of key public, private 
and voluntary sector organisations that work together to improve the quality 
of life for the people within County Durham. 

 Managing, within service groupings, informal, collaborative working 
arrangements with external organisations. 

 The Digital Strategy, sets out the Council’s digital ambitions for the County in 
line with the Council Vision and the Transformation Programme. 

 The Apprenticeship Strategy 2019 to 2022, which aims to identify 
opportunities for new and existing employees to support workforce 
development and planning. 
 

4.39 The Council maintains an effective workforce plan, through the Organisational 
Development Strategy, to enhance the strategic allocation of resources. 

 
E2 Developing the capability of the Council’s leadership and other 
individuals 
 

4.40 The Council ensures that elected and appointed leaders negotiate with each 
other regarding their respective roles early on in the relationship and that a 
shared understanding of roles and objectives is maintained. This is achieved 
by: 

Page 418

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8459/Voluntary-and-Community-Sector
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11266&Ver=4
https://www.durham.gov.uk/Apprenticeships


 

 

 

 Setting out in the Constitution how the Executive is made up and how 
appointments to this committee are made.  

 Electing the Leader under the terms of the Constitution, and making 
appointments to a number of committees with various regulatory and 
scrutiny responsibilities.  

 Nominating, through the Leader, nine other councillors, including a Deputy 
Leader, with specific responsibilities to form the Cabinet. 

 Allocating, through the Leader under the terms of the Constitution, roles and 
responsibilities to individual members and the Executive Committee as a 
whole. 

 Supporting the above arrangements with a number of formal member and 
officer working groups. 

 

4.41 The Council makes a clear distinction between the types of decisions that are 
delegated and those reserved for the collective decision making of the Council 
in the Constitution, which is published on the website. Decision-making 
arrangements will be refined, with appropriate scrutiny safeguards, for the 
purposes of managing the COVID-19 pandemic emergency.  

 
4.42 The Council clearly defines in the Constitution the respective roles of the leader 

and the chief executive, whereby the chief executive leads in implementing 
strategy and managing the delivery of services and other outputs set by 
members and each provides a check and a balance for each other’s authority. 

 
4.43 The Council continually seeks to develop the capabilities of members and 

senior management to achieve effective leadership and to enable the 
organisation to respond successfully to changing legal and policy demands as 
well as economic, political and environmental changes and risks. This is 
achieved by:  

 

 Ensuring, through the Learning, Development and Support Programme for 
Members and the Durham Learning and Development System, that 
members and staff are provided with induction training tailored to their role 
and individual training and development plans.  

 Ensuring, through respective appraisal schemes, that members and officers 
have the appropriate skills, knowledge, resources and support to fulfil their 
roles and responsibilities and ensuring that they are able to update their 
knowledge on a continuing basis 

 Ensuring personal, organisational and system-wide development through 
shared learning, including lessons learnt from governance weaknesses both 
internal and external 

 Promoting excellence in learning through membership of the North East 
Public Service Academy. 

 The Durham Leadership Way programme, which outlines the expectations of 
leaders and managers together with a development and support offer. 

 
  

Page 419

http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution


 

 

4.44 The Council encourages public participation by: 
 

 Administering 14 multi-agency Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) that enable 
local people and organisations to comment on how services are provided. 

 Inviting members of the public to attend Council meetings. 

 Including a protocol for member of the public wishing to ask a question to the 
Executive. 

 The Covid-19 Community Champions programme, which has been 
developed to ensure that, as the pandemic continues, key messages are 
shared within communities and that these messages are trusted, concise 
and clear. 

 
4.45 The Council ensures that the leadership’s own effectiveness is considered and 

that leaders are open to constructive feedback from peer review and 
inspections by: 
 

 Monitoring the decisions of the Executive through the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Management Board, which has the power to:-  
o “call-in” decisions which have been made but not implemented; and  
o recommend that their decisions are reconsidered.  

 Consulting the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board on 
forthcoming decisions or the development of policy. 

 Assessing the skills required by members and officers through personal 
development plans, and making a commitment to develop those skills to 
enable roles to be carried out effectively. 

 Developing skills on a continuing basis, through implementation of the 
Learning, Development and Support Programme for Members, to improve 
performance, including the ability to scrutinise and challenge and to 
recognise when outside expert advice is needed. 

 
4.46 The Council strives to maintain effective arrangements to meet employees’ 

needs in terms of training, development, health and wellbeing through: 
 

 The Inspiring People element of the Transformation Programme, which 
seeks to invest widely in staff training and development, review the Council’s 
HR policies and procedures, adopt new values and behaviours, empower 
people to be advocates of change, and identify talent and succession 
planning. 

 Assessing the skills required by officers through personal development plans 
and making a commitment to develop those skills to enable roles to be 
carried out effectively. 

 Managing the performance and development of employees through an 
ongoing appraisal process. 

 Supporting employees through the Health, Safety and Wellbeing Strategy 
and the emergency Human Resources Policy, which is compatible with 
revised working arrangements introduced during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Absence management arrangements and enhanced family and 
compassionate leave provisions focus on rehabilitation through the 
Attendance Management Policy with assistance from Occupational Health.  

Page 420

http://www.durham.gov.uk/AAPs
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156


 

 

 Supporting employees through change processes with confidential 
counselling services through the Employee Assistance Programme. 

 
Principle F: Managing risks, data and performance through robust internal 

control and strong public financial management 

Why this is important 
 
4.47 The Council needs to ensure that the organisations and governance structures 

that it oversees have implemented, and can sustain, an effective performance 
management system that facilitates effective and efficient delivery of planned 
services. Risk management and internal control are important and integral parts 
of a performance management system and crucial to the achievement of 
outcomes. Risk should be considered and addressed as part of all decision-
making activities.  

 
4.48 A strong system of financial management is essential for the implementation of 

policies and the achievement of intended outcomes, as it will enforce financial 
discipline, strategic allocation of resources, efficient service delivery, and 
accountability. 

 
4.49 It is also essential that a culture and structure for scrutiny is in place as a key 

part of accountable decision making, policy making and review. A positive 
working culture that accepts, promotes and encourages constructive challenge 
is critical to successful scrutiny and successful delivery. Importantly, this culture 
does not happen automatically, it requires repeated public commitment from 
those in authority.  

 
How we meet this principle 

 
4.50 Key governance documents supporting Principle F include:  

 
Constitution – Councillor Call for Action Procedure (Overview & Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules); Decision Making; Financial Procedure Rules; Overview and 
Scrutiny Arrangements. 
 
Other – Budget Report; Capital Strategy; Council Plan 2020 - 2023; Data 
Protection Policy; Data Protection Policy; Data Quality Policy; Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government Framework; Internal Audit Charter, Strategy 
2020/21 and Audit Plan; Medium Term Financial Plan; Performance 
Management Framework; performance reports; Risk Management Strategy and 
Policy; service plans. 
 
Professional Codes – CIPFA * Code on a Prudential Framework for Local 
Authority Capital Finance; CIPFA Financial Management Code; CIPFA * 
Statement on the Role of Head of Internal Audit; Code of Practice on Managing 
the Risk of Fraud and Corruption, 2014; National Audit Office Code of Practice 
on Value for Money; Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 
* Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 
 

Page 421

http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12058&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy
http://www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy
https://www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy
https://www.durham.gov.uk/performance
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=12135&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=12135&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/performance
http://www.durham.gov.uk/performance
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2427/Quarterly-reports
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4


 

 

F1 Managing risk 
 
4.51 The Council recognises that risk management is an integral part of all activities 

and decision making as set out in the Risk Management Strategy and Policy, 
which defines key roles and responsibilities and is reviewed annually, to 
maintain robust, integrated and effective risk management arrangements. 
Council-owned companies and joint venture arrangements are provided with 
strategic and financial guidance and support, and are required to report 
regularly on performance.  

 
F2 Managing performance 
 

4.52 The Council ensures that service delivery is effectively monitored by: 
 

 Setting out in service plans a detailed schedule of actions, which are 
assigned to responsible officers and incorporated into, and monitored 
through, the corporate and service performance management arrangements. 

 Monitoring performance and ensuring that effective arrangements are put in 
place to deal with any failures in service delivery through the Council’s 
Cabinet. 

 Providing assurance through quarterly performance reports  to Corporate 
Management Team, Cabinet and all scrutiny committees by way of senior 
management performance clinics during the year. 

 Undertaking key in-depth evidence-based reviews through the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees. 

 Overseeing quality assurance developments in Children’s Services and 
maintaining strategic oversight of children’s services through a Quality 
Improvement Board. 

 Operating a locally led performance management framework that links to the 
County Durham Vision 2035 and the Council Plan 2020 - 2023 and ensures 
that attention is focused on Council priorities.  

 Undertaking benchmarking exercises by comparing performance with that of 
other Councils using a recognised, online tool.  

 Seeking assurance on the quality of services from external, independent 
sources. 

 Providing update reports, on service delivery plans and on progress towards 
outcome achievement, to Corporate Management Team, Cabinet and Full 
Council. 

 
4.53 The Council endeavours to make the right decisions for the benefit of its 

stakeholders by: 
 

 Supporting the Council’s decision-making processes with a Risk 
Management Strategy and Policy.  

 Implementing arrangements to ensure that decisions are based on relevant, 
clear, objective analysis and advice; comply with legal requirements; and 
take account of the Council’s financial, social and environmental position and 
outlook. 

Page 422

http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2427/Quarterly-reports
http://www.durham.gov.uk/performance
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21626/Durham-2035-a-vision-for-County-Durham
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4
http://mgov:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=11507&Ver=4


 

 

 Including in the Council’s stated principles for decision making the giving of 
reasons for decisions and supporting them with references to legal or other 
professional advice and stating the potential implications in terms of finance, 
staffing, risk, human rights and several other factors. 

 Maintaining an overview and scrutiny function through which members 
robustly scrutinise, challenge and debate proposed policies and objectives to 
make decision-making processes transparent, accountable and inclusive.  

 Enabling members to bring matters of local concern to the attention of the 
Council through the scrutiny process using Councillor Call for Action 
procedure. 

 
4.54 The Council seeks to ensure consistency between specification stages and 

post implementation reporting by: 
 

 Developing profiled budgets in the main accounting system in line with the 
Medium Term Financial Plan to ensure consistency between specification 
stages and post implementation reporting. 

 Issuing Budgetary Control Statements to senior management, Cabinet and 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees, comparing actual with planned 
expenditure and showing forecasted overspends with reasons for variance. 

 Maintaining and applying Financial Procedure Rules in the Constitution. 
 
F3 Robust internal control 

 
4.55 The Council seeks to align the risk management strategy and policies on 

internal control with achieving objectives, as well as evaluating and monitoring 
risk management and internal control on a regular basis. This is achieved by: 
 

 Developing, maintaining and delivering an Internal Audit Charter, Strategy 
2020/21 and Audit Plan. 

 Including in strategic risk management reports and internal audit reports the 
potential implications for achieving the Council’s objectives. 

 Reporting annually to Audit Committee, through the Chief Internal Auditor 
and Corporate Fraud Manager, on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Council’s internal control environment. 

 Undertaking a self-assessment against both the principles of the CIPFA 
Statement on the Role of Head of Internal Audit and the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), approved by Audit Committee. 

 Undertaking internal annual reviews of the effectiveness of internal audit and 
an external assessment once every five years as required by the PSIAS. 

 Undertaking a review of the effectiveness of the Council’s corporate 
governance arrangements in line with the Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government Framework. 

 Maintaining an Audit Committee, which is independent of the Executive and 
accountable to the Full Council, to; 
  
o provide a further source of effective assurance regarding arrangements 

for managing risk and maintaining an effective control environment; 

Page 423

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=12135&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=12135&Ver=4
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155


 

 

o advise both the Council and the Cabinet on audit and governance 
issues in order to provide independent and effective assurance about 
the adequacy of financial management and reporting, and the 
management of other processes required to achieve the organisation’s 
corporate and service objectives; 

o make recommendations, which are listened to and acted upon. 
 
4.56 The Council ensures that effective counter fraud and anti-corruption 

arrangements are in place by maintaining a dedicated Corporate Fraud Team 
to support its counter fraud arrangements through the Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Strategy, and working towards compliance with the Code of Practice 
on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption, 2014. 

 
F4 Managing data 

  
4.57 The Council ensures that effective arrangements are in place for the safe 

collection, storage, use and sharing of data, including decision making and 

processes to safeguard personal data. This is achieved by: 

 

 Managing data in accordance with the Data Protection Policy, Data Quality 

Policy, Records Management Policy and various data sharing protocols, with 

oversight by the Information Governance Group, to ensure that the 

arrangements in place are effective.  

 Designating the Corporate Director of Resources as the Senior Information 

Risk Officer to strengthen the Council’s arrangements for maintaining good-

quality information.  

 Holding regular meetings with the designated Data Protection Officer, Head 

of Digital and Customer Services and the Council’s designated Caldicott 

Guardian.  

 Providing an online Data Protection Act training module for employees. 

 Maintaining strong data protection arrangements regarding data sharing with 

other bodies through standardised subject access requests, a privacy impact 

assessment process, data sharing agreements and a data sharing register.  

 Undertaking a rolling programme of audits to check the quality and accuracy 

of data used in decision making and performance monitoring. 

 

F5 Strong public financial management 
 
4.58 The Council aims to ensure that financial management supports both long term 

achievement of outcomes and short-term financial and operational 
performance. This is combined with seeking to ensure that well-developed 
financial management is integrated at all levels of planning and control, 
including management of financial risks and controls. Investing resources in 
line with long-term outcomes and priorities as described in the Council Plan 
2020 - 2023, which contains a set of actions with proposed outcomes.   
 

Page 424

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2793/Counter-fraud-and-corruption-strategy
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2793/Counter-fraud-and-corruption-strategy
http://www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=12055&Ver=4


 

 

 Issuing special guidance on COVID-19 expenditure to budget managers and 
requisitioners to mitigate the huge potential financial impact of the pandemic 
response and escalating the frequency of monitoring and reporting. 

 Making the links with priorities and outcomes detailed in the Council's 
Budget Report.   

 Complying with CIPFA’s Code on a Prudential Framework for Local Authority 
Capital Finance, subject to external audit review. 

 Completing an independent assessment against CIPFA’s Financial 
Management Code by the Council’s Internal Audit Team and identifying any 
improvements that can be made. 

 Ensuring delivery of transformational change while maintaining service 
delivery through the Medium Term Financial Plan process. 

 Gaining independent assurance of value for money from the External 
Auditor. 

 
Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit 
to deliver effective accountability 
 

Why this is important 
 
4.59 Accountability is about ensuring that those making decisions and delivering 

services are answerable for them. Effective accountability is concerned not only 
with reporting on actions completed, but also ensuring that stakeholders are 
able to understand and respond as the Council plans and carries out its 
activities in a transparent manner. Both external and internal audit contribute to 
effective accountability.  

 
How we meet this principle 

 
4.60 Key governance documents supporting Principle G include:  

 
Annual Governance Statement; Annual Statement of Accounts; Local Code of 
Corporate Governance; Local Government Transparency Code 2015; 
Partnership Governance Framework; Transparency and Accountability 
webpage. 

 
G1 Implementing good practice in transparency 

 
4.61 Writing and communicating reports for the public and other stakeholders in a 

fair, balanced and understandable style appropriate to the intended audience 
and ensuring that they are easy to access and interrogate. 
 

4.62 The Council aims to strike a proper balance between providing the right amount 
of information in a manner that is transparent and enhances public scrutiny 
while not being too onerous to provide and which readers can interpret. This is 
achieved by: 

 

Page 425

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11953&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=12137&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=12137&Ver=4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2334/Partnerships
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/5244/Transparency-and-accountability
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/5244/Transparency-and-accountability


 

 

 Maintaining a website that is designed to make it easy for users to find 
information and includes a Transparency and Accountability webpage to 
comply with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015.  

 Publishing information on the website about services provided, land and 
assets owned by the Council, organisational structures and salaries, counter 
fraud, how money is spent and how services are bought. 

 
G2 Implementing good practices in reporting 

 
4.63 The Council is committed to reporting to stakeholders at least annually on 

performance, value for money and stewardship of resources in a timely and 
understandable way, while ensuring members and senior management own the 
results reported. This is achieved by:  
 

 Developing the Annual Statement of Accounts incorporating the Annual 
Governance Statement. 

 Publishing the Annual Statement of Accounts on the website, following 
approval by Audit Committee, taking account of the views of the External 
Auditor, in line with the Accounts and Audit Regulations. 

 Publishing the Audit Completion Report and Certification of Claims and 
Returns Annual Report, which provides assurance on the Council’s system 
of financial management. 

 Including with published information, the minutes of meetings approving 
reports to ensure that members and senior management own the results 
reported. 

 
4.64 The Council seeks to ensure that robust arrangements are maintained for 

assessing and reporting on the effectiveness of its own governance 
arrangements, as well as those of related organisations. This is achieved by: 
 

 Developing and maintaining a Local Code of Corporate Governance, 
approved by Audit Committee, setting out how the Council will meet the 
principles of good governance. 

 Assessing the Council’s corporate governance arrangements against its 
Local Code of Corporate Governance, led by the Corporate Director of 
Resources in consultation with the directors and heads of service. 

 Ensuring, through the Partnership Governance Framework, that the 
corporate governance arrangements of partners and jointly managed or 
shared service organisations are consistent with the Council’s Local Code of 
Corporate Governance. 

 Reporting the outcome of the corporate governance review, including 
planned actions for improvement, in the Annual Governance Statement, 
approved by the Corporate Management Team and the Audit Committee, 
and signed by the Leader of the Council and Chief Executive. 

 
4.65 The Council seeks to ensure that it produces financial statements on a 

consistent and timely basis, in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards, 
in a way that enables comparison with other, similar organisations. 

 

Page 426

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/5244/Transparency-and-accountability
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=12137&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=12137&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=12137&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=12137&Ver=4
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=12137&Ver=4
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2334/Partnerships
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=12137&Ver=4
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155


 

 

G3 Assurance and effective accountability 
 
4.66 The Council seeks to provide continuous assurance with regard to its 

arrangements for governance and internal control by: 
 

 Operating an Internal Audit service, with direct access to members, as a key 
part of the Council’s corporate governance arrangements with the primary 
aim of supporting the Council to achieve its objectives by helping services to 
identify, assess, and manage risks, which may prevent or hinder objectives 
being achieved effectively. 

 Ensuring that agreed recommendations made by Internal Audit and External 
Audit are acted upon by tracking and reporting their progress to Audit 
Committee. 

 Complying with CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit 
(2019).  

 Applying the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards within all of procedures 
of the Internal Audit Service.  

 
4.67 The Council welcomes peer challenge, reviews and inspections from regulatory 

bodies and seeks to ensure that recommendations are implemented. 
 
4.68 The Council seeks to gain assurance on risks associated with delivering 

services through third parties by: 
 

 Managing relationships with partners through the Partnership Governance 
Framework, which seeks to ensure that: 
o members are clear about their roles and responsibilities; 
o there is clarity about the legal status of the partnership; 
o representatives both understand and make clear to all other partners 

the extent of their authority to bind their organisation to partner 
decisions. 

 
  

Page 427

http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2334/Partnerships
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2334/Partnerships


 

 

5 Monitoring and Review 
 
5.1. The Audit Committee and the Standards Committee are responsible for 

monitoring and reviewing the various aspects of the Council’s corporate 
governance arrangements. 
 

5.2. The Audit Committee is responsible for the Council’s arrangements relating to: 
 

 Monitoring and reviewing the risk, control and governance processes, and 
associated assurance processes to ensure internal control systems are 
effective and that policies and practices are in compliance with statutory and 
other regulations and guidance; 

 Approving the Council’s Accounts prior to approval by the County Council; 

 Reviewing a draft of this Code of Corporate Governance and recommending 
any amendments required before it is considered for approval by the Full 
Council; 

 External audit and internal audit; 

 Risk Management; 

 Making recommendations concerning relevant governance aspects of the 
Constitution; 

 Reviewing the effectiveness of Internal Audit. 
 
5.3. Each year the Council is required to publish a Governance Statement. This 

process is managed by the Resources Management Team and overseen by 
the Audit Committee who is responsible for approving it.  The Annual 
Governance Statement provides an overall assessment of the Council’s 
corporate governance arrangements and an appraisal of the key controls in 
place to manage the Council’s principal governance risks, together with 
proposed improvements that will be made.  This governance review process 
helps inform any amendments required to this Code of Corporate Governance. 
 

5.4. The Annual Governance Statement will be published as part of the Council’s 
Annual Statement of Accounts and will be reviewed by our External Auditors as 
part of their annual audit process. 

 
5.5. The Standards Committee is responsible for promoting high ethical standards 

across the Council, overview of the Member and Officer Codes and other 
relevant protocols. 

 
5.6. These two Committees will ensure that the Council’s governance arrangements 

are kept under continual review through; 
  

 Reports prepared by officers with responsibility for aspects of this Code; 

 The work of Internal Audit; 

 External Audit opinion; 

 Other review agencies and Inspectorates; 

 Opinion from the Council’s Statutory Officers. 
 

Page 428

http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
http://www.durham.gov.uk/ethicalstandards
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=155
http://www.durham.gov.uk/ethicalstandards


 

 

5.7. The Council also has a Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
and five Overview and Scrutiny Committees who support the work of the 
Executive and the Council as a whole. They allow a greater involvement in 
Council business by involving non-councillors from the wider public sector, and 
voluntary and community groups to help them in their work, and also work with 
Partners, including the County Durham Partnership. They may also be consulted 
by the Executive or the Council on forthcoming decisions or the development of 
policy.  The terms of reference of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board and its Committees are described in the Constitution. 

 
5.8. Within their terms of reference, the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board and Overview and Scrutiny Committees will: 
 

 review and/or scrutinise decisions made, or actions taken in connection with 
the discharge of any of the Council’s functions; 

 make reports and/or recommendations to the full Council and/or the Cabinet 
in connection with the discharge of any functions; consider any matter 
affecting the area or its inhabitants;  

 exercise the right to call-in, for reconsideration, decisions made but not yet 
implemented by the Executive in accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules; 

 work to ensure that communities are engaged in the scrutiny process; and 
consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community 
participation in the development of policy options; and 

 promote equality and diversity across all of its work and the work of the 
County Council. 

 

Page 429

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1156


 

 

 

Page 430



 

             

  County Council  

26 January 2022 

Members Allowances Scheme 2022-23 

 
 

Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel 

Corporate Management Team 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources 

 

Electoral division affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To advise Council of the outcome of the review of the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme by the Independent Remuneration Panel, and to 
ask Council to agree a scheme of allowances for 2022/23, taking into 
account the views of the Panel. 

Executive summary 

2 The Council is required to have a scheme which makes provision for the 
payment of allowances and expenses to elected members, and Council 
is requested to consider the scheme attached for 2022/23.  
 

3 When considering any changes to the scheme, Council must have 
regard to any recommendations of the Independent Remuneration 
Panel.  
 

4 The Panel met in November 2021, and by a majority decision agreed to 
recommend to Council a 2% increase on Basic Allowances for the 
Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2022/23. 
 

Recommendation 

5 Council is asked to consider the recommendations of the Independent 

Remuneration Panel for the Members Allowances Scheme 2022/23 and 

determine  

(i)  whether the allowances scheme should be amended; and 

 

Page 431

Agenda Item 11



(ii)    that in line with paragraph 18 of the report, the Annex be updated 
to remove reference to the specific amounts paid to individual 
group leaders. 

 

  

Page 432



Background 

6 All local authorities are required to have a scheme which makes 
provision for the payment of a range of allowances and expenses to 
elected members. A copy of the Council’s existing scheme is attached 
at Appendix 2 to the report.  
 

7 Each local authority must appoint an Independent Remuneration Panel 
(IRP) to make representations on allowances, including the amounts 
payable. When approving any changes to its scheme, the Council must 
have regard to the IRPs recommendations, although it does not have to 
agree with those recommendations.  

 
8 The last changes made to the Member Allowance Scheme were for the 

year 2014/15. At that time, the IRP recommended a 1% increase to the 
basic allowance and changes to the milage rate payable to Members. 
Council considered that recommendation and decided not to introduce 
an increase in the basic allowances. However, when Council set its 
budget for 2014/15 it agreed to reduce the Members Mileage Allowance 
to 0.45p per mile in line with HMRC rate.  
 

9 The change to the milage rate payable to Members is the only change 
to the scheme that has been agreed by Council since 2009, despite the 
IRP making recommendations to increase the Basic Allowance on three 
separate occasions across the last 13 years. 
 

10 In reviewing the scheme for 2021/22, the IRP met in November 2020 
and took into consideration all of the information provided. The IRP 
agreed to recommend an increase to the Basic Allowance for 2021/22 
of 0.7%, in line with the CPI rate at that time. Comments from the IRP 
included:- 
 

 If any recommendation was made by the IRP based on inflation, 
then this should only be on an annual rolling inflation basis since the 
last review and not an attempt to address backdated inflation of 35% 
which the Member feedback had referred to;   

 

 There had been very little Member feedback to consultation with the 
majority considering there should be no increase in Basic Allowance 
for 2021/22.  The current COVID-19 situation had resulted in added 
budgetary pressures for the Council and had also led to job losses in 
the economy;   

 

 The majority of feedback received from Members showed there to 
be no appetite for an increase, previously recommended increases 
by the IRP had been rejected and it was not currently a good climate 

Page 433



for an increase, however a recommended increase of 0.7% in line 
with CPI may be easier to accept; 
 

 An increase the Basic Allowance in line with CPI to recognise 
inflationary increases would avoid a continuing deficit; 
 

 The IRP considered that inclusion of Community Associations and 
Village Hall meetings could result in an increased cost to the 
Members Allowances Scheme, given the potential number of 
Community Associations and Village Hall meetings.  This was not 
considered appropriate given that Members did not serve as council 
appointed representatives; 
 

 The IRP agreed that to capture all Village Hall and Community 
Associations would be an onerous task at a time when all staff were 
particularly busy and had the possibility of not capturing all 
Associations which may exist within the County.  The IRP agreed 
there was no justification for their inclusion in Appendix D of the 
Members’ Allowances Scheme; and 
 

 With reference to the feedback that there should be a Special 
Responsibility Allowance for Cabinet Support Members the IRP 
maintained their views which had been expressed at their meeting 
on 3 December 2019 and agreed that this role should not attract a 
Special Responsibility Allowance. 

 
11 Council considered the IRPs recommendations at its meeting on 20 

January 2021 and agreed that no changes would be made for the 
forthcoming year.  Council asked that the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services write to the Secretary of State to request that the 
arrangements for agreeing Members Allowances are reviewed with a 
suggestion that the models adopted in Wales or Scotland could be 
considered for England.  A copy of the letter and response 
subsequently is attached at Appendix 3 to the report. The response 
confirmed that there are currently no plans to change the arrangements 
for setting Members Allowance Schemes in England. The response also 
stated that while the recommendations do not have to be followed in 
every detail, they should be followed unless there is a good reason not 
to in a particular case. 
 

12 In a separate report to the Council meeting in January 2021 the Council 
agreed to adopt a parental leave policy for members. This was 
subsequently included as part of the Members Allowance Scheme. 
 

 
 

Page 434



Independent Remuneration Panel Deliberations on 2022/23 Scheme 

13 On 10 November 2021 the Panel met to consider the review of the 
allowances scheme for 2022/23. The Members of the Panel are Joyce 
Drummond-Hill, Alan Fletcher, Steve Lowthian, Ray Morris, and Ian 
Youll.  
 

14 The Panel were advised that there have been no changes to the 
Council’s Committee Structures during this municipal year. In 
preparation for the review of the scheme by the Independent 
Remuneration Panel, elected Members were asked to express views or 
make submissions to be considered by the Panel, and the following 
responses were considered:-  
 

(i) One member submitted a response in support of an increase in 
the allowance as the workload of a councillor was considered to 
be phenomenal. The member argued that an increase to the 
basic allowance would mean they could reduce their overtime 
hours at their primary work, and put more focus on their work as a 
Councillor.  

 
(ii) Another member argued that on the recommendation of the 

leadership, Council has not implemented recommended 
increases in the past, and they stated that they hoped that this 
would not deter the IRP from its important work. It was requested 
that the Council leadership allow members a free vote on the 
issue. The member stated that as consequence of a lack of a free 
vote, there has been no increase in the basic allowance since 
2009 and that the Council scheme had slipped down the regional 
league table in term of pounds per elector. The allowance which 
was substantial in 2009 had now eroded massively due to 
inflation. 

 
(iii) While all parties were able to find candidates in recent elections, 

one member argued that the candidates increasingly come from a 
fairly narrow band of early retired people as those of working age 
could not afford to give up the hours necessary to undertake a 
councillor role. The Member considered that if the Council wanted 
diversity in representation then the allowance must be sufficient to 
enable this. 

 
(iv) A Member highlighted that staff have annual pay awards so 

Councillors should also. 
 

(v) A Member asked that the Council reconsider the position of a 
Councillor only being able to claim one special responsibility 
allowance (SRA) if they are undertaking more than one role that 

Page 435



warrants a SRA. They would receive the rate which attracted the 
highest amount.  Examples being a member may be Chair of a 
Committee and Vice Chair of another committee however they 
are only able to claim the highest rate of the two when they are 
undertaking both roles; and Cabinet members who are also group 
leaders can only claim the highest rate which is the cabinet 
member role however they are still undertaking the duties of a 
group leader. [To note this would increase the total of SRA 
allowances that are paid].  

 
15 In the past, the Panel found it helpful to be aware of the current rates of 

basic allowances that are paid by councils in the region to their 
members, and also whether other Councils are considering making any 
changes to their allowance scheme. Officers therefore obtained the 
benchmark information which is attached to the report at Appendix 4. 
Attached also for information are tables in Appendix 5 to show 
comparisons with other Unitary Authorities which have similar 
population size. These were also shared with the Panel. 
 

16 Attached also for information is a table in Appendix 6 to show the cost 
of Durham’s scheme of allowances including expenses for the financial 
years from 2019 to date.  
 

17 The IRP were aware that the Members Allowance Scheme attached at 
Appendix 2 includes the rates of SRA’s agreed by Council in January 
2021 (Appendix A), prior to the local elections in May 2021.  
 

18 Following a change in the Council’s administration and groups, those 
specific amounts listed for each group leader are out of date. The 
section which provides an explanation of how group leaders allowances 
are calculated i.e. ‘Where an Opposition Group has 20% or more of the 
Council Members allowance is £6,650, where Group has less than 20% 
membership allowance is £3,325 remains correct, however the amounts 
shown for each group leader have not been updated since the election 
and do not reflect the amount paid. It is proposed that rather than 
bringing this list up to date now, and amending the Constitution when 
there are any changes in groups and their membership in the future, 
that the reference to specific amounts paid to individual group leaders 
be removed from the Annex.  

 
19 The Panel took into consideration all of the information provided, and by 

a majority decision agreed to recommend to Council a 2% increase on 
Basic Allowances for the Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2022/23. 
Comments from the Panel included:- 
 

 The recommendation of the Panel last year of an increase of 0.7% 
was directly related to the CPI.  Between September 2020 and 

Page 436



September 2021 CPI had increased by 2.9% and was potentially 
going to increase further, and a recent announcement by the 
Chancellor at the spending review showed an expectation of 
inflation to average around 4% next year. A 2% increase to the 
Basic Allowance, which was less than the CPI and RPI inflation 
rates, was therefore considered appropriate. 

 

 There was concern that the IRP had on a number of occasions 
recommended increases in the past, but these had been refused by 
the members at the County Council meeting, and that this had 
resulted in the Scheme moving further down the percentile scale 
and the Panel did not easily see a way of rectifying this in the future. 

 

 The benchmarking information provided showed that, particularly for 
Councils of a similar size or population, per population the costs of 
Durham’s Members’ Allowances Scheme was similar to other 
authorities per head of population.  There was no evidence 
presented that demonstrated Durham as being out of kilter with 
other authorities.   

 

 One of the Member representations suggested that the current level 
of allowance only attracted a certain kind of councillor (older and 
retired with more time on their hands). However, at the recent local 
elections there were approximately between 450 and 500 
candidates that stood.  This suggests that the level of allowances 
was not acting as a deterrent to people standing for election.  
Although no exercise had been undertaken to ascertain how many 
of the 126 councillors were working, the Council now had a 
significantly larger proportion of councillors who are younger and 
were working than in previous years.   

 

 The IRP noted that there had been very limited Member feedback to 
the consultation. 

Next Steps 

20 Council is asked to consider and agree an allowances scheme for 
2022/23 taking into account the views of the Independent Remuneration 
Panel.  The current scheme of allowances is appended to the report at 
Appendix 2. If the Council was to agree with the recommendations of 
the Panel, then the allowance scheme document as attached would be 
updated accordingly prior to its publication. 

 
Background papers 

The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 

Contact: Paul Darby Tel:  03000 261943  

Page 437



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) Regulations (England) 

Regulations 2003 (as amended) require the Council to review members 

allowances at least once every four years for the purpose of agreeing how it 

will index link its scheme of allowances. Before any amendments to the 

Scheme are made, the County Council must have regard to the 

recommendations made by the IRP and determine whether and how these are 

implemented.  

Finance 

There are 126 members and a basic allowance of £13,300 is paid to each. 

There are also special responsibility allowances for members taking on 

additional responsibility for example, cabinet or chairing roles and these are 

set out in the scheme. The total budget for members allowances, including 

special responsibility allowances in 2021/22 is £2,040,571. A 2% increase in 

basic allowances would increase the basic allowance to £13,566 and incur 

additional costs of circa £33,516 in 2022/23. 

Consultation 

Members were invited to submit representations for consideration by the IRP. 

Constitution Working Group met on 6 December 2021 and agreed that the 

report proceed to Council. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None specific within this report. 

Climate Change 

None specific within this report. 

Human Rights 

None specific within this report. 

Crime and Disorder 

None specific within this report. 

Staffing 

None specific within this report. 

Accommodation 

None specific within this report. 

Page 438



Risk 

None specific within this report. 

Procurement 

None specific within this report. 

Page 439



Appendix 2:  Members Allowance Scheme 

 

 

 

 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

 

 

 

 

MEMBERS’ HANDBOOK 
 

AND 
 

ALLOWANCES GUIDE 
 

Allowances as at 1 April 2021 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Page 440



 

Preface 
 
 
 
 

This booklet is intended to provide Councillors with a 
detailed guide to the rules governing the payment of 
allowances together with details of the amounts payable 
and the procedures to be followed in making claims, etc. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 441



CONTENTS 
 
1.    Allowances Payable 
 
2.   Definition of Approved Duties 
 
3.   Claim Forms 
 
4.   Members Appointed to Other Bodies 
 
5.   Income Tax 
 
6.  Pensions 
 
7.   Insurance 
 
8.   Social Security 
 
9.   Sick Pay 
 
10.  Members' Surgeries 
 
11. Members Parental leave 

 
APPENDICES 

 
A  Distribution of Special Responsibility Allowance 
 
B  Ground rules for Travel and Subsistence 
 
C  Travelling Allowances 
 Subsistence Allowances for Approved Duties 
 Travel Outside the United Kingdom 
 
D  Schedule of Outside Organisations, attendance at which qualifies for Travel and   

Subsistence Allowances 
 
E  Schedule of Outside Organisations which pay Travelling and Subsistence  
   Allowances to Members 
 
F  Schedule of Outside Organisations which pay Attendance Allowance to  
  Members 
 
G  Association of North East Councils Members' Allowances Scheme 
 
H  North East Regional Employers’ Organisation Scheme 
 
I  LGA Members’ Allowances Scheme 

J  List of ABI approved insurance companies 

K    Members Parental Leave Policy 

Page 442



1.      ALLOWANCES PAYABLE 
 
1.1   The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003  

require that an authority shall make a scheme in respect of the succeeding 
financial year on or before 31st March each year.  The scheme may be 
amended at any time but may only be revoked with effect from the beginning 
of a year. 

 
1.2   Under these regulations Councils are required to establish and maintain an  

independent remuneration panel to provide the local authority with advice on 
its scheme and the amounts to be paid.  Local authorities must have regard to 
this advice. 

 
1.3   The prescribed components of the County Council Scheme are as follows: 
 

(a)  Basic Allowance 
 

(i) Payable to each Member of the authority who is a County 
Councillor.  Where the term of office of a Councillor begins or 
ends otherwise than at the beginning or end of a financial year 
the amount of basic allowance due is calculated as follows: 

 
                       Number of days in office 
                      Number of days in year 

X annual basic allowance 

 
(ii) Basic Allowance is intended to recognise the time commitment 

of all Councillors, including such inevitable calls on their time as 
meeting with officers and constituents and attendance at political 
group meetings.  It is also intended to cover incidental costs 
such as the use of their homes.  The allowance is also intended 
to cover the cost of meals and other incidental expenses 
incurred within the region. 

 
(iii) The amount of allowance per Member as at 1st April 2019 is 

£13,300 per annum and is to be paid at £1108.33 per month. 
 

(b)  Special Responsibility Allowance 
 

(i) Payable to Members of the Council specified in the Scheme who 
have special responsibilities.  Where a Councillor takes up or 
relinquishes any special responsibility otherwise than at the 
beginning or end of the financial year the amount of special 
responsibility allowance payable is calculated as follows: 

 
                           Number of days performing               

                            special responsibility 
                          Number of days in year 

 
X 

annual 
special responsibility 

allowance 
 

(ii) No Member can receive more than one Special Responsibility 
Allowance. 

 
(iii) The amounts currently payable are shown in Appendix A. 

Page 443



 
 (c)       Dependant Carers’ Allowance 
 

(i) A dependant carers’ allowance is payable at a rate not 
exceeding £8.36 an hour to those Councillors who incur 
expenditure for the care of dependent relatives or children 
whilst undertaking approved duties.  “Approved duties” are 
specified in the Regulations and are as follows: 

 
a. A meeting of the Executive; 

 
b. A meeting of a committee of the Executive; 

 
c. A meeting of the Authority; 

 
d. A meeting of a committee or sub-committee of the authority; 

 
e. A meeting of some other body to which the authority makes 

appointments or nominations; or 
 

f. A meeting of a committee or sub-committee of a body to 
which the authority makes appointments or nominations; 

 
g. A meeting which has both been authorised by the authority, 

a committee, or sub-committee of the authority or a joint 
committee of the authority and one or more other 
authorities, or a sub-committee of a joint committee; 

 
h. A meeting which has both been authorised by the authority, 

a committee, or sub-committee of the authority or a joint 
committee of the authority and one or more other 
authorities, or a sub-committee of a joint committee; and 

 
i. to which representatives of more than one political group 

have been invited (if the authority is divided into several 
political groups) or to which two or more councillors have 
been invited (if the authority is not divided into political 
groups); 

 
j. A meeting of a local authority association of which the 

authority is a member; 
 

k. Duties undertaken on behalf of the authority in connection 
with the discharge of any function of the authority conferred 
by or under any enactment and empowering or requiring the 
authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises; 

 
l. Duties undertaken on behalf of the authority in connection 

with arrangements made by the authority for the attendance 
of pupils at a school approved for the purposes of section 
342 of the Education Act 1996. 

 

Page 444



(ii) Payment is claimable in respect of children aged 16 or under 
and in respect of other dependants where there is medical or 
social work evidence that care is required.  Evidence would 
take the form of a letter from a doctor or social worker stating 
the maximum time that the dependant could be left without 
care. 
 

(iii) The allowance is paid against actual expenditure evidenced by 
receipts. The allowance is not payable to a member of the 
claimant’s household. The maximum rate payable will be 
increased each April in line with the national minimum wage. 
(The hourly rate is paid in line with national minimum wage at 
age 21).  

 
1.4  The amounts specified in paragraph 1.3(a) and Appendix A of this document 

are subject to an annual review by the Independent Remuneration Panel. 
 
Foregoing Allowances 
 
1.5 A member may, by notice in writing given to the Corporate Director of 

Resources, elect to forego any part of their entitlement to an allowance under 
this scheme. 

 
Co-opted Members 
 
1.6 Co-opted Members (including Parent Governor Representatives) are entitled 

to claim travelling allowance at the rates given in Appendix C.  This allowance 
is taxable.  A claim form should be completed and forwarded to the 
Committee Services contact as soon as practicable after the duty has been 
performed. 

 
 

2.   DEFINITION OF APPROVED DUTIES 
 
Travelling and Subsistence Allowances 
 
2.1  Payable in respect of expenditure incurred in the performance of approved 

duties. Subsistence allowance is not payable for duties performed within the 
boundaries of the counties of Durham (including Darlington) and 
Northumberland, and the former administrative counties of Tyne & Wear and 
Cleveland. 

 
2.2  The definition of an approved duty is as follows: 
 
 (a) A meeting of the County Council or of the Cabinet or of any 

committee, or sub-committee of the County Council, or of any body 
to which the County Council makes appointments or nominations, 
or of any committee or sub-committee of such a body. 

 
A list of bodies covered by this paragraph is given in Appendix D.  

 
A number of such bodies operate their own schemes of allowances.  A 
list of these is given at Appendix F. 

Page 445



 
  (b) Any other meeting the holding of which is authorised by the County 

Council, a committee or sub-committee of the County Council, or a 
joint committee of the County Council and one or more other 
authorities, or a sub-committee of such a joint committee, provided 
that it is a meeting to which Members of at least two political groups 
have been invited. 

 
(c) A meeting of any association of authorities of which the County 

Council is a member. 
 

(d) The performance of any duty in connection with arrangements 
made by the County Council for the attendance of pupils at any 
school approved for the purposes of Section 342 (approval of non-
maintained special schools) of the Education Act 1996. 

 
 (e)  Any other duty approved by the County Council in connection with 

the discharge of the functions of the Council or of any of its 
committees or sub-committees including the making of official and 
courtesy visits on behalf of the authority.  Tasks so approved are 
shown below: 

 
(i) Attendance by County Councillors at County Hall to read 

official papers and deal with correspondence. 
 

(ii) Attendance by chair and vice-chair of committees and 
sub-committees at pre-meeting discussions with officers. 

 
(iii) Attendance at a meeting to which the Member is invited 

whether as chair, vice-chair or otherwise, by or on behalf 
of the Chief Executive, the Director of Resources or 
another chief officer to discuss matters or consider issues 
relating to the functions of the County Council, including 
meetings with third parties such as government 
departments, statutory bodies, other local authorities, 
trade unions and the public. 
 

(iv) Attendance at press conferences to which the Member is 
invited by the Corporate Director, Resources in 
consultation with the appropriate chair or vice-chair. 
 

(v) Attendance by a Member at the request of the Local 
Government Ombudsman, for interview by an officer of the 
Ombudsman in relation to a complaint against the County 
Council. 
 

(vi) Attendance at a meeting with the appropriate officer(s) of 
any of the bodies listed in Appendix D to which the 
Member is invited by the body, or attendance at a meeting 
with third parties when representing the body by virtue of 
their position as chair or vice-chair of the body or one of its 
committees or sub-committees, the purpose of their 

Page 446



attendance being to discuss matters arising for the 
purpose of or in connection with the functions of the body. 
 

(vii) Attendances at conferences or meetings held inside or 
outside the United Kingdom and convened by any person or 
body (other than a person or body convening it in the course 
of a trade or business or a body the objects of which are 
wholly or partly political) for the purpose of discussing 
matters which in their opinion relate to the interests of their 
area or any part of it or the interests of the inhabitants of their 
area or any part of it. 

 
 (viii) Official openings of County Council establishments, 

Developments and Exhibitions at the invitation of the 
appropriate Chief Officer in consultation with the Leader or 
Deputy Leader of the County Council.  This is intended to 
cover situations where Members are required to perform  a 
duty such as  perform an opening ceremony, make a 
speech, give prizes etc.  Courtesy invitations issued to 
several or all Members are functions which do not qualify for 
payment.  Members are advised to seek guidance from 
appropriate Chief Officers.  

 
2.3   Invitations from groups or bodies to attend meetings as a Local Member are 

not approved duties for the payment of travelling and subsistence allowances.  
These duties are constituency matters not connected with the discharge of the 
functions of the County Council. 

 
2.4   Details of the travelling and subsistence allowances currently payable are 

shown in Appendix C. 
 
Travelling to conferences, seminars, etc. 
 
2.5   Members who in their capacity as a County Councillor receive an invitation 

directly to a conference, seminar etc. should, if they wish to attend, contact 
Member Development on 03000 265 346 who will consult with the appropriate 
designated Member.  

 
Payment of expenses of official and courtesy visits, etc. 
 
2.6  Subject to paragraph 2.7 the County Council will pay the cost of any travelling 

or other expenses reasonably incurred by or on behalf of any members in 
making official and courtesy visits, whether inside or outside the United 
Kingdom, on behalf of the County Council. 

 
2.7  In the case of a visit within the United Kingdom, the amount paid under this 

section in respect of the expenses of any member of the County Council shall 
not exceed the payments which they would have been entitled to receive by 
way of travelling allowance or subsistence allowance if the making of the visit 
had been an approved duty of that member. 

 
  

Page 447



Ground rules for travel 
 
2.8 Ground rules for Members' Claims for Travel and Subsistence are set out in 

Appendix B. 
 
Meals on Trains 
 
2.9  Members may claim full reimbursement of the reasonable cost (including 

VAT) of a main meal (full breakfast, lunch or dinner) taken on a train.  
Members wishing to claim must submit receipts.  Where full reimbursement is 
claimed the allowance for the meal provided cannot also be claimed, 
i.e. breakfast, lunch, dinner, etc. 

 
Travel outside the United Kingdom 
 
2.10 Members may claim for reimbursement of reasonable expenses incurred.  

Receipts for all expenses must be submitted with any claim, as set out in 
Appendix B. 

  
Out of Pocket Expenses 
 
2.11 Where the attendance fee for a course or conference includes 

accommodation and meals, an out-of-pocket expense allowance is payable in 
place of the normal subsistence allowances. 

 
2.12 The current rates are set out in Appendix C. 
 
Special Functions and Occasions 
 
2.13 Elected Members on occasions are invited or feel it necessary to attend 

functions or occasions which have a social element.  No allowances are paid 
to Members of the Council on these occasions unless the Member is 
undertaking the performance of a specific duty, e.g. making a speech or 
distributing prizes when travel and subsistence allowances may be paid.  
Courtesy invitations issued to several or all Members are functions which do 
not qualify for payments. 

 
3.   CLAIM FORMS 
 
Completion 
 
3.1  The attention of Members is drawn to the following points when completing a 

claim form: 
  
           (a) The claim form must be completed and signed in ink. 

 
   (b) Full details/description of an approved duty must be given  

 
(i) if the reason for claiming travelling or subsistence allowances is   

a qualifying meeting, the full title of the meeting should be given; 
 

Page 448



(ii) for conferences, seminars, etc., full details must be given, 

including names of any officers involved, conference title and 

location, etc; 

(iii)  VAT receipts for purchase of petrol should be attached to all 
claims  

 
Submission 
 
3.2 Payment of allowances is made monthly. All deadlines and payment dates are 

published in advance and are available to view on the Councillors page of the 
Intranet. 

 
3.3 All travel and subsistence claims are paid along with any allowances direct 

into a bank/building society of your choice.  There is no facility for cheque 
payment in relation to Allowances or claims. 

 
3.4 The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 

prescribe that claims must be submitted within two months of the date of the 
meeting for which the claim is made. 

  
Advances 
 
3.5 In exceptional cases, payment of an advance can be arranged via the 

Business Support Team on 03000 263 751 
 
Avoidance of Duplication of Allowances 
 
3.6 A councillor performing approved duties as a member of more than one body 

or becoming entitled to payments under any other legislation must ensure that 
only one claim is made for that duty. 

 
Withholding Allowances 
 
3.7   Where payment of any allowance has already been made in respect of any 

period during which the member concerned:- 
 
 (a) ceases to be a member of the County Council, or 
 

(b)  is in any other way not entitled to receive the allowance in respect of 
that period, the County Council requires that such part of the allowance 
as relates to any such period be repaid to the County Council. 

 
4.  MEMBERS APPOINTED TO OTHER BODIES 
 
 Special arrangements apply to Members who are appointed to certain bodies, 

such as the Local Government Association, the North East Regional 
Employers’ Organisation and the Association of North East Councils, which 
operate their own allowances schemes.  Notes are attached in Appendices G 
to I which deal with the individual schemes.  Attendance allowances payable 
under these schemes are in addition to the basic allowance from the County 
Council. 

 

Page 449



5.   INCOME TAX 
 
 Tax is payable on basic allowances, special responsibility allowance, 

attendance allowance payable by other bodies, dependant’s carers’ allowance 
and co-optees’ allowance. Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs (HMRC) is 
notified of all new Members.  However, as Members’ circumstances vary, and 
their tax may be dealt with at other HMRC offices, it is advisable for Members 
to make arrangements with their Tax Inspector for a tax code number to be 
allocated. 

 
6.   PENSIONS 
 
 With effect from the local elections in May 2017, no councillors have access to 

the Local Government Pension Scheme. 
 

7.   INSURANCE 
 
 The County Council has arranged travel insurance for its Members while 

travelling abroad on County Council business.  Cover is provided for medical 
expenses, baggage, cash and personal public liability:  details are available 
from the Insurance Officer on (03000) 269 666. 

 
8.   SOCIAL SECURITY 
 
National Insurance Contributions 
 
8.1 National Insurance contributions are payable on all basic allowances, special 

responsibility allowances, attendance allowances payable by other bodies, 
plus elements of mileage allowances, provided the aggregate amount of these 
allowances reaches a lower earnings limit (£120 per week or £520 per month) 
and the Member is under state pension age.  Members who are state pension 
age – are not liable to pay National Insurance contributions provided 
confirmation is provided of their age in the form of a birth certificate or 
passport (originals only) which should be sighted by the Business Support 
Officer. Alternatively a certificate of non-liability could be supplied by the local 
office of the Department of Work and Pensions. 

 
8.2 There is an annual maximum contribution liability for people with more  

than one job and, in some instances, Members in this position may be entitled 
to a refund of contributions; alternatively they may apply to the DWP to defer 
payment of contributions in their capacity as councillors. 

 
Benefits 
 
8.3 The National Insurance contributions paid by Members count towards the full 

range of contributory benefits, including statutory sick pay, state pensions, 
unemployment benefits, etc. 

 
Advice 
 
8.4  Advice on contributions and benefits can be obtained from the local office 

of the Department of Work and Pensions. 
 

Page 450



 
9.   SICK PAY 
 
 Members who fall ill will receive their basic allowance and special  

responsibility allowance, as normal.  As there is no deduction for being off 
sick, Statutory Sick Pay is not payable in addition to these allowances and it is 
not necessary to submit a self-certification of sickness form or a doctor’s sick 
note when you are ill. 

 
 
10.    MEMBERS' SURGERIES 
 
10.1 The County Council will pay the cost for one surgery per month.  Invoices for 

room hire can be sent to Durham County Council for payment or alternatively 
can be reclaimed from Resources, Business Support on production of a 
receipt. 

 
10.2 Please note that attendances at surgeries DO NOT qualify for travelling and 

subsistence, and other expenses such as advertising costs must be borne by 
the Members who incur them. 

 

11 MEMBERS PARENTAL LEAVE   
 
11.1   On 20 January 2021 the Council approved a Members Parental Leave 

Policy which is shown at Appendix K. The objective of the policy is to 
ensure that insofar as possible Members are able to take appropriate 
leave at the time of birth or adoption; that both parents are able to take 
appropriate parental leave; and that reasonable and adequate 
arrangements are in place to provide cover for portfolio-holders and 
others in receipt of Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) during any 
period of leave taken. 

 
  

Page 451



APPENDIX A 
MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES 

 
SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCE 

 
  

Designation Amount (£) 
 

Chair of the County Council 
 

6650 

Vice-Chair of the County Council 3325 

Leader of the County Council 
 

36575 

Deputy Leader of the County Council 19950 

Cabinet Member (x8) 13300 

Chair of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board 

13300 

Vice-Chair of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 

7980 

Chair of Appeals and Complaints Committee 2660 

Vice-Chair of Appeals and Complaints Committee 1330 

Chair of Audit Committee 
 

2660 

Vice-Chair of Audit Committee 1330 

Chair of Corporate Parenting Panel 2660 

Vice-Chair of Corporate Parenting Panel 1330 

Chair of Highways Committee 2660 

Vice-Chair of Highways Committee 1330 

Chair of General Licensing and Registration  Committee 3325 

Vice-Chair of General Licensing and Registration Committee 1662 

Chair of Statutory Licensing Committee 3325 

Vice-Chair of Statutory Licensing Committee x 2 1662 

Chair of General Licensing and Registration Sub-Committee 
(1) 

3325 

Chair of General Licensing and Registration Sub-Committee 
(2) 

3325 

Chair of General Licensing and Registration Sub-Committee 
(3) 

3325 

Chair of County Planning Committee 3325 

Vice-Chair of County Planning Committee 1662 

Chair of Area Planning Committee (North Durham) 3325 

Vice-Chair of Area Planning Committee (North Durham) 1662 

Chair of Area Planning Committee (Central and East 
Durham) 

3325 

Vice-Chair of Area Planning Committee (Central and East 
Durham) 

1662 

 

  

Page 452



 

 
DESIGNATION 

 

 
£ 

Chair of Area Planning Committee (South and West) 3325 

Vice-Chair of Area Planning Committee (South and West) 1662 

Chair of Pension Fund Committee 2660 

Vice-Chair of Pension Fund Committee 1330 

Chair of Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee 2660 

Vice-Chair of Children and Young People’s Scrutiny 
Committee 

1330 

Chair of Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 

2660 

Vice-Chair of Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 

1330 

Chair of Environment and Sustainable Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 

2660 

Vice-Chair of Environment and Sustainable Communities 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

1330 

Chair of Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Committee 2660 

Vice-Chair of Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Committee 1330 

Chair of Adults, Wellbeing and Health Scrutiny Committee 2660 

Vice-Chair of Adults, Wellbeing and Health Scrutiny 
Committee 

1330 

Chair of Standards Committee 2660 

Where an Opposition Group has 20% or more of the 
Council Members allowance is £6650, where Group has 
less than 20% membership allowance is £3325 

 

Leader of Opposition Group (Conservative)  
membership 

3325 

Leader of Opposition Group (Liberal Democrats) 
membership 

3325 

Leader of Opposition Group (Durham Independent Group) 
membership 

3325 

Leader of Opposition Group (DCC Independent Group)  
membership 

3325 

Leader of Opposition Group (Spennymoor Independent 

Group) membership 

3325 

Leader of Opposition Group (North East Party Group) 

membership 

3325 

 

Page 453



APPENDIX B 
 

GROUNDRULES FOR MEMBERS' CLAIMS 
FOR TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE 

 
1. Travel by Rail 
 

Rail tickets should be requested from the Business Support Team in the 
Resources Service Grouping in advance of travel, as the Council’s contract 
provides for a discount. 

 
Members should either contact Members’ Support who will liaise directly with 
Business Support on your behalf, or members can go direct to the Business 
Support Team. 

 
Standard Class rail travel is the approved class of travel, although first class 
rail can sometimes be the cheaper option dependent upon the time of 
booking.   
 
Members wishing to travel first class when it is not the cheapest option can 
choose to do so but will be required to pay the difference between that cost 
and the standard cost. The difference will be recovered by payroll deduction. 
 
Tickets can be booked up to 3 months in advance of date of travel.  Members 
should make their requests as far in advance as possible in order to maximise 
savings and should you have any special requirements to assist you with your 
journey please advise Members’ Support or the Business Support Team at 
the time of the request. 

 
Members eligible for a Senior Citizens Railcard or any other concessionary 
travel railcard and who may be required to travel as part of their duties are 
encouraged to buy one as this results in a further discount on the ticket cost.  
The cost of the railcard will be reimbursed upon receipt of your first claim for 
travel and subsistence. 

 
2. Overnight Accommodation 
 

Where it is considered that an overnight stay is required, then accommodation 
should be organised in advance by the Business Support Team. 

 
Members should contact Members’ Support who will liaise with Business 
Support to organise for you.  Alternatively, please contact the Business 
Support Team direct who will also be able to satisfy any specific queries or 
special requirements which you may have. 

 
Accommodation along with Breakfast and Evening meal, if required, will be 
booked and paid for in advance.  Members should make their requests as far 
in advance as possible in order to achieve best prices and should you have 
any special requirements in relation to your booking please advise us at the 
time of the request. 

 
Reimbursement for any additional meals purchased up to the maximum 
amounts detailed below i.e. breakfast, lunch, tea or evening meal can be 

Page 454



claimed retrospectively (less any meals provided) on the production of 
receipts.  Should it not be possible to obtain subsistence within these limits 
then actual costs can be claimed up to a reasonable amount in liaison with 
Business Support Manager and upon the production of receipts.  

 
In exceptional circumstances an advance can be given to cover incidental 
subsistence/travel requirements i.e. lunch, evening meal, taxis, where it has 
not been possible to organise these prior to travel.  Receipts should be 
retained to cover all advance expenditure and this can be reconciled on 
return. 

 
Rates are set out below and also for reference shown on members’ claim 
forms.   

 

Allowance Minimum absence from home Rate 
£ 

Breakfast 2 hours which must be before 11.00am   6.75 

Lunch 2 hours which must be between 12 noon and 2.00pm   9.27 

Tea 3 hours which must include 3.00pm to 6.00pm   3.65 

Evening Meal 3 hours which must be after 7.00pm 11.48 

 
Nb. No reimbursement for alcohol purchased will be made – should this be 
included on your receipt it will be deducted from the amount claimed. 

 
Whilst it is appreciated that most travel is planned and can be organised in 
advance there may be exceptional circumstances where Members may need 
to organise themselves.  In such circumstances, retrospective claims for travel 
or accommodation will be paid when submitted on monthly claim forms and 
on the production of receipts.   

 
The current rates are laid out below and are intended to cover the costs of 
accommodation and associated subsistence during a 24 hour period.  
However, it is also recognised that on occasion it may not be possible to 
obtain accommodation and subsistence within these limits and therefore 
higher amounts can be claimed up to a reasonable amount upon presentation 
of receipts.  However only in exceptional circumstances should this be the 
case. 

 

Overnight 
allowance  

 Rate £ 
 

London Up to a maximum claim on production of receipts £124.76 

Outside London Up to a maximum claim on production of receipts £109.39 

 
3. Travel by car as an alternative to Rail 
 

As a general rule, journeys outside the locality should be undertaken by rail as 
this is usually the cheapest mode of travel for someone travelling alone. 
 
The ability to get to a particular destination by rail needs to be taken into 
account.  Where the venue for the meeting is some distance from the railway 
station, the advantages and disadvantages of alternative methods of travel 
should be considered.   Where Members choose to travel by car on a journey 

Page 455



that would be reasonable to travel by rail either mileage or the cost of the 
cheapest available rail fare will be paid, whichever is the cheaper. 

 
4. Air Travel 
 

The cost of travel by air shall not exceed the cost applicable to travel by 
appropriate alternative means of transport.  Unless in circumstances where 
the saving in time is so substantial as to justify payment of the fare for travel 
by air. 

 
All arrangements should be made by contacting Members’ Support who will 
liaise with Business Support to organise for you.  Alternatively, please contact 
the Business Support Team in relation to any specific queries or special 
requirements which you may have. 

 
5. Travel outside the United Kingdom 
 
 The same procedure as shown above will apply. 
 
 

Page 456



APPENDIX C 
 

MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES 
 
Travelling Allowances 
 
Travelling allowances are payable for journeys undertaken in the performance of 
official duties.  The rates are as follows from 1 April 2019 
 
1. The rate for travel by a Member's own private motor vehicle, or one belonging to a 
member of their family or otherwise provided for their use, will be paid at 45.0p a 
mile 
 
2. The rate for travel by a hired motor vehicle, other than a taxi-cab or cab, shall 

not exceed the value of the claim which would have been applicable had the 
vehicle belonged to the Member who hired it. 

 
3. The rate for travel by taxi-cab or cab shall not exceed: 

 

 in cases of urgency or where no public transport is reasonably 
available, the amount of the actual fare and any reasonable gratuity 
paid (receipts should be obtained where possible); 
 

 in any other case, the amount of the fare for travel by appropriate 
public transport. 

 
Motor Vehicle Insurance 
 
Members are advised that when using their own vehicle for meetings they will be 
deemed to be using it on County Council business.  It is therefore essential that 
vehicles should be adequately insured, and Members are therefore required to 
ensure that insurance covers business use as well as for the usual social, domestic 
and pleasure categories. 
 
The Association of British Insurers provide a list of approved insurance companies 
which indemnify local authorities against all third party claims arising out of the use 
of their vehicle.  A copy of the list is shown at Appendix J. 
 
If a Member is covered for business use by a company not on the list, they should 
contact their insurer and arrange the necessary indemnity, which should be supplied 
in the form of a letter.  An example is given in appendix J.  Insurance companies not 
on this approved list, although they would insure for business use, would not cover 
injuries to a third party unless the necessary indemnity had been arranged. 
  

Page 457



Subsistence Allowances 
 
Duties performed within the United Kingdom 
 
When carrying out approved duties “Out of Region”, Members may claim up to the 
approved rates as follows on production of receipts: 
 
1. For an absence not involving an absence overnight from the usual place 
of residence: 
 

Allowance Minimum absence 
from home 

Rate 
(£) 

   
Breakfast  2 hours which must be before 11.00 6.75 

Lunch  2 hours which must include 12.00 to 14.00 9.27 

Tea  3 hours which must include 15.00 to 18.00 3.65 

Evening Meal  3 hours which must be after 19.00 11.48 

   

 
Travel Outside the United Kingdom 
 
Members may claim for reimbursement of reasonable expenses incurred.  Receipts 
for all expenses must be submitted with the claim, as set out in Appendix B. 
 
Out of Pocket Expenses 
 
Where the attendance fee for a course or conference includes accommodation and 
meals, an out-of-pocket expense allowance is payable, as follows: 
 

 £ per day 
Courses or conferences within the UK   5.00 
Courses or conferences overseas 18.00 

 
the day of arrival and departure being counted as one day. 
 
Taxable and Non-Taxable Mileage 
 
From 6 April 2016, following a change in HMRC guidance, all mileage claimed for 
journeys from this date should be shown as non-taxable mileage. 
  

Page 458



 
 

APPENDIX D 
MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES 

 

Schedule of other bodies, attendance at meetings of which (subject to the 
approval of a committee or other body) entitles a County Councillor to 
claim travelling and subsistence allowance. 

 
Outside Bodies 
 
Name of Body 
 
Admissions Forum 
Annfield Plain Gleemen 
Association for Public Service Excellence 
Association of North East Councils – Collaborative Procurement Board 
Association of North East Councils - Leaders and Elected Members Board 
Association of North East Councils – North East Culture Partnership Board 
Association of North East Councils – Resources Task and Finish Group 
 
Barnard Castle Mechanics Institute 
Barnard Castle School Governing Body 
Beamish Museum Board 
Believe Housing Board 
Bishop Auckland Community Partnership (Four Clocks) 
Bishop Auckland Heritage Action Zone Advisory Group 
Bishop Auckland Heritage Action Zone 
Bowes Museum 
Bus Lane Adjudication Service Joint Committee 
Business Durham Advisory Board - Members 
 
Castle Eden Dene Nature Joint Advisory Committee 
CDC Enterprise Agency 
Central Durham Joint Crematorium Committee 
Chapter Homes 
Charter Trustees for the City of Durham 
Chester le Street Unit of Sea Cadet Corps 
Chester Moor Village Scheme 
Children in Care Council 
 
Dene Bank Regeneration Programme Strategic Working Group 
Citizens Advice County Durham 
Cong Burn Wood Nature Reserve Management Committee 
Consett Churches Detached Youth Project 
Cornforth Partnership 
County Councils Network 
County Councils Network - Executive Committee 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust Council of Governors 
County Durham Children and Families Partnership 
County of Durham School Benevolent Fund 

Page 459



Coxhoe and Quarrington Hill Tarmac Quarries Liaison Committee 
 
Dene Bank Regeneration Programme Strategic Working Group 
Derwent Valley Landscape Partnership- the Land of Oak and Iron in North East 
England 
Derwentside District Scout Council 
Derwentside Enterprise Agency Board 
Durham Business Improvement District Board 
Durham City Access for All 
Durham Cricket CIC 
Durham Darlington and Teesside, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby STP Joint 
Health Scrutiny Committee 
Durham Heritage Coast Partnership 
Durham Villages Regeneration Limited 
 
Easington Colliery Regeneration Partnership 
Easington Social Welfare Centre 
East Durham Business Service 
English Heritage - Historic Environment Local Management 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
Henry Smith's Charity 
Horden Regeneration Partnership 
 
Industrial Communities Alliance 
 
Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee of North East Local Authorities 
 
Lanchester Bowling Club 
Laurel Avenue Community Association 
Local Access Forum 
Local Government Association 
Lord Crewe's Durham Educational Foundation - Representative Trustees 
 
Middleton Plus Development Trust 
Mountsett Crematorium Joint Committee 
 
National Association of Councillors 
National Railway Museum at Shildon 
Newbiggin and District Village Hall Association 
Newcastle International Airport Local Authority Holding Company Limited 
Newcastle International Airport Consultative Committee 
NEWCO 
North East Combined Authority- Audit and Standards Committee 
North East Combined Authority- Economic Development and Regeneration Board 
North East Combined Authority- Leadership Board 
North East Combined Authority - Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
North East Combined Authority and North of Tyne Combined Authority - North East 
Joint Transport Audit Committee 
North East Combined Authority and North of Tyne Combined Authority - North East 
Joint Transport Committee 
North East Combined Authority and North of Tyne Combined Authority - North East 
Joint Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
North East Disability Resource Centre 

Page 460



North East First Credit Union 
North East Local Enterprise Partnership 
North East Purchasing Organisation 
North Eastern Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authority 
North Eastern Regional Employers Organisation (NEREO) 
North Eastern Regional Employers Organisation (NEREO) - Executive Committee 
North of England Reserve Forces and Cadets Association 
North Pennines AONB Partnership 
North Regional Brass Band Trust 
North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust Council of Governors 
Northern ICS/ICP Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham STP Joint Health Scrutiny 
Committee 
Northumbria Regional Flood and Coastal Committee 
 
Path to Excellence Phase 2 Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
PATROL (Parking and Traffic Regulations outside London) Adjudication Joint 
Committee 
Pelton Fell Community Partnership 
Police and Crime Panel  
Project Genesis 
 
Roseberry Grange Golf Course Committee 
Rural Services Network 
Ruth First Educational Trust Executive Committee 
 
Sacriston Community Development Group 
Safe Durham Partnership 
Southern ICS/ICP Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Standing Advisory Committee for Religious Education 
Stanhope Hartwell Educational Foundation 
 
Teesdale Development Company Limited 
Teesdale Village Halls Consortium 
Teesside International Airport 
Teesside International Airport Consultative Committee 
The Bow Trust (Durham) Ltd 
Thrislington Quarry Liaison Committee 
Trimdon Community College Association 
 
United Charities of Romaldkirk 
Upper Teesdale Community Association 
 
Visit County Durham 
 
Wear Valley Women's Aid Limited 
Weardale Open Air Swimming Pool Association 
Witton Gilbert Educational Foundation (formerly Jane Finney Trust) 

 

Page 461



APPENDIX E 
 

MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES 
 
 

Schedule of outside organisations which pay travelling and 
subsistence allowances directly to Members for attendance at 
meetings convened by the organisation, subject to the Members' 
attendance having been authorised. 

 
 
 

North East Regional Employers’ Organisation 
Committees  
(for further details see Appendix H, paragraph 3) 

 
  

Page 462



APPENDIX F 
 

MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES 
 
 

Schedule of outside organisations which are recharged by the 
County Council in respect of attendance allowance paid to Members 
for attendance at meetings convened by the organisation, subject to 
the Members' attendance having been authorised. 

 
 
 

Association of North East Councils 
North East Regional Employers’ Organisation 
 

 
 

  

Page 463



APPENDIX G 
 

ASSOCIATION OF NORTH EAST COUNCILS 
MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES SCHEME 

 
1. Eligible Members 
 Those eligible for the ANEC scheme are representatives of member 

authorities at the meetings of the Association, Executive and Standing 
Committees and the Regional Assembly. 

 
2.  Approved Duties 

For the purposes of the Association's scheme, approved duties include: 
 

 attendance at meetings of the Association, Executive and 
Standing Committees and the Regional Assembly; 

 

 duties carried out by Members as the Association's appointed 
representatives on any public body, charity, voluntary body or 
other body formed for a public purpose (and not for the personal 
benefit of its members) except where such remuneration would 
be prohibited by another enactment; 

 

 attendance on behalf of the Association at briefing meetings, 
Chair's meetings and at meetings with Ministers, Government 
Departments or other bodies. 

 
3. Rate of Allowance 2021/22 
 

An allowance of £22.00 for a twenty-four hour period will be payable, 
irrespective of the number of duties undertaken. 
Travelling and subsistence allowance in respect of attendance at the 
meetings outlined in paragraph 2 above will be reimbursed by the County 
Council. 
 

4. Payment Arrangements 
The County Council will meet the cost of attendance allowance initially 
with subsequent reimbursement from the Association. 

 
 The County Council is requested to submit invoices monthly, or for longer 

periods in arrears, to the Association.  Each invoice should be supported 
by a schedule which sets out the following details: 

 

 name of Association representative 

 dates of approved duties 

 detail of approved duties 

 amount of claim 
 

The County Council will be responsible for making the appropriate 
returns to the Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs (HMRC) and 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP). 

Page 464



APPENDIX H 
 

NORTH EAST REGIONAL EMPLOYERS’ ORGANISATION 
MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES SCHEME 

 
1. Eligible Members 
 
Those eligible for the North East Regional Employers’ Organisation Scheme are 
representatives of member authorities at meetings of the full North East Regional 
Employers' Organisation, Councils and Committees. 
 
2.  Approved Duties 
 
For the purposes of the Organisation's scheme, approved duties include 
attendance at meetings of the full North East Regional Employers' Organisation, 
Councils and Committees. 
 
3. Rate of Allowance 2019/20 
 
An allowance of £21.00 for a twenty-four hour period will be payable, irrespective 
of the number of duties undertaken. 
 
Members who attend ALL meetings of North East Regional Employers’ 
Organisation Committees will be reimbursed the necessary travelling and 
subsistence expenses, in cash, by the North East Regional Employers’ 
Organisation. 
 
Members who DO NOT attend ALL meetings of North East Regional Employers’ 
Organisation Committees will be reimbursed travelling and subsistence 
allowances by the County Council. 
 
4. Payment Arrangements 
 
The County Council will meet the cost of attendance allowance initially with 
subsequent reimbursement from the Organisation. 
 
The County Council is requested to submit invoices, in arrears, to the 
Association.  Each invoice should be supported by a schedule which sets out the 
following details: 

 name of Member 

 date 

 association/council/committee attended 
 
The County Council will be responsible for making the appropriate returns to the 
Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs (HMRC) and Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) 

Page 465



APPENDIX I 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES SCHEME 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The Constitution of the Local Government Association empowers the LGA 
Executive to establish a scheme for payments to members attending meetings 
and other approved duties of the Local Government Association and in the light 
of independent advice to make payments to office holders of the Association and 
such other members as may be specified in recognition of duties carried out on 
the Association’s behalf. 
 
2. In June 1998, the Management Sub-Committee of the LGA appointed an 
Independent Panel to consider the existing arrangements and to establish a 
framework on which a suitable scheme for adoption by the Association could be 
based.  The LGA accepted the principles on which the Panel’s recommendations 
were based, and the recommendations themselves, and formally adopted the 
recommended scheme with the full support of all political parties represented on 
the Association. 
 
3.    The scheme has now been independently reviewed to reflect the changes to 
the member structure agreed by the General Assembly in July 2004. The 
proposed changes were agreed by the LGA Executive on 29 July 2004.  The 
revised scheme is set out in the following paragraphs. 
 

Key Features of the Scheme 

 

 Members of all bodies listed in the Annex to the Scheme are paid an 
allowance reflecting both the time which might be spent and the level 
of responsibility involved in carrying out these posts (payments 
agreed by the LGA are set out below). 

 

 The LGA does not pay Travel and Subsistence for attendance at its 
own meetings (i.e. Boards, Panels, Policy Review Groups, Task 
Groups), with the exception of the Chair, 2 Vice chair’s and 4 Deputy 
Chair’s of the Association; and the Chair’s of the LGA Boards. 
 

 The LGA does not pay Travel and Subsistence for General 
Assembly, conferences, seminars, etc. where members are 
representing their local authorities; and 
 

 Allowances are index-linked to the principal local government pay 
settlement. 

 

Page 466



APPENDIX J 
MOTOR CONFERENCE 

 
Motor Conference  
 
Motor Conference is the body that represents members of ABI transacting motor 
insurance business and the motor syndicates of Lloyd’s Motor Underwriters 
Association (LMUA).  Motor Conference is representative of some 98% of the motor 
insurance business transacted in the UK. Many of ABI’s activities – for example, 
representations to Government – are carried out under the auspices of Motor 
Conference.    
 
A number of undertakings have been given on behalf of all members of Motor 
Conference to various bodies e.g. Government Departments, local authorities and 
voluntary organisations.  The undertakings allow an individual with motor insurance 
which includes use for personal business to use theirown vehicle for the business of 
their employer.  They also provide that the receipt of a mileage allowance will not 
constitute use for “hire or reward”. This is to ensure that individuals in receipt of such 
an allowance continue to be covered under their insurance policy, notwithstanding 
any general exclusion of hire and reward use. 
 
Please note that there may be a small number of insurance policies issued by certain 
insurers that are covered by the undertakings.  To check whether any individual 
insurer not currently listed is a subscriber, contact motor@abi.org.uk 
 
To check whether your insurer is a member of the Association of British Insurers 
please click this link 
 
Member directory ABI 
 

Page 467

mailto:motor@abi.org.uk
https://www.abi.org.uk/About/ABI-members


SAMPLE  

 
Dear Sirs 
 
 
Motor Policy No.    
 
It is hereby declared and agreed that the policy, which permits the use of the vehicle 
by the Policyholder in person in connection with their business, shall be deemed to 
permit such use of the vehicle on the business of the employer and the receipt of an 
allowance from such employer for such use or in respect of the carriage by them of 
official passengers shall not be deemed for the purpose of the policy to constitute 
use hiring or for the carriage of passengers for hire or reward. 
 
We will indemnify Durham County Council in the terms of the Third Party section of 
the Policy in respect of such use provided that: 
 

(a) this indemnity does not apply in connection with a vehicle 
belonging to Durham County Council 

 
(b) Durham County Council is not entitled to indemnity under any 

other policy 
 

(c) Durham County Council shall as though it were the Policyholder 
observe fulfil and be subject to the terms and exceptions and 
conditions of the Policy insofar as they can apply. 

 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
  

Page 468



APPENDIX K  
 

Members’ Parental Leave Policy 
 

Introduction  
 
This Policy sets out Members’ entitlement to maternity, paternity, shared 
parental and adoption leave and relevant allowances.  
 
The objective of the policy is to ensure that insofar as possible Members are 
able to take appropriate leave at the time of birth or adoption, that both 
parents are able to take leave, and that reasonable and adequate 
arrangements are in place to provide cover for portfolio-holders and others in 
receipt of Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) during any period of leave 
taken.  
 
Improved provision for new parents will contribute towards increasing the diversity of 
experience, age and background of local authority councillors. It will also assist with 
retaining experienced councillors – particularly women – and making public office 
more accessible to individuals who might otherwise feel excluded from it. The 
Parental Leave Policy constitutes best practice and will be reviewed. 
 

1. Leave Periods  
 
Maternity Leave 
 
1.1 Members giving birth are entitled to up to 6 months maternity leave from 

the due date, with the option to extend up to 52 weeks by agreement if 
required.  

1.2 In addition, where the birth is premature, the Member is entitled to take 
leave during the period between the date of the birth and the due date in 
addition to the 6 months’ period. In such cases any leave taken to cover 
prematurity of 28 days or less shall be deducted from any extension 
beyond the initial 6 months. 

1.3 In exceptional circumstances, and only in cases of prematurity of 29 days 
or more, additional leave may be taken by agreement, and such 
exceptional leave shall not be deducted from the total 52-week 
entitlement.  
 

Paternity Leave 
 
1.4 Members shall be entitled to take a minimum of 2 weeks paternity leave if 

they are the biological father or nominated carer of their partner/spouse 
following the birth/adoption of their child(ren).  

 
Shared Parental Leave 
 

Page 469



1.5 A Member who has made Shared Parental Leave arrangements through 
their employment is requested to advise the Council of these at the 
earliest possible opportunity. Every effort will be made to replicate such 
arrangements in terms of leave from Council.  

1.6 Where both parents are Members, leave may be shared up to a 
maximum of 24 weeks for the first six months and 26 weeks for any leave 
agreed thereafter, up to a maximum of 50 weeks. Special and 
exceptional arrangements may be made in cases of prematurity.  
 

Adoption Leave 
 
1.7 A Member who adopts a child through an approved adoption agency 

shall be entitled to take up to six months adoption leave from the date of 
placement, with the option to extend up to 52 weeks by agreement if 
required.  

 
Leave Arrangements 

1.8 Any Member who takes maternity, shared parental or adoption leave is 
still required under the Local Government Act 1972 to attend a meeting of 
the Council within a six-month period unless the Council Meeting agrees 
to an extended leave of absence prior to the expiration of that six-month 
period.  

1.9 Any Member intending to take maternity, paternity, shared parental or 
adoption leave will be responsible for ensuring that they comply with the 
relevant notice requirements of the Council, both in terms of the point at 
which the leave starts and the point at which they return.  

1.10 Any Member taking leave should ensure that they respond to reasonable 
requests for information as promptly as possible, and that they keep their 
Group Leader (if applicable) and Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
informed and updated in relation to intended dates of return and requests 
for extension of leave. 

 
2. Basic Allowance  

 
2.1  All Members shall continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full whilst 

on maternity, paternity or adoption leave. 
 
 
3. Special Responsibility Allowances  

3.1  Members entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) shall 
continue to receive their allowance in full in the case of maternity, 
paternity, shared parental or adoption leave. 

Page 470



3.2 Where a replacement is appointed to cover the period of absence that 
person shall receive an SRA on a pro-rata basis for the period of the 
temporary appointment.  

3.3 The payment of Special Responsibility Allowances, whether to the 
primary SRA holder or a replacement, during a period of maternity, 
paternity, shared parental or adoption leave shall continue for a period of 
six months; or until the date of the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Council; or until the date when the Member taking leave is up for election 
(whichever is soonest). At such a point, the position will be reviewed, and 
will be subject to a possible extension for a further six-month period.  

3.4 Should a Member appointed to replace the Member on maternity, 
paternity, shared parental or adoption leave already hold a remunerated 
position, the ordinary rules relating to payment of more than one Special 
Responsibility Allowances shall apply.  

3.5  Unless the Member taking leave is removed from their post at an Annual 
General Meeting of the Council whilst on leave, or unless the Party to 
which they belong loses control of the Council during their leave period, 
they shall return at the end of their leave period to the same post, or to an 
alternative post with equivalent status and remuneration which they held 
before the leave began.  

 
4.  Resigning from Office and Elections  

4.1 If a Member decides not to return at the end of their maternity, paternity, 
shared parental or adoption leave they must notify the Council at the 
earliest possible opportunity. All allowances will cease from the effective 
resignation date.  

4.2 If an election is held during the Member’s maternity, paternity, shared 
parental or adoption leave and they are not re-elected, or decide not to 
stand for re-election, their basic allowance and Special Responsibility 
Allowance if appropriate will cease from the Monday after the election 
date when they would technically leave office. 

 
5. Practical Arrangements  
 
5.1 A Member intending to take parental leave must in the first instance 

inform their group leader (if applicable) and the Head of Legal and 

Democratic Services in writing. Members are asked to provide notice of 

their intention to take parental leave in accordance with the timescales 

set out below:  

(a) Pregnant Members should give notice by no later than 28 days 
before they want to commence their maternity leave. Confirmation 
of the pregnancy and the expected week of childbirth is usually 
via a MAT B1 certificate (a form given to a woman by their doctor 

Page 471



or midwife after the 20th week of pregnancy and shows the 
expected date of childbirth). As soon as practicable after the birth 
they should notify the same of the baby’s date of birth in writing. 

 
(b) A Member who is a primary adopter should give notice within 7 

days of being told they have been matched with a child and 
provide confirmation of the adoption through the provision of a 
matching certificate, and the date the child is to be placed with the 
Member. 

 
(c) For paternity leave a Member should give notice by the 15th week 

 before the Expected week of childbirth. 
 

(d) A Member who is intending to take Shared parental leave must 
advise of their intention at least 8 weeks before. 

5.2 Any Member taking leave for more than a 2-month period must meet 

with the Head of Legal and Democratic Services and Group Leader (if 

applicable) to discuss practical issues including how to keep in touch 

and about expected dates of return.  

5.3 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services will ensure that business 

support and payroll are informed of arrangements to ensure that 

allowances are paid in accordance with the Policy.  

5.4 Any requests for special or exceptional circumstances, or extensions in 

line with the policy will be agreed by the Head of legal and Democratic 

Services in consultation with the Leader of the Council, and the group 

leader (if applicable). 

5.5 For single Member wards it will be the responsibility of the group leader 
to allocate another Member to undertake a ‘caretaking’ role, in 
consultation with the Head of Legal and Democratic Services.  The 
‘caretaking’ role will be allocated to a neighbouring divisional Member 
as far as possible.  If a Member is independent and not part of a group, 
the Head of Legal and Democratic Services will liaise with that member 
and any other independent Members as to who is best placed to take 
on the “caretaking” role. 

5.6 Appointments to cover areas of special responsibility whilst a Member is 

on parental leave will be made in accordance with the relevant 

procedures for appointments.  

  

Page 472



 
 

Appendix 3:  Correspondence with the Secretary of State 

 

Contact:   Helen Lynch 
Direct Tel:   03000 269732 

email:   Helen.lynch@durham.gov.uk 
Your ref: 
Our ref:   HL/JR 

 
 

The Rt Hon Robert Jenrick MP 
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 

By email: Robert.jenrick.mp@parliament.uk 
 

 

10 February 2021 

Dear Secretary of State 
 

 

Local Authorities Members Allowances 
 

 

In accordance with The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 
2003 (as amended), local authorities are required to review members allowances at 
least once every four years.  Before any amendments to the scheme are made, 
authorities must have regard to the recommendations of the Independent Remuneration 
Panel (IRP) and determine whether and how these are implemented. 
 
In practice, Durham County Council reviews its Members Allowance Scheme on an 
annual basis.  As part of this review for 2021/22, the IRP recommended an increase 
in the Basic Allowance of 0.7% in line with CPI.  This was the first recommended 
increase in a number of years, intended to address a continuing deficit between the 
basic allowance and annual inflation. 
 
The County Council considered the Members Allowance Scheme and recommendations 
of the IRP at its meeting on 20 January 2021.  Notwithstanding the recommendation of 
the IRP, the Council resolved not to apply any increase to their allowances.  Whilst the 
allowances have not been increased since the scheme was introduced in 2009 on Local 
Government Re-organisation (the last change was in 2014/15 when members rejected a 
1% recommended increase but reduced the members mileage allowance to 45p per mile 
in line with the HMRC rate), Council considered it inappropriate for Councillors to vote to 
increase their own allowances given the impact of the Covid19 pandemic on residents 
and the public purse. 
 
The Council also resolved to write to you to express the strongly held view across all 
political groups that the arrangements for determining Member Allowances in England is 
fundamentally flawed and it is inappropriate for Members to set their own allowances.  It 
was noted that in Wales, the fees and allowances paid to Councillors and co-opted 
 

Resources 
Durham County Council, County Hall, Durham 
DH1 5UF Main Telephone 03000 26 0000 

 
Text Messaging Service 07860 093 073 

 

www.durham.gov.uk 

Page 473

mailto:lynch@durham.gov.uk
mailto:mp@parliament.uk
http://www.durham.gov.uk/


Page 2 of 2  

 

Members is determined each year by the Independent Remuneration for Wales. In 
Scotland, the Scottish Government determines the basic pay of Councillors, as well 
as the maximum and minimum amounts that a senior Councillor can be paid. 
Durham County Councillors consider that the arrangements in the devolved 
administrations provide a fairer, independent and more transparent approach to the 
determination of Members Allowances. The Council therefore calls upon the 
Government to review the way in which Members Allowances are set in England with 
a view to introducing arrangements similar to those in Wales and Scotland, which 
allow for local circumstances and ensure independence, fairness and transparency. 

We look forward to receiving your response to this letter and progress of the review 
in due course.  

Yours faithfully  

 

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Labour Group Councillor  
Amanda Hopgood, Leader of the Liberal Democrat Group  
Councillor John Shuttleworth, Leader of the Durham County Council Independent Group  
Councillor Richard Bell, Leader of the Conservative Group  
Councillor Alan Shield, Leader of the Durham Independent Group  
Councillor Liz Maddison, Spennymoor Independent Group  
Councillor Karen Hawley, Leader of the North East Party Group 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 474



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Cllr Simon Henig 
Leader of the Labour Group 
Durham  
DH1 5UL 
 
 
 

6 April 2021 
 
Dear Cllr Henig, 
 
Thank you for your letter dated 10 February, to Rt Hon Robert Jenrick MP, co-signed 
by Cllr Amanda Hopgood, Cllr John Shuttleworth, Cllr Richard Bell, Cllr Alan Shield 
and Cllr Karen Hawley on the subject of local authorities Members allowances. I 
appreciate how important this matter is to you all and I am grateful to you for 
contacting my department with your concerns. 
 
Local authorities are responsible for their own scheme of allowances. Each local 
authority must establish an Independent Remuneration Panel, and local authorities 
must have regard to the recommendations of the panel. 
 
Local authorities are not bound by the recommendations of their Independent 
Remuneration Panel but have a legal duty to have regard to their recommendations. 
In this context this means that, while the recommendations do not have to be 
followed in every detail, they should be followed unless there is a good reason not to 
in a particular case. The Government believes that local authorities should set levels 
of allowances that are reasonable and which they could justify to their electorate. 
 
The Government has no plans to review these arrangements at the current time. 
Thank you for writing to me to express your views on this important issue and I am 
grateful to you for contacting this department with your concerns. 
 

 
LUKE HALL MP 

Page 475



 

Page 476



 

Appendix 4:  Basic Allowances- councils in the region 

 

Authority 

Basic 
Allowance 

per member 
20/21 

£ 

Basic 
Allowance 

per member 
21/22 

£ 

Number of 
Members 

 
 

Cost of 
Scheme 
2021/22 

£ 

Population 
 
 

Cost per 
Head of 

Population 
£ 

2022/23 Proposals 
 
 

Darlington 8,188 8,188 50 557,205 105,000 5.31 

IRP last met in 2019.  

Scheme is linked to the 

NJC but Council agreed 

not to increase this in the 

first year. 

Durham 13,300 13,300 126 £1,960,498 533,149 3.68 TBD 

Gateshead 8,457 8,457 66 823,028 202,508 4.09  

Middlesbrough 6,955 7,608 47 

391,131 

NB 2019/20 

figure 

140,398 2.78 

Basic allowance will not 

continue to be increased 

with any subsequent 

annual staff pay award. 

Newcastle 9,200 9,200 78 

923,863 

NB 2019/20 

figure 

300,820 3.07 

IRP wont meet until early 

January for 22/23.  Not 

linked to NJC award. 

P
age 477



Authority 

Basic 
Allowance 

per member 
20/21 

£ 

Basic 
Allowance 

per member 
21/22 

£ 

Number of 
Members 

 
 

Cost of 
Scheme 
2021/22 

£ 

Population 
 
 

Cost per 
Head of 

Population 
£ 

2022/23 Proposals 
 
 

North Tyneside 10,358 10,643 61 798,561 208,871 3.82 
Index linked to NJC 

increases 

Northumberland 13,329 13,329 67 

1,348,473 

NB 2019/20 

figure 

319,030 4.23 

Index linked to NJC 

increases. 

Redcar and 

Cleveland 
9,549 9,549 58 

702,871 

NB 2019/20 

figure 

136,000 5.17 

 

South Tyneside 7,667 

7,667 

(approved 

September 

2021) 

54 770,193 149,400 5.16 

. 

Stockton-on-Tees 9,300 9,300 56 704,630 197,348 3.57 
IRP met last year – no 

changes made. 

Sunderland 8,369 8,369 75 1,011,665 277,150 3.65 

IRP currently reviewing 

Scheme – to December or 

January Cabinet 

 

 

P
age 478



Appendix 5:  Basic Allowances- Comparisons with Unitary 

Authorities - Similar Population Size 

 

Authority Basic 
Allowance 

Number of 
Members 

Cost of 
Scheme 
2020/21 

Population Cost per 
Head 

Durham £13,300 126 £1,960,498 533,149 £3.68 

Cornwall £14,870 
87 (reduced 
from 123) 

£2,183,545 573,299 £3.81 

Wiltshire £13,833 98 £1,955,000 504,070 £3.88 

Bristol £14,330 70 £1,483,433 465,866 £3.18 

Cheshire 
East 

£12,351 82 £1,303,001 386,667 £3.37 

Leicester £11,063.04 54 £1,077,742 354,036 £3.04 

Cheshire 
West and 
Chester 

£12,495 70 £1,064,519 343,823 £3.10 

 

  

P
age 479



Appendix 6:  Cost of Durham’s Scheme- 2019-20, 2020-21, and 2021 to date 

 

 2019- 20 2020-21 1 April 2021- to 31 
October 2021 

Members-travelling £13,458 £1,521 £959 

Members Travelling - 
Member Training 

£15,189 £401 £303 

Members-attendance 
allowance-normal 

£0 £0 £0 

Members-financial loss £0 £0 £0 

Members-subsistence £4,745 £1,092 £1,533 

Members conferences 
fees and subsistence 

£4,772 £0 £173 

Members national ins-
employers cont 

£127,096 £123,762 £67,646 

Members-basic 
allowance 

£1,708,236 £1,696,653 £995,183 

Members-special 
allowance 

£309,971 £308,111 £170,584 

Members care 
allowance 

£1,115 £0 £0 

Total 2,184,582 £2,131,540 £1,236,381 

P
age 480



 

P
age 481



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 County Council 

  26 January 2022 

  Request for Dispensation Under  

Section 85 (1) of the Local Government Act 1972 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director, Resources 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

All 

 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To seek approval to grant a dispensation to Members who are unable to 
attend any Council meetings for absences that are covid related. 

Executive summary 

2 Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 states that where a 
Member fails throughout a period of six consecutive months from the 
date of their last attendance to attend any meeting of the authority, then, 
subject to certain exceptions, he/she ceases to become a Member of 
the authority unless the failure was due to some reason approved 
before the expiry of that period. Due to the factors listed in the report a 
dispensation is required to cover any member who would not be able to 
attend a meeting if absences are covid-related. 

Recommendation 

3 In the circumstances, it is recommended to approve that an automatic 
dispensation under section 85(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 is 
given to all councillors up to and including 31 December 2022 if 
absences are covid-related. 

 

  

Page 483

Agenda Item 12



Background 

4 Section 85(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that: 

“….If a member of a local authority fails throughout a period of six 
consecutive months from the date of his last attendance to attend any 
meeting of the authority, he shall, unless the failure was due to some 
reason approved by the authority before the expiry of that period, cease 
to be a member of the authority”. 

5 It is a member’s personal responsibility to ensure they comply with the 
requirements as set out in section 85 of the Local Government Act 
1972. Members must be aware that if they fail throughout a period of six 
consecutive months from the date of their last attendance to attend any 
meeting of the authority, then, subject to certain exceptions, he/she 
ceases to become a Member of the authority unless the failure was due 
to some reason approved before the expiry of that period.  

6 Committee Services record members attendances at the formal 
meetings of the council, and assist where possible to flag with group 
leaders if a member in their group has not attended a meeting for some 
time. The responsibility lies however with the individual member to 
ensure they meet these requirements rather than relying on the matter 
being raised with their group leader.  Members individual attendance 
records are available to be shared with the relevant group leader should 
it be requested.  

7 As the Covid-19 pandemic continues with increased measures once 
again in place following the surge in the Omicron variant, the ability of 
councillors to attend the formal committees of the Council in person due 
to ill health or through self-isolation limits the number of meetings that a 
councillor may attend. It should be noted that holding the meetings of 
the local authority remotely is not an option, as the regulations which 
came into force on 4 April 2020 that had provided for these meetings to 
be held remotely during the pandemic were not extended beyond 7 May 
2021. 

8 In these circumstances it is proposed to grant a dispensation for 
absences that are covid related. It is understood that other authorities 
are considering a similar approach as part of a range of measures in 
response to the pandemic.  

9 The decision-making authority for granting a dispensation of this nature 
rests with full council.  

Conclusion 

10 Unless a dispensation is granted there may be a number of councillors 
who would cease to be a member. 

Page 484



 

Background papers 

 Local Government Act 1972 

 Council Constitution  

 

Contact: Ros Layfield  

Helen Lynch 

Tel:  03000 269 708 

Tel:  03000 269 729 

  

Page 485



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications  

The requirements of section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 are set out 

in the report.  

Finance 

Failure to agree the dispensation for councillors would result in a number of 

vacancies on the Council if they did not attend a qualifying meeting which 

would lead to a by-election being called. The Council would incur costs in 

respect of administering the by-election. 

Consultation 

None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Council should have regard to a Members medical circumstances, and 

opportunity to take part in a committee meeting in person. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

None 

Page 486



 
 

 

 Council 

 26 January 2022 

Overview and Scrutiny – Six Monthly 

Update  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources  

Councillor Craig Martin - Chair of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board  

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None 

Purpose of the Report 

 To provide information to County Council on the activity of overview and 
scrutiny for the six month period to November 2021. 

Executive summary 

 It has previously been agreed that a six month update on the activity of 
overview and scrutiny is considered by Council, in addition to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Annual report which is submitted to Council in 
July each year. 

 This update sets out the approach that scrutiny has been taking since 
the elections in May 2021, regular matters which feature in the 
committee work programmes and highlights some items which have 
formed part of more in-depth scrutiny over the six month period to 
November 2021. 

Recommendation(s) 

 Council is recommended to note the information on overview and 
scrutiny activity which has taken place in the six month period to 
November 2021. 

  

Page 487

Agenda Item 13



 
 

Background 

 As a result of statutory guidance on overview and scrutiny 
arrangements in local authorities published in 2019, the County Council 
agreed a six-monthly report of overview and scrutiny activity be 
submitted to council to assist in the communication of scrutiny’s role 
and purpose.  

 This update report highlights some of the work scrutiny has undertaken 
in the six month period to November 2021 and complements the annual 
report which is submitted to council in July each year.   

 Following the local elections in May 2021, a Joint Administration was 
established, and a new chair and vice-chair of the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Management Board (COSMB) appointed.  In their role as 
the strategic driver of the overview and scrutiny function, they have 
encouraged an inclusive and transparent approach to carrying out 
scrutiny.  

 Contributing to policy development is a key task for scrutiny and the 
scrutiny chairs and vice-chairs have a clear ambition to increase activity 
in this field.  

 Overview and scrutiny has continued the practice of meeting with 
members of the Executive regularly.  This approach was recommended 
in the statutory guidance issued in 2019 and it was acknowledged that 
Durham County Council has a strong record of sharing information with 
the Executive.  

 The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board (COSMB) 
oversees and co-ordinates the work of overview and scrutiny 
committees. Five thematic overview and scrutiny committees scrutinise 
the following themes: 

 Adults Health and Wellbeing 

 Children and Young People 

 Economy and Enterprise  

 Environment and Sustainable Communities 

 Safer and Stronger Communities 
 

 Durham County Council’s overview and scrutiny function has embedded 
the four principles of good scrutiny in all the work it does. These 
principles, originally developed by the Centre for Governance and 
Scrutiny, inform and shape scrutiny work. They state that overview and 
scrutiny should: 

Page 488



 
 

 Provide constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge  

 Amplify the voices and concerns of the public  

 Be led by independent minded people who take responsibility for 
their role 

 Drive improvement in public services 
 

 Scrutiny committees undertake regular monitoring of budget and 
performance reports, receive updates on previous reviews and 
undertake light touch and in depth review activity.  

 The impact of COVID-19 on service delivery has been a common 
thread running through many reports considered by scrutiny 
committees. More recently the emphasis has been on understanding 
service restoration and recovery. 

 All scrutiny members have received the corporate induction training 
following the May 2021 elections. This has been supplemented by 
bespoke scrutiny training delivered by the Scrutiny team. The Chair of 
COSMB is taking a fresh approach to how scrutiny works within Durham 
County Council with an emphasis on input into policy development. To 
support this scrutiny chairs and vice chairs have agreed to develop a 
training and development programme. This will include budget and 
financial awareness training delivered by the Corporate Director of 
Resources, peer mentoring and support from the LGA and training in 
changes to performance management reporting from the Head of 
Transformation and Strategy. 

 Comprehensive work programmes are developed by scrutiny 
committees each year and this update highlights only some of the work 
they carry out.  

Scrutiny Committee Activity  

 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board (COSMB) 

Chair: Councillor Craig Martin,  
Vice Chair: Councillor Chris Lines 
 
a) Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

COSMB has a constitutional role in assisting Cabinet in the 
development of the council’s annual budget. The Board has 
considered reports setting out the significant financial challenges and 
uncertainty the council is operating in. These challenges and 
uncertainty are brought about by a combination of inherent low tax 
raising capacity and significant budget pressures in social care and 

Page 489



 
 

waste services alongside other unfunded pressures arising from pay 
and price inflation. The Board has been kept updated by the Head of 
Corporate Finance and Commercial Services on the latest 
announcements on the Comprehensive Spending Review and public 
spending decisions. This coming month the Board will consider the 
impact of the local government financial settlement on the council’s 
budget and MTFP forecasts.  

b) Review of the Durham Light Infantry (DLI) Collection and Archive 
 
In June 2021 Cabinet agreed to review options for the potential 
future use of the former DLI Museum and Art Gallery building and 
surrounding grounds. They asked COSMB to consider whether the 
former DLI museum could be brought back into use to house the 
collection and to look at the options to repurpose the building and/or 
site. In July 2021 COSMB held a special meeting with key 
stakeholders invited to submit representations framed around 
questions outlined by Cabinet on repurposing the building and 
options for the site. The meeting generated a lot of interest and gave 
an opportunity for questions to be asked on the information 
presented. The outcomes of the meeting formed part of the evidence 
base for the review by Cabinet. 
 

c) Excellent Council  
 

COSMB is responsible for scrutinising the Council Plan’s Excellent 
Council ambition and associated objectives. They do this by 
receiving the full form performance management reports which are 
also considered by Cabinet. (The five thematic scrutiny committees 
receive sections of the report relevant to their remit.) Members take 
the opportunity to examine performance in detail to see how well we 
look after our employees, manage our resources and how good our 
services to customers and the public are. The Board also received 
regular reports detailing a wide range of information collected to 
provide an insight to help us understand our customers – including 
performance in response to service requests, call and complaint 
handling. This feedback is invaluable, and members are keen to 
understand how the Council can always strive to improve our 
services. 

 Adults Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee (AWH 
OSC) 

Chair: Councillor Pat Jopling   
Vice Chair: Councillor Rochelle Charlton-Lainé 

 
a) Shotley Bridge Community Hospital 

Page 490



 
 

The committee has continued to scrutinise proposals to review those 
services currently provided at Shotley Bridge Community Hospital. 
The scheme has been incorporated into the Government’s new 
hospitals programme and presentations have been given to the 
Committee setting out the clinical model under which the proposals 
have been developed; the extent of stakeholder and community 
engagement undertaken to inform the proposals and the options for 
the development of a new hospital facility. At the committee’s 
meeting on 1 October 2021, members recommended support for the 
project to progress without the requirement for formal public 
consultation to mitigate risks of further delays to the scheme. The 
Committee has also requested further update reports as the project 
progresses. 

b) Winter Planning 

The committee examined the plans put in place across the health 
and social care system for both surge and cold weather activity and 
admissions 2021. A 13% increase in activity between 2019 and 2021 
has been identified, with hospitals working to manage beds often at 
the highest levels of operation (OPEL4). The North East Ambulance 
Service has also experienced the highest ever summer demand for 
ambulance services in 2021. 

An increase in sickness amongst staff due to both COVID-19 and 
workplace stress was also having an impact on the system’s ability 
to cope with current demand. Winter planning updates on the 
following system service areas have been examined by the 
committee: 

 Social care  

 Primary care  

 Community services  

 Acute hospital care  

 Mental health services provided by TEWV NHS FT 

 North East ambulance service NHS FT 

 Public health  

 Durham County Council’s highways and technical services 

 Vaccinations programmes. 
 

c) Access to GP Services in County Durham  

Page 491



 
 

The committee reviewed progressed against its recommendations 
made as part of a review into GP services in County Durham. At its 
meeting on 19 November 2021, the committee received updates 
against the review recommendations and examined a number of 
concerns raised by members regarding the availability of face-to-
face GP appointments as part of the roadmap out of COVID-19 
lockdown and the resulting service recovery and restoration 
process.  

As part of its deliberations, members recommended to hold a 
special meeting of the committee to examine current demands 
placed on the 999/111 service delivered by North East Ambulance 
Service. Members are concerned about the length of time it takes to 
get a response via the service as well as the potential incidence of 
aborted calls to the service. 

 Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee (CYP 
OSC) 

Chair Councillor Chris Hood  
Vice Chair Councillor James Cosslett  
 
a) Developing a New County Durham SEND Strategy 

CYP OSC members were pleased to learn of the development of a 
new SEND Strategy, which they felt was ambitious and overdue.  
They welcomed the step to recognise the positives of neurodiversity 
and that all children and young people are valued for what they bring 
into the world.  They highlighted that positive communication was the 
key to ensuring that statements were understandable and broadly 
agreed on the vision and aims but would like to see the phrase co-
production included in the document. 

b) Key Findings and Actions to the Ofsted focused visit  

CYP OSC considered information on the key findings, strengths and 
required actions following the focused Ofsted inspection earlier this 
year at its July 2021 meeting. 

 
c) Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 

 
CYP OSC considered an update from CAMHS that provided 
information on inpatient beds for young people across the North East 
region, waiting times, challenge to the service and opportunities and 
future plans. 

 
 Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee (E&E OSC) 

Page 492



 
 

Chair Councillor Bill Moist  
Vice Chair Councillor Andrew Jackson 

 
a) County Durham’s Visitor Economy 

 

E&E OSC recognise the significant contribution that the tourism 

sector makes to the economy of the county in relation to local 

growth, jobs and prosperity. At its meeting on the 11 November 

2021, it received a presentation from Visit County Durham focusing 

on County Durham’s visitor economy, detailing the impact of the 

pandemic on Durham’s tourism sector and future plans. Members 

were advised of key strategies and wider economic plans to help 

grow the sector following the pandemic, work by Visit County 

Durham to support the sector and improve the visitor offer and work 

undertaken with partners to promote the county as a visitor 

destination through various promotional campaigns.  The committee 

will continue to monitor the county’s visitor economy.  

b) Managing Change in County Durham’s Towns and Villages 

 

E&E OSC has previously considered masterplan activity in the 

county and received updates on the development of the Town and 

Village Centres Programme.  In November the committee received 

an update on work to develop a number of new masterplans to 

support potential Levelling Up Fund (LUF) bids, at Chester-le-Street, 

Durham City, Newton Aycliffe, Peterlee, Stanley and Three Towns. 

The committee also considered an update on the Town and Villages 

Programme identifying projects across the county together with 

detail of Housing Strategy Targeted Delivery Plans (TDPs), part of 

the Council’s approach of accelerating the delivery of projects to 

address issues in local communities.   

 

c) Strategic Employment Sites in County Durham 

 

The committee has examined the approach undertaken by DCC in 

developing key strategic employment sites in the county. These 

sites are concentrated in the A1 corridor (key industrial location), 

Durham City (key office market) and the A19 corridor (secondary 

industrial and office location).  The committee received detail of the 

type of sector and industry on the various sites, timescales for the 

development of the individual site, number of jobs currently provided 

together with any forecast of future jobs. The committee will continue to 

monitor the development of these strategic sites.  

Page 493



 
 

 Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (E&S OSC) 

Chair Councillor Bev Coult  
Vice Chair Councillor Jonathan Elmer  
 
a) Climate Emergency 

 

The committee considered the latest Climate Emergency Response 

Plan (CERP) at its October 2021 meeting and provided comments 

for consideration in a new version of the CERP (CERP 2) which will 

be considered by Cabinet in the New Year.  The committee 

continues to monitor the CERP and will receive detail of CERP 2 at 

its May 2022 meeting. 

b) Single Use Plastics 

The committee continues to monitor the Single Use Plastics (SUPs) 
action plan and have been pleased with the initial successes 
achieved following the considerable amount of work carried out by 
the SUPs task group.  The committee will continue to monitor both 
the action plan and the communications plan going forward. 

c) Ecological Emergency 

 

A Cabinet report requested the committee undertake a piece of work 

examining the evidence base to determine whether there is a need 

to declare an Ecological Emergency in the county.  The committee 

will undertake the work over a series of special meetings with the 

involvement of colleagues from the Ecology Service.  The committee 

will report its findings and recommendations to Cabinet at a future 

date. 

d) Waste Management 

The committee in November considered an overview of waste 

management arrangements in the county. It provided members with 

detail of the extent of services provided, the impact of the pandemic 

and how the service responded, the challenges of the Environment 

Bill, work undertaken to promote recycling and reduce contamination 

and an update on Energy from Waste.  The committee will continue 

to receive further waste management updates.   

 Safer and Stronger Overview and Scrutiny Committee (SSC OSC) 

Chair Councillor Joyce Charlton  

Page 494



 
 

Vice Chair Councillor Brian Avery  
 

a) Arson and Deliberate Fire Setting  

The committee considered a presentation on arson and deliberate 

fire setting at its meeting in November 2021 that enable members to 

provide comment on countywide data for primary and secondary 

fires, national benchmarking information and the approach through 

the arson suppression group. Within its response to the Safe 

Durham Partnership, the committee noted current performance 

levels, partnership approaches and academic research that is being 

undertaken and requested a focused session to be held on work of 

the arson suppression group within the east Durham area.   

 

b) Domestic Abuse  

At its meeting in November 2021, SSC OSC received an overview of 

the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 and implications for the council and 

partners. To meet requirements of the Act a draft safe 

accommodation strategy had been produced. Governance and 

oversight arrangements for a Local Domestic Abuse Partnership will 

be undertaken by the County Durham Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

Violence Executive Group. In addition, a whole system approach to 

domestic abuse strategy is scheduled to be published in 2022. 

Within its response to the Safe Durham Partnership Board, the 

committee have requested to receive a progress update and 

opportunity to comment on the draft strategy.  

c) Briefing Sessions  

In advance of detailed reports presented to the committee on 

substance misuse and anti-social behaviour, members requested to 

hold focused briefing sessions with officers to provide an overview 

on these two areas. Held via Microsoft Teams, the sessions were of 

great value and enabled a greater insight to these subject areas prior 

to the reports being considered by the committee.  

 

Background Papers 

Reports and minutes (June – November 2021) 

 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 

 Adults Health and Wellbeing OSC 

Page 495



 
 

 Children and Young People OSC 

 Economy and Enterprise OSC 

 Environment and Sustainable Communities OSC 

 Safer and Stronger Communities OSC 

Contact: Andy Palmer Tel:  03000 268551 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 496



 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined 

Authorities published in May 2019 stated that to maintain the interest of full 

council in the work of the scrutiny committee, authorities should take steps to 

ensure full council is informed of the work the scrutiny committee is doing.  

The council must have regard to the statutory guidance when determining its 
scrutiny arrangements and have good reasons for not following any aspects of 
the guidance 

Finance 

None  

Consultation 

The statutory role of some scrutiny committees means that consultations are 

regularly considered.  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

All scrutiny reviews are subject to an equality impact assessment  

Climate Change 

The council has declared a climate emergency and scrutiny committees such 

as the Environment and Sustainable Communities OSC receive regular 

reports on the commitment to contribute to reducing the causes of climate 

change and the implications of responding to and adapting to the inevitable 

impacts of climate change. Any climate change implications will be included in 

individual reports to the appropriate scrutiny committee. 

Human Rights 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

Any crime and disorder implications will be included in individual reports to the 

appropriate scrutiny committee. 

Staffing 

None  

 

Page 497



 
 

Accommodation 

None  

Risk 

None  

Procurement 

None  

 

Page 498


	Agenda
	2 To confirm the minutes of the meetings held on 8 December 2021
	Minutes , 08/12/2021 County Council-e

	8 Report from the Cabinet
	9 Review of the Council's Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy - Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
	App 2a - Post Consultation Revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026
	App 2b -  Table of Changes Pre and Post Consultation
	App 3 HC and PH Licensing Policy April 2016 as amended
	App 4 - Pre consultation Revised Draft HCPH Licensing Policy
	App 5a - Survey Questionnaire
	App 5b - Consultation with trade letter - Taxi policy - 2020
	App 5c -  Taxi Policy Briefing Note Consultation
	App 6a - Suevey Raw Data
	App 6b - Final output sans OE.doc
	App 6c - Assessment of Taxi Policy Survey Responses
	App 7 - Vehicle Emissions and Age Policy Options Appraisal
	App 8 - Arrangements for Immediate revocations_
	App 9 - Comparison of Assessment of Previous Convictions in National Standards with Policy Proposals
	App 10 - DFT Statutory Taxi and PH Vehicle Standards with ProposedRevised DCC Taxi Policy
	App 11 - Equality and diversity impact screening assessment

	10 Draft Revised Local Code of Corporate Governance - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	11 Members' Allowances Scheme 2022-2023 - Report of Independent Remuneration Panel
	12 Request for Dispensation Under Section 85 (1) of the Local Government Act 1972 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	13 Overview and Scrutiny Six Monthly Report - Report of Chair of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board

